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PREFACE
TO THE ORIGINAL EDITION.

THE first eight chapters of the following Life were printed off
from time to time, as they appeared in the Rambler in the years
1861 and 1862. When the Rambler changed into the Home and
Foreign Review this work was dropped, and was only resumed
in November 1866.

Campion has had so many biographers that a new one may
be expected to state his reasons for telling again a tale so often
told. They are very simple. In the course of my researches
among different archives, I found a quantity of unpublished
matter that had never been seen by the former biographers;
and in reading over the earliest and most authentic memoirs I
found so many points obscured by phrase - making, misunder-
stood through ignorance of England, or misrepresented through
the one-sidedness of those whose information was depended
upon, that there seemed ample room for another book on the
same subject.

I have to express my obligations to the Jesuit Fathers at
Stonyhurst, who had the kindness to send the Mss. relating to
Campion to London for my convenience; to Charles Weld, Esq.
who took the trouble to copy from a Ms. at the Gesd in Rome the
whole of Bombinus’ unpublished additions and corrections for his
biography; and lastly, to Father Victor de Buck, Bollandist, of
Brussels, for several references to rare books, and for encourage-
ment, without which the work would never have been resumed.

The Bibliographical Appendix and the references in the notes
will be a sufficient indication of the authorities which I have
followed.

Clapham, Dec. 21, 1866.

349514775
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LIFE

OF

EDMUND CAMPION.

CHAPTER L

EpMUND CAMPION, the protomartyr of the English Je-
suits, was born in London on St. Paul’s day, January 23,
1513, the thirtieth year of Henry VIIL, a year marked
by the suppression of the great religious houses in Eng-
land, and the inauguration of a persecution of which, forty
years after, Campion was to be a victim, as well as by
the solemn papal approval of the Society of Jesus, of
which he was to be an ornament. His father was also
Edmund Campion, citizen and bookseller of London,
“His parents were not wealtl'iy in the riches of this
world, but very honest and Catholic,” says Father Parsons.
Campion himself was not so certain of this; he only
“hopes” that they died in the faith. They had four
children, a girl and three boys, of whom Edmund was
either eldest or second. He and his youngest brother
took to books; the other preferred adventure, and took
a wife, who was occasionally left to herself while her
husband served in the wars.*

* See Note A at end.
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Edmund Campion.

Pl _Wiie:n_ .:Bdmund was come to “years of discretion,”

that is, when he was nine or ten, his parents wished to
apprentice him to some merchant; but some members of
one of the London companies—Parsons thinks that of
the merchant adventurers, but I think the grocers—having
become acquainted with the “sharp and pregnant wit”
that he had shown from his childhood, induced their
guild to undertake to maintain him *at their common
charges to the study of learning.” He was sent first to
some London grammar-school, and afterwards to the new
foundation of Edward VI. at Christ Church, Newgate
Street,—if we may call it his foundation; but a new
religion had brought in new notions of merit and re-
paration; it was ample satisfaction for the theft of a hog
to bestow its feet in alms. Just three weeks before he
died, Henry VIIIL. not only atoned for his wholesale pil-
lage of the Church, but acquired the honours of a founder
and benefactor, by restoring St. Bartholomew’s, Smithfield,
to the service of God and the poor; and his son followed
his example by founding schools with some of the con-
fiscated Church property, according to the lesson first
taught by Cardinal Wolsey, and since repeated with
variations by most ot the European governments. Christ-
Church Hospital, or the Blue-Coat School was one of
these foundations.

In those days there seems to have been a common
concursus among the London grammar-schools, as if they
had formed a university. Campion is said “ever to have
borne away the game in all contentions of learning pro-
posed by the schools of London;” a fact which he would
occasionally * merrily mention” in after life, not without
some talk of the prizes he had gained. His “cham-
pionship” was acknowledged; and so when Queen Mary,
on her solemn entry into London, August 3, 1553, had



He represents London Scholarship. 3

to pass by St. Paul’s School, it was none of the “Paul’s
pigeons” that was selected to address her, but Campion,
as the representative of London scholarship, was brought
from Newgate Street to make the requisite harangue.
Minds that had faith in functions would have triumphed
in the prospects which that day opened to the Church.
They could not admit that the enthusiasm could be so
soon cooled. They noted with admiration the long
procession: the lords marching three and three together;
the ambassadors surrounded with crowds of their own
countrymen, and each attended by one of the privy
councillors—the Spanish Ambassador for greater honour
attended by St. John, the Lord Treasurer; the Lord
Mayor, Sir Thomas White, who was afterwards to be
Campion’s great patron; the Earl of Arundel, bearing
the sword before the queen: the queen herself, “in a
long-sleeved robe of crimson velvet, with side-sleeves and
train of the same, enriched with gold embroidery and
precious stones;” followed by her sister, the Lady Eliza-
beth, and a hundred and sixty other ladies,—duchesses,
countesses, dames, mistresses, and maids. Eight thousand
horsemen rode in the procession, and the Tower guns
kept firing from the first moment the queen passed under
Temple Bar till she reached the old fortress; the roofs and
streets were crowded with citizens singing, playing organs,
and shouting, “God save Queen Mary!”* It was in the
midst of this tumult that little Campion had to spout
his address, and to share the honours of a day when
good-humour ruled, and criticism was mute except to
applaud. The queen is said to have been much pleased
with him, and the people cheered him heartily, though
they probably did not hear a word he said; for at thir-
teen he had not that ‘“sweet, modulated, full, sonorous
* See Note B.
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bass voice’”® which afterwards inspired hearts with so
high resolves, though there might have been the facies
grata venustas, a youthful beauty against whose rhetoric
the people could not hold argument, and anticipations
of excellence to make citizens proud of their young
champion.

When Sir Thomas White founded St. John’s College,
Oxford, the Grocers’ Company dealt with him to admit
this youth as a scholar, “which he did most willingly
after he was informed of his towardliness and virtue.”
The Compaby gave him an exhibition for his main-
tenance. In 1557, when the college was increased, Campion
became junior fellow; for the founder had conceived a
special affection for him, and he had in very short time
grown to be much known for his wit, and especially for
his grace of speech and gift of eloquence, in which he
was thought to be the best man of his time.

In November, 1558, Queen Mary and Cardinal Pole
died. Elizabeth succeeded, set up chiefly by the forward-
ness and forces of the Catholic nobility and people, who
at that day, says Parsons, were without comparison the
stronger party, but were content to act thus, partly on
the hope of Elizabeth continuing in the Catholic religion,
of which she had made much demonstration while her
sister lived, and partly on a certain politic persuasion
that this was the less evil, the best way to preserve
peace, and exclude a foreign succession to the crown.
But within a few weeks the new queen had forbidden the
Host to be elevated in her presence, had chidden her
preachers for their doctrine, and had excited such sus-
picion that a Bishop could hardly be procured to crown
her. After her coronation she quite threw off the mask,
and by a packed party in the “beardless parliament,”

* See Note C,



At Oxford. 5

and a majority of one voice in the House of Lords, from
which, by threats and cajolery, she had caused the chief
Catholic nobles to absent themselves, against the unani-
mous decision of the Bishops, and the expressed wishes
of Convocation, she substituted the Anglican Establishment
for the Catholic Church. But it was a long time before
the law written on paper became transfused into the habits
and life of the English; the utmost address and ingenu-
ity, the most imperturbable patience, were requisite to
enforce it step by step, first in one place, then in another,
upon the divided and isolated population of the country.

The change was not immediately felt at Oxford, espe-
cially by the undergraduates; the authorities did not want
to make Oxford a desert by forcing too many conscien-
ces; no oath was required of (Hampion till he took his
degree in 1564. By that time the seductions of the
university, a host of friends, and a large following of
disciples had entangled him. His eloquence was a danger-
ous gift; as junior in the act of February 19, 1564, he
was orator in the schools, “ at which time,” says Anthony
2 Wood, *speaking one or more most admirable orations,
to the envy of his contemporaries, he caused one of them,
Tobie Mathew, to say, that rather than omit the oppor-
tunity to show his parts, and dominariin und atque alterd
conciunculd (to be cock in a spouting-match or two), he
took the oath against the supremacy of the Pope and
against his own conscience.” In this envious stab of
Tobie’s there is some truth to poison the wound. The
orator’s success tempted him to desert theology, to which
he had addressed himself from his boyhood, and to become
a humanist; and why should a humanist and a layman
trouble himself with the quarrels of Pope and queen? His
own path of duty was plain; he was more certain that
he ought to obey his superiors, and fulfil his engagements
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with his pupils, than he could be about the abstract
question of the Pope’s supremacy. The more certain
duty eclipses the less; and as a mere layman he had no
particular call to certify himself more securely on so very
inconvenient a point. Nevertheless, though he took the
oath himself, he sometimes saved others from doing so.
“I knew him at Oxford,” says Parsons, “and it was
through him that the oath was not tendered to me when
I took my M.A. degree.”*

Still, however loth, he was obliged, by the statutes
of the college, to enter on the study of theology; but he
managed to find a respite, and to stave off the urgent
questions. He began with natural theology, and read it
up from Aristotle— Aristotle says nothing about the Pope’s
supremacy, Then he went on to positive theology, the
old settled dogma, which had not much to do with con-
troversies of the day. Then he determined to spell through
the Fathers, where he could not expect to find much
about these crabbed points; this I gather from his own
statement: “First I learned grammar in my native place;
then I went to Oxford, where I studied philosophy for
seven years (1557-1564), and theology for about six—
Aristotle, Positive Theology, and the Fathers.”t

After he had taken his degree he had hosts of pupils,
who followed not only his teaching but his example, and
imitated not only his phrases but his gait. He filled
Oxford with “Campionists;” he became, like Hotspur, the
glass wherein the youth did dress themselves, whose
speech, gait, and diet was the copy and book that fashi-
oned others. Among these Campionists was Robert
Turner, afterwards rector of the University of Ingold-
stadt, who speaks of his master as the one gui stilum
meum, prius disjectum et libere effluentem extra oram artis

* See Note D. 1 See Note E.
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et rationss, redegit in quadrum, aut aptius ad normam
hanc rectam exegit; he had pinched up, and pulled out,
and squared into shape his pupil’s slovenly style. An-
other was Richard Stanihurst, poet, historian, and divine;
and another, Henry, son of Lord Vaux of Harrowden.
None of them approach their master in his brief and
brilliant phrases, and forcible and lifelike epithets; but
they gathered round him and formed a classical public,
a brotherhood of scholars, to excite, to appreciate, and
to applaud.

St. John’s College was at that time a nursery for
Catholics. The founder, Sir Thomas White, a Catholic,
who as Lord Mayor of London in 1553 had done good
service against Sir Thomas Wyatt’s rebellion, and who
in Elizabeth’s first Parliament had protested that *“it was
unjust that a religion begun in such a miraculous way,
and established by such grave men, should be abolished
by a set of beardless boys,” — was still alive to super-
intend its foundation. When Elizabeth abolished the Mass,
Dr. Alexander Belsire, whom Sir Thomas had appointed
first president of his college in 1555, was deprived by
the Royal Commissioners, for. Popery, in 1559 or 1560;
and then White took away all the crucifixes, vestments,
and holy vessels that he had given, and hid them in his
house, to be restored in happier times.* Belsire’s successor,
Dr. William Ely, who was elected by the scholars and
confirmed by White, was as much a Catholic as his pre-
decessor; but he managed to hold his post till 1563 with-
out acknowledging the queen’s supremacy. In that year
the oath was tendered to him, and he was ejected. William
Stock, Principal of Gloucester Hall, succeeded Ely, but
was also ejected in a year for Popery. In 1564 Sir Thomas
White made John Robinson president; he remained so

* See Note F.
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for eight years, till July, 1572, when, White being dead,
and the Puritan Horne, Bishop of Winchester, having
succeeded in upsetting White’s arrangement which deprived
the Bishops of that see of the visitation of the college and
vested it in trustees, of whom one of the first was to have
been William Roper, the descendant of Sir Thomas More,*
the character of the college underwent a complete change.
Tobie Mathew was made president (1572), the suspected
Papists (nine out of twenty) were ejected from the fellow-
ships, and their places were filled by Puritans. Such is
always the end of attempts to graft Catholic institutions
upon the Establishment; a generous impulse is called forth,
foundations more or less liberal are made, matters go on
well while the personal presence of the founder overlooks
them; but when he dies, his spirit departs, and his found-
ation reverts to the true representatives of Anglicanism,
the High Churchman or the Puritan. The unsoundness of
the constitution which requires the constant supervision
of a man of genius, is shown by its collapse under his
successors. There is no sure or lasting home for any
thing Catholic in the Establishment. It would be ridiculous
to look for the spirit of Sir Thomas White, or of Edmund
Campion, in the present society of St. John’s College,
Oxford.

In the times I am speaking of, that society, if we may
believe Yepes, Bishop of Tarracona, never would have
the Lord’s Supper celebrated in their chapel, nor would
go elsewhere in search of it. If they had not the same
objection to the Common Prayer, they avoided all topics
of religious dispute, devoted themselves to philosophy and
scholarship, and made Campion promise not to compro-
mise himself in his public disputations. They were all
waiting for something to turn up; waiting like the drunken

® See Note G.
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man for the door to come round to them, instead of
shaking off their lethargy and walking out through the
open door. They were waiting for Burghley to die, or
for Elizabeth to die or to marry a Catholic husband, or
for the King of Spain to come and depose her; waiting
for fortune to change for them, instead of trying to change
their own fortune; and forgetting that fate unresisted over-
comes us, but is conquered by resistance. It was this English
dilatoriness, this provisional acquiescence in wrong, this
stretching of the conscience in order that men might
keep what they had, which made it possible that England
should be lost to the Church, as it has since lost many
a man who was quite convinced that he ought to be a
Catholic, but waited till his conviction faded away. The
Catholics waited for the times to mend; and they waited
till their children were brought up to curse the religion
of their fathers, till they had been robbed piecemeal of
their wealth and power, and found themselves a waning
sect in the land they had once occupied from sea to sea.

Campion’s first public oratorical display at Oxford was
in 1560, at the re-burial of Amy Robsart, Robert Dudley’s
murdered wife, who had been hastily stowed away at
Cumnor: but the people muttered that her husband had
caused Foster, his servant, to throw her down-stairs and
break her neck, in order that he might enjoy the Queen’s
favours more freely,—as afterwards he did during his
whole life. So Dudley thought it best to display his love
and grief by a magnificent funeral in St. Mary’s Church,
Oxford, when his chaplain, Dr. Babington,* made her
funeral oration. But either more than one oration was
made over her grave, or the event was commemorated
in the different colleges; for Parsons says that “Edmund
Campion was chosen, though then very young, to make

* See Note H.
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an English oration in her funerals, which he performed
with exceeding commendation of all who were present.”
I have already mentioned his successes in February,
1564. In the same year Sir Thomas White died, and,
in conformity with his will, his body was brought from
London to Oxford, “with great celebrity and a mar-
vellous concourse of people, on account of the fame of
his virtues and charities;” and because he was a known
Catholic, and had done much to defend and advance his
religion, therefore (says Parsons) Campion was chosen to
make the funeral oration in Latin; and in it he so well
“improved” the alms-deeds of Sir Thomas, “that he
wonderfully moved his audience to esteem such pious
deeds,” and “appalled much for many days the new-
fangled preachers of that time,” who used to disparage the
merit of good works, and had not yet arrived even at
the moderate Anglican view, that a few of them do no
harm.*

A copy of this oration is preserved at Stonyhurst;
it is in very idiomatic and elegant Latin, and my trans-
lated extracts give no idea of its excellence. The author
begins with a rhetorical picture of the grief of the thirty
towns which White’s munificence had enriched, and then
turns to the simplicity which governed this liberality.
“What magnificent generosity it was for a wholly unlet-
tered man to found this great home of literature, for a
man without learning to patronise the learned, for a
wealthy citizen to adopt so many strangers when he had
no children of his own, and to give all he had to aliens!”
He enlarges on White's childlessness, and declares that
it was providential, not natural: “Wherefore? he was
freed from this care that he might be wholly unencum-
bered for another; and this other care he so entirely

* See Note I.
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embraced, that for the last ten years he has devoted all his
thoughts, all his means, all his labour upon us; when away
from Oxford his soul was here, waking or sleeping he only
thought of us. As soon as his last fatal paralysis attacked
him, he immediately sent off for one of us. Our president
was away, and I was sent instead. As soon as he saw
me, the old man embraced me, and with tears spoke words
that I could not hear with dry eyes, and cannot repeat
without weeping. The sum was, that we should take every
care that the college was not harmed, that we should be
in charity among ourselves, and educate the youth intrusted
to us liberally and piously. We were to tell him if there
was any thing as yet unfinished, for he was prepared to
supply what was needful; and there was yet time to make
fresh regulations, or to repeal, remove, or change the old.
He had provided for us in his will, and hoped that his
wife and William Cordell, his executors, would take care
of us. He begged that we would not pray for his recovery,
but for faith and patience in his last moments; and no-
thing annoyed him so much as wishes for a renewal of
health.”* Then there is an aprostrophe to Sir Thomas,
and a summary of his charities—the foundation of Merchant-
Tailors’ School in London, the restoration of Gloucester
Hall, and the foundation of St. John’s College, Oxford.
“He has beaten all of us students with our holy ways,
our sacred teaching, our pious talk, and our sacrilegious
life. In this man’s tongue, manners, and gait, there was
nothing polished, dressed up, painted, affected, or false;
all was bare, open, pure, sincere, chaste, undefiled.” He
and Sir Thomas Pope were the only private persons who
had founded colleges; but he did it at a time when there
were few incentives to such an act; “when literature
was despised, was in prison, in poverty, and in despair,
* See Note J.
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half dead with sorrow, nearly washed out in tears.”

The next great occasion of Campion’s oratorical triumphs
was in 1566, during the queen’s visit to the university.
The shows with which Oxford entertained her are of a
piece with those which she afterwards witnessed at Kenil-
worth, and which Sir Walter Scott is-supposed te have
made familiar to us. Wherever she went, inscriptions were
put up in her honour; one that was set up over the gate
of Christ Church made a painful impression on Campion.
That college was one of Wolsey’s two magnificent found-
ations. “That at Ipswich” (says Campion) “was des-
troyed by Henry. The other at Oxford is without com-
parison grander than any college in Europe, and endowed
with an income of about 3000/ At the present day Henry
is called its founder, simply because he did not upset it
and confiscate its revenues after the Cardinal’s death.
Witness the verses carved in great letters over the entrance
when Elizabeth made her visit; the last line of the inscrip-
tion was. Imperfecta tui subiens monumenta parentis (‘ Enter
the unfinished monument of your father'). I never saw
any thing more miserable; the memory of the noble patron
obliterated, and the honour given to one who had violated
every principle of honour, trampled under foot all laws,
human and divine, and destroyed the religion and common-
wealth of England.”* Campion did not make allowance
for the tendency which he exemplified in his own mind.
In organised bodies honourable actions are attributed to
the recognised head of the body, as the individual prowess of
soldiers and skill of officers swell the general’s credit, whilethe
general's victories are set down to the king. The courtly An-
glican naturally refers the foundation of Christ Church to
Henry, the independent churchman to Wolsey ; but its real
founders were the men who had set up the small monasteries

® See Note K.
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out of the revenues of which Wolsey, with the king’s per-
mission, endowed his colleges. But the real founders
were not a representative body; they were a mere cata-
logue of names, without meaning or coherence, and their
honour was going a-begging till some one appropriated it.
Churchmen claimed it for the churchman, politicians for
the king. Kdpa& xdpaxs. According to our individual bias,
we select somewhat arbitrarily our representative men;
and I see nothing to wonder at in Campion, a church-
man, selecting Cardinal Wolsey, or in the Oxford cour-
tiers flattering the father of their sovereign mistress.
Besides these speaking scrolls, “the whole university
forced itself every way to make the best show they
could in all kinds of learned and liberal exercises, as
.orations, disputations, preackes, comedies, tragedies, and
the like.” There were farces and rough horse-pranks,
which Elizabeth relished thoroughly; there were sour
theological disputes *“ moderated” by John Jewel of Sarum ;
and a discussion of physical philosophy, in which Cam-
pion bore the chief share. But he had his share in the
other revels, * whereof myself,” says Parsons, “was then
an eye-witness, though some six or seven years behind
Mr. Campion in standing and in age.” Wood says that
he welcomed the queen in the name of the university,
at her first entry into the city, as thirteen years before
he had welcomed Queen Mary to London. His opinions
would not be against him at court. The queen noto-
riously hated the Puritans, and had a taste for many of
the externals of the old religion, towards the professors
of which she exhibited the moderation of endeavouring to
win them by gentle means without exasperating them.*
Campion’s state of mind, however obnoxious to Jewel or
Tobie Mathew, would make him the more interesting to
* See Note L.
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a political coquette who prided herself on her powers of
fascination. Nevertheless his friends extorted from him
a promise to avoid all controverted points in his orations.
Nor was the council less anxious to keep such disputes
from the queen’s ears. The documents remaining in the
State-Paper Office* are an amusing proof of the,industry
with which the queen’s advisers incubated over this im-
portant point. One list of questions in Sir William Cecil’s
hand carefully eschews all theology, and begins with the
inquiry, “Why is ophthalmia catching, but not dropsy or
gout?” Another paper, which probably contains Jewel’s
scheme, proposes to affirm as many heresies as could be-
stuffed into the budget. The scheme finally adopted by
the council was a clever one for committing the university
to the political theology of the court. Its questions in
divinity are, “ Whether subjects may fight against wicked
princes?” “The ministry is not an external power.” In
moral philosophy, “Princes should be declared by succes-
sion, not by election;” “The rule of the king alone is
better than that of law alone.” The political nature of the
so-called religious movement in England is well indicated
by these questions, and it shows some liberality in the
government, that they were allowed to be canvassed at
the university in the presence of the queen.

It must have been a relief to his friends to find that
Campion was only to be the oracle of two physical mys-
teries — “Whether the tides are caused by the moon’s
motion?” and “Whether the lower bodies of the universe
are regulated by the higher?” He was respondent; that
is, he had first to expose his arguments briefly, then to
listen and reply to the objections of his opponents. This
display came off on September 3, 1566, before the queen
and the handsome Lord Robert, “the chick that sitteth

® See Note M.
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" next t . of Leicester, but chancellor
of the widower of Amy Robsart,
and a or for the queen’s hand,
whose her faithful Commons, two
month her to marry, even going

so far as to designate him for her husband, “if she intended
to marry a subjegt.” But Elizabeth took offence and
commanded him on peril of his life not to aspire to such
a thing.t As yet, however, the drama was not “Love’s
Labour lost,” and so the adulatory Oxonians could treat
him almost as if he were king, without making the queen
jealous.: Before this loving pair Campion was called out
to dispute, Mr. Bully being moderator, Campion respondent;
Day, Meyrick (a peppery Welshman, made Bishop of Man
in 1573), Richard Bristow (afterwards a Catholic, and a
dear friend of Campion, one of the founders of Douai
College, and the author of the celebrated “Motives”), and
Adam Squire (whose name we shall afterwards meet with,
as a protector of Campion), the attacking party. In his
opening speech Campion shows more rhetoric and tact
than knowledge. “The only thing that reconciled him to
the unequal contest, which he had to maintain single-
handed against four pugnacious youths, was the thought
that he was speaking in the name of Philosophy, the
princess of letters, before Elizabeth, a lettered princess,
whose blessed ancestors were adepts in science, who set
her the example of visiting the poor scholars.” Then he
addressed the magnificent chancellor, whose godly and
deathless benefactions to the university he could not deny
if he would, and ought not to conceal if he could. It
was he who had raised Oxford from her lethargy, and
encouraged her progress. “May God preserve these benefits
to us; may He preserve your Majesty [to the queen], your
* See Note N. 1 See Note O.
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Honour [to Dudley],—you. our mother; /you, our pro-
tector,—you, who do these things; you, who advise them,”
&c. This Ciceronian see-saw was great clap-trap no doubt,
but it effected its purpose. The queen was visibly affected,
and turned with smiles to Lord Robert,—* You, my lord,
must still be one;” words of no great weight, but which
thrilled through an ambitious heart, and kindled in it no
unkindly feeling to the young orator, who was perorating
to so much better purpose than when, six years before,
he was pronouncing the panegyric of Amy Robsart.
Campion did not notice the queen’s interruption, but
proceeded with his pendulum: “You, who preserve us; you,
who honour us; you, who give us security; you, who
give us happiness.” If bene esse is better than esse, Cam-
pion certainly preferred the chancellor to the queen, and
she showed how deeply she was in love by smiling at
the preference. “For all these things,” continued the
speaker, “we have no money, or garments, or such like
gifts to offéer; we can only give what we have within us,
something from the veins and bowels of philosophy.”
Then he eviscerates philosophy after this fashion: “ The
moon rules the tides. How do you know? The astro-
nomers tell us that she rules moisture; the physicians,
that the humours of the body flow more freely at the
changes of the moon; the naturalists, that she expands
the sea-water. Directly beneath her, therefore, the sea is
always blown out with vapours, like water boiling in a
pot. This is the cause of tides.” With equal brevity he
infers that *“the heaven rules all lower bodies,” and
concludes by asking his hearers’ best attention for the
sturdy youths who are to oppose him. This shows
the low ebb of knowledge at Oxford, where an opinion
was asserted which had been exploded three centuries
earlier in the schools. *“The ancients said,” writes
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St. Thomas,* “that certain winds are generated in the sea
which cannot break loose, but cause the ebb and ﬂow;
but this opinion is false,”” And St. Thomas himself, as
Roger Bacon tells us, was by no means up to the level
of the physical science of his day.

After the dispute, the queen expressed her admiration
of Campion’s eloquence, and commended him particularly
to Lord Robert, who willingly undertook to patronise the
scholar. Campion certainly deserved some gratitude for
the confession he had drawn from the queen; and his
religious tendencies were not then offensive to Dudley,
who *“was for some years the secret friend of the Papists
against the Protestants, till he was for policy persuaded
by Lord North and his other friends to step over to the
Puritans against both.””{ He therefore sent for Campion,
told him how grateful he ought to be to the queen, who
had commissioned Dudley to find out what she could do
for him; he was urged to use this favour while it lasted,
and to increase it by cultivation. *“Do not be too modest,”
he said, “for it is not only the queen’s command but my
own inclination to befriend you. Ask what you like for
the present. The queen and I will provide for the fu-
ture.”f But Campion would not make any particular
request. The friendship of the chancellor, he said, was
worth more than all gifts, Dudley of course was pleased
to gain a brilliant client at no cost. For four years from
this time the Earl of Leicester (Dudley’s new title) showed
him no little kindness, as Campion acknowledges in his
dedication of his History of Ireland to the earl in May,
1571;—"There is none that knoweth me familiarly, but
he knoweth withal how many ways I have been beholden
to your lordship. The regard of your deserts and of my
duty hath easily won at my hands this testimony of a

* See Note P. 1 See Note Q. 1 Se Note R-
(o}
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thankful mind. I might be thought ambitious if I should
recount in particular the times and places of your several
courtesies to me. How often at Oxford, how often at the
court, how at Rycot, how at Windsor, how by letters, how
by reports, you have not ceased to further with advice
and to countenance with authority, the hope and expect-
ation of me, a single student. Therefore, in sum, it
shall suffice me to acknowledge the general heap of your
bounties, and for them all to serve your honour frankly,
at least-with a true heart. Let every man esteem in your
state and fortune the thing that best contenteth and serv-
eth his imagination; but surely to a judgment settled
and rectified, these outward felicities which the world gaz-
eth on are there and therefore to be deemed praiseable when
they lodge those inward qualities of the mind, which (saving
for suspicion of flattery) I was about to say are planted
in your breast. Thirteen years to have lived in the eye
and special credit of a prince, yet never during all that
space to have abused this ability to any man’s harm; to
be enriched with no man’s overthrow, to be kindled neither
with grudge nor emulation, to benefit an infinite resort of
daily suitors, to let down your calling to the need of mean
subjects, to retain so lowly a stomach, such a facility, so
mild a nature in so high a vocation, to undertake the
tuition of learning and learned men,—these are indeed
the kernels for the which the shell of your nobility seemeth
fair and sightly; this is the sap for whose preservation
the bark of your noble tree is tendered; this is the sub-
stance which maketh you worthy of those ornaments
wherewith you are attired; and in respect of these good
gifts, as I for my part have ever been desirous to discover
an officious and dutiful mind towards your lordship, so
will 1T never cease to betake the uttermost of my power
and skill to your service,”
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Campion’s admiration of Leicester is certainly a weak
point in his character. His great superiority of intellect
and his scholarship were united, say his biographers, with
great modesty, and an easy pliability to the wishes of
others. Protestant and Catholic writers alike praise his
humility, his sweetness, his amiable manners, and his
maidenly meekness. Charity thinks no evil, and reverence
gives honour to great place. If St. Alphonsus might
dedicate a book with fulsome flattery to Tanucci without
suspicion to his sanctity and simplicity, I do not see how
we can quarrel with Campion for this preface, though
we know now that his patron had murdered his wife in
1560, by means of that exquisite villain Sir Richard
Varney, and had become so notorious to the more
knowing ones, that when Elizabeth proposed him for a
husband of Mary Queen of Scots, Sir Nicholas Throgmorton
wrote to beseech her #n visceribus Christi to prevent it,
if she did not want her council to be opprobrium hominum
et abjectio plebis, infamous for forcing a queen to marry a
murderer, a poisoner, and a sorcerer. (This seems wrong.
See Stevenson’s Calendar of Foreign Papers, 1560—1561.)

But these crimes were not public; those were days of
more than ordinary hypocrisy, and the secret workings
of intrigue were harder to discover. Leicester appeared
open and free, his manners were engaging, his treatment
of dependents liberal. He was unpopular with his monopo-
lies; but if any one had a suit to recommend, Leicester
was the mediator; if a poor scholar had written a treatise,
Leicester was his patron; if a Bishop sighed for his
temporalities, Leicester was the man to get them. A
position like his creates a circle of admirers blind to faults,
and quite incredulous of rumours of abominable crimes.

Parsons remembers “the infinite praises that of all men
were given to Campion at this time.” When the queen
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asked Guzman, the Spanish ambassador, what he thought
of the Oxford exercises, “Very well,” he replied: “but
I marvel not thereat considering the variety of good wits
and talents there discovered, and that all the speakers
came very well prepared beforehand; but I should desire
to hear somewhat done extempore and without prepara-
tion.” On this a number of men were at once sent for
to Merton College, where, in presence of the ambassador,
Dudley, Cecil, and others, they were made to dispute
upon “fire.”” “No wonder they wax warm with such a
subject,” said Guzman. “Campion bore away most
praise in this sudden encounter, as he did a little after
for a certain rare oration that he was forced to extem-
porise before the queen at Woodstock, in which he was
like to have lost himself utterly, partly through the haste,
partly by the sudden great pomp wherewith the queen
came forth to hear him, until after a few moments (as
he was wont to tell) he remembered that she was but a
woman, and he a man, which is the better sex, and that
all the splendour and pomp which glittered in his eyes
was but transitory vanity, and had no substance in it, by
which, and similar cogitations, he was emboldened to go
through with his speech, to the great contentation of the
queen and court, and his own high commendation.”
Cecil, as well as Dudley, took great interest in Cam-
pion’s success and “invited him with many hopes and
promises to follow that course.” Four years afterwards,
when Campion had left England, Cecil said to Campion’s
pupil, Stanihurst, “It is a very great pity to see so notable
a man leave his country, for indeed he was one of the
diamonds of England.” Yet in 1581 Cecil was the chief
author of his death, against the wishes of others of the
council, as Parsons was told “by one that heard with his
own ears the consultation about that matter.” On the
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whole, in 1564, Campion was the most popular man in
Oxford, where no man envied his triumphs. He did not
reside long enough to take his doctor’s degree; but he
was made proctor and public orator, the highest posts
compatible with his standing.

All these successes, says F. Parsons, put Campion
into exceeding danger, by enticing him to follow a course
of which his conscience disapproved; “for he was always
a sound Catholic in his heart, and utterly condemned all
the form and substance of the queen and council’s new
religion; and yet the sugared words of the great folks,
especially of the queen, joined with pregnant hopes of
speedy and great preferments, so enticed him that he
knew not which way to turn.” His youth, ambition, desire
to satisfy the expectations of his friends, and emulation
at the advance of his equals and inferiors pulled him back ;
while remorse of conscience, fear of hell, and an invincible
persuasion of the truth of the Catholic doctrine and the
falsehood of the Protestant opinion, pushed him onwards.
He determined to compromise matters by temporising;
his internal combat was long and dangerous, for he lacked
the aid of the Sacraments and of spiritual direction; and
though he prayed earnestly for light, yet he still heark-
ened to both sides inwardly, to see whether he could
find sufficient reasons to allow his conscience to follow
in peace the course to which his worldly interests so
strongly inclined him.

This was the case also with Parsons for some years,
and with many others, especially at the universities ;—there
were many young men, well accommodated in fellowships
or otherwise, and provoked by infinite inducements to seek
the preferments which the place and the country yielded,
or at least to keep what they had, who yet felt that the
religion on which these preferments depended was doubt-
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ful and therefore dangerous: hence they lived in great
toil and torment of mind, loth to lose the hope of
salvation, glad to hold their commodities without molest-
ation of conscience, if it might be, ever in suspense,
ever ready to listen to any reason that promised to remove
their scruples.

The only safe anchor in this troubled water was, in
Parson’s opinion, the study of the Fathers. *“Whatever
we had heard or conceived in the whole day for pulling
out this thorn of conscience, and for smoothing the way
to be Protestant, either by good fellowship and conversation
with Protestants themselves, or by hearing their sermons
or reading their books, all this was dashed by one hour’s
reading of some work of the old holy doctors, and the
wound of conscience was made green again, and as griev-
ous as ever, by every page which spake of virtue and
austerity, or of questions of controversy, which were
settled there as clearly as if the Fathers had distinctly
foreseen the tumults of these days.”

It was in 1567 that Campion, having exhausted Aris-
totle and natural theology, had to turn to these authentic
reporters of the Christian tradition; and for three whole
years he was distracted with the various arguments for
and against the open profession of his Catholic belief.
He had begun with a conscientious examination of the
controverted doctrines one by one; the unhistorical and
illogical character of the new tenets was soon discovered;
and as truth begets truth, and as a mind once cheated
ever suspects fraud, he examined the points which he had
been used to take for granted; here too the ground failed
beneath him. But the consequences of his step were too
fatal to his worldly interests to allow of any hurry. He
consulted his friends. He went to any one, no matter
what his views, who professed to be able to tell him some-
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thing ; but every conference pushed him on a step further.*

An extract from his Decem Rationes will illustrate
this: “When I was young,” he says, “John Jewell, the
Calvinist leader in England, was impudent enough to
challenge the Catholics to a proof of their respective
tenets from the works of the Fathers of the first six
centuries. The challenge was accepted by some well-known
men then in exile and poverty at Louvain. I venture
to say that Jewell’s craft, ignorance, roguery, and impu-
dence, as exposed by those writers, did more good to
the Catholic cause than anything within my remembrance.
A proclamation was immediately posted on the doors
that none of the answers should be read or kept, though
they had been squeezed out by a direct challenge. Every
thinking man could see plainly that the Fathers were
Catholic.

“Once also I familiarly questioned Tobie Mathew, now
your greatest preacher, whose learning and good disposition
endeared him to me, and asked him to tell me sincerely
how a man who was such an assiduous student of the
Fathers could take the side which he defended as true.
He answered, ‘If I believed them as well as read them,
you would have good reason to ask me.” This is per-
fectly true; and I think he must still be of the same mind.”

This challenge naturally called up Tobie, who answered
in a concio apologetica, which Wood quotes, and which
Parsons describes as rather vehement and rhetorical than
with any show of sincerity. Of course he denied the
charge. “Who affirmed it? Edmund Campion the Jesuit.
And who denies it? Tobie Mathew the Christian. Iavouch
that neither sleeping or waking, standing or sitting, by
day or by night, at home or abroad, in jest or in earnest, did
I ever say it.” However, Campion who had asserted it

* See Note S.
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was dead for his faith, and Mathew was enjoying benefices
and prospects which might be risked by the story being
believed. And according to Parsons, Campion’s friend,
Stanihurst, declared that he had heard it from Campion
at the very time of its occurrence.

Another of Campion’s Christ-Church friends was re-
puted to be as cunning in the Scriptures as Mathew in
the Fathers; this was Tarleton, the governor of the young
Sir Philip Sidney. He professed to prove his religion
from the Bible alone, without the Fathers. Campion and
he had an argument, in which “each party was to allege
bare Scripture, only allowing the aid of tongues, compa-
rison of text with text, and prayer.” When Campion
had produced many strong passages on the Catholic side,
and had shown that they could not be evaded in Greek
or Hebrew, and perceived that Tarleton could not bring
any so clear for his side, and could only oppose wrangling
interpretations out of his own head, Campion, says Par-
sons, resolved fully that, seeing both Scriptures and
Fathers were wholly against the Protestant side, he would
never follow it for temporal respects.

Campion had access to Leicester’s ante-room whenever
he pleased; here perhaps he met with Richard Cheney,
the Bishop of Gloucester, a man of congenial nature,
tastes, and studies. Cheney was a mild, persuasive, old
man, very different from the rest of the Elizabethan
Bishops, from whom he held aloof, as if he had been of
a different communion. In the Convocation of 1553 he
had tried to commit the Anglican body to the Lutheran
doctrine of consubstantiation, but he was so far from
being either Lutheran or Calvinist in other respects that
in 1568 his flock complained of the * very strange, perilous,
and corrupt doctrine, contrary to the Gospel,”* which he

* See Note T.
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preached in his cathedral of Bristol, where his own fan-
atical clergy withstood him to the face. He warned his
hearers that the new writers differed from each other, and
were therefore not safe guides, but that the old fathers
and doctors alone were to be followed; that any heretic
might avouch Scripture, and that controversy would be
endless without the appeal to the Fathers; that Luther
wrote a very ill book against free will, which Erasmus
answered well; and that the consent of the Fathers was
the only test by which he would be tried.

There was one more statement with which Cheney’s
Puritanical accusers were scandalised, though it was ad-
dressed, not so much to the Puritans, as to those numerous
loose Catholics who would not give up the old faith, but
were unwilling to submit to the penalties for not going
to church. There was always a large party of this sort
in England; and in 1562 some of their chief men had
consulted the Fathers of the Council of Trent upon the
matter, and had asked whether they might not with a
safe conscience attend the common prayer and preaching.
A committee was appointed to reply, who pronounced it
quite inadmissible for any Catholic to assist at the “new
service, the offspring of schism, and the badge of hatred
to the Church.”* But one proclamation was quite in-
sufficient to remove the deep-rooted prejudice. The decision
was confirmed by St. Pius V. in 1566, and Dr. Harding
and Dr. Sanders were sent over to publish it afresh;t it
was solemnly recognised in a council of priests, convened
by Parsons and Campion in July, 1580, again promulgated
by Cardinal Toletus, June 14, 1581; enforced in a circular
of Dr. Allen, written by the Pope’s direction, in 1592,
and finally confirmed by Paul V. in a Brief addressed to
the English Catholics in September, 1606.% Besides all

® See Note U. 1 See Note V. T See Note W.
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this, many books were printed, and many more circulated
in manuscript, on the same question. From this we may
judge how many English Catholics persisted in thinking
that they might save their freedom and their goods by
being present at common prayer and sermons. Cheney
encouraged this idea. He would have recoiled from sub-
verting what remained of Catholic faith. He only under-
mined it. He did not deny that attendance at the Pro-
testant services was like bowing down in the house
of Rimmon; but he quoted the example of Naaman
to show that political motives might excuse a man’s
presence at a worship which his conscience abhorred.
“A question may be asked between the young maid
and Naaman, whether a godly man may be at idol-service
with his body, his heart being with God, without offence
or sin? I say he may; and because you shall not think
I am of this opinion only, I will bring you Peter Martyr,
a learned man, and as famous as ever was in our time,
being your own doctor [he had been Professor of Divinity
at Oxford]; he says a man may be present without offence.
His words are these: ‘Non enim simpliciter et omnibus
modis interdictum est hominibus ne in fanis prasentes
adsint, dum profani et execrandi ritus exercentur.””
This was just the doctrine that Campion wanted. The
two men agreed in execrating the innovators, and yet
maintaining the duty of remaining in the Establishment.
Was it not the ancient national Church, founded by apos-
tolic authority, to be the repository of the faith and
sacraments? If her vineyard was now usurped by the
beasts of the forests, if the wild-boar was uprooting her
vines, should her children forsake her in her affliction?
No; though heretical Calvinists occupied her pulpits, her
children need not desert their old homes. If Naaman
might attend his king to the house of Rimmon, much
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more might we accompany our tyrant to our own church-
es, though heretics for a season occupied our places, and
botchers had disfigured our ancient rites. Thus was the
instance of Naaman generalised into a universal dispen-
sation for all sects to huddle together, provided it was
within the stone walls built for God’s service in Catholic
times. With all his patristic learning, I suppose Cheney
had never lighted on the words of St. Hilary:* “It is ill
that a love of walls has seized you; it is ill that your
veneration for God’s Church lies in houses and buildings;
it is ill that under this plea ye insinuate the name of
peace. Is there any doubt that Antichrist is to sit in these?
Mountains and woods and lakes and prisons are to me
more safe; for in these the prophets, sojourning or sunk,
still by God’s Spirit prophesy.”

The acquaintance soon ripened into affection ; Campion
was continually visiting Cheney at Gloucester, reading in
the Bishop’s study, and borrowing books from his library,
enjoying the closest familiarity, sharing the old man's
sorrows, and listening to his complaints of the calumnies
that assailed him. The Bishop exhorted his young friend
never for a moment to swerve from the royal road of
Church Councils and Fathers, and ever to put full faith
in their consent. Campion saw the inconsistency of this
advice, yet he allowed himselfto be persuaded. He saw that
the weapons which Cheney wielded against Puritans might be
better used by Catholics against Cheney; he saw, and hesi-
tated; yet he could not make up his mind to tell Cheney his
doubts, to warn him of the untenableness of his position,
or to entreat him, now that he was so near the kingdom
of God, to take but one more step and secure it for ever.

Indeed, so far from Campion influencing his friend,
Cheney had, on the contrary, fixed his eyes upon Campion

* See Note X.
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as the man to carry on his work. Cheney alone ot the
Elizabethan Bishops had the slightest pretensions to
orthodoxy; alone confessed the living presence of Christ
upon the altar, and the freedom of man’s will; alone
refused to persecute the Catholics of his diocese,* or to
waste his episcopal property by leases, exchanges, sales
of lands, of timber, or even of the lead off the church-
roof. He was planting that school in the Establishment
whose latest fruits are the present Tractarians. Campion,
he hoped, was to water what he had planted. The young
scholar yielded half reluctantly to the Bishop’s persuasions,
and suffered himself to be ordained deacon, so as to be
capable of preferment, and to be able to preach; not
thinking, as he afterwards said, *“that the matter had
been as odious and abominable as it was.”

As soon as he was ordained, troubles began to beset
him. Inwardly, “he took a remorse of conscience and de-
testation of mind.”” Qutwardly, his familiarity with Cheney,
and the reports of his opinions, made him suspected by
his London friends. He still held his exhibition from the
Grocers' Company, when in 1568 rumours of his heterodoxy
reached the court of assistants, and they began to question
him.+ Their records say that “to accord and clear the
suspicions conceived of Edmund Campion, one of the
Company’s scholars, and that he may utter his mind in
favouring the religion now authorised, it is agreed that
between this and Candlemas next he shall come and
preach at Paul’s Cross, in London, or else the Company’s
exhibition to cease, and be appointed to another; and
that he shall have warning thereof from Mr. Warden.”
Campion disliked the ordeal proposed; and a subsequent
entry states that he, “being one of the Company’s
scholars, and suspected to be of unsound judgment in

® See Note Y. 1 See Note Z.
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religion, petitioned them to postpone” the *clearing of
himself herein by preaching at Paul’s Cross unto Michael-
mas.” This was agreed to. Afterwards Campion attended
a court of the Company “to know their pleasure as to
this business;” he expressed great disinclination to preach
at the Cross, and entreated, at all events, to be allowed
more time for preparation. The court, taking in good
part that he did not absolutely refuse, offered that he
should preach first “at a less notable place than Paul’s
Cross,” namely, St. Stephen’s Church, Walbrook. Cam-
pion objected to this on the plea of being “a public
person that could not do what he would, and, besides,
charged with the education of divers worshipful men’s
children,” and asked for a longer time. The Company
would not consent to this, so he requested a note in
writing, containing the precise demands they had to make;
when finding that he could not comply with them, he
resigned his exhibition, to which the Company appointed
another man,

But he was soon to make a still more important re-
signation. Fully occupied as he must have been with his
academical duties—he was Proctor in 1568-69—and with
his pupils, and devoted as he was to the course of education,
his duties did not occupy his whole attention, or stifle
his misgivings of conscience and his distress. When he
retired into himself, his thoughts gave him no rest. He
is reported to have declared more than once that soon
after his ordination he began to feel extraordinary mental
anguish: his orders appeared “disorders,” whose only
cure was Catholicism. The dignities he once dreamed of’
had lost their allurements. If his ambition had once been
to continue Cheney's work, and to succeed to his bish-
opric, now he plainly saw how Babylonish a captivity
those gilded chains disguised. He was one of those fa-
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voured men whose falls are the direct occasions of their
rise, and who may truly exclaim, “O felix culpa!”
“0O benefit of ill, now I find true
That better is by evil still made better,

And ruined love, when it is built anew,
Grows fairer than at first, more strong, far greater.”

The Grocers were driving him, his conscience was
goading him, and his dearest friend was beckoning him
away. Campion and Gregory Martin had been college
companions for thirteen years, where they had their meals,
their books, their ideas in common; they had studied
under the same masters, had loved the same friends, were
hated by the same enemies. Martin, like Campion, was
a man of mark, “of extraordinary modesty and mode-
ration,” “the Hebraist, the Grecian, the poet, the honour
and glory” of St. John's College. He had accepted a place
in the Duke of Norfolk’s family as governor to his boys;
and though Philip, afterwards Earl of Arundel, did him
no present credit, the young nobleman bore witness, by
his holy death in 1595, to the good husbandry of his
early tutor. In 1569, when the duke'’s troubles about the
Queen of Scots began, all his household were commanded
to attend common prayer and sermons;* Martin, therefore,
fled over the seas, and became a Catholic. But before he
left he wrote to Campion to warn him against the am-
bition that was leading him astray into the wide path
where so many great wits had perished in those evil
days. He begged him not to fear for poverty; their
friendship was too pure to admit such difficulties. “If we
two can but live together,” he wrote, “we can live on
nothing; if this is too little, I have money; if this fails,
one thing is left,—‘Qui seminant in lacrymis, in exultatione
metent,’—they that sow in tears shall reap in joy.”t

® See Note AA. 1 See Note BB.
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Thus driven and thus drawn, Campion left Oxford,
on the feast of St. Peter in Chains, August 1, 1569, on
the termination of his proctorial office, of which he ren-
dered an account in the usual Latin oration.




CHAPTER IL

IF it had been to any authority that had the right to
inquire into his theological opinions, and not to a mere
company of London tradesmen, ridiculously erecting
themselves into a tribunal of orthodoxy, that Campion
excused himself from acknowledging his opinions, on the
plea of being “a public person, charged with the education
of divers worshipful men’s children,” it might have been
inferred that he strangely inverted the values of his duty
as a minister and his duty as a professor. And the
inference would not have been far wrong ; he was disgusted
with himself for having accepted the Anglican diaconate,
and wished to forget it, and to live as a simple layman.
But in the cause of education and of letters his enthusiasm
never for a moment slackened; he strenuously recom-
mended his pupils to complete the whole circle of sciences;
“not to deliquesce into sloth, nor to dance away their
time, nor to live for rioting and pleasure; but to serve
God, to bridle their passions, to give themselves up to
virtue and learning, and to reckon this the one great,
glorious, and royal road.”* To one of his scholars,
Richard Stanihurst, who two years after his matriculation
at Oxford had published a commentary on Porphyry,t
he was quite dithyrambic in his congratulations, and in
* See Note 1. 1 See Note 2.
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his “triumph that their university should possess a
youth of Stanihurst’s rank, learning, and goodness, capable
almost in his teens of competing with able men in maturity.”
“Proceed,” he said, *“with the same pains and toil, bury
yourself in your books, complete your course, abjure the
snares of vice, keep your mind on the stretch, give
yourself to your country, strive for the prizes which you
deserve.” He anticipated a splendid future for such
precocious attainments, when they had been matured and
completed by methodic study; when “wit had been
mellowed with judgment, judgment with wisdom, and
wisdom with age.” “Only persevere,” he said; “do not
degenerate from what you are, nor suffer the keen edge
of your mind to grow dull and rusty. I speak thus
warmly, not because I mistrust you, but because it is my
duty to be anxious for the fame of men like you.”*
When he finally left Oxford, it was not because he
was weary of a university life, but because the opposition
to his way of thinking was becoming too strong, and at
the same time because he thought he saw an opening for
a wider career in Dublin. The new religion was daily
gaining ground at the English university, the whole ma-
chinery of which was in the hands of men who were both
able and desirous to make it the stronghold of the rising
Puritanism. But at Dublin, the old university, which had
been commenced by Pope John XXI. at the prayer of
Alexander Bigmore, the Archbishop, and which, as Cam-
pion tells us, had kept its terms and commencements
solemnly, and had been never disfranchised, but only
through variety of time discontinued, and now, since the
subversion of monasteries, utterly extinct, was to be begun
anew: a motion was made in the parliamentary session
of 1570 to erect it again. The chief mover in this re-

* See Note 3. 1 See Note 4.
D
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storation was the Recorder of Dublin and Speaker of the
House of Commons, James Stanihurst, the father of Cam-
pion’s pupil, and at that time a zealous Catholic.* Sir
Henry Sidney, the Lord Deputy, was owned by Father
Parsons to be “a very honourable, calm, and civil gentleman,
nothing hot in the new religion, but rather a great friend
to Catholics;” and Dr. Weston, the Lord Chancellor, was
delated to the Privy Council in England by Loftus, the
Protestant Archbishop, for his lack of zeal in promoting
the Gospel.t The career which the constant supervision
of the Privy Council, and the puritanical zeal of such men
as Horne, Bishop of Winchester, and Tobie Mathew, were
fast closing against Campion at Oxford, seemed to him
to be opening with better auspices at Dublin. Thither,
therefore, with the approbation of the Earl of Leicester,
he betook himself, in company with Richard Stanihurst;
and arrived there on St. Bartholomew's day, Aug. 23,
. 1569, according to Parsons; or rather 1570, for his letter
to Richard Stanihurst was written from St. John's College
in December, 1569. He was cordially received by his
pupil’'s father, and domiciled in his house, where he is
said to have lived a kind of monastic life, and to have
exhibited such purity and modesty of demeanour, that
the Dublin people called him “the angel.”” Here he
employed himself partly “in exercises of learning with
Richard Stanihurst, and in controversies against the
heretics of that time,” and partly in setting forth his
ideal what a university education should be. He wrote a
discourse, De Homine Academico, which has not survived
in its original form, but in the still more valuable shape
of an oration, written when his views had been corrected
by his submission to the Church, and pronounced in the
presence of Dr. Allen, the founder of our Douai seminary,
® See Note 5. 1 See Note 6.
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and of all the professors and miscellaneous students of
that model institution. I shall not scruple to depart a
little from the order of time, and to quote this oration
in this place, where the subject leads me to speak of
Campion’s private views on education.

In the first place, then, his ideas on this subject were
not changed by his submission to the Church; he im-
ported into her what he had learned outside her, without
any material alterations. “I will try,” he says, “out of
my observations made during many years, in many places,
and on many minds,—out of what I have learned in a
wide and varied intercourse with men,—to make a kind
of pencil sketch of the university man.”’* This sketch
was not intended merely for the lay ideal, but for that
of the ecclesiastical student, whose education, “up to his
twenty-third year, when he begins his theology,” is placed
before us in a model whose different members are all
culled from real examples, and which, though perhaps as
a whole unattainable by any individual, is yet the ideal
towards which all should strive, according to their various
powers. It is to be noticed that there is no thought of
two models, one by which some select ecclesiastics should
be duly prepared to cope with the great questions of the
day, in a manner in which it would be difficult to suppose
a seminary capable of instructing them, and another model,
which should be that of the seminaries intended to fit the
students for work among the poor and illiterate, on the
principle that, most men being uneducated, and only the
few refined, accomplished, and large-minded, the clergy in
general should be trained, not on the model of the few,
but so as best to meet the capacities and characteristics
of the many; a principle which itself assumes that refine-
ment unfits for rough work, that boors can best teach

* See Note 7.
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boors, and that *“who drives fat oxen should himself be
fat.” On the contrary, Campion proposed one single
model to the students at Douai, themselves drawn from
every class of life, and earnestly exhorted all of them,
without exception, to place it before their eyes as the real
aim of their studies; though at the same time he bade
them not be disheartened if they failed, because almost
all must fail more or less, scarcely any one could quite
attain the first place: “but he that falls short of it has
not therefore failed; he may still be an excellent acade-
mician though he has not gained the first prize. There
are lower seats of honour, even though the consul’s chair,
or the prince’s throne, is not reached. . .. Therefore,”
he says to the college students, “with great courage and
great hope strive in this literary contest, that you may
approach as near to the likeness of our model youth as
our times and circumstances will permit.”” The various
requirements of the priesthood were not to be met by
educating the young men for their various employments,
some in one way, some in another. All were to have
the benefit of the best form of education, and their future
course was to be determined, not by the differences of
the schools where they were brought up, but by their
various proficiency in the realisation of the one model of
excellence proposed to all.

As it is necessary for the orator to take account of
all the external circumstances which might conduce to
the efficiency of his ideal youth, he begins with his social
and personal advantages. He is supposed to be “rich,
gently nurtured, of knightly stature, healthy, and muscu-
lar,”—according to Sir Thomas More's fancy, who always
wished that any particularly handsome man he saw might
be a priest, because he would make so impressive a show
at the altar. Moreover, his mind is supposed to be “subtle,
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hot, and clear; his memory happy; his voice flexible,
sweet, and sonorous; his walk and all his motions lively,
gentlemanlike, and subdued; and the whole man seeming
a palace fit for wisdom to dwell in.” He is supposed to
have been born of Catholic parents, and to have learned
his religion with his alphabet. To have been taught, not
by a hedge schoolmaster, but by one of the great scholars
of the day, whose method had become a second nature
to the pupil. His pronunciation was especially cared for
in his boyhood, and when he grew older he easily acquired
the nice turns of eloquence. His first years at school were
devoted to Latin, to the rudiments of Greek, and to a
mastery over his native tongue, in which he had to write
verses and epigrams. His other accomplishments were
painting, playing the lute, singing at sight, writing music
with facility and correctness, quickness in summing, readi-
ness in answer, and practice in writing.

In the school of philosophy he had become a good
debater, and had devoured most of the works of Cicero.
He had enlarged his knowledge of Greek, and had become
a finished, even an inspired, poet; “so did he poise his
iambics, so lightly did his lyrics leap.” And these gifts
were set off and made lovely by a simple, open, and
tractable nature, and a true inclination to piety.

These studies carried him to his sixteenth year. In
the next seven years he completed his course of philosophy,
he finished Latin oratory, and studied the eloquence of
the Greeks. He read all histories, those of his own
country, then the Roman, then the Greek, and lastly the
annals of other nations. Moral and political philosophy
he studied, chiefly in Aristotle and Plato. He ran through
mathematics, and learned all that he judged useful for his
purpose out of every subject of science. This variety was
so methodised that it involved no confusion or hesitation;
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he was at once *“a perfect poet, and an orator that
seemed to have digested and assimilated Cicero; a logician
who could refute Chrysippus, and yet so perfect in physics
as to deserve the title of oracle of nature; so deep in
history, and so ready at all points, that he seemed to
know every thing. And he had attained this position,
not by the precocity, but by the fertility and fulness, of
his talents; by the use of excellent masters, of a well-stored
library, and of continual industry,—by labour in learning,
method in labouring, and constancy in his method.”

I am only collecting the intellectual characteristics of
Campion’s model. It must be understood that he insists
on the collateral necessity of moral virtues in as great
perfection as the mental attainments. But these traits I
leave out, as common to all serious writers on education.
The only two precepts of intellectual and literary absti-
nence that I find, are the following: “He did not stuff
himself with promiscuous reading, nor burden himself
with the carcasses of books. He did not dull himself with
unseasonable vigils, but allowed himself seven hours for
sleep at night. He washed thoroughly, and dressed
carefully, before he began his studies, at which he always
stood, in his own solitary cell” In general literature
there was one subject which he always avoided: he was
“a poet who had never written and never read amatory
compositions”’—those loose and profligate writings, the
object of which is, not to inform, but to excite evil
passions, and of which the type is Ovid’s “ Art of Love.”
But he had not avoided the great masters of literature
on account of the incidental allusions to this matter; and
in Campion’s days there were few emasculated editions
specially for the young. He had at his fingers’ ends
“the majesty of Virgil, the festal grace of Ovid, the
rhythm of Horace, and the buskined speech of Seneca.”
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He was an orator who knew how to tickle, or to strike,
or to astonish, or to convince; an historian who knew
the matter in detail, geographically and chronologically,
and in its unity; a good Grecian; a dialectitian capable
of appreciating, distinguishing, and illuminating all he
touched; a philosopher familiar with the deepest secrets of na-
ture; an astronomer who could read off the solar system like
a book ; and in his last year he became agood Hebrewscholar.

During all this time his religious exercises had included
not only the assistance at sermons and catechisms, but
private conferences with theologians, and the perusal of
contemporary Catholic authors, especially those who treated
of the disputed doctrines in a pure and clear style. Thus
he had acquired a knack of religious controversy, and an
insight into the principles of heresy, that enabled him to
repel with facility, knowledge, and intelligence, whatever
attack was made upon his religion.

With respect to his moral attitude towards his fellow-
students, Campion makes his model youth eager to bestow
his friendship on any schoolfellow who was despised for
his poverty ‘or obscurity of birth, but honourable for his
virtues. He was always on the watch for opportunities
to do a kindness to his companions, to look after their
condition, to help them in their lessons, to mend their
pens, to call them to the class, to visit them in the in-
firmary, and to talk pleasantly to them. He was quiet
and smooth in speech, nimble and abandoned at play,
collected and serious at study, gentle and civil to all, and
very respectful to his elders. He was severe in his judg-
ment upon himself, lenient to others; he found somewhat
to praise in every thing, and never gave a simple censure.
Yet he always maintained the principle that kindness
should be kept clear of flattery, and truth defecated from
bitterness.
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And among the motives by which Campion urges
each hearer to follow this model, we find not only the
good he would do to himself, to his companions, and to
the Church, but the figure which he would make in his
country. He invokes not only religion, but patriotism,
to enforce his teaching, And it is certain that education
was the great “social science” of the sixteenth century,
and that schoolmasters and scholars then held the position
which in these days has been occupied by the princes of
physical science and discovery. The restoration of learn-
ing was felt to be the great present want of the world.
The most pious Popes and prelates, and the most far-
sighted politicians and princes, were unanimous in this
conviction. Campion had devoted himself head and heart
to the movement, in which he saw nothing bad except
the attitude of hostility which in some quarters it had
assumed towards the Church. But this, he was convinced,
was a mere accident, utterly inadequate to throw a doubt
on the intrinsic value and excellence of learning itself.
Hence, instead of disparaging it because of its abuse, he
only showed himself more enthusiastic in his endeavours
to convert it to its legitimate use. In one of his historical
writings* he mentions with complacency the revival of
the “salutary knowledge of the three tongues,” and the
consequent disrepute into which “the subtleties of the
old theologians and grammarians” had fallen; and while
lamenting the “evils which the young students had with
characteristic precipitation imported into this- excellent
movement,” and blaming those who, after turning to the
best account the leisure purchased for them by the liber-
ality of prelates and abbots, employed their attainments
to ridicule their patrons, who had paid their battel-bills, he
yet saw that the only remedy was to bring the race of “ig-

* See Note 8.
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norant ecclesiastics, simple preachers, and old-fashioned
monks,” to a speedy end by a radical change in their
education. And how radical was the change he meditated,
is abundantly shown by the ideal model which he pro-
posed to the president, professors, and students of the
great seminary at Douai, when compared with the picture
which Erasmus draws of the ecclesiastical education of
his day.

Campion had hoped to become a pioneer of Irish
“civility” in the new University at Dublin; but the scheme
failed. Though contributions were laid together, Sir Henry
Sidney proffering 20/, in lands, and 100/ in money, and
others following after their abilities and devotions; though
Master Ackworth had devised a new name for it—Plan-
tolinum, from Plantagenet, or Bulleyne, in honour of
Elizabeth’s mother; “yet while they disputed of a convenient
place for it, and of other circumstances, they let fall the
principal.” The chief cause of failure was the underhand
opposition of the Chancellor and some of the Bishops,
who did not wish to see such an institution founded by
Sidney and Stanihurst, or intrusted to Campion, who,
though not then received into the Church, was suspected
to be a Papist, and only saved from arrest through the
protection of Sidney, who secretly promised James Stanihurst
that, while he was Governor, “no busy knave of them
all should trouble him for so worthy a guest as Mr.
Campion,” and performed it most honourably while he
remained in Ireland. Weston, the Irish Chancellor, wrote
to Cecil, the Lord Treasurer, March 12th, 1570,* that
the motion for founding a university was universally well
liked; yet that the device, direction, and foundation of so
godly a deed was a most worthy work for so virtuous,
bountiful, and careful a sovereign and prince, and would

# See Note 9.
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conservate to perpetual memory her Majesty's godly zeal
to true religion and learning, and her merciful motherly
care over her poor and rude subjects here. The work,
thus taken out of the hands of the local authorities, and
committed to Elizabeth, was brought to a conclusion
twenty-five years afterwards by the foundation of Trinity
College, Dublin.

After his educational projects were finally nipped by
the departure of Sidney from Dublin, March 25, 1571,
Campion had to devise some other method of accounting
for his absence from England. He therefore devoted ten
weeks at this time to a hasty knocking together of a
History of Ireland, which, read by the light of the
circumstances under which it was conceived, is almost as
much a pamphlet to prove that education is the only
means of taming the Irish as a serious history.

The workt is dedicated to his “singular good lord”
and patron, Leicester, the chancellor of his university, to
whom he says, that, in order that his travel into Ireland
might seem neither causeless nor fruitless, he had thought
it expedient, as one of his lordship’s honourable charge,
to yield him that poor book as an account of his poor
voyage. He hoped it was not the last or the best gift
he should offer; but he was sure that it had been “more
full of unsavoury toil for the time than any plot of work
he ever attempted.” It was long before he could find a
copy of “Gerald of Wales;” and what this writer left
untouched, he had been forced to piece out by the help
of foreign writers who incidentally touched upon Ireland,
and by a number of brief extracts of rolls, records, and
scattered papers, to handle and lay all which together he
had not in all the space of ten weeks. He confesses, in
his epistle to the loving reader, that, ever since his first

1 See Note 10.
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arrival at Dublin, he, with the help of various gentlemen,
had inquired out antiquities of the land. But he had
no help from real Irish sources; though the native
chronicles were “full fraught of lewd examples, idle tales,
and genealogies, et quicquid Grecia mendax audet in
historia,” yet he was persuaded he might have sucked
thence good store of matter, had he found an interpreter,
or understood their tongue, which is so hard that it
would have required a study of more years than he could
spare months. He intended his book to be only a
contribution to the subject, and desired the Irish antiquaries
“hereafter at good leisure to supply the want of this
foundation, and polish the stone rough-hewed to their
hand,” which, rough as it was, would have been much
worse proportioned if the author had not been helped
with the familiar society and daily table-talk of James
Stanihurst, who, “beside all courtesy of hospitality, and a
thousand loving turns not here to be recited, both by word
and written monuments, and by the benefit of his own
library, nourished most effectually’” the writer's endeavour.

To the ordinary reader, the most interesting parts of
the work will always be those which consist of the writer’s
own observations upon the soil and the inhabitants of
Ireland, which “lieth aloof in the West Ocean, in proportion
like an egg, blunt and plain at the sides, not reaching
forth to sea in nooks and elbows of land as Britain doth.”
From these chapters I will give some extracts, since the
book is scarce, as specimens of Campion’s English style,
in his own day greatly admired:

“The soil is low and waterish, and includeth divers little
islands, environed with bogs and marishes: highest hills have
standing pools in their top. The airis wholesome, not altogether
so clear and subtle as ours of England. Of bees good store; no
vineyards, contrary to the opinion of some writers, who both
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in this and other errors touching the land may easily be excused,
as those who wrote of hearsay. Cambrensis in his time com-
plaineth that Ireland had excess of wood, and very little cham-
pagne ground; but now the English pale is too naked. Turf
and sea-coals is their most fuel. It is stored of kine; of excel-
lent horses and hawks; of fish and fowl. They are not without
wolves, and grey-hounds to hunt them, bigger of bone and
limb than a colt. Their kine, as also their cattle, and commonly
what else soever the country engendereth (except man), is much
less in quantity than ours of England. Sheep few, and those
bearing coarse fleeces, whereof they spin notable rug mantle.
The country is very fruitful both of corn and grass; the grass.
for default of husbandry, not for the cause alleged in Poly-
chronicon, groweth so rank in the north parts that ofttimes it
rotteth their kine. Eagles are well known to breed here, but
neither so big nor so many as books tell.... Horses they have,
of pace easy, in running wonderful swift. Therefore they make
of them great store, as wherein at times of need they repose
a great piece of safety.... I heard it verified by honourable to
honourable that a nobleman offered, and was refused, for one
such horse an hundred kine, five pounds lands, and an eyrie of
hawks yearly during seven years.... Only because a frog was
found living in the meadows of Waterford somewhat before
the conquest, they construed it to import their overthrow....
Generally it is observed, the further west, the less annoyance
of pestilent creatures; the want whereof is to Ireland so peculiar,
that whereas it lay long in question to whether realm, Britain
or Ireland, the Isle of Man should pertain, the said controversy
was decided, that forasmuch as venomous beasts were known to
breed therein, it could not be counted a natural piece of Ireland.
Neither is this property to be ascribed to St. Patrick’s blessing,
as they commonly hold, but to the original blessing of God,
who gave such nature to the situation and soil from the
beginning. And though I doubt not but it fared the bet-
ter in many respects for that holy man’s prayer, yet had
it this condition notified hundreds of years before he was
born.”*

With regard to the dispositions of the people, whom

# Sce Note 11.
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he divides into those of English descent and the mere
Irish, he writes as follows:

*The people are thus inclined: religious, frank, amorous,
ireful, sufferable,-of pains infinite, very glorious, many sorce-
rers, excellent horsemen, delighted with wars, great alms-givers,
passing in hospitality. The lewder sort, both clerks and laymen,
are sensual and loose to letchery above measure. The same,
being virtuously bred up and reformed, are such mirrors of
holiness and austerity, that other nations retain but a show or
shadow of devotion in comparison of them. As for abstinence
and fasting, which these days make so dangerous, this is to
them a familiar kind of chastisement; in which virtue and
divers others how far the best excel, so far in gluttony and
other hateful crimes the vicious they are worse than too bad.
They follow the dead corpses to the grave with howlings and
barbarous outcries, pitiful in appearance, whereof grew, as I
suppose, the proverb /o weep Irisk. The uplandish are lightly
abused to believe and avouch idle miracles and revelations vain
and childish. Greedy of praise they be, and fearful of dishonour:
and to this end they esteem their poets who write Irish learnedly,
and pen their sonnets heroical, for the which they are boun-
tifully rewarded: but if they send out libels in dispraise, thereof
the gentlemen, especially the wmere Irish, stand in great awe.
They love tenderly their foster-children, and bequeath to them
a child’s portion, whereby they nourish sure friendship, so
beneficial every way that commonly five hundred kine and
better are given in reward to win a nobleman’s child to foster.
*They are sharp-witted, lovers of learning, capable of any study
whereto they bend themselves, constant in travail, adventurous,
intractable, kind-hearted, secret in displeasure.

Hitherto the Irish of both sorts, mere and English, are
affected much indifferently, saving that in these, by good order
and breaking, the same virtues are far more pregnant: in those
others, by licentious and evil custom, the same faults are more
extreme and odious. I say, by licentious and evil custom, for
that there is daily trial, of good natures among them, how soon
they be reclaimed, and to what rare gifts of grace and wisdom
they do and have aspired. Again, the very English of birth,
conversant with the brutish sort of that people, become degen-
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nerate in short space, and are quite altered into the worst rank .
of Irish rogues; such a force hath education to make or mar,”*

The mere Irish are quite another people from the
Anglo-Irish; not that it must be supposed that their
manners are now the same as Cambrensis describes;
indeed, Campion wishes it to be observed “how much
Ireland is beholden to God for suffering them to be
conquered, whereby many of these enormities were cured,
and more might be, would themselves be pliable.” He
first notices the damnable superstition of leaving the right
arm of male infants unchristened (as they say), that it
might give a more ungracious and deadly blow; and
tells a story of a monk demanding of a grave gentleman
who was confessing to him whether he were faultless in
the sin of homicide. “He answered that he never wist the
matter to be heinous before; but being instructed thereof,
he confessed the murder of five-—the rest he left wounded,
so as he knew not whether they lived or no.” He cites
Strabo, who asserts that they ate human flesh, counted
it honourable for parents deceased to be eaten by their
children, and lived together promiscuously without regard
to kindred. Though, since St. Patrick’s days, Christianity
has never ceased, yet it had but a lax hold before the
conquest, especially in matrimonial matters. And this
was a fault not corrected even in Campion’s time:

“Yea, even at this day, where the clergy is faint, they can
be content to marry for a year and a day of probation, and
at the year’s end to return her home upon any light quarrels,
if the gentlewoman’s friends be weak and unable to avenge
the injury. Never heard I of so many dispensations for mar-
riage as these men show. I pray God grant they be all authentic,
.and builded upon sufficient warrant.”}

Sacchini (Hist. S. I.) gives a report of a legate sent
® See Note 12. 1 See Note 13.
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to Ireland by Pius V., which includes the clergy in a
charge similar in character to this.

The writer then continues the list of their old customs,
their faithlessness and perjury, their oaths upon St. Pat-
rick’s staff, and the barbarous ceremonies of crowning
the king of Ulster. Then he turns to “their trade at
this present:”

“Clear men they are of skin and hue, but of themselves
careless and bestial. Their women are well favoured, clear
coloured, fair-handed, big and large, suffered from their infancy
to grow at will, nothing curious of their feature and proportion
of body. Their infants of the meaner sort are neither swaddled
nor lapped in linen, but folded up stark naked into a blanket
till they can go, and then if they get a piece of rug to cover
them they are well sped. Linen shirts the rich do wear for
wantonness and bravery, with wide hanging sleeves pleated—thirty
yards are little enough for one of them. They have now left
their saffron,* and learn to wash their shirts—four or five times
in a year. Proud they are of long crisped glibbes, and do
nourish the same with all their cunning: to crop the front
thereof they take it for a notable piece of villany.f

Shamrocks, water-cresses, roots, and other herbs they feed
upon. Oatmeal and butter they cram together. They drink
whey, milk, and beef-broth. Flesh they devour without bread;
corn, such as they have, they keep for their horses. In haste
and hunger they squeeze out the blood of raw flesh, and ask
no more dressing thereto; the rest boileth in their stomachs
with aqua vite, which they swill in after such a surfeit by
quarts and pottles. Their kine they let blood, which, grown to
a jelly, they bake and overspread with butter, and so eat it in
lumps.

One office in the house of great men is a tale-teller,

* Rowland's Mouffet (1634) Theatre of Insects, p. 1092, ed. 1658, “The
Irish and Ireland:—People (who are frequently troubled with lice....)
anoint their shirts with saffron, and to very good purpose, to drive away
the lice, but after six months they wash their shirts again, putting fresh
saffron into the size.”

1 See Note 14.
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who bringeth his lord on sleep with tales vain and frivolous,
whereunto the number giveth sooth and credence. So light are
they in believing whatsoever is with any countenance of gravity
affirmed by their superiors, whom they esteem and honour, that
a lewd prelate within these few years, needy of money, was
able to persuade his parish that St. Patrick in striving with
St. Peter to let an Irish Gallowglas into heaven had his head
broken with the keys; for whose relief he obtained a collection.

Without either precepts or observation of congruity they
speak Latin like a vulgar tongue learned in their common
schools of leechcraft and law, whereat they begin children, and
hold on sixteen or twenty years, conning by rote the aphorisms
of Hippocrates and the Civil Institutions, and a few other
parings of these two faculties. I have seen them where they
kept school, ten in some one chamber, grovelling upon couches
of straw, their books at their noses, themselves lying flat
prostrate, and so to chant out their lessons by piecemeal, being
for the most part lusty fellows of twenty-five years and upwards.

Other lawyers they have liable to certain families, which
after the custom of the country determine and judge causes.
These consider of wrongs offered and received among their
neighbours, be it murder, or felony, or trespass. Allis redeem-
ed by composition, except the grudge of parties seeking
revenge; and the time they have to spare from spoiling and
proyning, they lightly bestow in parleying about such matters.
The Breighoon, so they call this kind of lawyer, sitteth him
down on a bank, the lords and gentlemen at variance round
about him, and then they proceed. They honour devout friars
and pilgrims, suffer them to pass quietly, spare them and
their mansions, whatsoever outrage they show to the coun-
try beside them. To rob and prey their enemies they deem it
none offence, nor seek any means to recover their loss, but
ever to watch them the like turn. But if neighbours and friends
send their cators to purloin one another, such actions are judged
by the Breighoons aforesaid. Toward the living they are noisome
and malicious; the same being dead, they labour to avenge
eagerly and fiercely. They love and trust their foster-brethren
more than their own.”*

Campion next descants on what was then a national

* See Note 15.
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vice, now happily supplanted very generally by the con-
trary virtue,—the vice of impurity. He concludes his
sketch with the truly Irish sentence: “One man I heard
named which hath (as he calleth them) more than ten
wives in twenty places.”

“There is among them a brotherthood of Carrows, that
profess to play at cards all the year long, and make it their
only occupation. They play away mantle and all to the bare
skin, and then truss themselves in straw or in leaves ; they wait
for passengers in the high way, invite them to a game upon
the green, and ask no more but companions to hold them sport.
For default of other stuff they pawn portions of their glybbe,
the nails of their fingers and toes, ... which they lose or redeem
at the courtesy of the winner.

When they fancy and favour they are wonderful kind. They
exchange by commutation of wares for the most part, and
have utterly no coin stirring in any great lords’ houses. Some
of them be richly plated. Their ladies are trimmed rather
with massy jewels than with garish apparel. It is counted a
beauty in them to be tall, round, and fat. The inheritance
descendeth not to the son, but to the brother, nephew, or cousin
german, eldest and most valiant. For the child being oftentimes
left in nonage, or otherwise young and unskilful, were never
able to defend his patrimony, being his no longer than he can
hold it by force of arms. But by the time he grow to a
competent age, and have buried an uncle or two, he also
taketh his turn, and leaveth it in like order to his posterity.
This custom breedeth among them continual wars and treasons.”*

Campion’s History, hardly longer than a pamphlet,
and scarcely pretending to greater dignity than that of
mere annals, is more interesting for the light that it
throws upon the writer’'s own opinions and powers than
as a contribution to general science. With much of the
credulity of his day he combined a clear insight into the
main principles of historical criticism; and he summarily
explodes many a fable by a comparison of dates, or by

#* See Note 16.
E



50 Edmund Campion.

showing that the various testimony on which it rests
reduces itself to a multiplied echo of a single authority.
But the most striking thing about the book is the vast
dramatic power of the speeches which he introduces, ac-
cording to the custom of the historians of his day. The
taste which we have here is sufficient to make us regret
both that the tragedies which he afterwards produced at
Prague were written in Latin, and that they are lost.
Some of his orations only want metre to be comparable
with those of his great dramatic contemporaries. Take
the following for specimens. The first is a speech of
Roderic, a chief of Scythian redshanks, blown with a few
refugees upon the coast of Ireland, of whose king he
demands hospitality :

“Not as degenerate from the courage of our ancestors, but
inclining ourselves to the bent and sway of fortune, we are
become suppliants to Ireland that never before have humbled
ourselves to any. Look, sir king: eye us well; it is not light
prowess that has caused these valiant bodies to stoop. Scythians
we are, and the Picts of Scythia—great substance of glory
lodgeth in these two names. What shall I tell of the civil
tumult that hath made us leave our home? or rip up old
histories to make strangers bemoan us? Let our vassals and
children discourse it at large and leisure—if perhaps you vouchsafe
us any leisure in the land, to which effect and purpose our
infinite necessities pray your favours—a king of a king, men
of men. Princes can consider how near it concerneth their
* honour and surety to prop up the state of a king defaced by
treason, and men will remember, nothing better beseemeth the
nature of man than to feel by compassion the griefs of men.
Admit, we beseech you, these scattered relics of Scythia. If
your realms be narrow, we are not many. If the soil be barren,
we are born to hardness. If you live in peace, we are your
subjects. If you war, we are your soldiers, We ask no kingdom,
no wealth, no triumph in Ireland. We have brought our-
selves, and left these casualties with the enemy. Howsoever
it like you to esteem of us, we shall easily learn to like it,
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when we call to mind not what we have been, but what we
are.”*

The following is a speech of an Irish king, calling upon
his countrymen to complete the overthrow of the Danish
invaders, begun by the assassination of the Danish chief:

“Lordlings and friends, this case neither admitteth delay
nor asketh policy. Heart and haste is all in all, while the feat
is young and strong, that of our enemies some sleep, some
sorTow, some curse, some consult—all dismayed. Let us anti-
cipate their fury, dismember their force, cut off their flight,
occupy their places of refuge and succour. It is no mastery
to pluck their feathers, but their necks; nor to chase them in,
but to rout them out; to weed them, not to rake them; nor
to tread them down, but to dig them up. This lesson the
tyrant himself hath taught me. I once demanded him in a
parable, by what good husbandry the land might be rid of
certain crows that annoyed it. He advised to watch where
they bred, and to fire the nests about their ears. Go we then
upon these cormorants that shroud themselves in our posses-
sions, and let us destroy them so that neither nest, nor root,
nor seed, nor stalk, nor stubb may remain of this ungracious
generation.”'{

One more extract I must give, as being an exact repro-
duction in English of Campion’s Latin style. It is from
the Earl of Kildare’s defence of himself against Wolsey,
who accused him of conniving at his kinsman the Earl
of Desmond’s treasons:

“Cannot the Earl of Desmond shift, but I must be of
counsel? Cannot he be hid, except I wink? If he be close,
am I his mate? If he be friended, am I a traitor? This is
a doughty kind of accusation which they urge against me,
wherein they are stabled and mired at my first denial. You
would not see him, say they ;—who made them so familiar with
mine eyesight? Or when was the Earl within my view? Or
who stood by when I let him slip, or where are the tokens of
my wilful hoodwinking? ¢Oh, but you sent him word to beware

* See Note 17. 1 See Note 18.
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of you:—who was the messenger? where are the letters? See
how loosely this reason hangeth. Desmond is not taken; well;
we are in fault: why? Because you are. Who proves itp
Nobody. What conjectures?—so it seemeth. To whom ?—to
your enemies who told it them. What other ground? None.
Will they swear it? They will swear it.”"*

I have thought it worth while to give these specimens
of an eloquence that succeeded beyond that of all contem-
porary rivals in transfusing the vigour and polish of
Cicero into a language that was only struggling into
form. Campion's fame in England was built upon his
eloquence; and it is only by the speeches of this Irish His-
tory, which his scholar, Stanihurst, calls * tickled-tongued,”
because its author “did learn it to speak,’'t and by the
report of his defence at his trial, that we can estimate a
power which appears to have swayed all who listened to him.

He finishes his History with two speeches, which he
professes to report from his own notes, as near as he
could, in the same words and sentences in which he heard
them. They are the speeches of James Stanihurst,
Speaker of the Commons, and of Sir Henry Sidney, the
Lord-Deputy, at the prorogation of the Parliament,
December 12, 1570. I must quote so much of them as
refers to the project of the Dublin University, and the
subsidiary schools which were to be founded in every
diocese :

“Surely, says James Stanihurst, might one generation sip a
Jittle of this liquor, and so be induced to long for more, both
our countrymen that live obeisant, would ensue with a courage
the fruits of peace whereby good learning is supported; and
our unjust neighbours would find such sweetness in the taste
thereof as it should be a ready way to reclaim them. In mine
experience, who have not yet seen much more than forty years,
1 am able to say that our realm is at this day an half deal
more civil than it was, since noblemen and worshipful with

$ See Note 19. 1+ See Note 20.
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others of ability have used to send their sons to England to
the Law, to Universities, or to Schools. Now when the same
schools shall be brought home to their doors that all that will
may repair unto them, I doubt not, considering the numbers
already brought up beyond the seas, and the good already done
in those few places where learning is professed, but this addition,
discreetly made, will foster a young fry likely to prove good
members of this commonwealth, and desirous to train their
children in the same way. Neither would it be a small help
to the assurance of the crown of England, when babes from
their cradles should be inured under learned schoolmasters with
a fine English tongue, habit, fashion, discipline, and in time
utterly forget the affinity of their unbroken borderers, who
possibly might be won by this example, or at the least wise
lose the opportunity which now they have to infect others.
And seeing our hap is not yet to plant an University here at
home,.... meseemeth it is the more expedient to enter so far
forth as our commission reacheth, and to hope for the rest.”™

The portion of Sidney’s reply that related to the
schools and university is as follows:

“To you belongeth the quickening of this godly statute...
Show yourselves forward and frank in advancing the honour,
wealth, ease, and credit of your counties; envy not to your
posterity the same path that yourselves have trodden.... Had
your opinions matched with mine concerning the University....
no doubt the name and reputation thereof would have been a
spur to these erections (the Schools), as nurses for babes to
suck in till they might repair thither to be weaned. But I
trust your consents therein are only suspended for a time, and
that so much good labour shall not be utterly lost and frustrate
What though certain imperfections cannot as yet be salved?
What though a sum arise not to make a muster of colleges
the first day? What though the place be not also commodious?
What though other circumstances infer a feeble and raw found-
ation? These are indeed objections of the multitude, whose
backwardness breedeth an unnecessary stop in this our purpose.
But your wisdoms can easily consider that time must ripen a
weak beginning; that other Universities began with less, that

#* See Note 21.
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all experience telleth us so;—shall we be so curious or so testy
that nothing will please us but all in all, all-absolute, all-
excellent, all-furnished, all-beautified, all-fortified in the frame
and infancy thereof ? I remember a tale of Apuleius his ass,
who being indifferently placed between two bottles of hay,
because he could not reach them both at once, forbare them
both., Let us not so do, but content ourselves by little and
little to be fed as the case requireth.”*

But Campion was not allowed to finish his History
in peace. Though not yet reconciled to the Church, he
lived openly as a Catholic, and Dr. Weston, the Lord
Chancellor, and the other high commissioners had there-
fore resolved to apprehend him; but, as the persecution
was not then very rigorous, they were stayed for a time
by the authority and credit of his friends, especially of
Sidney. But the years 1569 and 1570 were most disastrous
both to the present and future of the English Catholics.
The ill-advised and worse-contrived rebellion of the North
had failed, and Elizabeth’s ministers had behaved as men
usually do when recovering from a crisis of great danger
and greater terror. The queen had been further exaspe-
rated by the declaratory bull of St. Pius V., which Felton
had pasted up on the Bishop of London’s gates on the
feast of Corpus Christi, 1570. It was becoming clear to
Elizabeth’s advisers that her political salvation required
the destruction of Mary of Scotland; and they and the
queen were egging-on the Duke of Norfolk to his treason,
for which he lost his life. And now the attention of the
Court was especially turned to the designs of Spain upon
Ireland. The French ambassador learnt in London, early
in January, 1571, that Philip II. had submitted to the
Pope, as suzerain of the island, the tender of the Irish
crown, made to him by Stukeley in the name of the
people, who were anxiously looking for him; that the

* See Note 22.
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Pope had bidden him God-speed, on condition of his
reéstablishing the Catholic religion; and that 10,000 men
were to be sent over.* Before February 12th, Elizabeth
had written to Sidney to stay his departure, and to order
him to provide for the defence of the country, promising
to send him directly all the aid he wanted.t In these
circumstances, even Sidney’s influence could no longer
insure Campion’s safety. But he did what he could; when
Campion was to be seized early the next morning, Sid-
ney warned him, by a private message at midnight, to
provide for his own safety. James Stanihurst, therefore,
procured him a refuge with Sir Christopher and Lady
Barnewall, at Turvey, eight miles from Dublin. Richard
and Walter Stanihurst conducted him through the dark-
ness, and committed him to the hospitable care of his
new hosts. This was about March 17th, a week before
Sidney left Ireland, “with innumerable hearty prayers and
wishes for his return,” to find waiting for him at Chester
the queen’s letter, which ordered him, too late, to remain
at his post.

From Turvey, Campion wrote to James Stanihurst,
March 1gth:

“Great is the fruit which I gather both from your affection
and from your esteem; from your affection, that in these hard
days you are as careful of me as if I had sprung, like Minerva
from Jupiter, out of your head: from your esteem, because,
when I was well nigh turned out from house and home, you
considered me worthy not only of your hospitality, but of your
love.... It was your generosity and goodness to receive a
stranger and foreigner into your house; to keep me all these
months on the fat of the land; to look after my health as
carefully as after your son Richard’s, who deserves all your
love; to furnish me with all conveniences of place, time, and
company, as the occasion arose; to supply me with books; to

* See Note 23. 1 See Note 24.
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make such good provision for my time of study, that away
from my rooms at Oxford I never read more pleasantly. After
this one would think there was nothing more to come; but
there was more. As soon as I saw you heard the first rustlings
of the storm which was sure to blow to a hurricane if I stayed
longer in sight of the heretics at Dublin, you opened to me
this secret hiding-place among your country friends. Till now,
I had to thank you for conveniences; now I have to thank
you for my safety and my breath—yes; breath is the word.
For they who strive with those persecutors are commonly thrust
into dismal dungeons, where they draw in filthy fogs, and are
not allowed to breathe wholesome air. But now through your
and your children’s kindness I shall live, please God, more free
from this peril, and, my mind tells me, most happily. First of
all, your friend Barnewall is profuse in his promises. When
he had read your letter, he was sorry for the hardness of the
times, but was as glad of my coming as if I had done him a great
favour. As he had to go into Dublin, he commended me to
his wife, who treated me most kindly. She is surely a very
religious and modest woman. I was shut up in a convenient
place within an inner chamber, where I was reconciled to my
books. With these companions I lie concealed in my cell.”*

The letter ends with compliments to Stanihurst’s sons, and
with a request to have his St. Bernard sent to him, on the
same day he wrote a more familiar letter to his pupil Richard:

“It is hard that, however grateful I feel, I cannot show it.
But I know you neither need nor desire repayment; so I only
give you my wishes for the present; the rest when I get back
to the land of the living. Meanwhile if these buried relics have
any flavour of the old Campion, their flavour is for you; they
are at your service. I am infinitely obliged to you and your
brother Walter for the pains you lately took on my behalf.
You, up all night; he, torn from his wife’s arms besides!
Seriously, I owe you much. I have nothing to write about,
unless you have time and inclination to laugh. Tell me—you
say nothing. Listen, then. The day after I came here I sat
down to read. Suddenly there broke into my chamber a poor
old woman, who wanted to set the things to rights. She saw

* See Note 25.
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me on her left hand, and knowing nothing about me, she
thought I was a ghost. Her hair stood on end, her colour fled,
her jaw fell, she was struck dumb. What is the matter? I
asked. Frightened to death, she almost fainted: she could not
speak a word; all she could do was to throw herself out of
the room; she could not rest till she had told her mistress that
there was some hideous thing, she thought a ghost, writing in
the garret. The story was told at supper time; the old woman
was sent for, and made to tell her fright; every body died of
laughing, and I proved to be alive and no ghost.”*

March 19th, I find Campion at Turvey; in May, at
Dublin; and in the beginning of June, at Drogheda. All
this -time he was dodging the pursuivants, whom the
commissioners, exceedingly offended at being beguiled of
their prey, sent to search and to lay wait over all
Ireland. His inexhaustible hilarity carried him well
through all, and in the intervals of flight he employed
himself in “huddling up in haste’ the materials he had
collected for his History. The observations and descriptions
which I have quoted from this work show us with what
reserves to admit the assertions of his biographers that
he led a kind of monastic life in Ireland. He says that
at Turvey he lived “as though in a cell;” and he asks
for his St. Bernard. Still he was not a man like St.
Bernard, who had never seen the ceiling of his room, nor
the snowy mountains which overlooked a place where he
had long lived. His sweetness of temper is shown not
to have been incompatible with a spicing of satirical and
caustic humour. His mind is shown to have been too
solid to be unhinged by the revulsion which commonly
accompanies a conversion. A book like this, so laborious,
so clear, so genial, written in haste and hurry by a man
homeless and hiding from pursuivants without, and in
the turmoil of a religious change within,—turning his own

* See Note 26.
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house out of windows, looking into his own chest, and
tumbling up and down what he found there, and yet
composing as clearly and forcibly as if he had nothing
else to think of,—is a sign of steadiness both of head and
heart. Most men are hurried by the first blush of con-
version into an abnegation of judgment which rejects no
fiction in which the element of piety is strong. Campion
throughout insisted upon his right of judging for himself
in all matters where human judgment has course,—witness
his excellent chapter on the legend of St. Patrick’s Pur-
gatory,* and the very decided intimations which he gives
in many places of his opinions upon the policy or the
lawfulness of a rebellion founded upon a Papal excom-
munication, and upon the validity of the Pope's claim to
the suzerainty of Ireland, and the disposition of the
English crown. But I shall have to return to this latter
subject.

Gregory Martin, whose letter had much to do in
drawing Campion from Oxford, wrote again to him in
Ireland. “I remember,” says Campion, “how earnestly
you called upon me to come from Ireland to Douai; how
you admonished me; how effectual were your words.”t
But Campion was again as much driven as drawn. Seeing,
says Parsons, that he could hardly escape the commis-
sioners long, and must endanger his friends, he resolved
to return to England in disguise. On his flight from
Dublin in March he had called himself Mr. Patrick, out
of devotion to the apostle of the country. By this assumed
name he passed in his various wanderings and conceal-
ments, till he finally took ship at Tredah, or Tredake,
a little port twenty miles from Dublin, * apparelled in a
laquey’s weed,” as servant to Melchior Hussey, the Earl
of Kildare's steward, who was then on his way to England.

# See Note 27. 1 See Note 28.
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As there was some suspicion that he might be on
board, some officers were sent to search the ship for
him. As they asked for him by name, he thought he
could not escape, and his surprise was too great to allow
him to take any precautions; so he stood quietly on the
deck, while the officers ferreted out every nook and corner,
examined the crew, tumbled the cargo up and down, with
plentiful curses upon the seditious villain Campion. There
he stood in his menial livery, and saw every body but
himself strictly examined; while he called devoutly upon
St. Patrick, whose name he had assumed, and whom, in
consideration of the protection he then gave, he ever
afterwards invoked in similar dangers. He escaped, but
not his manuscripts. “My History of Ireland,” he after-
wards wrote, “I suspect has perished; it made a good-
sized and neat volume; the heretical officers seized it:”*
but after this cross, says Richard Stanihurst,{ it wandered
“in mitching wise” through sundry hands, till at last it
was published in vol. ii. of Holingshed’s Ckronicles, in
1586, and in Sir James Ware's Ancient Irish Histories
in 1633.

But, in spite of these crosses, as he had lamented
the being forced to leave England, he was now full as
sorry, says Parsons, to leave Ireland, because of the new
and dear friends to whom he had become attached in
that country. When the officers had finished their search.
the ship was allowed to sail; and, after “an indifferent
prosperous voyage,” he landed in England, to miss the
Irish hospitality, but not to miss that which he chiefly
sought to avoid, the prying inquisitions of the queen’s
officers, and of the provincial Dogberries. On the east
of St. George's Channel “he found,” says Parsons,
“nothing but fears, suspicions, arrestings, condemnations,

* See Note 29. 1 See Note 30.
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tortures, executions, for the risings of the Earls of
Northumberland and Westmoreland, and of Lord Dacres,
and for the publication of the Bull. The Duke of Norfolk
was imprisoned, and other great men restrained to their
houses, as the Earl of Pembroke and the Earl of Arundel,
suspected of favouring the Queen of Scots, lately arrived
in England; and a new conspiracy was just discovered
in Norfolk, for which Mr. John Throgmorton and others
were executed in 1570. The queen and council were so
troubled that they could not tell whom to trust, and so
fell to rigorous proceedings against all, but especially
against Catholics, whom they most feared; so that
Campion could not tell where to rest in England, all men
being in fear and jealousy one of another.” Therefore
he resolved to fly for good over sea, as hesaw that there
was no longer secure living for Catholics without com-
promising their conscience.

If it were not that the dates attached to Campion's
published works are hopelessly corrupt, I might be
tempted, seeing that Campion dated his History from
Drogheda, June gth, 1571, to doubt Parsons’ declaration,
that he witnessed the arraignment and trial of Dr. Storey,
which took place in Westminster Hall on the 26th of May
in the same year. It may be, however, that he purposely
post-dated his work, perhaps for the purpose of concealing
from the officers the real time of his departure from
Ireland. At any rate, Father Parsons can hardly be
deceived in the fact that Campion was present at this
celebrated trial; and we must overlook the minor difficul-
ties of a few days’ discrepancy in the dates.

Dr. Storey was a civilian,* who had taken a prominent
part in the ecclesiastical acts of the reign of Mary, and
after her death had fled into the Low Countries to escape

* See Note 3I.
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the vengeance of Elizabeth and Cecil. It was by what
he had done in England, not, as Parsons supposes, by what
he did in Flanders, that he had made himself obnoxious
to them. “Understanding,” says this writer, “that many
heretical merchants who had traffic in those countries
used to bring in wicked books to infect the Catholic
people,” he first complained, and then accepted the office
of inquisitor, to search for the contraband prints. On this
the English heretics conspired to capture him. Cecil and
Leicester contrived the plot. The King of Spain having
authorised Alva to set up an office at Antwerp for the
search of all English ships entering or leaving that port,
one William Parker, a wool-draper and merchant, said to
be a brother of the Archbishop of Canterbury, was largely
bribed by Cecil and the council to profess that he had
fled from England for his faith, and to solicit Alva for
the office. The duke was well pleased to have so distin-
guished a dependent, and, finding him qualified, he gave
him the post. As soon as he was installed, he named
for his assistant Dr. Storey, then living in great poverty
at Louvain, with a wife and four young children, besides
nephews and nieces, dependent upon him, this led him
to accept the appointment, though his friends told him
it was an odious office, quite unworthy of him. As soon
as this was done, three agents of Cecil in the Low Countries,
named Mershe, Lee, and Saltanstall, together with Parker
and one Pigot, contrived that a ship, sufficiently provided,
should enter the port of Antwerp, and that Dr. Storey, when
visiting her for prohibited goods, should have the hatches
fastened down upon him, and be carried off to England.
The plot miscarried, through the indiscretion of Pigot, and
the loyalty of a sailor, who informed Parker of the design,
thinking that he was to be the victim. But afterwards three
merchants trading to Antwerp—Roger Ramsden, Martin
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Bragge, and Simon Jewkes—were bribed by the council
to make another attempt, and succeeded in capturing both
Parker and Storey. No one but Mershe and Cecil knew
of Parker's treachery; and, to keep up appearances, both
men were kept prisoners, and both arraigned together in
May, 1571, for having traitorously comforted Richard
Norton the traitor at Antwerp. But the real reason why
Storey was to be put out of the way was his conduct
under Queen Mary, and in Elizabeth’s first Parliament,
where he had said, “I see nothing that I should be sorry
for; but am rather sorry that I have done no more, and
that I had not more earnestly given my advice to spare
the little twigs and shoots, but to strike more boldly
against the roots and great branches.” In plain terms,
not to light fires to burn costermongers and cobblers,
but to make examples of such tall plants as the Lady
Elizabeth and Sir William Cecil.

Campion, says Parsons, heard Storey prove “that he
'had committed nothing treasonable or punishable in going
to Flanders, and living under a prince who would allow
him the exercise of his religion, which he could not have
in England; and that, being there, he might accept and
exercise the office of inquisition and search against all
such, though they were English, as offended the common
laws of the Catholic Church (whereof he was a member,
and to which he owed more particular obedience than to
his country or prince) or the laws of Flanders. More-
-over, that any subject whatever, on so just an occasion
as religion, might renounce his naturalisation, and betake
‘himself to the subjection of another prince, as he had
‘betaken himself to the subjection of the Catholic King
-of Spain, and that consequently they could not proceed
.against him for it. And even if this were not allowed,

* See Note 32.
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yet, as the fact for which he was indicted was committed
in another country, and he taken there by fraud, and
brought into England by force only, he was not punishable
for it in England.”

He was executed June 1, 1571, with circumstances of
unusual cruelty. But the trial had been enough to drive
Campion from England—not to escape the danger, but
to prepare himself to meet it more usefully. Being neither
priest nor divine, he thought himself of little use at pre-
sent, and therefore determined to go at once to Douai,
and was already half across the Channel on the day of
Storey’s death. But in mid-channel his ship was stopped
by the Hare, an English frigate cruising there, which
despatched a boat to see that the ship’s papers were re-
gular, and that each passenger had his passport. Campion
had no document of the kind, and his fellow-passengers,
though they knew nothing about him, suspected he might
be a Catholic. This was enough; he and his baggage
were carried off to the FHare, and brought to Dover,
where the captain took possession of all the money con-
tributed by Campion’s friends in England and Ireland, and
having occasion to go to London, would needs carry his
prisoner with him: “albeit,” says Parsons, “by the event
that ensued, it seems it was rather a show to justify the
taking the money, which he wanted to keep, than from
any desire to get his prisonér to London, where he might
find some friend to aid him in recovering his purse, seeing
in those days there was nothing so rigorous laws against
leaving the realm as afterwards were devised.” Campion,
suspecting this, began directly to linger behind; each of
them, without speaking a word, comprehended what the
other wanted, and an understanding was soon established.
Campion turned round, and walked off towards the east;
his companion pursued him westwards. The fugitive
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obtained a fresh supply of money from some friends in
Kent, and succeeded in getting over to Calais without
molestation.

Dr. Allen’s splendid foundation at Douai was now
beginning to flourish. Since the first years of Elizabeth’s
reign the scholastic towns of Flanders, where the mer-
cantile classes were so closely connected with England
by the wool-trade, had become a second country to English
refugees, a great colony of whom were established at
Louvain. Richard Smith, D.D., of Oxford, was professor
in that Flemish university, till he was transferred by
Philip II., in 1562, to Douai, where he was made Provost
of St. Peter’s, and consequently Chancellor of the University.
In like manner William Allen and Thomas Stapleton,
who became doctors and professors at Louvain in 1566,
removed to Douai in 1568, where Allen began his college
with the pecuniary assistance of Morgan Phillips, his old
tutor at Oriel College; of John de Vendeville, then Pro-
fessor of Law at Douai, afterwards Bishop of Tournai;
of the Abbots of St. Vaast in Arras, Marchiennes and
Anchin; and of Richardot, Bishop of Arras, and with the
personal cotperation of Dr. Richard Bristow, student of
Christ Church, Oxford ; Edward Risheton or Risdon (not the
journalist of the Tower, and continuator of Sanders, but one
who afterwards joined the English Carthusians at Bruges),
John Marshall, John White, Jeremy (alias Simon) Collier,
- Philip Raycostian, a Belgian; Dr. Thomas Baily, and Dr.
Lawrance Webb, both of Cambridge ; and Dr. Thomas Sta-
pleton, who, however, accepted no post in the college.*
On Campion’s arrival in 1571, the foundation already
numbered some 150 members, of whom eight or nine
were doctors or licentiates in theology. The reasons of
this rapid growth will be easily understood from Cardinal

* See Note 33.
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Allen’s own account of the *“ motives and accidents ’ which
had drawn the men together.* The first thought of the
founders of the college had been to attract the young
English exiles who were living in Flanders from their
solitary and self-guided study to a more exact method,
and to collegiate obedience; and their next, to provide
for the rising generation in England a succession of learned
Catholics, especially of clergy, to take the place of those
removed by old age, imprisonment, and persecution.
Their design, then, was to draw together out of Eng-
land “the best wits” from the following classes; those
inclined to Catholicism; those who desired a more exact
education than could be then obtained at Oxford or
Cambridge, “where no art, holy or profane, was thor-
oughly studied, and some not touched at all;” those who
were scrupulous about taking the oath of the queen’s
supremacy ; those who disliked to be forced, as they were
in some colleges of the English universities, to enter the
ministry, *“a calling contemptible even to their own con-
ceit, and very damnable in the judgment of others,” the
dread of being forced into which had (in 1581) yielded
to the new college “many, yea, some scores, partly be-
fore, partly after their entrance into that trade;” and
those who were doubtful which religion was the true one,
and were disgusted that they were forced into one without
being allowed opportunity of inquiring into the other.
Besides these educated persons, grammar-schools from all
parts of the realm yielded youths, who after full training
in the college became as useful as the others.

A hundred and fifty such converts, all of whom had
made some sacrifices, and some of whom had sacrificed
all they had for religion, were a real power, because
they had fallen into the hands of a man who, with all his

* See Note 34.
F
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political blunders—to use the mildest term—had a true
genius for ecclesiastical government. William Allen was
not the man to let the force that was in an educated
convert run to seed, or to allow him to stand all day
idle in the market-place for want of employment. The
ingenuity of his machinery for economising the power of
which he disposed may be appreciated from the following
exampie. Most people feel two things about a recent
convert. First, that it is a pity he cannot be locked up
till his exaltation is over, and till his ordinary prudence
has resumed its seat; and next, that it is still worse
economy to repress the energies of the first months of
his conversion, and to prevent him exerting his influence
over his friends till time has diminished, if not destroyed
it. One of Allen’s rules was, that, while those who were
now forgotten in their old circles busied themselves in
writing books, or in instructing the scholars, the young
men, whose memories were still fresh in the affections of
those they had left at home, should write letters to move
them to attend to the salvation of their souls, and to
beseech them not to damn themselves wilfully, under
pretence of preserving their property for themselves and
their children. The letters by which Gregory Martin
had drawn Campion to Douai are only specimens of the
practical utility of this rule. And before he left Douai,
Campion obtained some results from the same practice.
He wrote to certain special friends of his in England,
some Catholics and some Protestants, with such fervour,
that some of them were moved by his words to leave all
and follow him to Douai. To this rule of Dr. Allen we
are indebted for perhaps the most beautiful of all Campion’s
compositions,—his letter to Cheney, the Bishop of Gloucester
(Nov. 1, 1571), “whom,” says Parsons, “he doth so rattle
up (yet with great modesty and show of reverence, and
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hearty good will), that it may easily appear how abundantly
God had imparted His Holy Spirit unto him, for his
letter is truly apostolic.”

For his old friend Cheney was now in deep disgrace,
While the pursuivants were hunting Campion in Ireland,
they were also following Cheney in England. In April,
1571, Cheney was summoned to convocation; in the third
session he was excommunicated® for not appearing, by
himself or by his proctor, and his archdeacon was sent
with a pursuivant to attach him. He was censured for
contempt; though he was in London at the time, he
would not appear, and afterwards he went out of London
without the archbishop’s leave. But, after a little time,t
he sent his chaplain with letters of proxy to sue for
absolution, which was granted. It is sufficient to look at
the visitation articles of Archbishop Grindal, whereby the
prelates in this convocation tried to sweep away all the
lingering remnants of the old_religion, to know why
Cheney absented himself from i, Tir Communion was
no longer to be put into the comamuncant’s mouth, but
into his hands; all ceremonies or gestires not prescribed
in the Prayerbook were to cease; people were to com-
municate three times a year, not, like the Papists, at
Easter or Christmas, but on ASW’ and one of
the two Sundays before Easter, WHitsunday, and Christmas.
All altars were to be pulled do¥n, and the altar-stones
defaced, and put to some common i vse. ;‘:‘.uf prayers for
the dead, at funerals or commemoratisf.s of the dead, to
cease; no person was to be allowed to wear beads, or to
pray upon them in Latin or English, or to burn candles
on the feast of the Purification, or to make the sign of
the cross as he entered the church.t

These articles of visitation were only the logical devel-

* See Note 35. 1 See Note 36, I See Note 37.
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opment of the Act of Uniformity, the enforcing of which
throughout the English counties stands in such startling
complication with the reports of rebellion in the pages
of the Calendar of State-Papers for the latter part of the
year 1569. Up to 1570 Catholic practices had been
allowed to linger in the Establishment; now, after the
defeat of the northern rebels, the Puritans found themselves
strong enough to repress by force what they had hitherto
been obliged to connive at. But Cheney would not sanction
by his presence, even though he was only there to protest,
a convocation which was to destroy all that he loved in
Anglicanism; he retired to Gloucester, and, though he
took measures to remove the excommunication, which
would have entailed all kinds of material disasters, he
never afterwards had any thing to do with his brother-
bishops. After eight years, he died as he had lived,
leaving it doubtful whether he was reconciled to the
Church or not. One of-his successors in the see, Godfrey
Goodman, said t+at hat was certain he died a Papist,
and bred up his Yo /ﬂmts Papists, as he had been informed
by one of them Mth whom he had spoken ;’* but Campion
wrote in 1581, two years after the Bishop’s death: “A
conventicle in London attempted to exclude the clause,
‘He descended into hell, from the Creed, as I was told
by an eyemty of twiichard Cheney, a most miserable
old man, “;tamed so. oy robbers without, who yet entered
not his faid.- certai ise. ”'I' Still, the old man might have
been reconciled, Q‘it “secretly, for fear of the Jews,” and
a thousand accidents might have prevented the publication
of the fact. Certainly, his memory was not in benedic-
tion with the Protestants; he was buried in his cathedral,
but no memorial was erected to him; and, asifto avenge
the Puritans, whom he had troubled, on the Papists,
* See Note 38. 1 See Note 39.
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whom he had spared, after his death there was no county
in England where more malicious cruelty was exercised
on Catholics than in Gloucestershire. I will reprint Cam-
pion’s letter in the Notes at the end of the volume.*

During the time that Campion spent at Douai, he
completed his course of scholastic theology, took the
degree of Bachelor of Divinity, received minor orders,
and was ordained sub-deacon.t He was employed also
as a professor in the college, for he speaks of Cuthbert
Mayne, the protomartyr of the seminaries, as having been
his pupil there. He had, moreover, not only to teach
the rules, but also to set the example of eloquence; and
Parsons tells us that, after an oration of his upon the
angels, on St. Michael’s Day, Doctor Mattheus Gallenius,
the chancellor of the university, declared Profecto nostra
patria non fert tale ingenium—truly, our country does
not produce such a wit,— “which, though an exaggera-
tion, considering the great store of rare and eminent men
that Belgium yields daily to the world, yet shows his
opinion of Master Campion, to whom he was a perfect
stranger.”

We have one oration, and part of another, that were
pronounced here. The first, De Fuvene Academsico, 1
have already discussed. Here I will only add the pero-
ration, in which he exhorts all these Douai students to try
to realise his ideal of an academic young man:

“Listen to our heavenly Father asking back His talents
with usury; listen to the Church, the mother that bore us and
nursed us, imploring our help; listen to the pitiful cries of our
neighbours in danger of spiritual starvation; listen to the howl-
ing of the wolves that are spoiling the flock. The glory of
your Father, the preservation of your mother, your own salva-

tion, the safety of your brethren, are in jeopardy, and can you
stand idle? If this house were blazing before your eyes, what

* See Note 40 1 See Note 41.
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would you think of the young reprobate who sang, or grinned,
or snapped his fingers, or rode cock-horse on his cane in the
common crisis? Behold, by the wickedness of the wicked the
house of God is devoted to the flames and to destruction;
numberless souls are being deceived, are being shaken, are
being lost; any one of which is worth more than the empire
of the whole world. Do not, I pray you, regard such a tragedy
as a joke; sleep not while the enemy watches; play not while
he devours his prey; relax not in idleness and vanity while he
is dabbling in your brothers’ blood. It is not wealth, or liberty,
or station, but the eternal inheritance of each of us, the very
life-blood of our souls, our spirits, and our lives that suffers.
See, then, my dearest and most instructed youths, that you lose
none of this precious time, but carry a plentiful and rich crop
away from this seminary, enough to supply the public wants,
and to gain for ourselves the reward of dutiful sons.”

The other oration belonging to this period, De Laud-
tbus Scripture Sacre, is very imperfect, and what re-
mains is not worth preserving. The speaker maintains
the most rigid theory of verbal and syllabic dictation. The
following simile, however, is aptly and prettily introduced:

“At Down, in the noble island of Ireland, amongst the
relics of St. Brigit was found a concordance of the four Evan-
gelists, beautified with mystical pictures in the margent, whose
colours and workmanship at the first blush were dark and
unpleasant, but in the view wonderful lively, and artificial.
Is not this most like to the style of Scripture? which seemeth
to him, who only looketh in at the door, to speak unlearnedly
and pedantically ; whereas whoso diligently studies it finds the
truth of the Prophet’s praise, ‘Thy words are like fire, and
like a hammer that breaketh the rock.’”*

After spending more than a year at Douai, Campion
became dissatisfied with his position. His biographers
attribute this solely to his desire of penance and perfection.
His chief study was to acquire the true science of the
saints, the knowledge of God and of himself. But the

* See Note 42.
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more his knowledge of self increased, the more unhappy
he became about that miserable Anglican diaconate.
From the first it had given him the most painful scruples,
which only grew more painful as his self-knowledge grew
deeper, his learning more extensive and his virtue more
mature. He called it “the mark of the beast;” and the
thought of being impressed with “this infamous character”
and “profane mark of ministry” grew at last tooburden-
-some to be lightened by counsel of learned friends, or
by his own study. So he determined to break entirely
with the world, to make a pilgrimage to SS. Peter and
Paul at Rome, and, by their good help, to become a Jesuit.
He heard, as his foreign biographers add, an interior
voice commanding him to repair to the see of Peter,
where he should be told what to do. He resolved to
obey, and immediately felt such inward comfort, that he
determined not to wait a day.

A diligent study of Campion’s writings does not bring
to light much evidence of this effect of his Anglican
orders upon his mind; but it throws light on a divergence
between his views and those of Dr. Allen, which I am
disposed to think had almost as much to do with his
leaving Douai as his scruples or his vocation. I need
not trace here the development of the weak point in
Dr. Allen’s character; a point in which he suffered the
usual penalty of exiles,—entire ignorance of the move-
ments and feelings of his country, and the crystallisation
of his brain in those feelings with which he first left
England. In Mary’s reign Philip II. was king of England,
and loyalty to him was a proper sentiment. Allen pre-
served this sentiment all his life, and not without reason,
for he lived within the Spanish king’s dominions, and was
a dependent on his bounty; and he allowed it to lead him
into his disgraceful defence of the treachery of Sir William
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Stanley at Deventer, and to the composition of the more
disgraceful pamphlet which he intended to be distributed
throughout England as soon as the Armada should have
achieved its first success.* But I will not enter upon this
point now, as I shall have to discuss Campion’s present
political views more fully in the next chapter.

But whatever divergence there might have been po-
litically between Allen and Campion, there was no inter-
ruption to their friendship. Even the resolution of his
most promising subject to leave him did not alienate the
affections of the great founder of the English seminary.
With a vast harvest to gather in, and only few labourers
to send; with every interest of heart and mind concen-
trated on the conversion of England—it would have been
very excusable if he had been grievously offended at
Campion’s desertion, and all the more at his entrance
into the Society of Jesus, which as yet had taken no part
in the English mission. We might perhaps have expected
Allen to offer the most strenuous opposition to the step,
to show himself for years afterwards a bitter enemy of
the Society, and to guard himself against any future loss
of his students by forbidding them to learn from its pro-
fessors, to listen to its preachers, or to perform its spiritual
exercises. But he was too large-hearted and far-sighted
to be swayed by such petty jealousies; he counted on
receiving back his loan with interest, and, though he had
to wait a while, his calculations did not fail him in the end.

As soon as Campion had determined to depart from
Douai to Rome, and had fixed the day for starting, his
preparations did not occupy much time. He went on
foot as a poor pilgrim. He allowed his friends to accom-
pany him one day’s journey, but would receive no other
assistance or protection. The rest of his journey he ac-

® See Note 43.
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complished alone, and never afterwards spoke of its inci-
dents. But he was met on the road by an old Oxford
acquaintance, a Protestant, who had known him “in great
pomp and prosperity,” and who on his return from a
tour to Rome came across a pilgrim in a mendicant’s
dress. They passed each other without recognition; but
the traveller, struck with some familiar expression, rode
back to see who the poor man was. He soon recognised
him, dismounted, shook lands, exhibited the greatest
sympathy, and asked whether he had fallen among thieves
that he was in such a plight. When he heard that it
was all voluntary mortification, he pooh-poohed the idea
as unworthy of an Englishman, fit only for a crazy fanatic,
and absurd in a man of moderate means and a frame not
over robust; so he pulled out his purse, and told Campion
to help himself. The pilgrim refused, and, says Parsons,
“made such a speech of the contempt of this world, and
the eminent dignity of serving Christ in poverty, as
greatly moved the man, and us also his acquaintance that
remained yet in Oxford, when the report came to our
ears.” Campion arrived in Rome in the autumn of 1572.



CHAPTER IIL

CAMPION’S biographers, Parsons, Bombinus, Bartoli, and
More, who write rather to edify their readers than to
trace the character and opinions of the subject of their
memoirs, tell us nothing of what occurred to him at Rome
beyond his conformity to the pious usages of pilgrims,
his gradually-formed conviction that he was called to be
a Jesuit, and his admission into the order at the end of
April, 1573. It appears, however, by his own statements,
that he had already made up his mind about his vocation
when he first arrived; so that all the stories about the
interior voice which miraculously directed him in answer
to his protracted devotions, and the severe trial which
he made of its authenticity, are shown to be at least
great exaggerations, if not pure fancies.

“On my first arrival into Rome,” he said at his trial,
in November, 1581, *“ which is now about ten years past,
it was my hap to have access to [Cardinal Gesualdi, of
St. Cecilia), who, having some liking of me, would have
been the means to prefer me to any place of service
whereunto I should have most faculty; but I, being
resolved what course to take, answered that I meant not
to serve any man, but to enter into the Society of Jesus,
thereof to vow and to be professed.” )

Then Gesualdi began to question him about the Bull
of Pius V. against Elizabeth. Not that any hesitation
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was felt at Rome about its propriety, or any doubt of
the ultimate success of the policy; the Cardinal simply
wished to know what had been the effect of this step.
If it had failed, like the Bull of Paul III. against Henry
VIIL, that failure was not calculated to produce discour-
agement. Had not the Israelites, when they marched by
God’s express command against the men of Benjamin,
been twice overthrown before they conquered? Still,
there was some wish to make its bearings on the Catholics
as easy as possible. *“Being demanded farther,” Campion
continues, “what opinion I had conceived of the Bull, I
said, it procured much severity in England, and the
heavy hand of her majesty against the Catholics; where-
unto the Cardinal replied, that he doubted not it should -
be mitigated in such sort as the Catholics should acknow-
ledge her highness as their queen without danger of excom-
munication.” This, Campion urged, could not be con-
strued as an offence much less as treason. But it was
objected to him, that he had only asked for a mitigation
of the Bull in favour of the Catholics, leaving the excom-
munication of the queen still in force and undetected;
and his privity thereto was treason. “My privity thereto,”
he replied, “enforceth not my consenting, nay, rather it
proved my disagreement, in that I said it procured much
severity: and therefore, being here published before I
could detect it (for who knew not that the Queen of
England was excommunicated?), it excused my privity
and exempted me from treason.”’*

Campion urges that his conduct rather implied dissent
from than agreement with the Bull. That this disagree-
ment was a fact, not a mere plea, he might have proved
from his History of Ireland, had the book been forth-
coming. Just as the writers of the sixteenth century show

* See Note 44.
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that Otho of Freising disagreed with the temporal policy
which had been pursued by Gregory VIIL, because he
persisted in calling the risings against the excommunicated
emperor by the name of “rebellion,” so Campion might
have produced the strong terms of condemnation in which
he had spoken of those Irishmen who had risen against
Elizabeth and Henry VIII. Shane O’Neil is a *“wretched
man,” who “quenched the sparks of grace that appeared
in him with arrogancy and contempt against his prince.”*
Lord Thomas Fitzgerald, Deputy of Ireland, who, upon
the receipt of false intelligence that his father had been
put to death in England, had risen in arms, is represented
by Campion as saying: “If all the hearts of England
and Ireland that have cause thereto would join in this
quarrel,—as I trust they will,—then should he (Henry)
be a by-word—as I trust he shall—for his heresy, lechery,
and tyranny, wherein the age to come may score him
among the ancient princes of most abominable and hateful
memory.” This is language quite in conformity with
that of the Bull of Paul III.; yet Campion’s comment on
it is, “With that he rendered up the sword (of state),
and flung away like a bedlam, adding to his shameful
oration many other slanderous and foul terms, which, for
regard of the king’s posterity, I have no mind to utter.”t
Can we doubt how the man who spoke in these terms
of the risings in Ireland would have qualified the rebellion
of the North in 1569, if it had been necessary for him
to mention it in his history? Or can we doubt why, in
his history of the divorce, he simply mentions the excom-
munication of Henry without a word about the sentence
of deposition, which was the real focus of the controversy ?

It is not to be supposed that Campion had shut his
mind against the great Roman question of theday. His

® See Note 45. 1 See Note 46.
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History of Ireland proves that he was fully instructed
in the claims of the Popes to the temporal supremacy of
all Christian kingdoms. He not only narrates, but he
believes, that “when Ireland first received Christendom,
they gave themselves into the jurisdiction, both spiritual
and temporal, of the See of Rome;”* and he tells how
Adrian IV. conferred the temporal lordship upon Henry
II; how that Pope, “an Englishman born, who, having
in his youth taken a painful pilgrimage into Norway,
and reduced the whole land unto Christianity, learned
distinctly the state of Ireland” from the Norsemen who-
repaired thither, through whose intercourse with the wild
and furious natives religion ran great danger of being
defaced: “for though Christ were believed and taught,
yet the multitude eft-soon grew to a shameless kind of
liberty, making no more of necessary points of doctrine
than served their loose humour.” Moreover, *“ Henry II.,
building upon the Pope’s favour, his born subject, had.
sent ambassadors to Rome in the first year of his reign,
asking leave to attempt the conquest of Ireland.” Adrian
had such trust in the king, that he not only gave him
leave to conquer the island, but conferred on him a kind
of legatine power of correcting its religious abuses..
Accordingly, the invasion took place; the reformation
was enacted in the eight articles of the synod of Cashel;.
and the Irish clergy, in obedience to the papal Bulls,
“denounced curse and excommunication to any that would
maliciously gainsay or frustrate’ the temporal right over
Ireland that the Popes had given to Henry.t

In the anthentic documents connected with this trans-
action, we do not find a word about the self-donation of’
the Irish to the Pope; the right that he claimed over
Ireland he derived from the alleged fact that “all the-

® See Note 47. 1 See Note 48.
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islands which are enlightened by Christ, and have sub-
mitted to the doctrine of Christianity, are unquestionably
 St. Peter’s right, and belong to the jurisdiction of the
Holy Roman Church.”* But John of Salisbury, who was
Henry’s envoy, tells us the ground of this “ unquestionable”
right. * At my prayer,” hesays, “ Adrian IV. granted Ire-
land to Henry IL, to be held by right of inheritance. . . .
For by ancient right all islands are said to belong to the
Roman Church by the donation of Constantine.’t

All that we find expressed in the Bull is, that the
Popes had an unquestionable right over all Christian
islands; the grounds on which this right was rested
varied with the variations of public opinion. At one time
the pretended donation of Constantine was alleged; but
when there was a growing disposition to question the
right of Constantine to give, if he ever had given, a right
which he had never possessed, and which perhaps he
could not transmit to his successors if he had possessed
it, the claim was grounded on the vote by which the
people had once for all exercised their right of electing
their lord, and then abdicated it for ever. But the Popes
themselves seem to have founded their right, first on the
feudal law, then on the ground of divine right, because
they were Vicars of Christ in His temporal as well as in
His spiritual power; and then on the ground of the
necessity of this right for the government of the Church,
after controversialists had shown that they were Vicars
of Christ in those powers only which He had exercised
while upon earth.}

If the Pope could give Ireland to Henry because “all
islands belonged to the Roman See,” the same reason was
equally applicable to England. But Campion was far
from allowing this. He mentions the fact that King John

® See Note 49. 1 See Note s0. I See Note s1.
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“made a personal surrender of both his realms in way
of submission” to the Pope; “and after his assoilment
received them again. Some add,” he continues, “that he
gave away his kingdom to the see of Rome for him and
his successors, recognising to hold the same of the Popes
in fee, paying yearly therefore a thousand marks. . . . .
Sir Thomas More, a man in that calling and office likely
to sound the matter to the depth, writeth precisely, that
neither any such writing the Pope can show, nor were
it effectual if he could.”* Sir Thomas More was clearly
a favourite of Campion. In his history of Henry’s divorce
he talks of the “incredible experience in affairs and pene-
tration of intellect” which the chancellor displayed, and
of his “sublime and almost divine wisdom;”’+ and this
appeal to this authority on the subject of the Pope’s
rights over England is decisive of the appellant’s opinion.

The Bull of Paul III. against Henry VIII. was not
published in More’s lifetime; indeed, Paul was not yet
Pope. Still, More knew of the right of the Pope to settle
the legitimacy of marriages and of their issue, and his
claim to adjudicate upon the succession of the crown.
Nevertheless, both More and Fisher were willing enough
to bind themselves to obedience to the law of succession
defined by the statute, which gave the crown to the issue
of the union of Henry with Anne Boleyn, though they
refused to swear that the marriage of Catherine had been
null and void from the first; and More, after his con-
demnation, avowed his belief that Parliament had gone
beyond its province in the two questions of the supremacy
and the divorce. That is to say, they recognised the
right of the three estates to give the crown of England
to whom they chose, legitimate or not, but did not re-
cognise the right to define the spiritual questions of the

® See Note 52. 1 See Note 53.
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sacrament of marriage, and of the ecclesiastical supremacy.
They must have held the opinion that the Church had
power only over spiritual things, and not over civil and
temporal matters.

That this opinion was deeply rooted in the English
laity of the day, is clear from what we read in Hall’s
Chronicle about the general fast ordered by Wolsey on
occasion of the sack of Rome by the Constable Bourbon
in 1527, that the clergy in general neglected it; while the
laity, to show their grudge against the spirituality, not
only refused to observe it, but said that the Pope was
worthily served for being such a “ruffian” as to exceed
his powers in meddling with temporal dominion.*

Accordingly, when Paul III, in 1538, deprived Henry
of his realm; laid all places where he might go under an
interdict; declared all his children by Anne, and the
children of his supporters, to be infamous, illegitimate,
and incapable of inheriting; forbad his subjects to obey
him; forbad all Catholics to have any commercial dealings
with him or his party; ordered all ecclesiastics to depart
the realm, and the nobles to rebel; declared all treaties
between him and other sovereigns null and void; and
ordered that all his supporters, wherever caught, should
be made slaves to the person capturing them,—his Bull
found very little response in England.t Not so, however,
in the parts nearer the Scottish border, where, as an eye-
witness tells us,i even down to 1550, the name of the
Pope of Rome was so venerated by the people, that
whatsoever they were told he had said or done was to
them as good as an oracle, or a dispensation of Provi-
dence. But in other parts of the country the Bull was
entirely disregarded.

When Elizabeth succeeded to the throne, she took

* See Note 54. 1 See Note 55. 1 See Note 56.
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good care to profit by the experience of her father. She
took the line of comprehension, not of exclusion, and
required obedience only, not a conscientious conviction of
the purity of her origin. She founded her rights to the
crown solely on the authority of Parliament, which had
confirmed her father’s testament. In the act of February g,
1559, for recognising the queen’s just title to the crown,
there was no clause to assert the validity of her mother’s
marriage, which had been declared null in 1553; she
contented herself with her parliamentary title: thus leav-
ing liberty of conscience to those who, like More and
Fisher, maintained the Pope’s supreme right in spiritual
matters, but at the same time acknowledged the supreme
right of the civil government in all temporal matters, to
the extent of bestowing the crown even on persons of
base birth, though there were legitimate candidates for
the throne. On a similar principle, Elizabeth claimed
her ecclesiastical supremacy, not as a right inherent in
the crown, but as a grant expressly made by the
authority of the Legislature.* Here Fisher and More
would have stopped; they could never concede the right
of Parliament to make such a grant, though they might
possibly have come round to Margaret Roper’s distinction,
and admitted the king’s supremacy over all ecclesiastical
persons, so far as ‘“the Word of God permitted,” in
opposition to the extravagant claims of the canonists.

But neither Paul IV. nor St. Pius V. were disposed
to admit any compromise; they both joined issue with
Elizabeth in maintaining that as illegitimate she could
only succeed to the throne through their dispensation;
and they were both ready to make all sacrifices to maintain
the theory of the indefinite supremacy of the Pope, not
only over spiritual affairs, but (directly or indirectly) over

* See Note 57.
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temporal matters . also. Paul died in 1559; and his
successor, Pius IV., tried to open communications with
Elizabeth, and sent two ambassadors, first, Parpalia, in
May, 1560, bearing a letter, in which the Pope exhorted
her to obedience, and promised her “whatsoever she
might desire for the establishing and confirming her
princely dignity, according to the authority, place, and
office committed to him by God.”* But neither Parpalia
nor his successor, Martinego, in May, 1561, was allowed
to enter England, chiefly on the ground that it was
“ manifest that, allowing the authority of the Pope accor-
ding to such jurisdiction as he claimeth, there will follow
a great peril to the security and truth of her majesty’s
undoubted title to the crown,” and that, though Martinego
swore that he would do nothing prejudicial to the crown
or state, yet the thing was already done. “The Pope
hath, even at this instant time in Ireland, a legate who
is publicly joined already with certain traitors, and is
occupied in stirring a rebellion, having already, by
open acts, deprived the queen of her right and title
there;” and it was believed that the envoy was to
try to “stir up a rebellion in the realm by colour of
religion.”

While the Pope thus encroached on Elizabeth’s
political rights, she and her council were more than even
with him in encroaching on the spiritual liberties of her
subjects. There was no moderation; in the midst of the
blind passions of the moment, it appeared necessary to
force men to renounce the Mass, in order to demonstrate
to the Pope how little authority he had over the succes-
sion of the English crown; and the establishment of
heresy by civil violence seemed the natural answer to the
attempt to control the civil succession of the crown by

¢ See Note 58.
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ecclesiastical power. The passions of both parties were
excited, and there was no room for moderate counsels
to gain a hearing. To disapprove of the Pope’s civil
proceedings, was to approve of Elizabeth’s ecclesiastical
alterations; to take up a moderate line insured persecu-
tion from both parties,

Among those who were driven from England by the
ecclesiastical violence of the first years of Elizabeth, by
far the greatest theologian was Thomas Stapleton, who
attempted to introduce some moderation at least into the
theory of the relations between the papal authority and
civil governments. He denounced the two extremes,—the
opinions both of those who claimed for the Pope authority
over princes, because all temporal power was derived
from him, and of those who derived this papal authority
from the gift of the emperors. He disclaimed any temporal
suzerainty of the Pope over princes, and he denied that
the Pope had any right to dethrone them for any merely
civil cause. The Pope could not justly interfere with
temporal governments, except when they were hostile or
detrimental to the Catholic religion; and in this case he
had precisely the same right of interference as one state
has in respect to another state whose internal condition
is such as to be a serious danger to its neighbours. He
may intervene either against the people, when they are
about to elect a prince who will probably tamper with
their religion, or against such a prince when he is on the
throne. And he has two methods of interfering against
the prince; first indirectly, through the people or parlia-
ment, whom he may excite to throw off the authority
of their prince, and to dethrone him; and secondly, in
case this does not succeed, through want of power or
want of will on the part of the people, then he must
take a more direct method, and give the realm to some
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Catholic prince, or proclaim that the first man who can
conquer it shall have it.*

Stapleton did not adapt his theory to the beginning
of the quarrel with Elizabeth, but to the situation, as he
found it existing after the lapse of a few years; and at
Rome his theory, though it was not based on the broad
ground occupied by the Popes of that age, yet served
quite as well as theirs for the course they were following..
It did not signify whether a theologian declared them
to have a direct, or only an indirect, right of interfering
in the temporal affairs of other states, provided interfe-
rence was defended;+ and Stapleton was as acceptable as
a Bozius would have been, when his practical conclusion
tallied so exactly with that of the most fervid adherents
of the direct right of the Pope in temporal matters. His
programme was carried out to the letter; and, indeed,
he is mentioned by subsequent writers as one of those -
English divines on whose information Pius V. chiefly
relied—Harding, Stapleton, Morton, and Webbe.I

Pius V. then, knowing how his predecessor’s attempts
to send an agent to Elizabeth had failed, changed his
plan, and began to address himself to the people; so,
after having declared the queen a heretic in the Bull
Regnans in excelsis, which was dated in February, 1560,
but not promulgated till the next year, he sent in 1569
Dr. Nicolas Morton into England, “to declare by Apos-
tolic authority to certain illustrious and Catholic men,
that Elizabeth, who then wore the crown, was a heretic,
and therefore had lost all right to the dominion and
power which she exercised upon the Catholics, and might
be properly treated by them as a heathen and publican;
and that they henceforth owed no obedience to her laws
or commands. By this declaration many of the higher
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classes were led not only to consult their own interest,
but to consider by what means they could deliver their
brethren from the tyranny of the heretics. And they
hoped that all the Catholics would join them with all
their forces in this pious design. But though the affair
turned out contrary to their hopes, either because all the
Catholics did not yet properly know that Elizabeth was
legally declared a heretic, or because God had determined
to punish still more heavily the revolt of England, yet
their design was a praiseworthy one, and was by no
means without a certain success.”*

The success attained was the rebellion of the great
earls of the North, in 1569. Its failure did not discourage
the English advisers of Pius V. They soon picked up a
new leader, the Duke of Norfolk, whom they assumed to
be a sound Catholic, and to whose standard they fondly
expected the whole realm to rally; it only required that
the Pope’s pleasure and censure should be once authentically
known to the Catholics, and there would be no place
for resistance; and afterwards the whole difficulty might
be settled by a marriage between the Duke of Norfolk
and Queen Mary of Scotland.t

Persuaded by these representations, which had more
weight with the Pope than the prayers of Maximilliant
and other princes who were likely at least to know
something of the probable issues of the course, Pius V.
publicly launched his Bull against Elizabeth, in which were
reasserted in the strongest terms all the papal claims
which had ever found their strongest antagonists in England.
The Pope alone is appointed “prince over all nations and
all realms, to pluck up, to destroy, to dissipate, to crush,
to plant, and to build.” The conduct of Elizabeth, the
“pretended queen,” is contrasted with that of her sister Mary,

* See Note 62. t See Note 63. 1 See Note 64.
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the “legitimate queen,” of England, whose policy had
made all foreign connection hateful even to the Catholics.
Elizabeth is declared a heretic, and therefore excommunicate,
and “deprived of her pretended right to the said kingdom,
and all and every dominion, dignity, and privilege;” all
her subjects are for ever absolved from all allegiance to
her; all are commanded “not to dare to obey her, and
her monitions, commands, and laws;” all who do so are
anathematised with her.*

This Bull, says Sanders, was obeyed by one or two
Catholics (unus et alter), who sacrificed their lives in pub-
blishing or asserting it. The rest, either because they
did not acknowledge the legality of its publication, and
observed that the neighbouring princes and common-
wealths made no difference in their relations with the
queen; or because, when Pius V. died, they did not know
that his successor had renewed and confirmed the Bull;
or, at least, through fear (though they alleged the former
excuses),—remained in their obedience; and their oppo-
nents braved the whole thing as a bugbear to fright babes
with.+

A very able Catholic lawyer of the period will add
to Sanders’ list of reasons. “I have been often told,”
says William Barclay, “by noblemen and men of good
life, that the divine precept of honouring kings had
struck such deep root in their minds, that no Bulls or
indulgences to the contrary could alleviate the scruples
they felt, or give them a feeling of internal security in
violating so clear and plain a precept of natural and divine
right as the allegiance they owed and had sworn to their
prince.”¥ And he represents the people telling the Pope,
that as he is not the superior of the king in temporals,
he cannot forbid their temporal obedience to the king.

® See Note 65. 1 See Note 66. 1 See Note 67.
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He is but the interpreter, not the enactor, of the Divine
law, and therefore his interposition is only requisite when
something obscure has to be cleared up, not in cases
which need no explanation. Therefore, when the command
is “to render to Casar what is Casar’s, and to God
what is God’s,” and “to be subject and obedient to princes
and powers,” it is the Pope’s business to define what is
Czsar’s and what is God’s, but not to forbid subjects to
give any thing whatever to Casar, for this is not to
interpret, but to abrogate, the law. To define that our
obligation of obedience to the prince is comprised within
the limits of temporal matters, while all spiritual affairs
are reserved to the jurisdiction of the Vicar of Christ, or
that no king is to be obeyed when he commands things
contrary to the law of nature or of God, or to good
manners, is the Pope’s right; but when he merely com-
mands men “in no way to obey their prince, or his
monitions, commands, and laws,” he cannot be obeyed,
because this is not interpreting, but annulling, the divine
precept and beyond the papal power, as determined by
the canons. The same reasoning applies still more strongly
to the abrogation of allegiance. When men are commanded
to withdraw their allegiance from a prince, because obe-
dience to him may hinder their spiritual good, they may
reply, that this evil is merely an accident, which may be
lamentable, but cannot be hindered. God’s command is
to obey the prince “with patience in well-doing.” If he
misuses his power, God will punish him; his subjects may
not transgress God’s plain command for any presumed
advantage. Again, the Pope’s absolution from the oath
of allegiance only breeds a scruple about his power; for
it is known that he cannot dispense with the Divine law.
God commands obedience to the Pope in spiritual matters,
to the king in temporal affairs. This obedience will still
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be paid in spite of the denunciations of the Bull, which
are fearful enough; but the fear of an unjust excommu-
nication will never force people to do that which they
know to be against the law of God.* Sanders(whom Camden
follows, p. 186) and Barclay are sufficient witnesses of
the reasons which induced the Catholics of England to
treat the Bull as a dead letter. That Campion shared
the common opinions of his brethren I have, I think,
made evident. Like them, he at least hesitated about the
Bull; he doubted whether it justified Catholics in throwing
off their allegiance; it put him into the same sceptical
attitude which precluded any kind of decisive political
partisanship.

Its effect on Elizabeth and her government was, on
the other hand, most decisive. That persecution which
drove Campion first from Ireland and then from England
was the immediate result; and within two years it had
produced a crop of penal laws, the first instalment of
that sanguinary code which in process of time nearly
effaced the Catholic Church from this island.+ No wonder
that Campion, when asked his opinion about the Bull,
declared that it procured much severity in England, and
the heavy hand of her majesty against the Catholics.
But no representation that Campion could make was likely
to procure the reversal of a policy that was carried out
in spite of the most earnest remonstrances of the emperors
and kings on whom the Popes chiefly depended.

I do not know whether Campion went so far as to
think, with most thinking perséns of the period,f that
Paul III. and St. Pius V. sacrificed the Church of this
country to their desire of maintaining in their integrity
all the temporal prerogatives exercised or claimed by
their predecessors, and that if they had frankly relinquish-
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ed that temporal suzerainty which was the chief ground
of the hesitations of their adherents, they would have
given confidence to their friends, and disarmed their
merely political foes. As affairs were managed, they
rendered simply impossible the coexistence of the govern-
ment of Henry VIII. and Elizabeth with the obedience
of their subjects to the supreme authority of the Pope;
and those princes had no choice but either to abdicate,
with the hope of receiving back their crowns, like King
John, from the papal legate, or to hold their own in spite
of the Popes, and in direct and avowed hostility to them.
Yet after the indications which those princes had already
given, St. Pius V. still continued to expect Elizabeth to
take the first course, even so late as 1571.*

This expectation of success, founded on the enthusiasm
of the English exiles at Rome, is the real answer to the
charge, that in this business the Popes showed themselves
equally ignorant of the teachings of history, and fortgetful
of the principles which the canon law lays down, after
St. Augustine, for the excommunication of mighty delin-
quents: “Censures do no good, except when the person
censured has few followers. When the disease has seized
multitudes, the good have no remedy but grief and
groans; . . . otherwise in plucking up the tares they may
chance to pull up the wheat also; . . . . indeed, when
the contagion of sin has infected a whole multitude, the
severe discipline of Divine mercy is necessary ; for counsels
of separation are both futile and hurtful, and sacrilegious;
for they become impious and proud, and cause more
disturbance to the weak good than correction to the de-
termined bad.”t

But the evil had spread too far, and so in endeav-
ouring to preserve a temporal prerogative that had always
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been disputed, and had more often failed than succeeded
in practice, while in theory it was open to grave objec-
tions, those Popes lost England to the faith, and were
so far from securing the prerogative for which they con-
tended, that in the controversy with France in the next
century it was resigned, not without debate, but without
any great struggle. If Henry VIII. and Elizabeth had
been treated with the same delicacy and circumspection
that Lewis XIV. experienced, the end might have been
very different to what it was; and if Lewis had been
treated like Henry VIIL, the most Christian king, would
probably have proved as bad a churchman as the De-
fender of the Faith.

The long sojourn of Campion in Rome before he at-
tempted to carry out his resolve of entering the Society
of Jesus, is accounted for by the Society being then with-
out a head, while its third great congregation was assem-
bled to elect a successor to St. Francis Borgia, the third
general, who had died October 1, 1572, very soon after
Campion’s arrival in the city, and exactly five months
after the death of St. Pius V. The choice fell upon Everardus
Mercurianus, of Liege, April 23, 1573 ; and a few days after-
wards Campion presented himself as the new general’s
first postulant. No further trial of his vocation was re-
quired than the probation he had imposed upon himself;
he was forthwith accepted; but as there was then no
English “nation” in the Society, the various provincials
disputed who should have him, and he was at last allotted
to Lawrence Maggi, or Magius, of the Austrian province.
“He was incredibly comforted,” says Parsons, “with this
battle of the provincials for the possession of his body,
because he saw that he was no more his own man, but
in the hands of others, who under God, would dispose
of him better than he could do for himself; he was per-
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fectly indifferent to all functions, and all countries; but
as his own inclination was for a country where he might
strive against heresy, he was glad that Bohemia had been
allotted to him. He thought that England owed some
reparation to a country which had been first infected by
the disciples of Wicliffe.”

Campion was a man of common opinions, which he
could urge and adorn with all the resources of rhetoric
and the wealth of eloquence, and was consequently more
dependent on authority for his ideas than upon any
depth of research or originality of thought, and must
have hailed the new obedience he had undertaken as a
happy deliverance from himself. In England he had held,
as we have seen, the popular opinions upon the papal
sovereignty which had been inherited by the English
Catholics, through Sir Thomas More, from generations of
politicians. At Douai he must have found these opinions
treated as nearly heretical, and the contrary doctrines
energetically preached; still we find him at Rome with
his old opinions, refusing any political place that Cardinal
Gesualdi had to offer, and taking refuge from the storms
of debate in a society where all his energies might be
devoted to his own religious perfection, and to those
scholastic employments which he ever cultivated, even in
the midst of his greatest religious difticulties. In this I
trace the same character which so long drowned scruples
at Oxford in various pursuits, good in themselves, but
not so when used to put off that important inquiry
which ever loomed threateningly upon his horizon. So
now by his entrance into the Society of Jesus he adjourned,
but he did not solve, the question of the temporal su-
premacy of the papal sovereignty, which was once again to
confront him, and to claim a decision which he could
not give though he was to die for refusing it.
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The congregation of the Society came to an end in
the middle of June, 1573. Soon afterwards Magius, the
Austrian provincial, with certain Spanish and German
fathers, and Campion, left Rome for Vienna, where they
‘arrived in August; Campion was immediately sent on to
Prague, where the novitiate then was, in the company of
Father James Avellanedo, the newly-appointed confessor
to the empress. This father was afterwards known to
Parsons at Madrid, and often told him “how exceedingly
he was edified in all that journey with the modesty,
humility, sweet behaviour, and angelical conversation of F.
Campion,” for whose sake “he remained ever after much
affectioned to our whole nation.”

It would take me too far out of my -way to trace the
importation of the, half political heresy of Wicliffe into
Prague; its adoptiop and propagation there by John Huss;
~ the tumults to which it led; the overthrow of the famous
university, which, indeed, was a natural result of a doctrine
which taught that *universities, studies, degrees, colleges,
and professorships are pagan vanities, and of no more
use to the Church than the devil;”* and at last the per-
secution in which a remedy was sought for these evils,
and which Campion thus defends: “ Huss would not have
been punished except the pestilent liar had been captured
in the act of running away, which the Emperor Sigismund
had forbidden him to do on peril of his life, and except
he had violated the conditions which he had accepted
from the Emperor, and had thus nullified his passport.
Huss’s malice was too hasty, and he was caught. He
was commanded to present himself at Constance to answer
for the barbarous tragedies he had enacted in his own
land of Bohemia; he despised the prerogative of the
council, he sought security from Casar; Casar signed
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the agreement, the Christian world, greater than Casar,.
rescinded it; the heresiarch would not repent; he perished.
Jerome of Prague stole to Constance with nobody’s pro-.
tection. He was taken, he made his appearance, he spoke,
he was treated with great kindness, he went freely wher-
ever he liked, he was healed, he abjured his heresy; he
relapsed, he was burnt.”*

Cochleus, in the first quarter of the next century,
had still to deplore the fall of the University of Prague,
which had once been the boast of Bohemia, and also that
of the Catholic religion, which was so low that it would
be difficult for it ever to recover its ancient state.t Still
half a century passed, and in 1570 religion had made
no advance; men doubted whether it ever could. The
Bohemian Catholics were few, and all of the poorest
classes; the only wealthy persons of that religion at
Prague were the Italian merchants, who united in a con-
fraternity to assist the priests.f. The emperor also was
Catholic, and had sent the Jesuits to the town, bidding
them rely on his assistance in case of any tumults. But
the influence of the new order was only gradually felt.
The toil of all the labourers only produced a harvest of
seventy souls in 1573, in 1574, of fifty; in 1575 a few
apostate priests were reconciled, one or two Hussite mi-
nisters, and forty-three laymen; and so on till 1580, when
the whole influence of the court was lent to them, and
584 converts responded to their call. That was the first.
year of any distinct significance. A few years before
Campion had exclaimed, “Surely this commonwealth will
either return, through God’s mercy and the help of the
saints, to the unity of the Roman Church, or else, through
the wrath of God, Satan will triumph, and it will be
overwhelmed in the thick and horrible darkness of new
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sects, and will perish.”* So evenly did the balance seem
to hold itself. But within another fifty years the resto-
ration of religion was carried out in such a rough-and-
ready way as probably sowed the seeds of calamities still
to come; for minds forced into acquiescence will always
hand down the tradition of the original wrong, and future
generations will avenge the persecution of their fathers.t
“In 1620,” says Cardinal Carafa, “the delegates began
to restore religion in Bohemia, first at Prague, where they "
were not entirely without success, though it fell short of
their hopes; yet the people could not complain of want
of instruction; every one might converse with a monk
or a priest as long as he chose. But the people did not
seem to want him; they were more impressed when some
of the chief inhabitants were exiled; it was hard to leave
their property, harder to leave their friends, hardest of
all to be sent to live in an unknown place. Several of
the higher classes were converted in this manner, and
many of the stiffer religionists followed in their wake;
but the rest, though forced to close their shops and to
forego all trading, only sought to gain time, though every
now and then some few became Catholic. The Arch-
bishop’s toil was strangely unproductive; many laid
the blame on the Calvinists; but the Hussites and Lu-
therans were as slow: the real truth was, they were
waiting to see which side would prevail, when Tilly’s
victory at the White Mountain put an end to their doubts.”
The Cardinal afterwards records how much easier it was
found to convert the fanatical Calvinists and Lutherans
of the Rhenish provinces than the indifferent people of
Bohemia, Moravia, and Austria.1- For “it is easier to
pass from one extreme to another than to move from
the middle point of equilibrium. A conceited Calvinist
® See Note 77. 1 See Note 78. 1 See Note 79.
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or stiff Lutheran will sooner become Catholic than a
lukewarm and easy Lutheran, who always promises well,
but never seriously inquires for the truth, for which he
does not care.”

Campion’s first residence at Prague was of very short
duration; within two months of his arrival there the
novitiate, into which he had not yet made his formal
entrance, was removed to Briinn in Moravia, a city where
the prospects of Catholicism were even more gloomy
than at Prague, The very names of Pope and Catholic
were in execration; magistrates and people were alike
Protestant, the latter riotous and unruly. The clergy of
one of the great churches was Catholic, that of the other
alternated between the two religions: in 1570 a single
energetic Jesuit had been sent there, who continued to
preach in spite of the tumults that his presence excited.
But the Bishop Olmutz, the diocesan, saw that one father
was not sufficient for the work, and had therefore pro-
cured the removal of the novitiate from Prague to Brinn,
in hopes of being able to utilise the exercises of the
novices and the spare time of the fathers.

Accordingly, Oct. 10, 1573, John Paul Campanus,
Master of Novices, and John Vivarius, his socius, conveyed
Campion and five other novices from Prague to Brtinn,
where they were soon joined by six more from - Vienna.
But in the following January the Bishop died, and for
ten years the establishment was in continual peril: its
goods were seized, its funds confiscated, its members
accused before the tribunals, and its suppression decreed
by the emperor, though the commissioners would not
promulgate the edict.* But after much inconvenience and
continual changes of residence, the foundation was grad-
ually consolidated, and in process of time was able to

® See Note 8o.
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erect an enormous college with seven quadrangles, now
turned into a barrack.

Here Campion spent the year of his probation. One
of the first acts required of him was to inscribe in the
album or blank book of the novitiate certain particulars
about himself, his family, and his education, as prescribed
in the third and fifth chapters of the Constitutions of the
Society. I have already extracted most of the details, so
I shall only print here that which I have omitted* “I
have a deliberate intention,” he says, “of living and dying
in this Society of Jesus. And this is my present deter-
mination, even although I had not determined it before,
by no man’s advice, but of my own proper motion. . . . .
I have a tolerably happy memory, an understanding
sufficiently penetrating, and a mind inclined to study.
For this purpose, as also for the other duties of the
Society, I am tolerably robust.” The rules of the Society
were such as to make the novitiate an institution of
great power and influence in a town like Brunn. The
“six experiments” can mostly be turned to missionary
purposes. According to the rule, the novice was to
spend one month in complete retirement, during which he
was to perform St. Ignatius’s spiritual exercises; another’
month was devoted to the hospitals, where he had to make
himself a slave to the sick inmates; for another month he
had to beg alms for the novitiate from door to door, and to
learn to bear the insults and the practical jokes of vagabonds;
for another month he had to take his turn in all the most
menial employments of the house; and at least a month
was to be spent in catechising children and ignorant
persons, either publicly or privately. This was precisely
that for which the Bishop of Olmiitz wished to have the
novitiate at Briinn; this exercise therefore superseded

* See Note 81.
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many of the others, and the novices were scarcely settled
before their master began to send them round into all
the neighbouring villages to teach the Catechism. All
had great success, but Campion was ever noticed to be the
most successful, and the villages around Brtnn contained
many converts that he had led to the Church.

To show with what hearty fervour Campion entered
into these exercises, and how utterly he gave himselt
body and soul to the new life he had undertaken, I need
only quote the two following letters, which he subsequently
wrote to the novices at Briinn, after he had taken his
vows, and had returned to the college at Prague.

“How much I love you in the bowels of Jesus Christ, my
dearest brethren, you may conclude from this, that in spite of
daily occupations, which scarce leave me time to breathe, I
have managed to steal time from the midst of my functions
and cares to write to you. How could I do otherwise, directly
I heard of a sure messenger to Brtnn? How could I help
firing up with the remembrance of that house, where there are
so many burning souls, fire in their mind, fire in their body,
fire in their words—the fire which God came to send upon the
earth, that it might always burn there? O dear walls, that
once shut me up in your company! Pleasant recreation-room,
where we talked so holily! Glorious kitchen, where the best
friends—John and Charles, the two Stephens, Sallitzi, Finnit
and George, Tobias and Gaspar—fight for the saucepans in
holy humility and charity unfeigned! How often do I picture
to myself one returning with his load from the farm, another
from the market; one sweating stalwartly and merrily under a
sack of rubbish, another under some other toil! Believe me,
my dearest brethren, that your dust, your brooms, your chaff,
your loads, are beheld by angels with joy, and that through
them they obtain more for you from God than if they saw in
your hands sceptres, jewels, and purses of gold. Would that
I knew not what I say; but yet, as I do know it, I will say it;
in the wealth, honours, pleasures, pomps of the world, there is
nothing but thorns and dirt. The poverty of Christ has less
pinching parsimony, less meanness, than the emperor’s palace.

H
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But if we speak of the spiritual food, who can doubt that one
hour of this familiar intercourse with God and with good
spirits, is better than all the years of kings and princes? I
have been about a year in religion, in the world thirty-five ; what
a happy change, if I could say I had been a year in the world,
in religion thirty-five! If I had never known any father but
the fathers of the Society; no brothers but you and my other
brothers; no business of obedience; no knowledge but Christ
crucified! Would that at least I had been as happy as you,
who have entered the vineyard of Christ in the morning of
your lives! I almost envy Cantensis and Charles, who have
been brought in so young that they can spend their childhood
with the child Jesus, and can grow up with Him, and increase
to the perfect strength of the fulness of Christ. Rejoice there-
fore, my brethren, at the good you enjoy, and at the greatness
of the honour God has done you. Let the remembrance of
this be ever present to you, to resist the devil, the world, the
flesh, and the difficulties and storms of all temptations. If
we are not very stupid and senseless, let us say from our hearts,
¢It is no great thing that I should serve God; but it is really
a great thing that God should have willed to have me for a
servant.” I thank you all most heartily for the extraordinary
charity which I experienced when with you, and when away from
you, by your letters and remembrances, and at my departure
as I was setting off; especially I thank Melchior—and who else
is it that I named before?—my dearest brother, my friendly
rival, my compeer in the society, but how high above me in
merits! His letters gave me and will give me the greatest
pleasure; so did the things he spoke about in his two epistles.
I will join with the Father Rector in drawing up a plan, and
after the affair is set in order, I will write out the whole for
him, before the feast of the Annunciation, I hope. Stephen
the Hungarian said that he would write, but has never written
a word. With my whole heart I congratulate George and
Charles, who have lately made their vows. These are strong
chains, my brethren, and most strongly do they bind you to
our Lord. Who shall tear you from His hands? Shall this
triple cord be broken by that miserable devil who is so impo-
tent that he could not even drown the swine without leave?
Who, then, is he that he should be able to overthrow the



Letters to the Novices. 99

image of God? Never can he do so, unless we ourselves blot
out the image, and conspire with him to our own mischief.
I have spent a long time in writing to you—is that the first
bell for schools? T must leave off; and to-morrow is the feast,
when I shall be fully occupied, so I don’t think Ishall beable
to write more; however, I will take the next opportunity. I
thank my dearest brother Cantensis, whose letter gave me the
greatest pleasure, and I thank my God who has given him so
good a mind at his age. I received from him the pictures,
the Agnus Dei, and the relics of our holy father Ignatius—a
great treasure, for which I return great thanks. I salute you
all in Christ Jesus from the bottom of my soul. My last request
is, that you would humbly beg F. Rector and F. Aquensis to
pardon my long silence; they must ascribe it to my fault,and
not to my forgetfulness of their kindness to me. I commend
myself to the prayers of you all. Farewell.

Prague, Feb. 26, 1575."*

‘ Although the words of men, my dearest brethren, ought
to have much less weight and influence with you than that
Spirit who without sound of words whispers in your ears, yet
since this work of love is not altogether useless or unnecessary,
your charity will cause you to receive this fraternal letter, the
witness of my love and duty, with your usual kindness. I
write not to you as though you required the spur, for wherever
you go your hearts are ever set upon every virtue; but that I,
while I employ my time in writing to you may spur myself,
and may enjoy the perfume of the remembrance of your affec-
tion, and may testify my affection towards you. And I would
that as I speak, and as you perform, so you might speak and
I perform. For I know what liberty there is in obedience,
what pleasure in labour, what sweetness in prayer, what dig-
nity in humility, what peace in conflicts, what nobleness in
patience, what perfection in infirmity. But the difficulty is to
reduce these virtues to practice. And this is your work, to run
over a portion of your earthly course in the chariot of Paradise.
I, as the poet says, will follow as I can, non passibus equis.
My dearest brethren, our life is not long enough to thank

® See Note 82.
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Christ for revealing these mysteries to us. Which of us would
have believed, unless He had called him and instructed him
in this school, that such thorns, such filth, such misery, such
tragedies, were concealed in the world under the feigned names
of goods and pleasures? Which of us would have thought your
kitchen better than a royal palace? your crusts better than any
banquet? your troubles than others’ contentment? your con-
flicts than their quiet? your crumbs than their abundance?
your vileness than their triumphs and victories? ForIask you whe-
ther, if you could all your lives, as they would like, feed your eyes
on spectacles, and changes of scene and of company, your eyes
would be the stronger? If you fed your ears with news, would
they be the fuller? If you gave your mind its lusts, would it
be richer? If you fed your body with dainties, could you make
it immortal? This is their blunder who are deceived by vani-
ties, and know not what a happy life means. For while they
hope and expect great things, they fancy they are making vast
progress, and not one in a hundred obtains what he dreamed;
and if perchance one obtains it, yet after making allowance
for his pains, and his loads of care, the slipperiness of fortune,
his disgraceful servility, his fears, plots, troubles, annoyances,
quarrels, crimes, which must always accompany and vex the
lovers of the world, he will doubtless find himself to bea very
base and needy slave. One sigh of yours for heaven is better
than all their clamours for this dirt; one colloquy of yours,
where the angels are present, is better than all their parties
and debauched drinking-bouts, where the devils fill the bowls.
One day of yours consecrated to God is worth more than all
their life, which they spend in luxury. My brethren, run asyou
have begun; acknowledge God’s goodness to you, and the
dignity of state. Can any pomp of kings or emperors, any
grandeur, any pleasure, I will not say equal, but even shadow
forth your honour and consolation? They (I speak of the good
among them) fight under Christ their king, with their baggage
on their back; you are eased of your burdens, and are called
with the beloved disciple to be familiar followers of your Lord.
They are admitted to the palace, you to the presence chamber,
they to the common pasture, you to the choicest banquets;
they to friendship, you to love; they to the treasury, you to
the special rewards. Think what difficulties they have who even



. ete s s .
o . .

Letters to the Novices. .- . . .._i,o.,{ o

-
LI °

> IR R I

......

live as they ought in this naughty world; A yo TR

more easily see what you owe to His mercy in calling you
out of infinite dangers into His society. How hard it is for
them to follow Christ when He marches forth in haste against
His enemies, who have wives in their bosoms, children on their
shoulders, lands on their backs, cares on their heads, whose
feet are bound with cords, whose spirits are well-nigh smothered.
Is not your happiness great, whom the King marshals by His
side, covers with His cloak, clothes and honours with His own
livery? What great thing is it for me to have left friends
for Him who left heaven for me? What great thing for me
to be a servant to my brethren, when He washed the feet of
the traitor Judas? What wonder if I obey my fathers, when
He honoured Pilate? What mighty thing for me to bear
labours for Him who bore His cross for me? What disgrace
if I a sinner bear to be rebuked, when He an Innocent was
curst, spit upon, scourged, wounded, and put to death? When-
ever we look into the glass, my brethren, we see clearly that
the temptation of no pleasure, the fear of no pain, should
pluck us from the arms of such a Master. You see I have
nearly filled my paper, though I have plenty to do; it is time
to check myself, and to remit you to that Teacher who by
His sacred influences can impress these things much more
strongly than I can on your minds. Hear Him, for He hath
the words of eternal life.

For my part, I kiss not you only, but the prints of your
footsteps, and I beg you to give a poor needy wretch an alms
of the crumbs that fall from your table.

Prague, Feb. 19th, 1577.”*

Such was the spirit in which he performed these
services, “poor in seeming, rich in fruit, and in discipline
for minds elated with success; they break the assaults of
pride, they dispel the fanciful clouds of vanity, and re-
mind poor unstable humanity of its worthlessness and
mortality. To visit the hospitals, to attend to the sick, to
follow them to their graves ; to endure the peevishness of the
sufferers, their dirt, their groans, their stink ; and to learn to

® See Note 83.
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feel horror and disgust at no poison, no filth, no corruption
but the filth of sin.” In these exercises the political
difficulties of Campion were not solved, but overshadowed
for the time by the overwhelming importance of the
business of religion. For grace does not supplant nature,
nor dispense with the necessity of worldly prudence and
common sense.



CHAPTER IV.

THE unchequered life of Campion at Brtunn and Prague
has been chronicled with greater minuteness by his Bo-
hemian brethren than his short agony in England by his
own countrymen® The historians of the Society in
Bohemia reckon the one great glory of the novitiate ot
Prague and Brtinn to have been the preparation of Edmund
Campion for his martyrdom. They tell us, that before
he left Brtnn he was warned of the death he was to die.
This fact, unmentioned by his English biographers, is
partly confirmed by his own letters, which show that he
went to England fully impressed with the certainty of
his fate. This presentiment was unreasonable, if Campion
only considered. what had taken place in England, where,
among the bishops and priests and laymen who had died
in prison or beneath the gallows, not more than one or
two had as yet suffered for religion alone. The murder of
Dr. Storey was to satisfy an old grudge; Felton was
hanged for pasting up Pius the Fifth’s Bull on the Bishop
of London’s gates; Thomas Woodhouse, hanged in 1573,
was so forward in anathematising the Queen’s supremacy
that Burghley considered him mad, and only had him
hanged to be rid of his importunity; Cuthbert Maine,
Campion’s pupil at Douai, was murdered, ostensibly for
being in possession of a document which the English
judges chose to call a Bull, but really in order to enable
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them to convict in a premunire certain gentlemen who
had harboured him, and to enrich one of the Queen’s
cousins with the estates of Mr. Tregian® Nelson was
hanged in 1578 for saying that the Queen was a heretic
and schismatic—expressions which had a terrible meaning
to princes with insecure titles in days when it was almost
of faith that no schismatic or heretic had any civil rights
at all, much less the right to rule over Catholics. The
case of Sherwood was similar; and though these execu-
tions evinced a firm determination in the English govern-
ment to treat as a traitor any one who used of the usurp-
ing head of the Anglican Church terms which implied
that she had no right to the place she claimed, yet they
could not have given solid grounds for anticipating the
persecution which was to follow in the teeth of the re-
peated declarations of the government, that freedom of
conscience in all purely spiritual matters was and ever
would be respected. Schmidl, however, tells us that
Campion’s presentiment of martyrdom was grounded upon
a vision he saw in the garden at Brtinn, where the
Blessed Virgin, in likeness as she is painted in the picture
at Santa Maria Maggiore at Rome, attributed to St.
Luke,—copies of which had been distributed by St. Francis
Borgia to the various novitiates,—appeared to him in an
old mulberry-tree, and exhibited to him a purple cloth,
which he understood to be a sign that he was to shed
his blood for religion.

Sept. 7, 1574, John Paul Campanus, the novice-master
of Brunn, was appointed Rector of the House at Prague;
after waiting a month to complete his year, he carried
off with him Campion and two other novices, “in the
coach of Chancellor Pernstein;”’ for these progresses of
the humble fathers in the trappings of civil state are
dwelt upon with a complacency which reminds one of
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the Jewish chronicles of the royal procession of Mordecai
through the streets of Suza.

October 18, the studies were solemnly commenced at
Prague. Campion was made Professor of Rhetoric, and
opened the schools with a “glorious panegyric,” which
Schmidl, in 1747, was able to read at Prague. And now
began a series of routine labours, which are rather tedious
even to describe. He was loaded with offices; besides
being Professor of Rhetoric, he was matutinus excitator,
and nocturnus visitator, and worked in the kitchen for
recreation. He went to bed half an hour before the other
fathers; but he had to rise and ring for the nightly ex-
amination of conscience, and after the lapse of a quarter
of an hour to ring again for the lights to be put out.
After another quarter of an hour, he looked into each
cell to see that all were in bed, and all candles extin-
guished. In the morning he rose half an hour before
the rest; he rang the bell to rouse them, and went to
each cell to awaken the inmate and light his candle.
After fifteen minutes he repeated his visits, to see that all
were dressing ; then he rang for prayers, and again for ending
them. It was his place to see that all were decently covered
in bed, and to report all habitual defaulters. After his
prayers, meditation, mass, and private study, he went down
to the class-room to teach rhetoric, and to form the minds of
the rising aristocracy of Bohemia. His method was rigidly
prescribed to him: the object of his lessons was to teach
the use of language, and to cultivate the faculty of ex-
pression in prose and verse; the art of speaking, the style
of writing, and the store of rhetorical materials and
commonplaces were to be his care. In speaking and style,
Cicero was to be almost the only model; for matter,
his storehouses were to be history, the manners and
customs of various nations, the Scriptures, and a mo-
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derate stock of illustrations from arts and sciences. -

In class, he first made his scholars repeat a passage
‘they had learned out of school-hours; then the monitors
collected the written exercises, which he looked over and
corrected. While he was thus occupied, the boys were
trying to imitate a passage of a poet or an orator which
he had set them, or to write a brief account of a garden,
a church, a storm, or any other visible object; to vary
a sentence in all possible ways; to translate it from one
language into another; to write Greek or Latin verses;
to convert verses from one metre into another; to write
epigrams, inscriptions, epitaphs; to collect phrases from
good authors; to apply the figures of rhetoric to agiven
subject; or to collect all the topics or commonplaces that
are applicable to it. After this came a summary of the
former day’s lesson, and then the lecture of the day, on
one of Cicero’s speeches, was read, and the boys were
examined upon it. The composition of the lecture was
to be on a given pattern. First, he was to explain his
text, and to discriminate the various interpretations of it.
Next, he was to elucidate the writer’s art, and to display
his tricks of composition, invention, disposition, and style;
the reasons of his dignity, his persuasiveness, or his power,
and the rules of verisimilitude and illustration which he
followed. Thirdly, the professor had to produce parallel
or illustrative passages from other authors. Fourthly, he
was to confirm the author’s facts or sentiments by other
testimony, or by the saws of the wise. Fifthly, he was
to illustrate the passage in any other way he could think
of. Each lecture did not necessarily include all these
points; but such was the range and the order prescribed
for the points that were adopted.

After two hours thus spent in school, the scholars
retired to play, and the professor to the kitchen to wash
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the dishes. Then came his dinner, followed by his hour
of recreation—that innocent hour of guileless wit and
harmless fun, which always leaves so pleasing an impres-
sion on the remembrance of the visitor to any convent
who has been privileged to witness the inner life of its
inmates. After this, the professor spent two more hours
with his class. First his scholars repeated the heads of
the morning lecture; then he gave them a lesson on one
of Cicero’s rules of rhetoric. The rule was first explained;
then the similar rules of other authors were discussed
and compared; then the reason of the rule was investi-
gated; next it was illustrated by passages from the best
authors in prose or verse; then any passages or curious
facts that served to illustrate it were adduced; and lastly,
the professor explained how the rule was to be applied
in the various circumstances of modern life and society.
All this was to be done in the choicest language and
most picked phrases, so that the master’s example might
profit, as well as his precepts.

According to the rule, the second afternoon-hour was
occupied with Greek. Campion was not Greek Professor,
not because he was unacquainted with the language, but
perhaps because he knew less of it than the Ruthenians
and other Eastern Europeans who were to be found in
the college. The familiar way in which he quotes it in
his letters, and the easy fluency of his Greek calligraphy,
are sufficient evidence of his scholarship. It was, perhaps,
fortunate that in this language no one had obtained a
Ciceronian monopoly. Demosthenes, Thucydides, Homer,
Hesiod, Pindar, Nazianzen, Basil, and Chrysostom occupied
the throne in common.

On holidays, the exercises were more exciting: they
were either historical lectures, disputes on questions of
scholarship, "or brief dramatic scenes. Every Saturday
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there was a repetition of the week’s lectures. The chief
aim was to give facility of speech and eloquence of style.
All great days were celebrated with epigrams, inscriptions,
or copies of verses; every month an oration was pronounced,
and a play acted, in the chapel and hall. The boys’
minds were always on the alert; and the life and soul of
the whole method was the Professor of Rhetoric, who
was at once the rule, the model, and the moderator of
the exercises and who had to keep the hall, the refec-
tory, and the chapel alive with daily, weekly, and monthly
exhibitions of his pupils.

I suppose that the three great levers of the Jesuit
education were, excitement of interest, concentration of
attention, and application of principles to present con-
troversies. They saw that they had to do battle for the
intellectual and moral supremacy of the world with the
new spirit of inquiry, which had its roots in the religious
innovations of Luther and Calvin, the assertion of poli-
tical liberties, the literary enthusiasm of the Humanists,
and the scientific school, which culminated in Bacon.
The science and boldness of the leaders in this fight
extorted the admiration of their most determined oppo-
nents. “Behold also the Jesuits,” writes Sir Edwin Sandys
in 1599, after a tour through Europe, “the great clerks,
politicians, and orators of the world, who vaunt that the
Church is the soul of the world, the clergy of the Church,
and they of the clergy; do stoop also to this burden (of
education), and require it to be charged wholly upon their
necks and shoulders. In all places wherever they can
plant nests, they open free schools for all studies of hu-
manity. To these flock the best wits and principal men’s
sons in so great abundance, that wherever they settle
other colleges become desolate, or frequented only by the
baser sort, and of heavier metal; and in truth, such is
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their diligence and dexterity in instructing, that even the
Protestants in some places send their sons unto their
schools, upon desire to have them prove excellent in
those arts they teach.” But this, he continues, is only
a bait; their real object is “to plant in their scholars
with great exactness and skill the roots of their religion,
and nourish them with an extreme hatred and detestation
of the adverse party.” “Presuming, perhaps, of the truth
beforehand, and labouring for no other thing than the
advancing of their party, they endeavour by all means
to imbreed such fierceness and obstinacy in their scholars
as to make them hot prosecutors of their own opinions,
impatient and intractable of any contrary considerations,
as having their eyes fixed upon nothing save only vic-
tory in arguing. For which cause, to strengthen in them
those passions by exercise, I have seen them in their
bare grammatical disputations inflame their scholars with
such earnestness and fierceness, as to seem to be at the
point of flying each in the other’s face, to the amazement
of those strangers which had never seen the like before,
but to their own great content and glory, as it appeared.”®®

It was Campion’s business to excite and direct this
literary enthusiasm. For the first he was well fitted by his
own sanguine and disputatious temperament, and for the
second by his extensive knowledge, his exquisite taste,
and his rare oratorical power.® A portion of his rhetorical
course has been preserved, and from it I will collect a few
of his remarks. The two first parts of rhetoric, he says,
the invention of arguments, and their arrangement, may
be learned from any good writer—indeed, the more
authorities we have the better; but for style we must
follow one man only. It must be learned by imitation,
for it does not come by nature; but we cannot imitate-
all good writers at once. He is nowhere who is every--



110 Edmund Campion.

where; if you chase two hares at once, you catch neither.
Cicero, then, is not to be our chief, but our only model;
not that we are to copy him unreasonably, like some
would-be Ciceronians who mimic him like monkeys, but
do not take after him like children—who quote whole
pages, and lug in his words where they are least wanted;
the proper way is, if we like his sentiment, to clothe it
in our own words; if we like his words, to use them na-
turally, not as if the words were every thing and the
meaning nothing, and as if all we had to say could only
be expressed in a certain circle of pretty and plausible
phrases. On the contrary, we should first think about
the thing, then about the words. Beginners may write
letters in direct imitation of one of Cicero’s, or a speech
like one of his; to continue the practice betrays either
poverty of invention, or slavish imitation. It is foolish
also to suppose that we may use no words but those
authorised by Cicero, as if he had written on every con-
ceivable subject, or as if we had all that he had written.
Even now every fresh fragment of his that we discover
adds to the list of his words. We must not copy his
works, but himself; we must try to enter into his taste,
to hear with his ear, and to speak as he spoke. It is
absurd to reject all words that have not his authority.
If he uses perpessio and not passio, and resipiscentia in-
stead of panitentia, we need not innovate on our theolo-
gical terms, nor need we restore the words sacrament and
testament to their classical meanings. Campion’s Cicero-
nian propensities were under the sway of common sense.

Among the other employments of Campion were those
of the president and legislator of the *“Confraternity of
the Immaculate Conception,” which he founded in January,
1575. These confraternities, which were established in
every college of the Jesuits served many purposes. They
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were the means of introducing a more thorough confor-
mity to Roman customs: thus at Prague, one of Cam-
pion’s rules was that every member of his society should
forego the Bohemian liberty of communicating in both
kinds. They also gave the opportunity of a more tho-
rough supervision of the best scholars, to whom it was
a special honour and privilege to be admitted into these
select associations. Campion’s foundation flourished won-
derfully, and afterwards branched into three great sodal-
ities. Its name, however, was changed when it was
incorporated into the Archconfraternity of the Salutation
at the Roman College.

Besides these various duties, Campion had to compose
a Latin oration or a play for almost every important
occasion. It may be supposed that with this he was
literarum parcissimus, most stingy in his correspondence;
but what letters he wrote he composed with some care,
as is proved by the foul copies of several that are pre-
served amongst the Stonyhurst Manuscripts. *In these
most godly and Christian exercises,” says Parsons, “he
passed his time, doing good to as many as he could, and
omitting no occasion or labour to increase his merit
for life everlasting. He preached publicly, made exhorta-
tions in private, read in the schools, taught the Christian
doctrine unto children, heard confessions, visited prisons
and hospitals of sick men, and at the death of sundry
great persons made such excellent funeral orations as
astonished the hearers.” “Whatever had to be done,”
says Balbinus, “was laid upon him. His companions
thought it a miracle that one man could bear so many
loads; but whenever a new task was laid upon him, he
used to go to the superior, and ask whether he really
thought him strong enough to bear it. If the answer was
affirmative, Campion made no delay or excuses, but im-
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mediately did what he was told, because even when the
question was about his own physical strength, he had
more confidence in the rector’s judgment than in his own.”
And his labours did him no harm; he was never better
in health. *“Why should I not be well, dearest Parsons?’”
he wrote; “I have no time to be ill.” “The greatest
and only difficulty that the fathers at Prague had with
him for a time,” says the same friend, “was to appease
his conscience about the scruple of the Protestant diaconate,
the memory of which profane degree and schismatical
order tormented him every time he thought of it, and
bred an affliction which could not be cured by telling him
(what he also knew right well himself) that it was no
order, degree, nor character at all, seeing that the man
who laid his hands upon him was no true bishop, and
consequently had no authority to give any such order
more than a mere layman, but acted only in apish
imitation of the Catholic Church, for a show to the people
as though they had holy orders among them. Butindeed
themselves do not so esteem thereof that any character
was given, as in Catholic ordination, by imposition of
hands; for amongst them a man may be a priest or
minister for a time, and then a soldier or craftsman
again; whilst the Puritans flatly deny all spiritual authority
of bishops. Therefore, though the sin was great for a
Catholic man, especially such as Campion then was, to
receive any ordination at the hands of any such heretical,
schismatical, or excommunicate persons, yet he must believe
that this sin was now fully forgiven, so that he should
trouble himself no more with the memory of it, but put
it wholly out of his mind, and proceed cheerfully in God’s
service.” These arguments would cheer him for a time,
yet ever and anon the “mark of the English beast”
would sadden him again; nor was he wholly cured till
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the absolute command of the General came from Rome
to trouble himself no more about the scruple, and until
he was made both deacon and priest by the Archbishop
of Prague, for by receiving this true character the im-
aginary one was blotted out from this memory.

After this general summary of Campion’s life at Prague,
I will give a chronicle of his chief actions there. In
October, 1574, he opened the School of Rhetoric; in Jan-
uary, 1575, he founded the Confraternity of our Lady;
in 1575 and 1576, he heard of several of his old Oxford
friends entering the Society at Rome—Robert Parsons of
Balliol, William Weston of All Souls’, Lane of Corpus
Christi, Henry Garnet and Giles Wallop of New College,
and Thomas Stephens. *Of all these our being in Rome,”
says Parsons, “and entering together into the Society,
when I had written to good Father Campion, he wrote to
me again of his wonderful joy, and hope that God would
one day use mercy towards our country, and restore the
Catholic faith again, as also vouchsafe to serve Himself
of some of our labours to that happy end, seeing He
had so wonderfully drawn so many together in one purpose
and place for His holy service. And withal he insinuated
again his own desire to be employed that way when God
pleased; though in the mean time he were contented
where he was; and not unprofitable altogether for Eng-
land, for that now and then there passed that way, by
reason of the Emperor’s court, certain English gentlemen,
who, finding him there, were content to deal with him
in matters of religion, and departed commonly far better
instructed and persuaded than when they came thither.”

In 1576 Campion was transferred to the Convictor’s
College, where he added the duties of Prefectus morum
and Prefectus cubiculi to his former functions, At the
opening of the autumn scholastic term he made a pane-

1
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gyric of St. Wenceslaus, the patron of Bohemia, whose
feast it was. The oration, which was much admired,
may be found among his opuscula.® This year also brought
him into contact with the celebrated Sir Philip Sidney, who
had been sent by Elizabeth to Prague to congratulate the
new Emperor Rudolph on his accession. Sir Philip, who
was only one-and-twenty, had been in Venice during the
year 1574, and his familiarity with Catholics there, espe-
cially with his cousin Shelly, the English prior of Malta,
had excited the misgivings of his friends to such an extent
that his tutor, Hubert Languet, then agent for the
Duke of Saxony at the imperial court, wrote to warn
him about it,—“I see that your friends have begun to
suspect you on the score of religion, because at Venice
you were so intimate with those who profess a differ-
ent creed from your own. I will write to Master Wal-
singham on the subject, and if he has entertained such
a thought about you, I will do what I can to removeit;
and I hope that my letter will have sufficient weight
with him not only to make him believe what I shall say
of you, but also endeavour to convince others of the same.
Meanwhile, I advise you to make acquaintance where you
now are (Vienna) with the French ministers, who are
learned and sensible men; invite them to visit you, and
hear their sermons, and do the same at Heidelberg and
Strasburg.”® This was written from Prague, March 10,
1575. At that time Maximilian, who was very lukewarm
in his Catholicism, was hesitating whether to grant the
Bohemians the religious liberties they required. As long as
he demurred, his subjects were earnest in the cause; but
when they triumphed, in September, they thought they
had gained enough, and the new Emperor Rudolph found
them easily contented. “The Bohemians,” Sidney wrote
~ to Walsingham from Heidelberg, on his way to Prague,
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March 22, 1576, “which were earnest in Maximilian’s
time to have churches of the true religion granted them,
do now grow cold, only being content to have the freedom
in their houses.” When Sidney reached Prague, he wished
much to see Campion, whom he had known at Oxford,
and whom his father had protected in Ireland. Their
meeting, says Parsons, was difficult, for Sir Philip was
afraid of so many spies set and sent about him by the
English Council; but he managed to have divers large
and secret conferences with his old friend. After much
argument, he professed himself convinced, but said that
it was necessary for him to hold on the course which he
had hitherto followed; yet he promised never to hurt or
injure any Catholic, which for the most part he performed;
and for Father Campion himself he assured him that
whereinsoever he could stand him in stead, he should
find him a trusty friend, which he performed not, for
afterwards, Campion being condemned to death, and the

other in most hxgh favour, when he might have done
‘him favour he denied to do it, for fear not to offend.
Politically, Sidney always took the side contrary to what
were then supposed to be Catholic interests. He hated
the Spaniards, whom he considered “born slaves,” and
took a very strong national line in preventing Elizabeth’s
marriage with the Duke of Anjou, in 1581; he was even
on the Parliamentary Committee of that year for framing
the penal laws against Catholics. One thing, however,
is clear, that after his embassy to Prague, in spite of his
marriage with Walsingham’s daughter, he made no advance
in his public career for several years, and held no trust or
office except the nominal one of royal cupbearer. Ac-
cording to a letter of Father Thomas Fitzherbert, of
Feb. 1, 1628, Sidney had the courage to confess in Eng-
land that one of the most memorable things he had wit-

et



116 Edmund Campion.

nessed abroad was a sermon by Campion, at which he
had assisted with the Emperor in Prague. Probably the
reports sent home by the spies caused him to be looked
upon as wavering in religion. He ever afterwards had
a strong party in the Council against him. Campion’s
own account of his conversations with Sidney will be
found farther on, at the end of a letter to Bavand. On
Sidney’s part, one curious memorial of their meeting may
be discovered by a critical eye in the ambassador’s official
letter to Walsingham from Prague. After describing his
reception by the Emperor, he says, “the rest of the days
that I lay there, I informed myself as well as I could of
such particularities as I received in my instructions.” He
promises a vfvd voce report upon most of the questions,
and only sets down the following brief character of Ru-
dolph, which may perhaps be from the hand of the author
of the History of Ireland. *“The Emperor is wholly by
his inclination given to the wars, few of words, sullen of
disposition, very secret and resolute, nothing the manners
his father had in winning men in his behaviour, but yet
constant in keeping them; and such a one as, though he
promise not much outwardly, but, as the Latins say,
aliguid in recessu.’ 1 cannot find much further trace of
Campion’s influence. Sidney complains that the Emperor
and his brother Ernest are “extremely spaniolated,” and
that the former is most governed by a professed supporter
of the Spanish “inquisitor’s government;” and on his way
from Prague he persuaded the Elector of the Rhine at
Heidelberg to tolerate the Calvinists, and not to force
them to become Lutherans. But his letters to Languet
from Venice show that his alienation from Rome was not
dogmatical, but political, founded on national hatred of
Spaniard and Italian, and fear of the overwhelming power
of Philip II. His religious allusions and banter savour of
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Catholic, not of Protestant, sentiment; he refers to saints,
sacraments, and Purgatory, not like a man who hates
them and spurns them, but like one who believes in them,
yet without trembling. The habit of mind most affected
by him was “that seemly play of humour,” which would not
let “our own More” lose his jest even in the hour of death.

The next year, 1577, Campion wrote a tragedy on
the subject of King Saul, which was exhibited at the
expense of the town, with great magnificence, during
Prague fair, in honour of Elizabeth, the widow of Charles
IX. of France, who had then returned to her family at
Prague. The play lasted six hours, and was repeated
the next day, by command of the Emperor.

Several letters written by Campion this year have
been preserved; one, written to the novices at Brunn, I
inserted in the last chapter; another, to Gregory Martin,
is published among his opuscula;® and the rough copies
of six more, in Campion’s own hand, are preserved in
the archives at Stonyhurst. I subjoin translations of all
of them; for the man is best known by his familiar
correspondence. The two first relate to the manuscripts
of his History of Ireland; his library had been left in
England, and Gregory Martin wrote to him Feb. 8, 1575,
about the books *which Holland had in custody being
transferred by Stock to the library of Cox, his sister’s
husband, in Gloucester,” where they were afterwards
burnt.

Edmund Campion to Francis Coster, at Cologne.

“I was troubled about a parcel of manuscripts which is
due to me from France, when F. Anthony Possevin, who
passed through this place on his way from Rome into Sweden,
told me that it was possible that you, as having the charge of
the next province, could lend me your aid in business. I was
glad to hear the name of Coster, whose friendship I had cul-
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tivated at Douai; and I confidently undertook to ask you for
any favour, as your former scholar and spiritual child. Gregory
Martin, who is living with Allen at Rheims, writes to me
that he wishes to send me a volume which I had intrusted to
him, but he has no one to give it to, and does not know how
so large a packet can be sent so long a distance. I have
ventured to ask you, relying on our old acquaintance, and
on the relationship in Christ which we have contracted in the
Society, to do what you can for me in this matter, as I am
far away, and know nothing about either places or persons. If
Martin manages to convey the book to you, do you, my father,
manage to have it sent to me at Prague, not by the shortest,
but by the safest way. I will say no more, for I am sure
that you will do whatever you conveniently can. In anticipa-
tion, I profess myself much in your debt; for the book is a
production of mine, not wholesome because prematurely born;
and if I am to lose it, I would rather it were altogether destroyed
than fall into other hands. So I am trying to getitto you soon,
and then it may creep to me as slowly as you please. Farewell,

Prague, January, 1577.”

Edmund Campion to Francis Coster, Provincial of the Rhine.

¢ Although, Reverend Father, I fully expected the assistance
which you promised me in your kind letter,—for I knew by
what spirit you were led,—yet it was in truth great pleasure
to me to renew the taste of your goodness and charity from
their impressions in your writing. I am bound to you, not
now for the first time, but by old kindnesses, which I will
never forget, for they are eternal. This kind office of yours
gives me a double pleasure, both because you are going to
do something for me, and because you love me so well as to
do it willingly. And see what impudence your kindness has
inspired me with. I enclose you a letter for Martin; if you
can send to him into France I hope that he will do his part.
I beg of you also, as Martin tells me that he knows no way
of conveying the papers to me, that if you know any trusty
person to employ, you will take the whole business upon your
own shoulders, and manage to have them sent from Rheims
to Cologne, and from Cologne to Prague. But if this cannot
be done, let me know, and I will try some other plan, and
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give you no further trouble. The place where I sojourn compels
me not to be too modest in my requests. Farewell.

July 12, 1577.”

The third letter is to Father Parsons; in the first part
he enters heartily into the *“conspiracy” to catch Gregory
Martin and make him a Jesuit: the share that he took in
this nearly successful attempt will be seen from another
letter further on; in the second part he congratulates
Parsons and the rest who had entered into the Society,
and vaguely refers to some old Oxford events which
Parsons had recalled to his mind, and at the same time
professes his agreement with Parsons’ “philosophical
reflections” upon the state of England. These clearly
were, that a good wind, or rather storm of persecution,
was the best way to reduce England to the faith, when
the instability of mind, mundane attachment, cowardice,
and want of logic that had allowed Elizabeth’s government
to deprive England of its religion, would be the best
guarantee for the success of a forcible reaction under
such masters as Philip II. or the Duke of Alva.

Edmund Campion to Robert Parsons, at Rome, greeting.

“I have received your letter, my brother, teeming not only
with discretion and weight, but also, what is the chief thing,
with love and piety. I readily take your advice, and consent
to do my duty, in which I confess I have been for some time
rather lax, somewhat more lengthily and liberally than you;
but I had written in that time to Martin, and my letter, I
suppose, is still in Flanders, where it must have arrived after
his departure. Do let us conspire to deliver that good soul; it
is good fishing. I love him on many accounts; I can say
nothing iugarmérepoy, I love him; I congratulate him with all
my heart upon making the acquaintance of so many of you;
my part shall not be wanting. At the end of his last letter
to me there was something that showed that this miserable
and slippery world was not altogether to his taste—‘I am in
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peril in the world; let your prayers preserve me. Let us pray
God; if he is needed, he will be granted to us. About myself
I would only have you know that from the day I arrived here,
I have been extremely well,—in a perpetual bloom of health,
and that I was never at any age less upset by literary work
than now, when I work hardest, We know the reason. But,
indeed, I have no time to be sick, if any illness wanted to
take me. So you may unhesitatingly contradict those reports.

About yourself and Lane, whom you must greet heartily
from me, I feel proud and happy; I can more reasonably
rejoice in this than in the memory of my proctorship. Youare
seven: I congratulate you; I wish you were seventy times seven.
Considering the goodness of the cause, the number is small;
but considering the iniquity of the times it is not little, espe-
cially since you have all come within two years. If my
memory is good, I remember all the names, and your somewhat
tall person.

Your reflections on the tears of our orthodox countrymen
are quite true; wavering minds, mischievous attachments,
cowardly tempers, illogical intellects. But these things will
carry them into port when our Lord gives a good wind. I
have used up my paper, so I will end. But I will give you
a commission, since you have offered yourself to me. When
I was at Rome, I owed every thing to the Rev. Father Ursnar.
Tell him I have got forgotten him, and greet him most heartily
in my name. Farewell.

Prague, St. John Baptist’s day (June 25), 1577.”

In the fourth letter, to Robert Arden® (of Warwick-
shire), another father of the Society, he speaks of none of
those violent measures, to which his gentle spirit was only
excited by contact with the fiery temper of Parsons, but
only of reducing England by prayers and tears.

Edmund Campion to Robert Arden, Priest S.J., greeting.

“Father Francis, our common and dear friend, has told
me the gratifying intelligence contained in your letter from
Lucerne of May 3rd. He asked me to write to you in reply,
and I am doing so; for it seemed to me an excellent oppor-
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tunity of greeting a fellow-countryman and—nobler bond !—a
brother in the Society. If you are the Arden I fancy, this is not our
first acquaintance; for we were members of neighbouring col-
leges in Oxford, I of St. John’s, you of Trinity. If you are
not the man, you need no more be ashamed of being taken
for him than of being yourself. But if you had been not only
my familiar friend but mine own brother to boot, even then
our relationship could not have been dearer, or firmer, or
nearer than the union by which we are now united in Christ.
For this at least we are indebted to those by whose heresy
and persecution we have been driven forth and cast gently on
a pleasant and blessed shore. [A sentence follows, illegible
through most of the words having been destroyed by worms.]
One thing remains; we must rejoice at our deliverance from
the hand of the Egyptians, and we must strive to save them,
and to catch them by the prayers and tears at which they
laugh. We will do them this favour against their wills, and
so return them the benefit that they have unwillingly done to
us. But to return to you, my father, and to finish my letter.
You must know that I have had no greater pleasure for many
a day than the perusal of your letter, which gives us good
hope of restoring and tilling that vineyard. If you go on so,
you shall gather a most abundant harvest.

We here, by God’s mercy, can only do penance and pray,
dignified by the honour of the college, the numbers of our
scholars, the favour of the people, and the gain of souls. That
these things may become more abundant, help us by your
prayers and sacrifices. Farewell.

Prague, the morrow of Our Lady ad Nives (i.c. Aug. 6), 1277.”

The fifth letter, to John Bavand, his old tutor, con-
tains some pleasant recollections of his youth, and his
account of his dealings with Sir Philip Sidney.

Edmund Campion fo Jokn Bavand, his master, greeting.

“Thanks to our good Martin, who in his last letter to me
enlarged upon your goodness and kindness to him, I am
reminded, not by his precept, but his example, not to shirk
my duty, or to loosen any of those old links by which your
undying care of both ot us has bound us to you. I must
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own that, if I had thought frequent letter-writing the sum of
fidelity and gratitude, 1 had been too neglectful of what my
respect for you, and your fatherly care and provision for me,
required. But there are other tokens of love and friendship
beside letters, and my sentiments from my earliest childhood
have been so well known to you that they can never be cloud-
ed over either by my epistolary neglect, or by our separation
in place. I should be a mere knave, and unworthy of the
liberal education which you gave me, if, while I have any
memory at all, I forgot you, instead of bearing witness, by all
sorts of observance, to the care, the prudence, the sympathy,
and the purity which you displayed in teaching and educating
me. To these I must add the clear proofs of your favour and
affection since bestowed upon me,—and they the more pleasant,
because they so plainly manifested an uncommon benevolence.
For though in my youth I was but an indifferent subject, yet,
since T was intrusted to you and clung to your side, hung
upon your looks and lived in your society, I do not much
wonder that a good man like you, so diligent in your duties,
took such care of me, But that in after years, you undertook
to feed me and to polish me, as it was all from your free
choice, so does it more redound to the credit of your virtue
and kindness. And what is your last favour? When I was
in Rome, did you not altogether spend yourself upon me?
Did you not give me introductions, help, and money? And
that to one who, as you knew, not only would never repay
you, but who was on the point of leaving the world, and, so
to speak, of death. One of the greatest works of mercy is to
bury the dead, for they help those towards whom neither flesh,
blood, nor goods, nor hope, nor favour, nor any thought of
earthly convenience attracts them. You were munificent to
me when I was going to enter the sepulchral rest of religion.
Add one further kindness, my dear father; pray for me, that
in this seclusion, far from the noise of all vanity, I may be
buried really and meritoriously. For it was the Apostle’s decla-
ration, ‘You are dead, and your life is hidden with Christ in
God.’ I remember how, on the eve of your leaving England,
you bade me farewell with the words, ‘I go to die.” For you
had determined to let death overtake you any where rather
than in Egypt. We must seek to die once for all, and happily,
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but we must seek it also daily and faithfully. But whither
have I wandered ?

Now listen to my news. The Emperor Rudolph, a prudent,
brave, and good youth, and a sincere son of the Church, has
fixed upon himself the eyes and the hearts of the Germans
and Bohemians, If he lives, great things are expected of him.
The Empress Dowager, Maximilian’s widow, and sister of Philip
of Spain, is living at Prague. A few months ago Philip
Sidney came from England to Prague as ambassador, magni-
ficently provided. He had much conversation with me,—I
hope not in vain, for to all appearance he was most eager. I
commend him to your sacrifices, for he asked the prayers of
all good men, and at the same time put into my hands some
alms to be distributed to the poor for him, which I have done.
Tell this to Dr. Nicholas Sanders, because if any one of the
labourers sent into the vineyard from the Douai seminary has
an opportunity of watering this plant, he may watch the occa-
sion for helping a poor wavering soul. If this young man, so
wonderfully beloved and admired by his countrymen, chances
to be converted, he will astonish his noble father, the Deputy
of Ireland, his uncles the Dudleys, and all the young courtiers,
and Cecil himself. Let it be kept secret.

Do you want to know about Bohemia? aduutic xai xomavia
Téy alpeoéav, 2 mixen and hotch-pot of heresies. But all the chief
people are Catholics. The lower orders promiscuous. A pleasant
and diversified harvest. For my part, I labour in it with more
pleasure since an Englishman, Wicliffe, infected the people.

In conclusion, I must ask you to excuse me if I havebeen
remiss in writing. Greet in my name Sanders, Cope, Stoneley,
and the priests and fellows of your Hospice. Finally, be merry,
and mind your health; love me, and write to me. Farewell.
When you have opportunity, reverently kiss the hand of the
Bishop of St. Asaph for me.”

The next letter, to one of his Bohemian pupils, is a
specimen of the affectionate terms on which he and his
scholars stood.

Edmund Campion to Scbastian Pastler, at Passau, greeting.

“Your letter was grateful to me, because I saw by it how
grateful you were. For if while you were here we hoped much
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of you from your rare advance in learning and piety, what
must we think of you now you are gone for persevering so con-
stantly in the course which you pursued here! I wish that my
services to you had been worth as much as you value them
at; any how, whatever they were worth, they were given with
a real good-will, which I will take care to preserve, so as not
to let-a young man so good and so devoted to us slip from
my memory. I read some paragraphs of your letter to the
Confraternity at our meeting yesterday, and exhorted them to
remember you; I have no doubt they will. This is written in
the evening twilight and the failing light forces me to finish.
Farewell.

Prague, July 14, 1577.

The last letter belonging to this year is that written
to Gregory Martin, to try and induce him to become a
Jesuit; the adroitness which insinuatesand implies without
indicating, and which stirs up desires without too plainly
showing how they may be gratified, is a model of subtle
rhetoric. Martin was at this time in circumstances that
facilitated his capture. His position with Allen was uncer-
tain; the English seminary was on the point of being
driven from Douai by popular tumults, which Allen
attributed to the intrigues of Elizabeth, and by which he
partly justified his perpetual intrigues against her. The
Cardinal of Guise had not yet offered him a retreat at
Rheims, and Martin had been sent to Rome to see what
could be obtained there. For at this time Allen probably
thought with Sandérs, who wrote to him a few months
later (November, 1577), ** We shall have no steady com-
fort but from God, in the Pope, not in the King of Spain.
Therefore I beseech you to take hold of the Pope, for
the King is as fearful of war as a child of fire, and all
his endeavour is to avoid all such occasions. The Pope
will give two thousand [men] when you shall be content
with them. If they do not serve to go to England, at
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the least they will serve to go into Ireland. The state of
Christendom dependeth upon the stout assailing of Eng-
land.”® Martin had gone to Rome in 1566, and had
written to Campion in Feb. 1577,—*“After the first letter
which you wrote from Brtinn, you received two of mine
together, a long while after date. In answer you at once
wrote most kindly, in every way corresponding to my
hopes, except in your brevity. You called your letter
only a precursor; this expression of yours authorised me
to look for another and a longer letter, as I have done
and still do. I am not at Douai, but at Rome.” And
then he proceeded (but the letter is lost) to describe the
popular risings at Douai against the English. To these
“ accusations” Campion replied:
Edmund Campion to Gregory Martin.

“Such accusations as those wherewith you accuse me trouble
me not; for they coax you out of a letter full of endearing
complaints, and let me see, to my joy, how lovingly you look
for my reply. It may perhaps be stale to excuse myself on
the plea of business, but I do, and ever will, steal time enough
for the religious rites of our friendship, which is always in my
heart. I lately sent a parcel to you at Douai; in it there was
a long letter to you; and because you did not receive it, you
wrangle with me about the postmen. But don’t irritate me,
though you are tall, and I short. The next sentence in your
letter gives me sad news, which nips my jokes in the bud.
Are there indeed such troubles in Flanders? Has the peril
reached to the English College? How far? Are they to be
driven out? Let them be driven any where but into their own
country. What is it to us, to whom England isimprisonment,
the rest of the world transportation! Be of good cheer; this
storm will drive you into smooth water. Make the most of
Rome. Do you see the dead corpse of that Imperial City?
What in this life can be glorious, if such wealth, such beauty,
has come to nothing? But what men have stood firm in these
miserable changes,—what things? The relics of the Saints, and
the chair of the Fisherman. O prudencel Why is heaven
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neglected for worldly glory, when we see with our own eyes
that even in this world the kings of this world could not
preserve these monuments of their vanity, these trophies of
their folly! What will this smoke seem in the ether of heaven
when it so soon blows away in the atmosphere of earth? How
will angels laugh, when even men mock? But yAavxagsic’A9vjvas,
what is this to you? For your whole letter breathes a noble
spirit. Your story, your hopes, and your requests set me in a
blaze at all points. Nor is this the first time; all your letters
show with what prudence, with what a Christian spirit you love
me, when you so heartily congratulate me on the state of life
which I have embraced, though it places so strong a barrier
to our union. This is real friendship. I remember too how
earnestly you called me from Ireland to Douai, how you
admonished me, and how effective were your words. Before
that, I remember how from the Duke of Norfolk’s house you
dealt with me to keep me from the ecclesiastical dignity, which,
as a friend, you feared might betray me into serving these
wretched times. In these words, as I consider, you were even
prompted by the Holy Ghost,—*If we two can live together, we can
live for nothing; if this is too little, I have money ; but if this also
fails, one thing remains,—they that sow in tears shall reap in joy.’
What you foretold is fulfilled. Ilive in affluence, and yetI have
nothing; and I would not exchange the sorrows of my Insti-
tute for the realm of England. If our tears are worth all
this, what are our consolations worth? And they are quite
numberless, and above all measure. So as you rejoice with
me, you may always go on rejoicing, for what I have found
is indeed most joyful. As for your praises, I pray you, my
dear father, to commend my soul to God in your sacrifices,
that it may become less unworthy of your praise. This is the
sum—since for so many years we had in common our college,
our meals, our studies, our opinions, our fortune, our degrees,
our tutors, our friends, and our enemies, let us for the rest of
our lives make a more close and binding union, that we may
have the fruit of our friendship in heaven. There also I will,
if I can, sit at your feet. Though I have many greetings for
John Bavand, our old tutor, of whom it would be too long to
write all I might and ought to say, yet, as I am writing to
him, I will send him a very brief message. If he receives
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this letter, he will have three on his conscience (supposing the
others have come to hand), and yet not a word from him,
There was some reason, which, though I know it not, I fully
admit and approve, in entire confidence of his kindness and
friendship. Farewell.

Prague, from the College of the Society of Jesus, July 3, 1577."%

The next year Campion returned from the Convictor’s
College to that of the Society, and was ordained dea-
con and priest by Anthony, Archbishop of Prague,
who told him on the occasion that “as from one Englishman,
Wicliffe, all the evils of Bohemia had sprung, so God had
provided another Englishman to heal those wounds.”
The new priest said his first Mass on the feast of the
Nativity of the Blessed Virgin, September 8. This year
he also exhibited a drama, which was celebrated among
his contemporaries, on St. Ambrose and the Emperor
Theodosius. It was repeated by command of the empress
and the French queen. In after times some German
admirer of the author prefixed a title to it: % Ambrosiana
Tragzdia, authore Beato Edmundo Campiano, Graco,
Latino, Poeta, Oratore, Philosopho, Theologo, Virgine et
Martyre.” Epigrams were written, complimenting the
author on his mellifluous mouth, and on the nectar and
ambrosia which distilled from it. It is a pity that no
trace of it can now be found among the Mss. at Prague.
This year he was appointed Latin preacher, and in that
office made an *“admirable sermon” before the Archbishop
during the feet-washing on Holy Thursday; August 14,
he preached at the funeral of the Nuncio; he also wrote
orations for his scholars to deliver; one of these, “De
laudibus B. Marie Virginis,” is printed among his opus-
cula. Among his other productions of this year, Schmidl
enumerates a Latin poem in honour of the Archbishop.
This year, too, he obtained an evil reputation amongst
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Protestants as a proselyte-maker. A Protestant youth,
Martin Schultes, of Frankfort, who had been sent to the
college because of its superiority, had been converted by
Campion. In the vacation the lad’s parents became aware
of the fact, and were furious; but he ran away from them,
and returned to the college.

In October this year, having finished his course of
rhetoric, Campion was made Professor of Philosophy;
here he was bound down by the same minute rules.
Philosophy was to be the vestibule of theology; Aristotle
was to be the professor’s great authority, in every point
in which the philosopher was not contradicted by the
schoolmen or the creed. The infidel commentators, like
Averrhoes, were not to be used in such a way as to
give the pupils a taste for them. St. Thomas was always
to be mentioned with honour, and when not followed to
be reverently and respectfully treated. Logic, physics,
and metaphysics were each to occupy one year; the chief
object was to be a right understanding of Aristotle’s text,
particularly of the trite passages. As in rhetoric, there
were to be monthly and quarterly disputations in public,
in which the scholars were to be made ashamed of all
faults in formal arguing, to be taught to adhere rigidly
to rules, and never to speak but in their turn,

Nothing is more notable in most of Campion’s letters
than the entire want of any political allusions; religion
and literature were the only spheres which he recognised,
except with one passing exception, in a letter to Parsons.
Parsons, however, observed no such reticence, but gave
to Campion intelligence about Elizabeth’s enemies, to know
which, without discovering it, by the laws of those days,
rendered a man a traitor.

“Pax CH.
Having read this letter, almost a month agone, from Mr,
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Marten, I deferred to send it until this time, to the end I
might accompany it with some news touching our English
matters. You shall understand, therefore, that Sir Thos. Stewkly,
who was made here Marquis before his departure, is now dead
in Africa with the K. of Portugal; the particulars of his death
1 have not received. He took here away with him at midnight
out of their beds all the Irishmen in Rome, and one English
gentleman named Mr. Minors, nephew to Cardinal Pole, who
had good entertainment here of the Pope before,—that is to
say, xx crowns in gold a month. This Mynhurst, with one
Sedgrave, an Irishman, which once had been of our company,
Sir Thomas, being on the sea, upon what cause I know not,
would have hanged them, and being prohibited to do it, by
the earnest request of certain Italian captains that went with
him, he deferred the work until he came to Portugal; and
there arriving, condemned both of them to the galleys for
term of life, and so led them slaves with him into Africa:
but since his death they are delivered by the new King of
Portugal, which is the Cardinal: and this much Minors hath
written hither himself. And other provision that went with
Sir Thomas, all is dispersed; and so this enterprise is come
to nothing. Here, in Rome, the English seminary goeth forth
well; for there be almost 40 persons under the government
of iij of our Society. We are here at Rome now 24 Englishmen
of the Society, whereof five hath entered within this month,
One named Mr, Holt, which was once of Oriel College, Mas-
ter of Arts, and the other four came hither from Paris; all
excellent towardly youths, and all have ended the courses of
philosophia: ij of them are your countrymen, born in Pater-
noster Row; one named Harwood and the other Smith, little
Dr. Smith the physician’s nephew. One Inglis, of good learn-
ing, is presently now herehence sent towards Japponia. I
hope, e’er it be long, we shall [find] a vent another way.
Father Darbishire is come hither from Paris, and it may be
that I shall go, e’er it be long, in his place thither. Mr. Lane,
as I wrote to you before, is gone to Alcala in Spain, and
arrived thither, hath wrote your commendations in a letter to
me. And this is as much [as] I have to write to you at this
time. Mr. Marten was called away herehence by Mr. Dr.
Allen his letters. I think they were half afraid of him, what

K
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might become of him; but Mr. Horltus, entering of late, hath
much amazed them. I pray you, good Mr. Campion, pray for
me; for I have great need of it. All our countrymen here
doth commend themselves heartily to you.
Your servant in Christ,
Ros. PARSONS.

From Rome, this xxviii of November, 1578.”

As early as 1571, the English government had known
of the design of this Stukely (who had been at the head
of a rebellion in Ireland in 1569) to land in Ireland with
a large Spanish force; and the enterprise described in
Parson’s letter, though diverted for a time to Africa, was
ultimately meant for Ireland. Castelnau, the French am-
bassador, was well informed when he wrote from London,
July 4, 1578: “Stukely, who had given here so hot an
alarm of a descent on Ireland, cannot do any thing this
year, because he has gone with the King of Portugal
into Africa. But people still think that when the king
disbands his army Stukely will be able to have more men
and more ships, if only the people favour his designs
upon Ireland.” Ships had been in commission to oppose
him, and the queen intended to increase her navy for the
next year. Any communication with such a man, any
knowledge of his doings without detecting them, was
sufficient to constitute treason. Campion was of much
too sweet a temper to rebuke Parsons for intruding upon
his notice things of which he wished to hold himself
quite clear. Probably, too, he had then no idea of ever
being sent on the English mission; otherwise he must
have felt what Donne describes, when listening to compro-
mising conversation—

“I felt myself
Becoming traitor, and methought I saw
One of our giant statutes ope his jaw
To suck me in for hearing him.,”
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Of the year 1579, we have a letter of Campion to
Gregory Martin, still on the subject of his books and the
troubles of the seminary, and upon the martyrdom of
Cuthbert Maine, November 29, 1577, which Campion
seems to have heard of for the first time a year after
the event.

Edmund Campion to Gregory Martin.

“Father Parsons has sent me your letter from Rome; I
see the devil is furious with your seminary, and will not allow
banished men a place of banishment. Well, he may burst
with envy; but these blasts of his will never blow away the
Spirit of Christ. Do you daily torture our envious foe with
your good deeds. I am indeed angry sometimes when I
remember what Allen—himself a little angry, I think—wrote in
the beginning of Bristow’s book, that so good a cause was
dashed by men so evil, so ignorant, so few, and so much at
variance with each other. We all thank you much for your
account of Cuthbert’s [Maine] martyrdom; it gave many of
us a real religious joy. Wretch that I am, how has that
novice distanced me! May he be favourable to his old friend
and tutor! I shall now boast of these titles more than ever.
I have answered your two letters, the latter first. I have left
something for the end, that you may know how much I have
it at heart. I had written to F. Francis Coster, our provincial
of the Rhenish province, asking him if you sent him those
writings of mine about Irish history which you have, to find
some way of sending them to Prague in perfect safety. He
promised. So now I ask you to get them to Cologne; our
people will manage the rest. Tell me or them what you can
do,—what you would do I already know; write either to Father
Coster, the Provincial of the Rhine, or to your namesake, who
is Rector at Cologne; for he is called F. Martin. You shall
be either Father Martin or Father Gregory, as you choose. Is
there aught else? I had well-nigh forgotten. About the burn-
ing of the books I congratulate both of us, and thank Holland.
I wish he had not spared Erasmus and the Scholiasts, whose
prefaces, corrections, antidotes, and triflings have deformed
the works of the fathers. I am truly glad that the bill has
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been honoured, and I acknowledge Sheldon’s kindness, whose
family we have reason to love. I remember them when I say
Mass; to your sacrifices also I commend the patrons, com-
panions, entertainers, and scholars that we have almost always
had in common. You ask what I am doing: I have finished
the Organon of Aristotle; now I go to the Physics. I shall
soon confer the Bachelors’ degrees, and after finishing this
course the Masters’ of Prague. Six days we quarrel with the
philosophers, the seventh we are friends. I am foolishly sup-
posed to be an accomplished Sophist. What does it signify?
Salute my honoured friend Allen, and Bristow and the whole
seminary.

Prague, August 1579.”%*

Two other letters, concerning Melchior Newhyre, a
pupil and convert of his, show with what affectionate
care he watched over the fortunes and progress of his

scholars.

Edmund Campion lo George Ware, at Olmuts, grecung.

“Melchior Newhyre, my pupil, an honest and well-instructed
youth, and very dear to me, is migrating to you for the sake
of his studies. There are many and weighty reasons why I
wish his progress and fortune to be well cared for. Where-
fore, I beseech you, let me lighten my anxiety by your friend-
ship, and by the certainty that you will spend all your love
for me in care, favour, help, and any thing else that the youth
may require. Whatever kind office you do him, you may put
to my account; and as I am already your debtor to an amount
which I cannot repay, I have determined to increase the debt
daily. Farewell.

Prague, January 22, 1579.”

Edmund Campion to Melchior Newkyre, at Olmuls, greeling.

“I recognise in your letter the old polish and the old
affection, and I return praise for the one and affection for the
other. In giving me such abundant thanks, you kindly and
dutifully preserve the memory of thy love towards you; while
in speaking so piously about the light of faith, which God’s
mercy called you out of darkmess to behold, you faithfully
and religiously offer to God the soul which you owe Him, So
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I sincerely hope that our divine Redeemer may reward your
recollection of His favours by a daily increase of grace. You
have me not only as a friend, whom you reckon far above
his value, but also as a debtor, because you proceed in such
a way as not only to increase but to honour the flock of my
Master. For the rest, I earnestly exhort and beseech you to
temper your good disposition with all liberal learning, to
endure whatever comes upon you in this short span, till you
can reap with honour and profit that which you now sow with
labour and cost. Farewell.

Prague, May 6, 1579.”

This year also he preached a celebrated funeral sermon
at the burial of Mary Requesens, the wife of Antonio
Gardona, Viceroy of Sardinia, published amongst his
opuscula.

This was the last year of Campion’s quiet life at
Prague. In the autumn, Doctor Allen went to Rome to
organise the English College, and to obtain the assistance
of the Jesuits in the English mission; after mature delib-
eration, the chief points of which I will give in my next
chapter, it was determined that two fathers, Parsons and
Campion, should be sent. As soon as Allen had secured
his object, he wrote to Campion in an exulting strain to
announce the fact—

“My father, brother, son, Edmund Campion, for to you I
must use every expression of the tenderest ties of love,—Since
the General of your Order, who to you is Christ Himself| calls
you from Prague to Rome, and thence to our own England;
since your brethren after the flesh call upon you (for though
you hear not their words, God has heard their prayers),—I,
who am so closely connected with them, with you, and with
our common country both in the world and in the Lord, must
not be the only one to keep silence, when I should be first
to desire you, to call you, to cry to you. Make all haste and
come, my dearest Campion; you have done enough at Prague

towards remedying the evils that our countrymen inflicted upon
Bohemia. It will be dutiful, religious, and Christian in you to
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devote the rest of your life and some part of your extraordinary
gifts to our beloved country, which has the greatest need of
your labours in Christ. I do not stay to inquire what your
own wish and inclination may be, since it is your happiness to
live, not by your own will, but by others’; and you would not
shrink from the greatest perils or the furthest Indies if your
superiors bade you go. Our harvestis already great in England:
ordinary labourers are not enough; more practised men are
wanted, but chiefly you and others of your order. The Gen-
eral has yielded to all our prayers; the Pope, the true father of
our country, has consented; and God, in whose hands are the
issues, has at last granted that our own Campion, with his extra-
ordinary gifts of wisdom and grace, should be restored to us.
Prepare yourself then for a journey, for a work, fora trial. You
will have an excellent colleague, and though they still live who
sought the Child’s life, yet for some time past a door has been
open for you in the Lord. It is not I that am preparing for
you and your order the place in England that your soul presaged,
but it is you, I hope, who will procure for me and mine the
power of returning. We will talk over the rest, my dear
Edmund; and I hope you will be here as soon as may be, for
I know not how long I can stay in Rome; and as soon asthe
winter is past I mean to go to Rheims or Douai, where our
common friends Bristow and Martin now live, You will be
astonished to see our Belgian and Roman Colleges, and will
easily understand why we have at last such hopes of our coun-
try. In the mean time let us pray the Lord of the harvest to
make us worthy of His mercy and visitation, and do you, by
your prayers and sacrifices, wash away my sins before Jesus
Christ. May He send you to us as soon as may be.

Entirely thine,
WILLIAM ALLEN,
Rome, the English College, 9th Dec. 1579.”

Campion, though surprised at this intelligence, was on
the whole glad; if there had been any fears—and he
confesses to a lack of constitutional courage—he had
conquered them. He wrote to Allen that he was ready
to go when the order should arrive; the honour of the
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cause made him willing, but the command of his superiors
made him anxious to go. At their bidding he was will-
ing to fight to the death for his country. In March,
1580, two letters from the General came to Prague, one
to Campanus the rector, the other to Campion, who was
to go to Rome as soon as might be., The rector imme-
diately communicated the command to Campion, who
heard it in silence, blushed, and said, “Indeed the fathers
seem to suspect something about me. I hope their suspi-
cions may be true. God’s will be done, not mine.” The
suspicions to which Campion referred had already found
vent; the night before, a simple father, James Gall, a
Silesian, reputed to have ecstasies, wrote over Campion’s
cell, “P. Edmundus Campianus, Martyr.” The writer,
when discovered, was punished for his infringement of
discipline; but he declared that he felt obliged to do it.
Another father had previously painted a garland of roses
and lilies on the wall of Campion’s room, just above
where his head usually rested. When he left Prague,
Campanus the rector changed habits with him,— a common
mode in those days of leaving a keepsake with a friend.
Campion left Prague March 25, 1580; he went as far
as Munich with Ferdinand, second son of Albert, Duke
of Bavaria, lately dead. On the feast of St. Thomas
Aquinas he was induced to give the students a specimen
of his eloquence. He preached in their hall on the text,
Vos estis sal terre, and explained the office of a Christian
doctor; intending to describe St. Thomas, his hearers
said that he described himself. The duke and his brother
were so pleased, that they insisted on conveying the
preacher to Innsbruck, from which place he set out on
foot for Padua, where he was commanded to take horse;
and so he arrived in Rome on Holy Saturday, April 5, 1580.




CHAPTER V.

WHEN the English College at Rome was founded, in
1579, a Welshman, Maurice Clennock, was appointed
president. His partiality to his countrymen excited factions
which led to “mischief and almost murder,” and madden-
ed the students to that pitch that they were ready to
forswear Allen and forsake *whom and what else soever,”
rather than continue under the Welsh rector.® The
tumults were not entirely calmed by the appointment of
two Jesuits for the moraland literary superintendence of
the scholars, for this only angered the Welsh faction
against the society, which they accused of having stirred
up these tumults underhand, in order that the fathers
might gain possession of the college; not that they wished
to send the English students to the mission, but rather
to keep them at Rome and make them Jesuits. This
party thought the fathers had “no skill nor experience”
of the state of England, or of the nature of Englishmen,
and that their *“trade of syllogising” was quite alien from
the intellectual habits of this country. Allen wrote from
Paris, May 12, 1579, that he feared, if these broils
continued, “our nation would be forsaken both of the
Jesuits and ourselves, and all superiors else ;” and wished
to God that he might go for a month to Rome, and
either make up these éxtreme alienations of mind, or else
end his life,
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Allen accordingly went to Rome, and found that the
best way of reconciling the factions was for the Jesuits
to take part in the English mission. The cause was
debated between him and Mercurianus, the general of
the society, his four assistants, Claudius Acquaviva, the
Roman Provincial, afterwards General, and Father Parsons.
The arguments for the mission were founded upon
several considerations,—the piety, the necessity, and the
importance of the work; the desire of the English
Catholics; the notable encouragement and help it would
be to the seminary priests if they had Jesuits, not only
to assist them abroad in their studies, but at home in
their conflicts; the increasing intensity of the war, which
now required more men; the comfort it would be to the
English Catholics to see religious men begin to return
thither again after so long an exile, and especially such
religious as could not pretend to recover any of the
alienated property of the orders; the propriety of the
Jesuits engaging in the mission, since the object of
their foundation was to oppose the heresies of the day.
It was urged also that Englishmen were more neighbours
than Indians, and had greater claims for spiritual help;
for it was more obligatory to preserve than to gain;and
a token that the Jesuits were called to accept the mission
was to be found in the fact that there were more English-
men in the society than in all the other orders together.
Moreover, the Jesuits had been the professors and the
directors of the seminary priests, and had exhorted them
to undertake their perilous enterprise. It was not seemly
for those who were sending men at the risk of their lives
to bear the burden of the day and the heat, themselves
to stand aloof. And how could the fathers expect to be
acceptable to the English nation after the restoration of
religion, if they refused to bear their share of the toil
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and the danger of restoring it? Lastly, as the Order of
St. Benedict at first converted England, the society of
Jesus might fairly hope for the glory of reconverting it.

In reply to these arguments, it was urged that so
grave a matter must not be too hastily settled; that it
was a hard thing to send men to so dangerous a place
as England, where the adversaries, though Christians in
name, were more hostile, more eager, more vigilant, and
much more cruel than the infidels of the Indies were then,
or than the heathen Saxons formerly were when St.
Augustine went over; that the superiors, who would have
no difficulty in persuading the English Jesuits to face the
risk of martyrdom, had great difficulty in deciding
whether the loss of such men did not far outweigh the
hope of gain by their labours. Again, the English
Government would at once publish a proclamation de-
claring that the Jesuits had not come over for religious,
but only for political purposes, and would thus make the
missionaries odious, and their actions doubtful. It would
require more wisdom than could be expected in the mass
of men to unravel the web and detect the fallacy. The
charge would either be believed, or men would remain in
suspense till the event was seen. Again, the method of
life which priests were obliged to practise in England was
totally incompatible with the constitutions of the society.
Whilst the external danger was a recommendation, the
spiritual perils must give them pause. They would be obliged
to go about in disguise, and hide their priesthood and their
religious profession under the garb and swagger of soldiers;
they must live apart from one another, and consort with men
of doubtful character; they would be sent back to the
world to escape from which they had sacrificed themselves.
They would be overwhelmed with business, and there
would be no facilities, as in India, for renewing their
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relaxing fervour by frequent retreats. They would have
no rest, no silence; they would be in everlasting hurly-
burly. And then they would be accused of treason, and
hunted about as traitors. And on occasion of disputes
with the other priests, there were no bishops in England
to exercise ecclesiastical jurisdiction; and it seemed difficult
to believe that so many priests and religious could live
together in one realm without jars and discords.

It was long before any decision was made. Allen
went to the Pope, who removed the last difficulty by
sending Dr. Goldwell, who had been Bishop of St. Asaph
in Mary’s reign, to be the ordinary of all England.”
The other objections were overruled, chiefly through the
arguments of Claudius Acquaviva, who asked to be sent
on the mission, and of Oliverius Manareus, the assistant
from Germany, who, as a Belgian, knew the state of
England through the English exiles who swarmed in his
country. It was determined that the society should take
part in the English mission, and a paper of instructions
was drawn up for the guidance of those who should be
first sent.® The missionaries were reminded of the virtue
and piety, and of the prudence, required for dwelling
safely in a nation of shrewd, experienced, and unscrupu-
lous enemies: to preserve the first, they were to keep the
rules of the society as far as circumstances would allow;
for the second, they were to study with whom, when,
how, and about what things they were to speak, and to
be especially careful never to commit themselves, either
amid the temptations of good fellowship, or by hasty
and immoderate zeal and heat. Their dress, though
secular, was to be grave, and the habit of the society was
only to be worn when they were quite safe, and then
only for sacred functions. If they could not live together,
they were at least to visit one another frequently. With

-
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regard to their intercourse with strangers, they were to
associate with men ot the higher ranks, and rather with
reconciled Catholics than with those who were still in
schism. They were to have no personal dealings with
heretics, but were to employ laymen to manage all the
preliminaries of conversion, to which they were themselves
only to put the finishing stroke. They were not to be
over-ready to engage in controversy, and then were to
abstain from all sarcasm, preferring solid answers tosharp
repartees, and always putting first the very best and
strongest arguments. They were to avoid familiar con-
versation with women and boys, to take especial care
never to deserve the reputation of chatter-boxes, or of
alms or legacy hunters; “they must so behave that all
may see that the only gain they covet is that of souls.”
They must not carry about any thing forbidden by the
penal laws, or any thing that might compromise them,
as letters ; except for the strongest reasons, they must
never let it be publicly known that they were Jesuits, or
even priests, “They must not mix themselves up with
affairs of state, nor write to Rome about political matters,
nor speak, nor allow others to speak in their presence,
against the queen,—except perhaps in the company of
those whose fidelity has been long and steadfast, and even
then not without strong reasons.”

It would have been too much to expect that the
English Jesuits should have no political opinion at all, or
that what they had should be favourable to Queen Eliza-
beth. But short of proscribing all political action whatever,
the instructions given to the first Jesuits certainly shut up
such action within the narrowest possible limits; they
were to do nothing, and only to speak out their opinions
in the most select company. The only political action
that was to be allowed them was one for which the
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government of Elizabeth ought to have been thankful to
them. They were “to ask the Pope for an explanation
of the declaration of Pius V. against Elizabeth, which the
Catholics desired to have thus explained: That it should
always bind her and the heretics; but that it should in
no way bind the Catholics, while things remain as they
are; but only then when public execution of the said bull
shall be possible.” My readers will remember that St. Pius
V. excommunicated not only Elizabeth and her abettors,
but also all who obeyed her and her laws. So that the
unfortunate Catholics were placed between two fires,
hanged if they did not obey, cursed if they did. Campion,
on his first arrival at Rome, had been consulted about
the practical effect of this Bull, and had declared that it
procured great evils to the Catholics; Cardinal Gesualdi
had told him that it might without doubt be so mitigated
as to allow the Catholics to acknowledge the queen with-
out censure; and now, before going to England he asked
for and obtained only this mitigation, not probably
because it was all he thought useful, but because it was
all he could hope to get. The proviso, “rebus sic
stantibus,” “whilst things remain as they are,” was, I
suppose, inserted by some one who knew what hopes the
Roman court just then entertained of the subversion of
the government of Elizabeth, and the substitution of a
Catholic sovereign on the throne of England.

With regard to the use that was to be made of lay-
instructors for the preliminaries of conversion, to begin
the building which the fathers were to finish, we have the
following notice: “ Since sundry persons, priests and others,
in England have determined to imitate the life of the
Apostles, and to devote themselves wholly to the salvation
of souls and the conversion of heretics; and the better
to do this, have determined to be content with food and
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clothing, and the bare necessaries of their state, bestowing
all the rest of their goods for the common needs of the
Catholics, to collect alms for this common fund, and to
promote the conversion of England in other ways;” the
Pope was asked to approve and bless this association, and
to give sundry indulgences to those members who promised
to practise the rules as well as they could, whether in
prison or out of prison. These, and sundry other indul-
gences and faculties, were granted by the Pope to Father
Parsons and Father Campion, the two Jesuits first sent
on the mission, April 14, 1580; and by a brief dated two
days later they were enabled to communicate all their
privileges to the secular priests employed on the missions
of England, Ireland, and Scotland.®

In spite, however, of the extraordinary privileges which
the Jesuits enjoyed, they were but a small part of the
force which Dr. Allen had persuaded the Pope to send
into England at this time. The army of missionaries was
led by Dr. Goldwell, the Bishop of St. Asaph; with him
were Dr. Morton the Penitentiary of St. Peter’s, and four
old priests of the English hospital, Dr. Brumberg, William
Giblet, Thomas Crane, and William Kemp; Lawrence
Vaux, the old prior of Manchester, was drawn from his
cell at Louvain, and several young priests from Rheims
joined in the company. The Catholic association had
already been organised in England by William Gilbert, a
young man of property, who had been converted by Father
Parsons in Rome early in 1579, and had been sent back
to England to prepare for the enterprise which was already
on the anvil; three young priests from the English College,
and two laymen, who thought to take a leading part in
the association, accompanied the fathers from Rome.
Finally, there were the two fathers, with Ralph Emerson,
a lay-brother; and thus all ranks in the Church—priests,
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both secular and regular, and laymen—had their share
in this great spiritual enterprise.

It would have been well for English Catholicism if
there had not been another enterprise in hand, of a very
different character, but aiming at the same object,—the
reduction of the British islands to the obedience of the
Pope. Unfortunately there is a perfectly overwhelming
mass of evidence to show that the proviso “rebus sic
stantibus” in the mitigation of the Bull was introduced
with an intention too plain to be misconstrued. I have
already quoted a letter from Dr. Sanders to Dr. Allen, in
which he tells of the Pope being ready to give 2000 men
for an expedition into Ireland.™ While Allen was at
Rome, the Roman government organised this force, and
the expedition must have sailed soon after the missionaries
started from Rome, since it reached Ireland about the
same time that Parsons and Campion were entering
England. The expedition, and the part that the Roman
government took in it, was no secret to the diplomatic
body of Europe; Corrado, the Venetian ambassador at
Rome, related to his government on his return in 1581
how the Pope spent 230,000 scudi upon it, and an account
of an Irish agent of the Vatican, announcing the safe
arrival of the “five great ships full of soldiers and
munitions of war, sent by the Holy See,” has been
published by Theiner.!® Further, a brief of Gregory
XIIL, dated May 13, 1580, and doubtless intended to be
distributed in Ireland by Dr. Sanders and the leaders of the
expedition, gives plenary indulgence, such as was given to
Crusaders, to all who join John Geraldine or his brother
James, or help them “with counsel, favour, supplies, arms,
or in any other way,” as may be seen in O’Sullivan’s
History, chap. 17. The English government was as well
informed as any other, as is evident from the French
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ambassador’s despatches from London, giving an account
of the whole expedition, and of its disgraceful failure, It
was commanded by an Italian, San Giuseppe, and Dr.
Sanders was attached to it; and afterwards, whenever a
priest was captured in England, he was asked what he
thought of the conduct of the Pope and Sanders, and
generally condemned to die if he refused to qualify it;
and at the time of Campion’s trial the attorney-general
cynically observed that the Jesuits had arrived here “as it
seemeth of purpose to answer the doings of those rebels
there” in Ireland.

The policy ot combining these two expeditions is hard
either to be justified or to be understood. But I will
venture a few remarks on the subject. First, the distinction
between the temporal sovereignty of the Pope over his
own states, his temporal supremacy over other princes,
and his spiritual power over the whole Church, was not
in those days accurately drawn; law had not yet alto-
gether superseded force, and divines like Stapleton still
held that it was part of the Pope’s duty to put down
heretical princes by the same violent methods that one
prince might employ against another. Next, the distinc-
tion that was made between the Papal treatment of
Ireland and that of England corresponded to the difference
of the Papal rights to the two islands respectively. The
Pope had been the acknowledged donor of Ireland to the
English crown; his suzerain rights had always been more
or less acknowledged, whereas his feudal superiority over
England, though admitted by King John, had been always
indignantly denied by the people and the other kings.
He, therefore, had a right to interfere in Ireland with
higher hand than he could use in England. It must be
remembered that the Pope had long since committed
himself in Ireland by theaid and encouragement he had
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given to James Geraldine, the father of the leaders of
the Irish insurgents in 1580, who had lost his life in the
Papal cause. Such forcible attempts had been made in
England, and had failed, and there was no present
prospect of renewing them. England then could only be
assailed by spiritual weapons. And it was hoped that
the Pope would for the present be considered as only a
spiritual person in his relations with England, though he
was behaving as a temporal belligerent in Ireland,—much
as the Emperor of China, was lately at peace with us at
Pekin, and at war in Canton. At the trial of the Duke of
Norfolk in 1572 the judges laid it down that “the Queen
of England might wage war with any Duke of France,
and yet at the same time be at peace with the French
King.” (Camden, in Kennett ii. 439.) Perhaps also the
Italians thought they could conceal the intricacies of their
policy from the blear eyes of the Northern barbarians.
It is strange to see how often the acute and subtle
countrymen of Machiavelli fail through not giving credit
to others for equal acuteness, and through believing that
others will be caught in a web of sophistry that Italians
can disentangle with ease. It is not difficult to understand
into what a false position the Jesuits and the other mis-
sionaries were thrown by the Irish expedition, and how
entirely they were compromised ; imposed upon themselves,
it was their mission to impose upon others likewise, and
to make believe that the Bull was so modified as to
render the relations between Pope and Queen compatible
with the continual allegiance of Catholics. Yet, after all,
the famous mitigation amounted in reality to no more
than an ill-conceived attempt to pretend to be at peace
with the queen in England, while open war was being
made upon her in Ireland. And yet there can be no
doubt that this double dealing was a strictly logical result
L
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‘of the attempt to guarantee the Pope’s spiritual power
through his temporal power, or that the persevering
attempt to preserve the temporal rights over Ireland
which the Popes held in trust, most materially interfered
with the independence of their spiritual power in England,
and disappointed the well-founded hopes of reducing our
country to the faith, It is scarcely possible to say this
in stronger words than it is said by Parsons himself in
his Ms. life of Campion. He thus describes the dismay
with which he first heard of the expedition from Dr.
Allen at Rheims, just before he and Campion crossed
over into England:

“Dr. Allen also told us that he had heard from Spain that
Dr. Sanders was just gone into Ireland, by the Nuncio Mgr.
Sega’s orders, to comfort and assist the Earl of Desmond,
Viscount Ballinglas, and others that had taken arms in defence
of their religion, and had asked the Pope’s help, counsel, and
comfort in that cause. Though it belonged not to us to mislike
this journey of Dr. Sanders, because it was made by order of
his superiors, yet were we heartily sorry, partly because we
feared that which really happened, the destruction of so rare
and worthy a man, and partly because we plainly foresaw that
this would be laid against us and other priests, if we should
be taken in England, as though we had been privy or par-
takers thereof, as in very truth we were not, nor ever heard
or suspected the same until this day. But as we could not
remedy the matter, and as our consciences were clear, we
resolved through evil report or good report to go on with the
purely spiritual action we had in hand; and if God destined
any of us to suffer under a wrong title, it was only what He
had done, and would be no loss to us, but rather gain, in His
eyes who knew the truth, and for whose sake alone we had
undertaken this enterprise.”

The papers that relate to the mission of 1580 reveal
another difficulty that was occasioned by the intimate
union between the temporal and spiritual grandeur of the
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Church, and by the feudal state with which it was
considered necessary to surround. her prelates. I have
already related how Bishop Goldwell was at the head of
the mission; he failed to penetrate into England, and no
other Bishop was sent in his place. After nearly thirty
years the ordinary jurisdiction over England was conferred
on an archpriest, and in the lamentable disorders that
followed, the Jesuits, and especially Father Parsons, were
accused of having by their intrigues prevented the
appointment of Bishops, in order to keep the management
of affairs in their own hands. This accusation is scarcely
fair; we have seen that one of the objections to sending
the Jesuits at all was the absence of episcopal authority
in England, and that they were not sent till a Bishop
was sent with them. It was not their fault that Goldwell
was taken ill at Rheims, and that “before he recovered,
the persecution in England had grown to be so rigorous
that it seemed not good to the Pope to adventure a
man of that age and dignity to so turbulent a time, and
so called him back to Rome, where he lived in the love
of all men and in universal opinion of sanctity till his
death in 1584.”" It was not the Jesuits’ fault that
Watson, the Bishop of Lincoln, was kept so close in
Wisbeach Castle, till his death in 1584, that he could
perform no episcopal duties. The Jesuits had no sooner
arrived in England than they began to beg for Bishops.
In September, 1580, Parsons wrote, “There is immense
want of a Bishop to consecrate the holy oils, for want
of which we are brought to the greatest straits, and unless
his Holiness makes haste to help us in this matter we
shall be at our wits’ end.”™ Again, in 1591, he renewed
his request, and got Sarmientos, the Bishop of Jaen, to
promise him a competent support for two or three
Bishops.”® In 1597 he again presented a memorial to
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the Pope and Cardinals, praying for the appointment of
two Bishops #n partibus;'® but soon afterwards, finding
the objections at Rome insurmountable, he changed his
plan, and asked for the appointment of an archpriest.

The real reason why no substitute was provided for
Goldwell was, as Parsons says, because the Pope did not
like to adventure the episcopal dignity in such turbulent
times. That this was the received theory at Rome is
proved by the pamphlet of *“Franciscus Romulus”
(supposed to be Bellarmine) on the Papal duty of de-
throning evil princes, published at Rome in 1588, The
writer feels it necessary to apologise for the primitive
Bishops not dethroning princes; “for those were times,”
he says, “when it behoved Bishops rather to be ready for
martyrdom than for coercing kings.” This announcement
drew down a storm of reproaches; “what then, are these
times when Bishops must be men of war and not martyrs?
Is it not the strength of the Reformation that our Bishops
are more ready to kill than to be killed, that they think
heresy can be better exterminated with the bodies of
heretics than wiped out of their minds by argument and
good example? Is not the rebellion more against the
wealth, the secular power, the pride of the clergy, than against
the doctrines of the Church?” Bellarmine knew all this,
and did not intend to deny it, but his opponents took
occasion by his words to argue against an idea that was
supposed to be powerful at the Vatican.

And that this supposition was not unfounded is clear
from the following letter, written from Rheims to the Pope
by Goldwell, July 13, 1580, who had been “a month
cured of his fever, and yet not well either in mind or
body, but waiting for the decision of his Holiness.”

¢ BEATISSIMO PADRE,—If I could have crossed over into
England before my comi‘ng was known there, as I hoped to
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do, I think that my going thither would have been a comfort
to the Catholics, and a satisfaction to your Holiness; whereas
now I fear the contrary, for there are so many spies in this
kingdom, and my long tarrying here has made my going to
England so bruited there, that now I doubt it will be difficult
for me to enter that kingdom without some danger. Never-
theless, if your Holiness thinks differently, I will make the
trial, though it should cost me my life. Still it would be
impossible for me alone to supply the wants of the Catholics,
who are more by many thousands than I thought, and scattered
over the whole kingdom. The most that I can hope to do
is to supply for the city of London and some miles round.
And therefore, in my ignorance, I cannot but marvel how it
is that, after God has given your Holiness grace, as it were,
to plant anew and support the Catholic faith in that kingdom,
you make so many difficulties about creating three or four
titular Bishops to preserve and propagate it,—a thing that
might be done with as little expense as your Holiness pleases;
for God has so inclined the minds of the priests to spend
their lives in promoting the reduction of that kingdom to the
Catholic faith, that, after being made Bishops, they would be
contented to live as poorly as they do now, like the Bishops
of the primitive Church. God inspire your Holiness to do
that which shall be most to His honour, and prosper you many
years. I humbly kiss your feet.—Your Holiness’s most devoted
servant, THE BisHop OF ST. AsapH.”'%7

After this it will be impossible to doubt from what
quarters the difficulties about sending Bishops to England
originally proceeded. It may be that the Jesuits, after
enjoying for twenty years the consequence that accrued
to them through the absence of Bishops, preferred another
arrangement; but they had always asked for Bishops, and
their request had been refused, because feudal power and
ecclesiastical authority had become so mixed up together
in men’s minds, that they feared the scandal of a poor
Bishop, hiding from his pursuers, disguised like a soldier,
mariner, or serving-man, living in garrets, inns, woods,
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caves, or barns, wandering over the land, and at last
dying ignominiously on the gallows. It would have been
easy enough to find men contented to live in apostolic
poverty, but it was impossible to get them consecrated
under such conditions. Etiquette and routine prevailed,
and the Church in England was left without Bishops till
the factions had grown so furious among the clergy that
the measure which might have been a successful preven-
tive was not strong enough to be an adequate cure.
Father Parsons, Campion’s superior in the mission,
was his junior in age and in religion; but he had talents
better suited for administration and management. Inferior
in eloquence, and in enthusiastic simplicity of purpose, he
had a deeper knowledge of men and things, greater
versatility, a finer and subtler policy, and as strong a will.
He was also notus Pontifici; and the regulations of the
society say, “those who are sent on missions should be
exceedingly well-known to the superior.” Parsons had
always lived in the metropolis, Campion had been buried
in a distant province. It is, perhaps, one ofthe inconve-
niences of any centralised system, that it tends to give the
advantage to showy talent known at headquarters over
deeper merit obscured by distance. Both Parsons and
Campion were doubtless “well proved, especially in
obedience,” and “ready to go any where without excusing
themselves,” though Campion had practised the more
complete abnegation of will. They were furnished with
the instructions from which I have already quoted, which
descended to particulars about things and persons in a
way that must have given a very diplomatic air to those
who implicitly followed such orders. The rule prescribed
that the missionaries should be at least two, and that for
a very fervent and courageous man a cooler and more
circumspect companion should be chosen ; in this expedition




Parsons and Campion. 151

the prudence was Parsons’, the zeal was Campion’s. Simple
as a child, he knew he was marching to his death; still
he affected no more courage than he felt, but owned and
made a joke of his fears. The flesh was weak, but the
will was strong, and though the body trembled and the
teeth chattered, in the depths of his soul he loved the
danger that he contemplated so clearly, and deliberately
courted the self-sacrifice. To apply his own words about
St. Wenceslaus to himself, “Quid faciat? Eat? Matrem,
qualem illam cunque, matrem tamen oppugnabit. Non
eat? amabit tyrannidem, prodet innocentes, Christum
deseret. Vicerunt piorum lacryms, bonitas cause, periculi
magnitudo.” Every thing, he thought, should be risked
rather than the salvation of a single soul. Parsons was
a man of more animal courage, but he did not obtain the
grace of martyrdom. Finis coronat opus, and martyrdom is
generally the seal of merit.

Campion, as I said, reached Rome April 5, 1580,
There *“the youth of the English College wished to have
him with them for one or two days, and to hear him
preach;” and five of them accompanied him to England.
He remained till April 18th; on that day Robert Owen,
a Welsh exile for the faith, wrote to Dr. Humphrey Ely
at Rheims a letter which fell into the hands of Walsingham’s
agents, and conveyed the first intelligence of the mission
to the English government.™® “My Lord of St. Asaph
and Mr. Dr. Morton are gone hence, some say to Venice,
some to Flanders, and so further, which if it be true you
shall know sooner than we here. God send them well
to do whithersoever they go, and specially if they be gone
to the harvest. The sale that Mr. Dr. Morton made of
all his things maketh many think gwod non habet animum
revertends. This day depart hence many of our countrymen
thitherward, and withal good Father Campion.” Another
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agent furnished Walsingham with a list of the English scholars
in Rome; the English gentlemen at Rome, Rheims, Paris,
and Douai; and of those that departed from Rome, April
18, with Edmund Campion and John (Robert) Parsons.
These were Ralph Sherwin, who had been leader of the
movement of the English scholars against Maurice Clennock
and the Welshmen, Luke Kirby and Edward Rishton,
priests and Thomas Bruscoe and John Pascal, lay-students,
the firstfruits of the recently erected English college, the
four Marian priests of the hospital whom I have named
above, Ralph Emerson, a Jesuit lay-brother, and another
not named. They were accompanied by Sir Richard
Shelly, the English Prior of Malta, and almost all the
Englishmen then in Rome, and by Father Oliverius
Manareus and other Jesuits sent by the General, as far
as the Ponte Molle, where there was a solemn and
affectionate farewell, which, as described by the biographers,
was not very consistent with the mystery and secrecy
sought to be thrown round the mission,

Goldwell and Morton had ridden on before; our
pilgrims followed on foot. Parsons managed every
thing. “It was thought convenient,” he writes, “‘that
each priest should change his long apparel, both for better
travelling afoot, as also not so easily to be discerned in
Germany and some other places of Protestants, where
priests are little favoured. And when some new apparel
was oftered to Campion, he would in no wise take it, but
only covered himself with certain old buckram under an
old cloak, and passed with that attire throughout his
whole journey;” “for he said, that to him that went to
be hanged in England any apparel was sufficient.”” *“And
to prove the blessed man the more, God sent continual
rain for the first eight or ten days after our leaving Rome,
so as from morning to night he travelled in the wet with
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that evil apparel, and oftentimes stuck so fast in the mire
in those deep and foul ways that he was scarce able to
get out again.” There were a few horses among them for
the use of the old and sick, but Campion never rode but
once, when he was suffering from ague and diarrhcea.
It was ordered also that every man should take a new
name, to escape the chance spies by the way, who would
discover each man in particular to the Council. They
wanted to call Campion Petre; but he, remembering how
well he had escaped from Ireland under St. Patrick’s
patronage, would take no other name but his old one
of Patrick. * Albeit,” says Parsons, “when we came to
St. Omer’s, and were to enter into England, we persuaded
him to take some other English name, lest the other,
being Irish, might bring him in question; for Ireland at
that time was noised to be in trouble by the arrival of
Dr. Sanders with some soldiers from the Pope for the
assistance of certain Catholic noblemen in arms for their
religion, as they said.”

It was Campion’s custom on this journey to say Mass
very early every morning, and then, after reciting the
Itinerarium with the rest, to push on about a mile ahead
of the company, to meditate for a few hours, read his
breviary, and recite the litanies of the saints, when he
would lag to allow the party to catch him up, and would
joke and chatter with them till it was time to push
forward again for his evening meditation and prayer. At
Bologna they were obliged to stay some days, by an
accident to Parsons’ leg. They had brought a letter from
Agazzari, the Rector of the English College, to Cardinal
Paleotto, the Archbishop, who received them hospitably.!®
This prelate enforced a monastic discipline in his palace.
At dinner, after the usual reading, questions were proposed,
and discussion often passed into discourse. Campion and
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Sherwin were both encouraged to speak. “Campion’s
discourse,” says Parsons, “was very pithy, and fit for
the place and time. He began with Cicero’s quotation
from Pythagoras, who, perceiving by the light of nature
man’s difficulty to good, and proneness to vice, said, that
the way of virtue was hard and laborious, but yet not
void of delectation, and much more to be embraced than
the other, which was easy. Which Father Campion ap-
plying to a Christian life, showed very aptly both the
labours and delights thereof, and that the saying of
Pythagoras was much more verifiable in the same than
in the life of any heathen philosopher, for that the la-
bours were greater, the helps more potent, the end more
high, and the reward more excellent. Whereby also in
fine he came to declare the nature and quality of the
journey and enterprise which his fellows had in hand,
and greatly to encourage them in the same.” The rest
at Bologna gave Campion time to write to one of his
friends at Prague. Here is a translation of his letter:

“This is an answer to your two letters, one of which I
received as I was leaving Munich, the other when I had reached
Rome. What you tell me for my salvation, I accept as the
command of God. Only do not think that your care of meis
ended while I live. You must not wonder that when I wrote
from Munich I did not say a word about your letter, for it
was delivered to me after I had folded mine, and had left it
with the Rector of the College. I see you had not read it
even when you wrote your second letter to me; you must
therefore speak to Father Ferdinand, and give him my dutiful
salutation, With respect to the Amébrosian (his tragedy) which
you ask me about in your other letter, you must know, my
Father, that it was not given back to me after your return from
Vienna: but that I saw it in your chamber, where I doubtnot
but it still lies in some corner, unless it isin somebody’s hands,
who borrowed it of you when you were engaged, so that you
have forgotten about it. If it is acted again, I pray you let it
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be made more comprehensible. I submit it to the censure of
a practised man, such as Father Nicolas; I remembered him
in the Holy House at Loreto, and I read the poem which he
hung up. I accept with joy Father Urban’s bargain; I expected
nothing so little as a letter from him, whom in my journey I
had often recommended to God as dead; now at last I learn
there was a mistake in the person, on account of his having
the same name as the one who lately died at Fulda. So I am
excessively glad that such a pious agreement exists between
Father Ziphelin and me. I have a similar agreement with
Fathers Aquensis, Gabriel, Stephen of Dalmatia, and Troger,
jointly and severally. Now they can be of great service to me
in the midst of my infinite perils, I am now at Bologna, on
my return from Rome, and on the way to my warfare in
England. Whatever becomes of me, our posterity survives. You
would hardly believe me if I told you what comfort I feel when
I think of them. If they were not Englishmen I would say
more about them. In this expedition there are two Fathers of
the Society, Robert Parsons and myself, seven other priests, and
three laymen, one of whom is also of us. I see them all so
prodigal of blood and life, that I am ashamed of my back-
wardness. I hope to be with Allen, at Rheims, in the begin-
ning of June. We all travel at the Pope’s cost. Though we
should fall at the first onset, yet our army is full of fresh
recruits, by whose victory our ghosts will be pacified. But let
us come Uorepov mpérapov to the journey to Rome. I drove in
the carriage of Prince Ferdinand as far as Innsbruch, thence
I walked to Padua. There, as I was about to bestow what
money I had left, according to your directions, I was
suddenly told to make haste to Rome. We mounted our
horses, for I had stumbled on another Father by the way.
Though 1 had so much money left at first, yet in a few
days I should have had nothing to pay my bills, except
my companion had had plenty. I made use of God's pro-
vidence, and your liberality, as you told me. Indeed I was
liberal enough to spend more than the whole. At PaduaIwas
shown about by young Matthias Melchiorius, who scarcely left
my side; he has the best dispositions towards the Society, and
is of excellent report. Here I am reminded of my pupils, and
of our companions, whom I often think of. There are so many
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to whom I wished to write severally, and I was so overwhelm-
ed with their number and with my other business, that I have
hitherto written to none of them. I am tired when I reach our
colleges; in the inns I can scarcely breathe. I was at Rome
about eight days, cramped for time, more than during all the
rest of my journey. I must ask them therefore, and especially
my fathers and brothers of Prague, to pardon what I cannot
help. The rest I reserve for a fourth letter. I shall be very
glad if I find one from you before I pass over into England.
You may send to Rheims, Paris, or Douai, for I suppose that
I shall visit these places. But, anyhow, if they are sent to
Allen, they will be delivered to me. In uncertainty whether
we shall ever see one another again, I write my will, and I
leave to you and all of them the kiss of charity and the bond
of peace. Farewell. Bologna, the last of April, 1580.

Reverend Father, again and again, and for ever, farewell.”!'?

Before leaving Rome, our pilgrims had doubtless ori-
ginated the custom of the English missionaries going to
St. Philip Neri, ere they set out for the scene of their
passion, that the full zeal and love pent up in that burn-
ing breast might find a vent and flow over from him
who was kept at home upon those who were to face the
foe. “Therefore,” says Dr. Newman, “one by one, each
in his turn, those youthful soldiers came to the old man,
and one by one they persevered and gained the crown
and the palm—all but one, who had not gone and would
not go for the salutary blessing.” I don’t know whether
John Pascal was in this case; he, I think, was the only
one of this company that fell. He was a layman, a
great favourite of the Pope, an agreeable companion, and
a pupil of Sherwin; after his fall it was remembered of
him that he had shown great defect of character in his
behaviour to the Pope, whose generosity and kindness he
recieved with too great familiarity. Bombinus says this
was pride,— *for the same arrogance which covets distinc-
tions above one’s sphere, makes light of them when gained.”
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Johnson, perhaps, would have called it servility, one of
the basest features of which is to suffer one’s liberty in
the presence of great men to aggrandise him in his own
esteem: a favourite may be saucy; but he is saucy only
because he is servile.

They had left one Saint at Rome, they were to find
another at Milan. St. Charles Borromeo received our
pilgrims into his house, and kept them there for eight
days. He made Sherwin preach before him, and he made
Campion discourse every day after dinner. *“He had,”
says Parsons, *“sundry learned and most godly speeches
with us, tending to the contempt of this world, and perfect
zeal of Christ’s service, whereof we saw so rare an example
in himself and his austere and laborious life; being nothing
in effect but skin and bone, through continual pains, fasting,
and penance; so that without saying a word, he preached
to us sufficiently, and we departed from him greatly
edified and exceedingly animated.” St. Charles always
showed a partiality for the English exiles. Owen Lewis,
the Bishop of Cassano, had been his vicar-general, and
William Giftard, afterwards Archbishop of Rheims, his
chaplain. After our pilgrims’ visit he wrote to Agazzari,
the president: “I saw and willingly received those English
who departed hence the other day, as their goodness
deserved, and the cause for which they had undertaken
that voyage. If, in future, your Reverence shall send any
others to me, be assured that I will take care to receive
them with all charity and that it will be most pleasing
to me to have occasion to perform the duties of hospi-
tality, so proper for a Bishop, towards the Catholics of
that nation. Milan, the last of June, 1580,

From Milan our party went to Turin, and entered
the Alps at Mount Cenis, “all in health, and apt for travel,”
and after sundry long marches, arrived at St. Jean de
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Maurienne, in Savoy, where they encountered many
troops of Spanish soldiers, who were marching from Flanders
to Milan, on occasion of the truce between Don John of
Austria and the States-General of Holland. Our priests
were thereby somewhat distressed for necessary lodging
and provision for man and horse. At Aiguebelle they
met with another “rout” of the army, and learned
besides that the road by Lyons was blocked up and
imperilled by the insurrection of the peasants of Dauphiné;
and so, after deliberation, they resolved to pass by Geneva
in spite of the difficulties that might arise from the
difference in religion; for it was a free city, and the laws
of the Swiss cantons permitted travellers, whether Catholics
or not, to pass that way, and stay for three days, which
was a longer delay than they meant to make. Most of
the company also desired to see Theodore Beza, of whom
they had heard so much in England, where his fame was
greater than in any other Calvinist country, much greater
than it was then in Geneva itself. Some of them jested
merrily at the suggestion that perhaps the magistrates of
the city, who were in confederacy with Elizabeth, might
detain them, or send them prisoners to England, by way
of the Rhine, at the instance of Beza or the English
residents. But they concluded, that if God would have
them taken, He would find means; and to them it was
all one whether they were captured in Geneva or in
England.

There remained yet another little consultation, whether
they should confess to the magistrates what religion they
professed, and whither they were bound, or only tell them
as much as they were obliged; but it was quickly resolved
unanimously to declare clearly that they were Catholics,
and to begin their confession in the city where the sect
of Calvin was first hatched. Nevertheless, before they
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arrived near that “sink of heresy” every man disguised
himself, and Campion * dissembled his personage in form
of a poor Irishman, and waited on Mr. Pascal.” The
mere remembrance of how naturally he played his part
was a continual source of merriment to Sherwin. Thus
disfigured they came to the gates of Geneva; Campion
and Sherwin were two of the first to enter; the soldiers,
who where keeping great watch and ward for fear of the
Spanish bands passing through the country, asked whence
they were, and whither they went; after answer was made
the captain told one of his men to conduct them to be
examined by the magistrates, who were in session with
certain ministers in the open market-place. They were
again asked whence they came, and whither they travelled,
and why they passed not the ordinary way. They replied:
“To avoid the Spaniards, and the ‘Dolphinates’ who were
up in arms.” Then they were asked what countrymen
they were,—*“Some English, some brought up in Ireland,”
was the reply; and Campion was introduced as Mr. Patrick.
“Are you of our religion?” “No,” said Pascal. “From
the first to the last of us we are all Catholics,” said
Bruscoe boldly. “So are we too,” said the magistrates,
“Yea, but,” said Sherwin, who only now came up, “we
are all Roman Catholics.” “Of that we marvel:” said the
magistrates, “for your Queen and all her realm are of
our religion.” “As for our Queen,” answered one,—Parsons
does not remember whether it was Campion,—* we cannot
tell whether she is of your religion or no, considering
the variety of opinions that this age has brought forth;
but sure we are she is not of ours. Though for the
realm, you must understand that al are not of her
religion, nor of yours; but many be good Christian
Catholics, and do suffer both losses at home and banish-
ment abroad for the same, of which number are we, who
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have lived divers years in Italy, and are going now
towards the English Seminary in Rheims, but are obliged
to pass by Geneva to avoid the Spanish soldiers and
Dauphinese insurgents.” Then the magistrates promised
them free and courteous entertainment according to the
laws of the country; and seeing them all so resolute,
they questioned them no more about religion, but only
about the Spaniards, of whom they could give but very
small advices. So a soldier was ordered to guide them
to their inn, a very fair one, bearing the sign of the
city, and willed that they should be very well used for
their money—as they were. This was about 11 o’clock
in the forenoon. As they were being examined, they
saw the long-bearded ministers of Geneva lookingat them
from the windows and laughing. “But if we might have
had our wills,” says Sherwin, “we would have made them
to have wept Irish.” As they were passing through the
streets of the city, some one said, “They are all priests;”
others, “They are all monks;” and one, seeing Campion
dressed like a servant, thought either to discover him or
to chaft him, by asking in Latin, “Cujas es?”’ (“ Whose
man are you?”) Campion had his wits about him, and
answered sharply, “Signor, no!” The fellow was taken
aback, and asked, *“Potesne loqui latine?” no doubt mis-
taking the Italian for Latin; and Campion answered with
*a shrink with his shoulder, and so staked off the
knave.”

After dinner, forthwith, Father Parsons, Pascal, with
his man Patrick dressed in an old suit of black buckram,
Sherwin, Rishton, and Kirby, sallied forth to visit Beza,
and, if possible, to have some speech with him, either
about the Catholic religion, or about the controversy
between the Protestants and Puritans, as he was reckoned
one of the chief writers in it. When they knocked at the
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door, his wife Candida,” of whom they had read so much,
and who had been the tailor’s wife at Paris, came and
opened the door, and let them into a little court, where
she told them to stay, as Monsieur Beza was busy in
his study, and would come forth to them, which itseems
he did with the worse will, as he had been informed
about them by the magistrates. However, when he came
forth in his long black gown and round cap, with ruffs
about his neck, and his fair long beard, he saluted them
courteously, but did not invite them into his house, or to
sit down, but remained on foot, and asked them what
they would have. They told him, that being scholars,
and passing by Geneva, they could do no less than come
to see him, for the fame that they had heard in England
of his name: he answered, that he understood it was far
greater than he deserved; that he loved all Englishmen
heartily, but was sorry to hear his visitors were not of
the religion of their country. They answered that their
country was large, and held more sorts than one; that
they kept to the religion to which it was first converted
from paganism, but if he could show more weighty
reasons to the contrary than they had yet heard or read,
they would be content to hear him. Father Parsons then
asked how his Church was governed, and he replied, “By
equality in the ministry: there are nine of us, and every
one rules his week.” Then it was said that the English
had Bishops, and that the Queen was the head without
any interruption; he answered “shamefully” that he did
not know it to be so, and after some shuffling declared
that he did not approve of it; however, he said, the
difference is one of discipline only, not of doctrine; but
he could not proceed with the dispute, which would take
more time than he could spare, for he was busy, having

just received some packets of letters from France about
M
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the Duke of Guise and his practices against the professors
of the Gospel, of which he told tales that they afterwards
found quite untrue; and thus drew aside the talk from
religion to other subjects, and with this would have
broken off. But Campion (who in his serving-man’s attire
had all the while stood waiting with hat in hand “facing
out the old doting heretical fool,” says Sherwin) was
unwilling to let him escape thus, and broke forth: “Sir,
though I perceive you are much occupied and would be
gone, I pray you let me ask but this question: How do
you say that the Queen of England and you be of one
religion, seeing that you defend the religion of the Puri-
tans, which she so much abhorreth and persecuteth?”
Beza replied, with a slight shrug, “I know not what
‘Puritan’ means. The difference you speak of is none at
all in fact.” On this Campion offered to prove that the
differences were very important, and many, and essential,
even on such points as the Sacraments. Beza, fearing
from this exordium a long controversy, made a sign to
his wife, who interposed with another packet of letters;
on which he said that he could stay no longer, and
courteously took leave of them, promising to send to
their inn to visit them an English scholar of his, the son
and heir of Sir George Hastings, and next of kin to the
Earl of Huntingdon, the Puritan president of the north.
The youth, however, never came, but instead there came
his governor, Mr. Brown, very fervent in the religion of
Geneva, and with him Mr. Powell, a Protestant, but a
very civil gentleman, a young man of good parts, son of
one of the six clerks in Chancery, and M.A. of Corpus
Christi College, Oxford, where he had been acquainted
with Campion, and familiar with Parsons and Sherwin;
there came also three or four Englishmen more. Campion
was absent when they came, and as he was in such
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strange attire, it was thought advisable not to let them
see him. So Parsons and the rest walked about the town
with them, and had much familiar speech, which ended
in an invitation to supper; however, Powell and the rest
would not sup with them, but promised to come after-
wards. When they came, Parsons took Powell in hand,
and Sherwin, Kirby, and Rishton attacked Brown, with
whom they hotly disputed in the streets of Geneva almost
till midnight, sending to Beza through him a challenge
to a public controversy on any disputed point, with this
condition, that he that was justly convicted in the opinion
of indifferent judges should be burnt alive in the market-
place. Brown promised to convey the message; “but
God knoweth,” says Sherwin, “that he durst not perform
it, nor show himself to us any more.” Powell, on hearing
what had happened, told Parsons that- he knew the place
well, and was sure that if Brown told Beza or the ma-
gistrates of the challenge it might bring them into trouble;
they were within the municipal jurisdiction, and a reason
might easily be found for detaining them beyond the
three days allowed them by law, in which case it would
be hard to get any remedy. Parsons profited by this
sage and friendly advice, and made peace for that night,
resolving to leave the town early the next morning.
Powell offered to accompany them, but he was asked not
to bring the Puritan schoolmaster.

Early the next morning Powell came again and break-
fasted with them, using them lovingly, and brought them
out of the town on their way. All this while Campion
had played the serving-man, and not wishing to be re-
cognised by Powell, he and Bruscoe were sent forward
by themselves. On the top of a hill, about a mile out of
Geneva, on the road towards France, they met one of
the great ministers of Geneva, who seemed to be conning
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a sermon without book. Campion straightway buckled
with him, and asked, “How his Church was governed?”
The minister, who supposed Campion, as an Englishman,
to be Protestant, explained that it was governed by nine
ministers in their turns. “Then who is the chief head
of it?” asked Campion., “Christ,”” said the other. “But
has it no one certain supreme head or governor upon
earth under Christ?” %It needeth none.” “Why, then,”
said Campion, “how can you hold the religion of the
Queen of England to be true, when she calls herself head
and supreme governor of the Church?” “She doth not
call herself so,” said the minister. “Yes, but she doth,”
said Campion; “and he that shall deny her supremacy
in causes ecclesiastical in England must suffer death for it, for
it is treason by statute.” The minister, in a great chafe,—
“almost mad”—was going to deny again, when Campion,
seeing Powell and the rest approach, left him suddenly;
Parsons and Sherwin came up to the man, who seemed in
desperation, and told them that there was a fellow beyond
who held a strange opinion, and had mocked him about
his Church; upon which the whole company “fell upon
him, and shook up the poor shakerell before the soldiers
in the gate.” Campion looked back and saw that the
dispute was renewed: so, fearing misrepresentation, he
went back to tell what had been controverted, on which
Parsons and Powell, who was acquainted with the minister,
said that it was undeniable that the Queen was taken for
head of the Church, and that the first-fruits of all benefices
were paid to her, and that Parliament had transferred all
the Pope’s jurisdiction in England to her. The preacher
then suggested: “It may be she calleth herself supreme
head of the Church guia Regina est Christiana.” “ Ergo,”’
said Campion, “much more is the King of France head
of the Church, because he is called Rex Christianissimus.”
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“Nay,” said the minister, “I mean Catholica Christiana.”
“Ergo,” quoth Campion, “much more the King of Spain,
whose title is Rex Cathkolicus”” The minister was furious,
and declared that Campion was no Englishman but a
very Papist. But Powell, who had recognised Campion,
and saluted him with much affection, quieted the preacher
and sent him off, and walked on a mile or more with
them, promising to study Catholic books and to visit
Rome, and then returned: but they looked back from
the top of a hill upon the miserable city, and said a 7¢
Deum for their escape from it: and for penance for their
curiosity the whole company made a pilgrimage to St.
Clodoveus, in France, about eight or nine miles off, over
difficult paths, and afterwards went stoutly on their
journey till Whit Monday, when eight of them fell sick
in one night; so they had to travel to Rheims by short
stages, and all but Kemp reached that city the last day
of May, having spent nearly six weeks on the journey.




CHAPTER VL

WHEN our pilgrims came to Rheims, they were received
with the greatest joy by all those confessors and servants
of God that lived there. Campion was specially wel-
comed by Allen and the rest, for old acquaintance’ sake:
they had not seen him for eight years or more, so there
was no end to their embracing and welcoming the good
man; and besides, he and his companions were already
looked upon as martyrs. Even from a distance, at Rome,
it had seemed no easy thing to get into England without
discovery; but fresh difficulties had grown up daily, and
at Rheims the missionaries were told of a new procla-
mation, in which Elizabeth declared that she had notice
of the Pope, the King of Spain, the Duke of Florence,
and other Catholic princes having made a league against
her to invade her realm, at the persuasion of some of
her subjects who lived beyond sea. This was easily seen
to be a plain preface and introduction to the rigour of
persecution which awaited all priests who should convey
themselves into the country. Here also they heard of
the unfortunate expedition into Ireland, to which, as we
have seen, may be attributed much of the severity with
which they were to be treated.

Campion, therefore, feeling that the case was some-
what altered, and that there was now less chance of
success in the undertaking, went to Allen, and said,
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“ Well, sir, here now I am; you have desired my going
to England, and I am come a long journey, as you
see,—from Prague to Rome, and from Rome hither. Do
you think that my labours in England will countervail
all this travail, as well as my absence from Bohemia,
where, though I did not much, yet I. was not idle nor
unemployed, and that also against heretics?”” The presi-
dent answered, “My good father, your labours in Boeme-
land, though I do not doubt but they were very profit-
able, yet do I imagine that another man of your Society
may supply the same, or at least two or three. But
towards England I verily hope that Almighty God will
give you strength and grace to supply for many men;
and seeing that your obligation is greater towards yo]ur
own country than towards any other, and the necessity
of help more urgent, and the talents that God hath given
you more fit and proper for that than for any other
land, doubt you not but that all is Christ’s holy provi-
dence for the best; and so be you of good comfort.”
“As for me,” said Campion, “all is one; and I hope I
‘am and shall be ever indifferent for all nations and
functions whereinsoever my superiors under God shall
employ me. I have made a free oblation of myself to
His Divine Majesty, both for life and death, and that I
hope He will give me grace and force to perform; and
this is all I desire.”

Campion was glad of an opportunity to preach to the
students, for he had not spoken publicly in English for
many years. He preached on the text, [gnem veni mittere
in terram, and Parsons remembered one principal point
which he handled,—*“to compare the new religion of
England to a fire, which, being once kindled in any one
house of a city, obliges all men, as well friends as enemies
of the owner, to run to quench it. And to show the
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truth of this comparison, he repeated briefly the hurts
that this fire had already done in our country: how many
goodly churches, monasteries, and other monuments of
piety it had devoured in an instant, which our Catholic
forefathers had set up in so many hundred years; how
many holy orders of religious of both sexes it had dissolved ;
how many hearts of weak people it had inflamed to
marry or live in incest, that had before served God either
in virginity or chastity; what devilish division and heat
of hatred it had enkindled in the hearts of Englishmen,
even amongst those that by nature should be most loving:
and having shus showed the fury of the fire, he exhorted
his fellow-priests and all the company present to put their
helping hands and endeavours to the staying or quenching
of the same. And if the water of Catholic doctrine
would not serve, nor milk of sweet and holy conversation,
they should: cast blood also of potent martyrdom, which,
it might be hoped, would be accepted for the quenching
thereof.” While he was describing the outbreak of the
conflagration, Bombinus tells us that he cried out “fire,
fire, fire,” so loud, that the passers-by were going to
fetch the water-buckets to put it out. Allen, who heard
him, wrote to Rome a few days afterwards,—*“ Whether
he was inspired by his subject, or whether it was a
miracle of memory, he spoke English as fluently and as
correctly as if he had but yesterday come fresh out of
England.”

Before the missionaries departed for England, the
places of Bishop Goldwell and Dr. Morton, who were
obliged to stay behind, were filled up by two priests of
Rheims, Dr. Ely and Mr. John Hart.  They were also
joined by Father Thomas Cottam, an English Jesuit, who
had been long labouring in Poland, and who was only
ordered to go to his native country for the recovery of
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his health. They wisely determined not to risk their whole
adventure in one boat, but to divide themselves into
small parties, and to reach England by different roads.
Dr. Bromburg and Mr. Bruscoe went by Dieppe; Sherwin
led his pupil Pascal round by Rouen, where he found
young Edward Throckmorton, by whom he wrote an
affectionate letter to his old master at Rome, begging
Father Alphonsus to accept Throckmorton in his place.
It was a fair exchange. Sherwin died a martyr with
Campion in England; Throckmorton died after a few
years in the odour of sanctity at the English college in
Rome. Giblet, Crane, and Kemp went by Abbeville and
Boulogne; Dr. Ely, Rishton, Kirby, Hart, and Cottam
went by Douai and Dunkirk; lastly, Campion, Parsons,
and Ralph Emerson went, on the 6th of June, to St. Omer,
where there was a fair college of the order. They had
to travel through “a country filled with soldiers ot
divers sorts and conditions, but all perilous to one
who should fall into their hands; but their lot was
cast, and they depended on the Master and Commander
of all, who led them through without hurt, stay, or
trouble.” When they reached the residence at St. Omer,
the Flemish fathers thought their safe coming thither
to be miraculous, and tried to dissuade them from car-
rying out their undertaking any further. It would be
tempting Providence to dare such an accumulation of
new dangers. The Queen and Council, they were told,
had been informed divers ways of their coming, and were
much exasperated. Several spies, who knew all their
names, who had lived with them in Rome, and could
describe their persons and habit, had given particular
information to the Council, who in turn had given it to
the searchers and officers of all the ports; so that it was
impossible to enter without being taken. Nay, their very
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pictures had been taken and sent to the officers, to help
in identifying them.

These rumours had been spread by the English
Catholic exiles who lived at St. Omer, Among these
was one wiser than the rest, Mr. George Chamberlain, a
gentleman of a very worshipful house, in banishment for
his conscience, who had married a Flemish lady. As a
discreet and well-qualified person, he was consulted on
the matter, and said that such reports had certainly
come from England, and were like enough to be true in
general, though he did not believe all the particulars.
He did not think that the Council could have found out
so much in so little time; yet it would be wise to
deliberate well before setting out on such a journey.
Parsons and Campion replied that the journey itself was
long ago deliberated and determined, and offered to God;
so there could be no new deliberation on it, but only
about the manner, way, place, and time of effecting it.
On this they asked Chamberlain’s advice, and begged
him to declare it in the presence of the fathers of St. Omer,
and to hear the reasons on the other side, so that the journey
might be prosecuted with the good liking and approbation of
all, without waiting for a new crop of difficulties and perils.

So Chamberlain went with them to the College, where
Parsons and Campion expounded their commission and
desires, and the reasons for their haste: they said that
the dangers, granting them to be as great as was reported,
would only grow greater daily; that it did not matter
if the Council knew their names, for they had license to
change them and their apparel, which they would take
care to make very different from the habits in which the
spies had seen them; that many men were like each
other, and the informers could scarcely have so exact a
knowledge of their persons as to identify them under all
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disguises; that the story about the pictures was impos-
sible,—the spies had not procured them in Rome, had
scarcely been able to find limners in England to paint
them from description, and had not had time to make
so many copies. So the Flemish fathers were asked to
commend the matter to God, and let the missionaries go
forward; for this, they were persuaded, was God's will,
and the meaning of their superiors in Rome.

Parsons’ object,—which was, I suppose, to secure the
acquiescence of Chamberlain as a representative of the
Society, and thus to provide by anticipation an answer
to probable charges of rashness and want of consideration
for the interests of others,—was attained when Cham-
berlain and the fathers professed themselves contented
with his reasons, and proceeded to advise with him on
the manner of their going. The result of their consult-
ation was, that Parsons was to go by himself through
Calais to Dover, and if he succeeded was to send for
Campion. Parsons was to pass for a soldier returning
from the Low Countries, Campion for a merchant of
jewels; and Parsons reflects on the appropriateness of the
disguise, as their mission was really a warfare, and their
business the merchandise of the “pearl of great price,”
and the traffic in the talents which their Lord had lent
them. Parsons departed the next day, having been fur-
nished by Chamberlain with a captain’s uniform of buff
trimmed with gold-lace, with hat and feather to match,
and another suit for a person who went with him as his
man George. He went to Calais on St. Barnabas' Day,
June 11, and found a ready passage to Dover, where he
arrived the next morning. There the searcher examined
him, and so far from misdoubting him let him pass with
‘all favour, and procured him a horse to carry him to
Gravesend. Parsons took heart at this providential cour-
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tesy of the searcher, by whom he had been treated with
exceptional politeness, and told him that a friend of his,
Mr. Edmunds, a merchant lying at St. Omer, would
follow him shortly, to whom he begged that like'favour
might be shown. The searcher even undertook to forward
to Edmunds—under which name my readers of course
recognise Campion—a letter, in which Parsons told him
that he had thought of certain special and urgent causes
why he should make haste to London for utterance of
jewels and the like,—a letter which might be shown to
the searcher when he came over.

Parsons reached Gravesend at midnight, and at once
got into a tilt-boat proceeding to London. He was hor-
rified at finding himself in the midst of a quantity of
gentlemen of the Inns of Court and of the Queen’s house-
hold, who had been merry-making in Kent, and who
kept playing and singing half through the night. Parsons,
in dread of being recognised in the daylight, took the
opportunity before the gentlemen were awake, of jumping
into a wherry, which landed him and his man in Southwark
about four o’clock in the morning. But here he was in fresh
difficulties; he had no horse, and so was not acceptable
to the hosts of the inns, who were, moreover, made extra-
ordinarily cautious by the late proclamations and rumours
against suspicious people; besides, they saw that his dress
was outlandish, and one and all refused to harbour him.

After spending most of the morning in his bootless
search over Southwark for a lodging, he resolved to apply
to some Catholic. He knew not where any lived, but
was sure to find plenty of them at any of the prisons.
So he went to the Marshalsea, and inquired for one
Thomas Pounde, Esquire, who had lain there and in other
prisons many years for his faith. Pounde took Parsons
into his room, was delighted at his safe arrival, and told
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him that he and the other Catholic prisoners had been
praying earnestly for many days for him and Campion,
and that they must now return thanks. Parsons replied
that they must continue their prayers some days longer,
for Campion was not yet come over. Parsons then dined
with the numerous Catholic prisoners, and afterwards
committed himself to the guidance of one of the guests,
Mr. Edward Brooksby, who led him to a Catholic
house in the City, a kind of club, where he found other
gentlemen and priests, and notably Mr. George Gilbert,
a young gentleman of large property in Suffolk and other
counties, who had succeeded young to his wealth. He
had been brought up in London in the current religion;
but his earnest nature inclined him rather to Puritanism,
in which he had been confirmed by daily frequenting the
sermons of Deering, the famous preacher. But after he
came to the enjoyment of his property, he obtained leave
to travel; and in Paris providentially fell into the com-
pany of Father Robert Darbyshire, the Jesuit, who opened
his eyes to the Catholic religion. Father Parsons, in
Rome, completed his conversion, and stood his godfather
at his confirmation. From that time, though the new
convert still pursued his studies, and learned the accom-
plishments for which Italy was then famous,—riding,
fencing, vaulting, and the like, for he was of stalwart
growth,—yet he secretly added all kinds of religious exer-
cises, such as prayer, fasting, mortification and liberal
almsgiving.

Gilbert wished to expend his first fervour in a pilgrimage
to Jerusalem; but Parsons persuaded him rather to return
to England, and lay out his money on priests and on
other means of advancing the Catholic cause. Theresult was,
that he drew together and organised divers principal
young men for this purpose, who took lodging together
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and sojourned in the chief pursuivant’s house in Fetter or
Chancery Lane. The pursuivant had great credit with
the Bishop of London, Aylmer; they had also another
powerful protector at Fulham, where was the focus of
their peril, in the person of the Bishop’s son-in-law, Dr.
Adam Squire, who was in their pay. Through the conni-
vance of these men they were able to receive priests, and
to have Masses celebrated daily in their house for some
years, till the Jesuits came in, when the times grew much
more exasperated.

Gilbert’s friends had induced him to make advances
to a young heiress, and he was about to be married when
he heard of the mission of Parsons and Campion to
England; on this he broke it off, and resolved never to
marry, and would needs have made a vow—with Parsons’
approbation—as soon as he came to him in England.
But Parsons would not at first permit it, though at
last he allowed him to vow chastity till the Catholic
religion should be publicly professed in England.

After being introduced to this club, Parsons gave direc-
tions about Campion, who was shortly to follow him, and
set out, under the guidance of Mr. Henry Orton, to visit
certain gentlemen in the counties round London. After
three weeks he hoped to return, and to find that his
companion had arrived.

While this was going on in England, Campion was
left in doubt and anxiety at St. Omer, whence, on the
20th of June, he wrote the following letter to Everardus
Mercurianus, the general.

“Father Robert, with Brother George his companion, had
sailed from Calais after midnight, on the day before I began
writing this; the wind was very good, so we hope that he
reached Dover some time yesterday morning, the sixteenth of
June. He was dressed up like a soldier,—such a peacock,
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such a swaggerer, that 2 man needs must have very sharp eyes
to catch a glimpse of any holiness and modesty shrouded be-
neath such a garb, such a look, such a strut. Yet our minds
cannot but misgive us when we hear all men, I will not say
whispering, but crying, the news of our coming. It isa venture
which only the wisdom of God can bring to good, and to
His wisdom we lovingly resign ourselves. According to orders,
1 have stayed behind for a time, to try, if possible, to fish
some news about Father Roberts’ success out of the carriers,
or out of certain merchants who are to come to these parts,
before I sail across. If I hear anything, I will advise upon
it; but in any case I will go over and take part in the fight,
though I die for it. It often happens that the first rank of a
conquering army is knocked over. Indeed, if our Society is
to go on with this adventure, the ignorance and wickedness
against which this war is declared will have to be overthrown.
On the twentieth of June I mean to go to Calais: in the
mean time I live in the College at St. Omer, where I am
dressing up myself and my companion Ralph. You may
imagine the expense, especially as none of our old things can
be henceforth used. As we want to disguise our persons, and
to cheat the madness of this world, we are obliged to buy
several little things which seem to us altogether absurd. Our
journey, these clothes, and four horses, which we must buy as
soon as we reach England, may possibly square with our
money; but only with the help of the Providence which multi-
plied the loaves in the wilderness. This, indeed, is our least
difficulty, so let us have done with it. I will not yet close
this letter, that I may add whatever news reaches me during
these three days. For though our lot will be cast one way or
other before you read this, yet I thought I ought, while I am
here, to trace every particular of this great business, and the
last doings, on which the rest, as yet unwritten, will hang.
There is a certain English gentleman, very knowing in matters
of state, who comes often to me; he tells me that the coming
of the Bishop of St. Asaph is canvassed in letters and in con-
versation. Great expectations are raised by it; for most men
think that such a man, at his age, would never undertake
such a task, except there was some rising on foot. I told him
in the simplest manner the true cause of his coming. Still he
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did not cease wondering; for the episcopal name and function
is in high honour in England.

To-day the wind is falling, so I will make haste to the sea.
I have been thoroughly well treated in St. Omer College, and
helped with all things needful. Indeed, in our whole journey
we received incredible comfort in all the residences of our
fathers. We also enjoyed the hospitality of two most illustrious
Cardinals, Paleotto and Borromeo, and of the Archpriest Col-
lensi. We purposely avoided Paris and Douai. I think we
are safe, unless we are betrayed in these sea-side places. I
have stayed a day longer than I meant, and as I hear nothing
good or bad of Father Robert, I persuade myself that he has
got through safely. I pray God ever to protect your reverence,
and your assistants, and the whole Society. Farewell.”!'?

Campion must have received Parsons’ communication
immediately after closing this letter to his general; he
at once, with full confidence of success, prepared to
follow. He was very glad that the feast of his old
patron, St. John the Baptist, was so near at hand—indeed,
it fell out that he crossed over on the very day: for he
was obliged to wait four days at Calais for a good wind,
and at last he put to sea on the evening of the 24th of
June, and reached Dover before daylight. - He landed on
the sands, and retired behind a great rock, to fall on his
knees and commend his cause and his whole coming to
God, whether it might be for life or for death. Then
he and Brother Ralph went to look for the searcher,
whom they hoped to find in as good a humour as Parsons
had left him; but times were changed, for stricter orders
had come down from the Council to look more diligently
to his charge, with a reprimand to him and the mayor
for having, as was supposed, allowed certain priests to
pass that way into the realm.

Besides this, some spy had advertised the Council out
of France that Mr. Gabriel Allen, brother to the president,
was about to visit his friends in Lancashire; and a de-



At Dover. 177

scription of Allen’s person had been furnished, agreeing
in the main with the stature, physiognomy, and person
of Campion. Hereupon he and Ralph were seized and
carried before the Mayor of Dover: he charged them
with being foes of the Queen’s religion, and friends of the
old faith; with sailing under false names; with having been
abroad for religion; and with returning for the purpose
of propagating popery. Campion, he declared, was Allen;
but this Campion offered to swear was not the case. At
last he resolved to send them up, under guard, to the
Council, and ordered the horses to be prepared. Cam-
pion all the while was standing, praying in his heart to
God, and begging the intercession of his patron, St.]John
the Baptist; then an old man came forth from the
chamber whither the mayor had retired: “ You are dis-
missed,” he said; “good-bye.”

He and Ralph thereupon made all the haste they
could to London, where he was anxiously expected, and
where much prayer was being made for his safety; for
the great fear was, what he would do when he first
arrived. But it happened that when the boat in which
he was a passenger came to the Hythe at London,
Thomas Jay, one of the Catholic Club, was watching for
him; he had never seen him; but partly through Parsons’
.description of his person and apparel, partly through seeing
him in company with the little brother, Ralph, who had
also been described to him, he suspected him to be the
man, and so boldly stepped to the boat’s side: “Mr.
Edmunds, give me your hand; I stay here for you, to
lead you to your friends.”” And he led him, nothing
loth, to the house in Chancery Lane, where Gilbert and
the rest clothed and armed him like a gentleman, and
furnished him with a horse, This was on the morning
of June 26th.

N
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Parsons, who was still in the country, had left word
that Campion should stay in London for his return, and
employ his time in the best manner he could for the
comfort of Catholics,. Hereupon the young men entreated
him to preach to them on the 2gth of June, the feast of
St. Peter and St. Paul. There was great difficulty in
fixing upon a place, for their house would not hold all
that wished to attend, and no public place was safe, so
at last they chose the great hall of a house near Smith-
field, which Lord Paget hired for them of Lord Norreys,
where the servants and porters were for the -nonce
replaced by gentlemen of worship and honour; and
while these trusty watchmen guarded the ways, Campion
preached on the Gospel, taking for his text both St.
Peter’s confession, Tu es Christus, Filius Dei vivi; and
our Lord’s answer, Et ¢go dico tibi quia tu es Petrus, et
super hanc petram edificabo Ecclesiam meam. From the
former, he animated them to the true confession of Christ
in that faith and religion of His which first He sent to
our nation when it was converted from Paganism; from
the latter, he laid before them the indignity, danger, and
folly of insulting against this invincible rock of Peter and
his successors; and the effect of his whole sermon was
to draw forth many tears in consideration of the one, and
to plant in all that heard him great courage and fortitude
for the execution of the other.

His sermon so strongly affected those who heard him,
that each of them supposed that if this loose Catholic or
that sincere Protestant could be brought to speak with the
preacher, the conversion of the wanderer would be secured ;
hence Campion’s coming was intrusted as a grand secret
to half the world, and after a few days, which he well
spent in conferences with all comers, the Council began to
suspect what was on hand, and set on foot a diligent
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‘search for his apprehension. They at first tried the
stratagem of sending false brothers to hear him, and to
apprehend him at Mass or preaching; there were spies
abroad, sighing for Catholic sermons, and showing great
devotion and desire of them, especially if any of the
Jesuits might be heard. But Campion was advertised of
this scheme by some principal persons of the court, and
therefore took greater heed with whom he conversed,
employing himself only in private conferences and exhorta-
tions in secret friends’ houses during eight or ten days,
till Parsons returned to deliberate with him what course
to follow for prosecuting their affairs within the realm,

But even these quiet proceedings were known to the
Queen and Council, who only abstained from violent
measures in the hopes of being able to capture at one
stroke not only the Jesuits, but a considerable number of
the chief Catholics, at some of the conferences. The
Government was exceedingly stung to hear of so many
priests having entered the realm at once; for besides the
twelve who came from Rome, several had been sent from
France and Flanders, not, as Parsons protests, in conse-
quence of any previous agreement, “but by chance, or
rather God’s providence, divers of them not knowing the
one of the other’s journey.”

But though the Council kept silence for the present,
the searchers of London grew so eager and frequent,
and the spies so many and diligent, that scarce an hour
passed without some Catholic being reported as taken up
on suspicion, or detected. As a specimen of the dangers
which the two Jesuits were continually incurring, take
this story. Henry Orton, the young gentleman who had
been Parson’s conductor in his short expedition into the
country, set out one morning from his lodging in Smith-
field to visit Campion and Parsons. On the way, there
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stood Sledd, a man who had been in the English College
at Rome, but had turned spy and informer, with a con-
stable, ready to apprehend any one he might recognise.
Sledd had known Orton in Rome; and though he knew
the young man was neither priest nor Jesuit, yet he
guessed that he conversed with such as were; so he fol-
lowed him a while in the street; and if he had followed
him a little farther, he would have found the very house
where the two fathers were together, and would have
captured them both at once. But Sledd had not pa-
tience, and caused Orton to be apprehended in the street,
whereby the fathers were warned, and so provided for
themselves.

Again, there was then in London a very grave and
godly priest, Mr. Robert Johnson, who had visited Rome
as a pilgrim shortly before the departure of the fathers
for England. He had already laboured painfully in his
own country for some years, and before he returned to
his work he had retired, on Parsons’ recommendation,
into a house of Jesuits, where he had gone through the
spiritual exercises of St. Ignatius. On his way to England
he was joined by Sledd, the spy, who was then talking
like a most enthusiastic Papist, but behaving so loosely
that Johnson was obliged to reprehend him; at which
Sledd was so angry that he at first meditated murdering
him on the spot, but on after consideration determined
to betray him to the English Government instead. He
therefore went to the English ambassador at Paris, and
gave all needful advertisements about Johnson and other
priests both to him and to Jerome Vane, a spy attached
to the embassy. One day, when Sledd was loitering
about London on his treacherous mission, he saw Johnson
going through Smithfield in company with Catherine, sister
of Sir John Petre, and wife of John Talbot of Grafton.
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He followed him till he saw a constable, whom he charged
in the Queen’s name to arrest Johnson as a priest and
traitor. The constable, at heart a Catholic, made all sorts
of excuses; but on Sledd’s threatening to report him to
the recorder, he took up his staff, and told Sledd to show
him the man who was to be arrested. Sledd did so, and
was about to depart, when the constable told him he
must follow to give the man in charge, and to bear the
possible consequences of a false arrest and imprisonment.
The true motive, however, was to expose Sledd as an
informer to the mocks and jibes of the people, and to
make his trade known to the world. So Sledd and the
constable dogged Johnson's steps till he came to the Thames,
and saw him hire a wherry to convey him over to South-
wark, where Parsons and Campion were in council, with
several other priests. Sledd told the constable to take
another boat and row after Johnson; but the constable,
guessing something of the errand on which ‘the priest
was bound, told his companion that he could not spend
all the day dodging a man in a boat, perhaps to miss
him at last; so he cried out to the bystanders to stop
the traitor, and arrested him then and there. And though
Johnson was taken, and thrust into a prison, from which
he only emerged to pass through Westminster Hall to
the scaffold, yet the lesson was not lost. Sledd was at
once noted, and expelled from Catholic society before he
had time to do much more mischief. A report of the
capture soon reached the assembled priests, who broke
up in disorder.

Amid such escapes it became clear to the friends of
the fathers that London was no place for them; they
were therefore counselled to shorten their stay there, and
to despatch with speed such things as were to be con-
sidered or determined before their departure. They there-
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fore collected in a little house in Southwark the gravest
priests then to be found in London, among whom were
Edward Mettam and Blackwell, afterwards the archpriest,
and also “divers principal laymen, for their better satis-
faction; for that sundry points of importance were to be
discussed.”™ Quod omnes tangit, ab omnibus tractari et
approbari debet; and it was but natural that in matters
of common concern the clergy and laity should take
common counsel at a time of danger, when the active
codperation of both classes was necessary in order to
secure the interests of either. So far as the faith was
concerned, there were no questions to discuss among the
English Catholics in 1580. But questions of morals,
worship, discipline, and political conduct, in which all
were equally interested, urgently claimed at that moment
the consideration and the agreement of all.

The first question to be discussed was the answer to
be made, for the satisfaction both of Protestants and
Catholics, to the rumour raised on occasion of the entrance
of the Jesuits into the realm; it was said to be for
treason, conspiracy, and matter of state, and not for
religion. Sanders, in his book on the ecclesiastical mo-
narchy, excuses the English Catholics for failing to
support the rebellion of the great earls of the north, on
the ground that they did not know of the Bull; and the
English statesmen retorted that this want of information
was diligently and cunningly supplied by sending the
Jesuits and seminary priests into the realm.® They said
also that while a Bull was in existence, declaring that
Elizabeth had no right or title to the crown, all who
submitted, or were prepared to submit, to the authority
which proclaimed it, were in their hearts secret traitors,
and only waiting the occasion to declare themselves open
traitors; which occasion it was necessary to remove, by
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preventing the secret promulgation of the Bull by the
agency of the missionary priests. Moreover, it would be
argued that the famous mitigation obtained by Campion
and Parsons did not in the least affect the substance of
the Bull, whereby the queen still remained excommuni-
cate and deposed, but merely allowed the English Catholics
to exhibit to her a temporary and conditional fealty and
obedience (rebus sic stantibus) as long as they could not
help themselves:—but the moment they could, or thought
they could, or were told by the Pope that the time was
come, then their obedience and fealty were to end; the
censures were to resume their full force, and the queen
was to be violently assailed. The mitigation would thus
be made to appear like a truce obtained upon false
pretences by one belligerent party, only in order to gain
time to recruit his forces for a new attack. Moreover,
it would be called absurd in the Roman missionaries to
expect that their. master’s agents would be allowed all the
privileges of a friendly power in England, while he and
his agents in Ireland were carrying on an open war
against the queen of both realms. It was to be feared
that by these considerations “all their spiritual and eccle-
siastical functions might be brought into obloquy and
hatred with the people, and much cruelty inflicted both
on the said clergymen themselves when they should be
taken, and on all other Catholics for their sake.”

But to all this the fathers said they had but one
answer to give: their public and private denial of any
such intentions as were imputed to them. They there-
fore there and then made oaths before God, and the
priests and laymen assembled, that their coming was only
apostolical, to treat matters of religion in truth and sim-
plicity, and to attend to the gaining of souls, without
any pretence or knowledge of matters of state. After
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this oath, they exhibited the instructions they had received ;
and they declared that they had never heard of Sanders’
passage into Ireland till they were at Rheims. This oath,
they supposed, would be sufficient to content Catholics
and dispassionate Protestants, and to assure them of the
falsehood of the reports that were being spread; for they
could never think that all these priests would make so
light of their souls as to cast them away by wilful and
spontaneous perjury.

But as for the Queen’s Council and Bishops, whose
interest it was to crush the Catholic religion and to
defame its ministers, the only way against them was, if
any of the fathers fell into their hands, that he should
not only protest on his oath, but also stand to his denial
before God and man, and challenge his adversaries to
prove any single point against him,—which no man living
would ever be able to do, because there never was such
matter either in fact or thought. And as all this would
go by unanimous verdict of a jury of twelve substantial
Englishmen, they fondly hoped that a condemnation
would be almost impossible, since they knew that no
fact, attempt, or intention, however slight, could ever be
proved.

And here one of the assembly objected, that considering
the present hatred against priests, and its probable
increase by the conversion of many to the faith, mere
conjectures would be enough for a jury to condemn them
upon. The fathers replied, that if conjectures and proba-
bilities were to have place, it would be easy to bring
conjecture against conjecture, and to refute less proba-
bilities by greater. For instance, if foreign princes wished
to send political emissaries, they would not choose mere
scholars, nor send so many in so public a fashion; nor
would ambassadors travel all the way from Rome afoot
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in servants’ apparel. Again, if they were political emissaries,
they must be sent to the Catholics alone; but what Catholic
would ever listen to them if, after the oath they had just
taken, he- were to see them meddling with matters of state?

“This,” said Campion and Parsons, “is all the satisfaction
we can give. And if this will not serve, we can only
seal it with our blood; and if it comes to this, it will not
signify whether we are believed, or whether, like our
Lord and His Apostles, we are reckoned among the
wicked, and put to death as the enemies of Casar.”

The second point was practically, and for the time, the
most important that this Council had to settle,—How far
could it ever be lawful to go to Protestant churches, es-
pecially if the persecution should increase? Several pleas
were alleged, and it was said that a man might go if he
justly feared or knew that going was the one way to save
his goods or person, or to redeem himself from intolerable
vexation; that he would go only for external obedience
to the prince and her laws, without respect to religion,
just as he would go to any other profane place if
commanded by the same authority, not to pray with or
among the Protestants, but to repair thither only for
temporal obedience. Or, if this was unlawful or not
permissible, might not certain principal men, who were
not likely to be hurt or infected, go thither at certain
times, with protestation at their entering the churches that
they went not for the sake of religion, but only by
commandment of the prince, and no otherwise? Or lastly,
if none of these ways were allowed, might not dispen-
sation be had from the Pope to permit it, either generally
in England, considering the difficulties and dangers that
might beset such as refused, or at least to certain prin-
cipal men who might have more urgent cause to ask
such permission?
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A negative answer was given to all these questions,
and it was determined that nothing could ever justify a
Catholic in attending Protestant worship in England.
The religions, it was said, were different; the most learned
foreign Catholics had been consulted; the Council of Trent
had appointed a committee to deliberate, who had con-
sidered all the circumstances, and had come to this con-
clusion. The Pope was of the same mind, and would
never grant a dispensation in so notorious a case, where
men were called upon openly to confess or deny God’s
true religion by an evident and distinctive sign, and by
the public act of attending an alien worship where the
truth is impugned, and the Catholic Church defaced, ca-
lumniated, and ridiculed,—an iniquity in which no Catholic
could acquiesce without damning his soul. The Catholic,
therefore, however pressed to conform externally, ought
to resist, at any peril or cost, and even to thank God
for so honourable an occasion of confessing Him, remem-
bering that there is no dispensation from the law, “ Whoever
shall deny Me before men, him will I also deny before
My Father.” ,

Both Campion and Parsons had tasted the bitter fruits
of conformity contrary to conscience. We have seen in
a former chapter how Campion yielded to Cheney's so-
phisms, and how he had been persuaded by the example
of Naaman to join in a worship which he hated, and how
bitterly he had repented his fault. As for Parsons, he
had fled ignominiously from Balliol College after it was
discovered that he was a concealed Catholic. Still, the
question was surrounded with difficulties, as may be seen
from the following case, as reported by Parsons.

About the time of this conference Mr. James Bosgrave
was arrested; he was a Jesuit priest, of a good family
in England, who had left his country when a boy, and
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had since worked on the mission in Germany and Poland.
After a time he lost his health, and was sent back to try
the effect of his native air; but he was captured on his
first landing. With all his learning, he was ignorant of
the state of religion in England, and so, when brought
before the Bishop of London, he gave some scandal by
his answers. “Whence came you?” said the Bishop. “From
Germany and Poland.” “What were you doing there?”’
“Travelling.” “That is well, and befits a gentleman,
What is your religion?” “Catholic.” “Thatis oursalso;
but the question is, will you go to church, or no?” %I
know no cause to the contrary.” At this answer the
Bishop was wonderfully glad, for he hoped he had found
a learned man to oppose the other Catholics in this
point, which they made of so much importance. Bosgrave
was therefore praised to the skies for his discretion and
conformity; he was made “extreme much” of, and suffered
to go at large. But the Bishop took care to publish all
over London that one of the learnedest men of all the
Jesuits had yielded in this point, and that those who
stuck to the opposite practice were mere simpletons in
comparison of him.

This news gave great' scandal. Campion and Parsons
had by this time left London, so that none of his order
remained to treat with Bosgrave; and as the heretics
confidently affirmed that he would soon be entirely theirs,
the Catholics were afraid of him, and shunned him
whenever he sought their company, or desired to enter
their houses. He could not guess the reason of this strange
conduct, which afflicted him greatly; for he had been so
long abroad that he had half forgotten his native tongue,
and had no friends in London, and so knew not what
to do or whither to go.

But at last he met with a near kinsman, a Catholic,
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who told him roundly what men thought of him, and
what scandal he had given by his answers to the Bishop.
Bosgrave, in amazement, said that he offered to go to
their churches just as in Rome or Germany he might go
to the Jew’s synagogue, and in Constantinople to the
Turks’ mosques, to hear their folly and confute it. In
Germany and Poland, he said, they never made any
scruple about it; but any learned man might go freely
to the meetings of the Calvinists, Lutherans, Unitarians,
or Anabaptists, and hear their folly and blasphemy in
order to refute it. And this was all he meant when he
promised the Bishop to go to church.

Then he was shown how different England was from
Germany; for here the question was not whether learned
men may for curiosity or controversy repair once or twice
to heretical churches, but whether a learned man may
bind himself to go thither ordinarily, and thereby acknow-
ledge that religion to be true, and so give an evil example
to simple people, who might be unable to refute what
they heard. Here, too, the act was commanded by the
legislature as a religious profession, and so very different
from the isolated act of a private person: if the same
law was enacted in the heretical States of Germany, no
doubt it would be as great a sin to obey it there as in
England. He was told, too, how this point of discipline
was now on its trial in the country, and that numbers
of Catholics were at that moment suffering imprisonment
and persecution for it; that all the priests, all the Jesuits,
and all the learned and zealous among the laity were of
one opinion: Bosgrave, therefore, could not swerve from
the rest without great scandal; and, indeed, the heretics
had already taken occasion from his slight complaisance
to sow suspicion that he was so going to join them.

This moved him exceedingly. He was angry at their
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malice, and declared that, with God’s grace, he would
soon cure their false fancies, and satisfy the Catholics
about his honest meaning. He therefore wrote an epistle
to the Catholics to excuse what he had done, and another
to the Bishop and the other commissioners to retract his
promise of going to church, and to deliver himself up to
their hands. He was therefore sent to the Marshalsea,
and afterwards to the Tower; there condemned with
Campion as a traitor, but reprieved and banished, after
which he returned to his order in Poland.

, The third point settled in the Council at Southwark
was, whether the old English or the Roman rule of fasting
was henceforth to prevail. In England, all Fridays were
fasts, as well as several vigils that were not observed in
Italy. Differences had already begun to grow in different
shires, and the priests and good men could not agree
about the course most proper for those days of danger.
The old priests were proud of the store of national de-
votions and works of piety which had distinguished Eng-
land above every other kingdom of the world, since
St. Augustine our apostle, by command of St. Gregory,
transplanted into it the flower of all the devotions that
he had noted to be observed in any nation by which he
passed. It was determined, therefore, that for the present
nothing should be altered, in manner of fasting, from the
old customs; but in the shires, wherever the different
uses of York, Sarum, Hereford, or Canterbury and London
used to prevail, wherever the Catholics remembered that
Fridays or vigils were fasted, the same were still to be
kept, and the priests were to be most forward in ob-
serving them. But where the memory had died out, no
one was bound to fast, though the voluntary act was
always commendable. This was not commanded, but
only counselled, for direction of priests and preservation
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of unity, till God should open the door for an authori-
tative determination,

The fourth point was to determine the various districts
that each priest was to frequent. It was agreed that there
were three districts that ought specially to be attended
to: Wales, because it was not attended to by the Pro-
testants, or, indeed, by the Catholics; and because the
ignorant inhabitants, though they had not yet apostatised
from the faith, were so little attached to it that they
might be led from it by the first preachers of heresy, if
they were not previously strengthened by the missionaries.
Secondly, Lancashire and the North, which had shown
itself so forward in the Catholic cause in 1569. And
thirdly, Cambridgeshire, already sapped with Puritanism,
which had deeply tainted the University. To these dis-
tricts the secular priests were sent. The two Jesuits seem
to have been appointed to visit the whole country, for
we shall trace them from London to Lancashire, and
throughout the intervening places.

The last thing to be determined in the Council was
the case of Mr. Cottam. He had landed at Dover with
Dr. Ely, Rishton, and Hart. But Sledd had caused a
very particular description of the two last to be sent to
the port, where they were stayed. Hart confessed, and
was sent prisoner to London. But the mayor and
searcher did not feel sure of Cottam, and so asked Dr.
Ely (who under the name of Howard had passed and
repassed more than once, and was not suspected) whether
he would undertake to present him to Lord Cobham, the
Warden of the Cinque Ports. Ely promised, and his host
of Dover, who knew him as Howard, joined in giving
security. But Ely thought it would be a greater offence
to offer up to the persecutors an innocent priest than
to break his promise to the mayor, and so let Cottam
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escape., But Cottam conceived some scruple about it; and
so, as he still accounted himself a Jesuit, having been
dismissed only for lack of health, with express promise
to be again received when he was well, he sought Campion
and Parsons, and told them the case. They submitted it
to the Council, which, after consultation, determined that
as he made no promise he was not bound to offer himself
to so manifest a danger. This decision contented him
for a time: but when he heard that the mayor and Dr.
Ely were like to come into trouble for him, he consulted
the fathers again, who this time permitted him to do as
his conscience persuaded him; so with a merry coun-
tenance, and all alone, he went to the sign of the Star, in
New Fish Street, and there offered himself prisoner to
Mr. Andrews, a deputy of Lord Cobham, who carried
him to the court, which was then at Oatlands. After
three or four days he was committed to the Marshalsea,
where he remained till he was arraigned and condemned
for treason with Campion.




CHAPTER VIL

AND now, before we follow the Jesuits on their mission,
it would be well to describe the religious condition of the
people to whom they were sent.

In August, 1580, the twenty-second year of Elizabeth's
reign was drawing to a close. A generation had been
born and grown to manhood since she had altered the
religion of the land. In 1558, when she succeeded to the
throne, she found three’parties in the country; the Ca-
tholics and two others, now known by names which they
only acquired some years afterwards,—the Puritans and
the Politicians.

The Catholics were not a united party; some had
accepted the severities of Mary as a moral lesson, and
had brought themselves to think that the “frying” of a
“stinking heretic” at the stake was a comforting lesson;
others had become disgusted at Mary’s continual per-
qhisition into secret opinions; and the majority, wearied
out, had come to the conclusion, that it would be quite
possible to live at peace with the heretic, instead of driv-
ing him forth from society to prison or to the stake.

The Puritans,—to call them by a name which, Sir
Robert Cotton says, was first pinned to their skirts
by Father Sanders about 1570,—led by the English re-
fugees, who had come back as fanatical adherents of the
Continental Calvinists, with all the narrow sectarianism
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and bloodthirstiness of that sect, were far behind in
numbers, but they brought two doctrines with them which
gave them great influence: the first, that it is the duty
and the right of the prince to choose the religion of his
subjects; and next, that the duty of obedience in the
subject cannot be divided between a temporal and spiritual
superior. Cutus regio, ejus religio, was the formula of
the first; unt et univoce of the second. Calvin, Knox,
and Beza, with the fear of the two Marys, of England
and Scotland, before their eyes, had thought it best to
except females from this sovereign right. But “regiment
of women” ceased to be “monstrous” on the accession
of Elizabeth; though she never forgave the Calvinists for
having once played false with the fundamental principle
of Protestant politics.

The Politicians,—to use a name given to the party
by the Guises of France in 1568, and applied by
Davila to those who acknowledged no fundamental
difference between one religion and another, so far as the
State is concerned,—were described by Stapleton as the
children whom Rachel weeps for, because they are not;
not her children at all, but “false and feigned Christians,
neither Christians nor Catholics, but Politicians. Polite and
civil, elegant and gentleman-like, prudent and wise, turning
religion into policy, and making a mock at zeal; telling
us that in these days we must wink at many things, do
any thing for a quiet life, not stir up hornets’ nests;
that the heresies of the day are too strong to be forcibly
put down, too deep-seated to be plucked out of men’s
minds; that the points are too unimportant for such a
display of energy; at least not important enough to
oblige politicians, who are not charged with management
of religion, to endanger the peace and prosperity of the
country in the attempt to repress them. The prudent

o
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statesman’s first business is to provide for the welfare of
his countrymen, to accommodate himself to the pleasure
of his prince, to avoid all superfluous bickering about
religion, and to leave its care to the clergy or to God,
who is strong enough to avenge Himself, if He feels
insulted by the new opinions.”"®

These Politicians, when Elizabeth came to the throne,
had a double problem to solve: first, to secure the crown
to the queen; and secondly, to give peace to the country,
profoundly agitated by the Spanish policy of Queen
Mary. The danger to the queen came from the Pope’s
definition of her bastardy; to meet this, it was necessary
to disable the Pope’s authority. The danger to the
country was in the discord of the adherents of the various
religions; the obvious remedy for this nowadays would
be toleration for all; but in 1558 such a thought was
almost impossible. The unity of religion in a country
was reckoned to be a State necessity. Hence, where
opinions were much divided, and the national character
strong and obstinate, it was not deemed possible to favour
any extreme and exclusive sect, but only to enforce
moderation upon all; and this, not by allowing all to
differ, but by obliging them all to meet on a common
and, as it were, neutral ground. For the first of these
State necessities the obvious measure was to confer once
more on Elizabeth the ecclesiastical supremacy which
Henry VIII. had arrogated, and Mary had abjured. For
the second, the Politicians took advantage of the profound
weariness of the Catholics, and of the Protestant principle
which gives a prince supreme power to choose the religion
of his country, to devise a new formula which might
satisfy both Catholics and Puritans, by suppressing all
that either considered to be blasphemy, and by including
only the “fundamentals” on which both were agreed.
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After the queen’s accession, the Politicians, who sur-
rounded her, began by repressing the zeal of each side,
forbidding all preaching, and all disputes, till they were
delivered from the fear of foreign intervention by the
treaty of Cateau Cambresis in April, 1559."® Then the
Parliament, in default of the Convocation, passed two
measures; one for conferring on the queen the supremacy,
and for imposing an oath on the subject in acknow-
ledgment of it; and the other for abolishing the Mass,
and substituting for it a form of prayer. which might be
used in “common” by those who believed and those who
disbelieved in Catholic doctrines. The first hope of the
Politicians was that the existing Catholic hierarchy might
be induced to connive at the new system, as they had
done in Henry’s and Edward’s times. With this view,—in
spite of the frantic appeals which the Continental Reformers
kept making to Elizabeth to play the part of Judith and
Deborah, and destroy the Papists root and branch,
seeing that Continental experience amply proved that the
preservation of the externals of Popery always in the
long-run led to its reéstablishment,—the old forms that
met the eye were to be altered as little as possible; the
vestments were to remain, and the hierarchical constitu-
tion, and, if possible, the same pastors. No doctrinal
changes were to be made, only those portions of the old
liturgy—the adoration of the blessed Sacrament, and the
worship of images and saints,—which were most offensive
to the new opinions were to be dropped. The foreign
Protestants were furious; they declared emphatically to
their English followers, that they could not possibly take
any ministerial part in a Church thus constituted. The
question of vestments was declared a fundamental one®
But when it was seen that the queen and government
were firm, the same counsellors advised their friends to
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dissimulate, and to “use the habits, provided they per-
sisted in speaking and teaching against the use of them,”’®!
For the great fear of the Puritans was, lest they should
be personally excluded from all share in the new estab-
lishment. Their first speculation was, whether the Bishops
would conform; and, between hope and fear, they consoled
themselves that they would rather resign, “as being
ashamed, after so much tyranny and cruelty exercised
under the banner of the Pope, and the obedience so
lately sworn to him, to be again brought to a recantation,
and convicted of manifest perjury.”’® When this external
obstacle was once removed, the internal obstacle of their
own consciences gave the Puritans little trouble, and they
gladly accepted the commission to govern a Church, the
constitution of which they thought wrong, in hopes of
being able in time to conform it to their notions of
right.

The Bishops all refused to take the oath, and were
n;ostly deprived of their sees before the end of 1559.
The Puritan leaders were substituted for them. On May
23, 1559, a royal commission was issued to visitors,
partly lay, partly clerical, and all Puritan, to tender the
oath to the rest of the clergy.®® They were ordered to
proceed with such moderation, as not to exasperate the
Catholics, but to bring them gradually, by fair means,
to a sense of their duty.!* The first commission was too
zealous; and in October the queen had to modify it, sub-
stituting laymen for several of the clergymen.’®*® But even
their moderation had such serious effects that, in December,
the queen had to write to the commissioners in both
provinces to suspend their proceedings, and to determine
such matters only as had been already begun.® The
effect of these arrangements was, that of the multitudes
of clergymen who refused to subscribe, not many were
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immediately deprived; some had three years given them
for consideration,” and others seem to have been connived
at. In the visitation of the province of York in August
and September, 1559, out of 9o clergymen summoned,
21 came and took the oath, 36 came and refused to swear,
17 were absent without proctors, 16 were absent with
proctors. Yet of the 36 the lists of Bridgewater and
Sanders only contain 5 names; of the 17, 4; of the 16, 7.
If those lists are perfect, it proves that the rest were
connived at, and perhaps retained their livings till their
deaths. In the province of Canterbury, we hear of
the dean and canons of Winchester Cathedral, the
warden and fellows of the College, and the master of
St. Cross, all refusing the oath.”® Yet only four of them
are in Bridgewater’s list. The visitors returned for the
whole province the totals of 49 recusants, and 786
conformists,”™ significantly omitting the absentees. Thus,
out of the 8911 parishes,' and 9400 beneficed clergymen,'®
we find only 806 subscribers, while all the bishops and
85 others expressly refused to subscribe, and the rest
were absentees. The assertion, then, of Camden, that
only 189 clergymen were deprived in this visitation proves
nothing. Archbishop Parker had orders “not to push
any one to extremities on account of his oath.”’® But
Sanders and Bridgewater give many more names; and
even their lists, as Parsons owns, were imperfect. For,
as Bramhall says, the writers at Rome, Rheims, and
Douai were strangers to what was passing in England.
It was the interest of the government to hide from the
Catholics the real number of recusants, lest they should
become overbold. No wonder, then, that the priests
were often tempted to complain with Elias, in Jezebel’s
persecution, “I only am left,” when there were really
seven thousand who had not bowed to Baal.
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However, what with the expirations of the three years
of grace, and fresh commissions sitting from time to time,
the clergy, at first connived at, were gradually removed,
and their places filled up with men who were required to
acknowledge the queen to be supreme head of the Church
of England upon earth; while no great difficulty was
raised about other points of doctrine, provided they were
willing to obey the laws of the realm.® Thus it came
to pass that most of the clergy were “ popish priests, con-
secrated to perform Mass; and the far greater part of
the remainder most ignorant persons,” appointed to spell
through the prayers, but not allowed to preach.™ I have
said that the priests who refused the oath had far fewer
scruples about the common prayer. When it was first
introduced under Edward, some priests said the Latin
Mass, some the English Communion; some both, some
neither; some said half of the one, and half of the other.
“And this mingle-mangle did every man make at his
pleasure, as he thought it would be most grateful to the
people. But that which was of more importance and
impiety, some did consecrate bread and wine, others did
not, but would tell the people beforehand plainly that
they would not consecrate, but restore them the bread
and wine back again as they received it from them, only
adding to it the Church-benediction. And after conse-
cration, some did hold up the Host to be adored after the
old fashion, and some did not. And of those that were
present, some did kneel down and adore, others did shut
their eyes, others turned their faces aside, others ran out
of Church blaspheming, and crying ‘Idolatry !"’* Under
Elizabeth this state of things lasted with some modifi-
cation. Before the service on Sunday, the priests would
celebrate Mass in their own houses, and the Catholics
would communicate there, while the Protestants communi-
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cated at church; or the priest would take to church the
Hosts which he had consecrated at home, to give at the
altar-rails to his Catholic parishioners while he gave to
the Protestants the wafers that had been used for the
service in the Common Prayer-book. Thus the Sacrament of
two hostile religious bodies was distributed by the same hands,
at the same time, at the same altar-rails, to the discordantand
divided flock.™ During the Northern rebellion in 1569,
the priests took occasion to restore the old service, and
sang High Mass in Durham Cathedral. Among the State-
Papers, there are instances of incumbents saying Mass in
their houses much later; and even in 1592, we find several
clergymen in one county giving large sums to a pretended
pursuivant not to accuse them of Popery. It was only
in 1579, in her twenty-first year, that Elizabeth felt strong
enough to enforce a general obedience to the Act of
Uniformity.'®

The oath of supremacy gave the queen permission to
choose the religion of her subjects, and to enforce upon
them the external observance of it. This, however objec-
tionable in theory, did not seem likely to produce any
immediate practical harm, as the queen was not supposed
to be inclined towards the Puritans. Hence its enemies
announced, that it gave power to the queen to minister
at public worship, and to consecrate Bishops; this exag-
geration was convenient, for it gave the Politicians an
opportunity to publish injunctions, declaring that the
supremacy meant nothing of the sort, but the same power
which all the kings of England had claimed, “of sover-
eignty and rule over all manner of persons born within
these her realms, of what estate, either ecclesiastical or
temporal, soever they may be.” “No power of ministry
was challenged;” the queen was ready to accept as good
subjects those who took the oath in its merely historical
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sense.”™ Still the royal supremacy was not merely the
right of the executive magistrate to see that every
corporation was what it professed to be, and administered
its own laws justly, and that right was done by and to
every corporation, religious or secular, within its territory.
For there was no freedom for corporations in those days.
The prince claimed the right of authorising one, and only
one, corporation, and suppressing all others. If this right
had been restricted to temporal corporations, and if
freedom of choice had remained for spiritual corpora-
tions, the Catholics might have been inclined to have
accepted it as a compromise,” however destructive of
civil liberty the law might be. Similarly, their objection
was not so much to any thing contained in the Common
Prayer as to its omissions; the want of papal authority,'!
prayers to the Blessed Virgin and the Saints, prayers for
the dead, the seven Sacraments, and external sacrifice;
they even approved of prayers in the vulgar tongue.
The one thing for which they rejected communion with
the Establishment was its “lack of unity,” its schism from
the rest of Christendom, and its want of homogeneity in
itself, “some being therein Protestants, some Puritans
and some of the Family of Love.”'¢

Yet this lack of unity—of external unity with the
rest of Christendom, and of internal unity with itself—was
the one sacrifice which the Politicians were determined to
make, in order to secure the political unity of the country,
and the unity of the State with the Church. They were
not going to commit the mistake of the Electors of the
Palatinate, and force all Englishmen to believe alike, and
to change their belief as often as the prince changed. But
they insisted that no corporation apart from the State should
have the power of branding Englishmen as heretics, and
subjecting them to the social and political disabilities
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which that brand induced. Their theory was, to let
every body believe as he liked, so as he came to church;
to reckon all Englishmen as Churchmen, unless formally
joined to some external body, and at the same time to
proscribe all such external bodies, and to make adhesion
to them treason.

And as the lack of religious unity was the point
which the Politicians were bent on enforcing, so it was
that least offensive to the pious, and least observable by
the unreflecting clergyman. It was only asuspension of
discipline, an authoritative stoppage of the persecution
which had disgusted the people by its cruelty. In
country parishes where the people were all Catholic, and
where the forced communion with heretics was therefore
a dead letter, there was positively no change but the not
unpopular substitution of the English for the Latin service.
It appeared to be only a toleration that must at times be
practised by all establishments, when their evil members
are too numerous and powerful to be severely dealt with.®
Its true character only came out step by step, year by
year;. and its full consequences were only revealed when
custom and habit, enforced by policy, and irritated by
many clumsy attempts to change them, had become too
strong to be conquered.

" As for the people, the two things that struck them were,
the cessation of the unpopular persecutic;n, and the change of
service. The latter was no great novelty to them. For thirty
years they had been used to variations, some of which had
been made on illegitimate authority, some, as Mary’s restora-
tion, rightfully; but all had come proximately to the people
on the authority of the State, whether it was the State, acting
schismatically or acting in obedience to Rome. So far as
appeared externally, Elizabeth’s change might be as autho-
rised as Mary’s; and there was little opportunity for
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becoming aware of its internal character. For the
communication between Englishmen in those days was slow
and difficult, and the Catholic portion of the people was
divided geographically from the Protestant part, which
was found chiefly about London and in the southern
counties, especially in the sea-ports of the west. It was
only among the Protestants that the full significance of
- the change could be at once understood. At first it
appeared a boon to both parties,—the Catholics, who
were tired of the Spanish persecution carried on in their
name and for their behoof, and the Protestants, to whom
it brought liberty, not without hopes of retaliation. This
enabled Sir Robert Cotton to say, that “until the eleventh
year of Elizabeth’s reign (the end of 1569) a recusant’s
name was scarcely known.” It was scarcely known,
because it was the great object of the State not to know
it, not to recognise that there were any dissidents, to
dissimulate differences; not because the people were con-
verted to Protestantism, nor altogether *“because the zeal
begotten in the time of the Marian persecution was yet
fresh in memory, and the late persecutors were so amazed
with the sudden alteration of religion that they could not
but say, Digitus Dei est hic.” Far less truth is there in
the Utopian picture which Cotton proceeds to paint: “In
those days there was emulation between clergy and laity,
and a strife arose whether of them should show them-
selves most affectionate to the Gospel. Ministers haunted
the houses of worthiest men, where now (1623) Jesuits
build their tabernacles, and poor country churches were
frequented with the best of the shire; the word of God
was precious, prayer and preaching went hand in hand
together, until Archbishop Grindal’s disgrace” (1567): the
very mention of which ought to have made Cotton ashamed
of giving so false a representation of the matter.'* Grindal’s
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disgrace was in consequence of his patronage of the
“liberty of prophesying,” that is, of the preaching of
Puritan ranters, which was every where driving the
Catholics—who had hitherto acquiesced in the State
Church—to open hostility. Fearing this result, Elizabeth
ordered the exercise of prophesying to be suppressed, the
preachers to be reduced to a smaller number, and homilies
to be read instead of sermons. It was not Grindal's
disgrace, but the impudence of the Puritans whom'he
patronised, that first made recusancy formidable.

For the people, partly for the reasons I have given
above, partly because they hoped the changes were only
temporary, like so many they had seen, and partly
through fear,—“not knowing,” as Cotton says,'® quite
inconsistently with his account quoted above, “how far
severity might extend,”’—had, in the first years of Eliza-
beth, sunk their differences, and attended the church,
where, for the most part, their old pastors yet ministered.
But soon scandals arose; tinkers and cobblers succeeded
to the pulpits of the grave theologians who were dispos-
sessed. Some of the priests forgot their vows of celibacy ;
and as early as 1562, during a tour in Essex and Suffolk,
Elizabeth was offended at the slovenly way of performing
the service, and at the consequences of clerical marriage;
and on her return issued an order against all resort of
women to the lodgings of cathedrals and colleges ;¥ while
the Catholic gentlemen were so scandalised, that they
sent to consult the Council of Trent whether their atten-
dance at the churches could be permitted. The answer
was a decided negative I do not know whether any
immediate measures were taken to publish this decision;
but in 1567, St. Pius V. sent Dr. Sanders and Dr. Harding
into England, with episcopal powers to grant faculties for
the absolution of schismatics, but chiefly to declare that
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“there was no hope of exception or dispensation for any
of the laity” to have their children baptised, or themselves
to be “present at the communion of service now used in
churches in England.”**® From this time large numbers
of the Catholic laymen began to refuse to go to church;
and the indirect measures taken against them by the
government, together with the direct pressure of St. Pius
V. through Dr. Morton, who was sent into England in
1568, provoked the unfortunate rebellion of the great
northern earls in 1569, which rendered hopeless any
peaceable restoration of Catholicism while Elizabeth lived.

The effect of these movements was gradually to divide
the English Catholics into two bands,—the temporisers, or
schismatics, who kept the faith, but frequented the church-
es, and the open Catholics, who braved fine and im-
prisonment, and refused to go to church. The rebellion
of 1569 showed that, on the least provocation, the schis-
matics were ready to join the others, and to reéstablish
the old religion by force. The Politicians, who had
hitherto inclined rather to the Catholic side against the
Puritans, were, even before that event, forced to remember
that the Church which they had created hung on the
single thread of the queen’s life; that on her death Mary
of Scotland would succeed, and would reverse all that
had been accomplished in these eleven years. They
therefore appealed to all the gentry, clergy, and trades-
men who wished to preserve the existing state of things,
to join in a secret society for the protection of the queen, not
unlike the associations of seven years later in France for the
protection of the king and the French Catholics. By the
very tenor of Burghley’'s proposition, it is clear that the
appeal was made to the Puritans, and that the Puritan
members of the Government no longer put forward the
comprehensive character of the Church, but its exclusive-
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ness, as its claim to their support. “No monarchy is
so established by laws in good policy to remain in freedom
from the tyranny of Rome, and in constancy and con-
formity of true doctrine, as England is. Wherein no
person, of any state, is by law admitted to profess openly
the contrary without punishment provided for the same
by good order of laws; and such like, for the policy to
all purposes, is not to be found in Christendom.”™ Thus
appealed to, the Puritans began a secret organisation,
under the guidance of the Puritan members of the Privy
Council, and were industrious in enrolling members. By
1578 the French ambassador had found it out, and wrote
to his court that the Puritans were busy associating, and
binding themselves by oath to extirpate the Catholic
religion. This organisation ripened into the famous So-
ciety for the Preservation of the Queen, which makes a
figure in the history of 1584. The religious questions
at this date resolved themselves into a race for the favour
of the queen.

The Catholics, apparently under the inspiration of the
French ambassador, and after the example of the French
societies of 1576, began in that very year to make a
“combination,””™ in which we find such names as the
Earl of Northumberland, the Earl of Oxford, Lord Henry
Howard, Charles Arundel, Giffard, and Jerningham. Their
object apparently was to promote the queen’s marriage
with the Duke of Anjou, which the Puritans as resolutely
opposed. Except for the tragic end of the drama, the
varieties of its progress are a complete comedy. There
were the Puritans, furious against the match; there was
the Spanish ambassador, striving to persuade the Catholics
to oppose it likewise; there was the French ambassador,
jaunty and gay, surrounded with his “combination,” or
chorus of Catholic courtiers, whom he exhorted to be
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patient, for the end would crown the labour, and the
queen’s new husband would secure their freedom of worship.
There were the counsellors: the mysterious Burghley, in
whom the world discovered a Solon, while Shakespeare
more truly painted him as Polonius; the profound and
Mephistophelian Walsingham; the versatile, handsome,
and unprincipled Leicester ; and the rest, —whom the French
ambassador persuaded himself that he was persuading to
be sworn slaves of his master, in direct contradiction to
their own interests. Lastly, there was the audacious queen,
giving hopes to all, but satisfying none; faithful to her
policy of doing little, but letting events work themselves
out, and making it her main business to preserve her
personal popularity. The French ambassador was blinded
with the good cheer of England, where there was talk
of nothing but gallantry; and with the queen’s progresses
in the shires, where she gained all hearts, and where the
wealthy gentry worshipped her on their knees. So far
was she from preferring the Puritans, that many of her
prime personal favourites were as near being Catholics
as the irregularities of their lives would permit. Thus,
Hatton, as Allen tells us, was one who had no doubt
about the Catholic religion being true.® She made no
objection to the religion of Anjou; indeed, she said that
his fidelity to it was a claim on her respect; and in 1578
she agreed with the French ambassador that her husband
was to be allowed to do as he liked in his own house,
as she hoped to be allowed to do as she liked in hers;*®
and she told Leicester, a mortal enemy of the match,
that “this was the year to marry off all the poor old
maids in England; they should all be wedded with her.”
But nothing could make her act; she delayed, and the
opponents of the match took the occasion to whisper
that Anjou was dwarfish, bandy, pock-pitted, with bad
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breath, plenty of ambition, and more bigotry. He would
be sure to establish the Catholic religion. Walsingham
was sent over, confidentially, to look at the duke, and
to report on these matters; he reassured the queen, who
professed herself satisfied. Nevertheless the affair dragged
on. In May, 1579, the Earl of Huntingdon, a pretender
to the crown, and the chief of the Puritan party, declared
that the marriage would be the ruin of England and of
the religion, and set on some ministers to preach in this
sense. Elizabeth, with characteristic brevity, threatened
to have them whipped. She took care to display an
increasing coolness for the Common Prayer; and when
she was conversing with Castelnau on her lover’s charms,
she could not tear herself away even when the chapel-bell
rang. Burghley shook his head when he reflected how
easy it would be to upset the established religion, con-
sidering the stake owned by Catholics in the land, the
secret favour of the queen towards them, and her deafness
to all whispers against them.'™ But nothing progressed,
except the hopes of Castlenau. Many of the Catholic
allies of the French ambassador were tired out; they
were disgusted with Anjou’s conduct, and ceased to trust
in the queen’s intentions to marry him, and so turned
to the Spanish ambassador,” who was glad of their assistance
in discountenancing the match.®™ This laid the foundation
of a split among the Catholics, and a counter-combination
was set up, with the countenance of the Spanish ambas-
sador. Those who remained faithful to the French were
obliged to persuade themselves that the marriage would
come off, and would at once heal all their afflictions.
Therefore, every thing that helped on the match, however
calamitous for the moment to the Catholic religion, was
ultimately for its benefit. They must not let it be thought
that Anjou was a bigoted Papist, or the Puritans would
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never acquiesce in the match; his agents must therefore,
for the present, abstain from using their influence in
favour of the oppressed Catholics; only a little patience,
a little more suffering under the atrocious penal laws,
and all would be over; Anjou would be king, and would
soon lay the axe to the root of the tree. Only let the
Catholics dissimulate a little longer, and shut their eyes
to the daily tragedies of their brethren, and the new state
of things for which these tragedies would smooth the way
would be the remedy for them all. The Spanish ambas-
sador had no such political reasons for dissimulation, and
could afford to call a spade a spade. Round him, then,
gathered the generous Catholic youth, who were prepared
for any sacrifice, who were tired of waiting on the
caprices of a woman, and who were resolved henceforth
to dissimulate nothing. Yet the necessities of the times
compelled them to adopt a secret organisation, and they
thus gave birth to a curious monster,—a secret society
which could not remain secret, the first duty of its
members being to absent themselves from services which
the law bade them attend. To them it would have been
useless to have “the receipt of fern-seed,—to walk in-
visible,” for their invisibility at church was the first overt
act of their “sedition.” Theirs was a secret society whose
object was to make secret believers into open professors;
a secret society to destroy secrecy. They had given up
the race to get the start in the favour of the prince; the
Puritans had won, and now, ve victis. No “courtesy,
humanity, or reasonable indifference,” could be had from
such ignoble conquerors. Catholics were shut out from
“speech, conference, writing, disputing, or any other fair
trial of their cause;” they were watched, spied, examined
every where; attached, transported, imprisoned, racked,
or hanged, if they spoke or argued.
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Still a section, hoping against hope, adhered to the
French ambassador. In July, 1579, Elizabeth imprisoned
a preacher for talking against foreign alliances and mixed
marriages. This raised their hopes, only to be immediately
dashed by one of those occurrences which were always
a pretext for fresh delays. Fitzmorris, with a company
of Bretons, made a descent on Ireland, and occupied
Limerick. The Spanish ambassador loudly accused Henry
III. of France as an accomplice of the wild Irishman;
while Castelnau declared it was a plot of Philip II. to
stop the match, and that he had condescended even to
conspire with the Calvinists against it. At the same time
(Oct. 1579), he declared that the queen’s better treatment
of the Catholics had won back many of them from the
Spanish interests. He noted the ever-increasing fury of
the Puritans, their petitions to parliament, the way they
worked on the fears of the “timid” queen, and their
declaration that Anjou would soon have a St. Bartho-
lomew’s Day in England. He enlarged on Stubbs’s
pamphlet, “ The Gulph wherein England will be swallowed
by the Marriage;” the fury of the queen, who wanted
him hanged, her disappointment when the jury would
not find him guilty of felony, the disgrace of the judge,
the interest that was made to have Stubbs pardoned, and
Elizabeth’s final command to have the sentence (loss of
his right hand) executed upon him before her window at
eight o’clock one morning. Leicester and Walsingham,
with the rest of the Puritans, were in disgrace; Elizabeth
was furious; and Anjou was foolish enough to direct
Castelnau to intercede for them. They swore fidelity to
the French interests; and he accordingly reconciled them
to the queen. This was in obedience to the duke’s
instructions, “to accept every one’s service, and not to

keep any one in disgrace on his account.” “I think,”
P
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says Castelnau, with a simplicity wonderful in so old a
courtier, “that from this time Leicester will seek to
maintain himself by the aid of France.”” However, Leicester,
Walsingham, Huntingdon, and Pembroke, soon used their
restored power in exactly the opposite direction; and
February 8, 1580, Castelnau was obliged to confess that
the queen’s ill-humour and cruelty to the mislikers of the
match had alienated from her (or it) a great part of her
nobles and people, and obliged her to ask a further
delay, and that she had given too much credit to those
whom she had just restored to power.

Thus did these negotiations drag on; Castelnaus
cleverness ever overreached by his vanity, which made
him believe in victory when he had only fallen into a
trap. But Solomon himself could not have succeeded.
Elizabeth had once possessed power to change the religion
of England; but to this end she had been obliged to
arm the Puritans and disarm the Catholics, and now the
Puritans were too powerful to be overcome. Even if the
Catholics had succeeded in making Elizabeth marry Anjou,
I doubt whether it would have done much more for the
Catholics than the marriage of Charles with Henrietta
forty years later. But the Puritans were determined not
to risk the change if they could help it, and so much
the more as they saw the Catholics desirous of it. On
July 5, 1580, Castelnau writes, “The Puritans fear that
if the queen is married, the Catholics will soon get the
upper hand; and suppose that she has a great fancy for
them, because she treats them more mildly than she has
done for twenty years. And, indeed, the number of
Catholics has much increased, and they have raised their
heads a little too soon, and built too much on the hopes
of the marriage.”

It was just at this time that Campion and Parsons
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were coming into England. Their arrival was another of
those events to which Castelnau attributed his want of
success. About the same time also Condé came over to
complain to Elizabeth of the treatment of the French
Protestants by Henry III. Elizabeth refused to continue
the negotiations for the marriage till Henry had made
peace with them. Henry of course refused to forego the
advantages he had gained.’® Elizabeth replied by com-
plaining of a visit of the Earl of Westmoreland to Paris,
of Dr. Allen’s seminary at Rheims, and of the fifty priests
just sent over to preach sedition. This, said she, was
the reason of her temporising. Henry retorted, that
Elizabeth had received Condé, whom he asked her to
send away; and there seemed every element of a diplo-
matic quarrel, when suddenly there came news to London
of the defection of some of the queen’s most powerful
Irish friends. Castelnau considered the government in
great danger. “I believe,” he wrote, *“that if monarchs
will be obstinate in their civil wars, subjects will not be
without pretexts for casting off their allegiance.”’™ In
the following despatches, August 13 and 30, he de-
scribes the severe measures that the council thought
of taking against the Catholics. In September, the
queen heard of the landing of the joint Spanish and
Papal expedition in Ireland. The danger was great, and
so was the terror. She implored Henry to send at once
an army into the Low Countries, otherwise this would
only be the forerunner of many expeditions. In November
the Irish bubble burst; and Castelnau told his master
that “the Spaniards and Italians behaved like great
poltroons, and had their throats cut. Lord Grey, the
viceroy, had all the Irish hanged, except a priest, who
was to be sent into England, and Dr. Sanders, a great
preacher, and too good a theologian to fight. The
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expedition was magnificently provided, but it would have
been better if they had been furnished with less money
and more manfulness.”

I quote these passages to show what were the peculiar
complications of the time when the mission of the Jesuits
began in England. But I will not proceed with Campion’s
history till I have briefly reviewed the position of the
Anglican clergy, and of the common people.

The members of the Puritan hierarchy intruded into
the English sees in 1559 and 1560 had accepted a position
which they did not approve. They were all Calvinists,
except Cheney of Gloucester, who was a Lutheran; the
vast majority of the clergy was Catholic, and hardly yet
recognised its schismatical position. The queen would
allow no further innovations in the externals of religion,
but was incurious about doctrine; hence the new Bishops
were able to get in their wedge of Calvinistic intolerance
in the Thirty-nine Articles of Religion, the bulwark
against retrogression towards Rome, and against such a
development of the truths still left in the Prayer-Book
as should necessitate the restoration of those which had
been dropped. These articles were intended to narrow
the comprehensive character of the Church by providing
that all the new clergy should be Calvinist. Next, the
Bishops gave an extraordinary latitude to the “liberty
ot prophesying,” which might have developed the estab-
lishment into a Genevan conventicle, had not Elizabeth
interposed with her veto. Many of the Politicians, con-
vinced that the Catholic party would restore the Papal
supremacy and the exclusiveness of the Church the first
day they had the power, had now turned to the Puritans.
Not that they had any intention of submitting to the
Genevan discipline; but they were willing to allow it so
far as the suppression of the bishoprics and cathedrals,
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and the confiscation of their goods. Again, the ignorant
low-bred Calvinists were easier to exclude from all share
in government than the highly-educated Roman eccle-
siastic, or the Anglican who had succeeded to the
inheritance of the English universities. Hence “they
sought to disgrace the clergy,” scarcely admitting them
to matters of state at all, “contrary to the practice of
all well-governed commonwealths, and of our own till
these late years.”’’®

But Elizabeth disgraced Archbishop Grindal, the
leader of the Puritan party, and began to advance the men
to whom the gradual development -of Anglicanism is due.
They had to conciliate the forms of a Catholic hier-
archy, and of a Catholic but mutilated prayer-book, with
Puritan articles of faith. They had at once to defend
conservatism and revolution, to derive their authority
from the old Church, and to claim a right for the State
to modify the doctrines of that Church without thereby
destroying its essence. They had to make the compre-
hensive political via media of 1559 into an eternal and
exclusive principle of truth; as if the truth, which may
perhaps be the middle point between all possible errors,
can be determined by taking two presumed errors which
happened to coexist in 1559, and by assuming for all
time that the middle point between them is the truth.
This via media was at first a sort of indefinite precinct,
shutting off two extreme opinions, but enclosing all between
them; it was afterwards turned into a religious theory,
and petrified into a sham principle. It was originally an
abasement of the Church before a supposititious public
opinion, for the convenience of statesmen. It would have
been a recognition of the supremacy of the mob if the
real opinions of the people had been such as they were
said to be. But the State made the Church Anglican in
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pretended deference to the feelings of a people who were
chiefly Catholic, and partly Puritan. These sections re-
fused to be amalgamated. The Puritans would not receive
the teaching of Bishops who wore surplices. The Ca-
tholics, whose priests and schoolmasters were driven away
or hanged, stood aloof, and would listen to no one else.
For three or four generations their descendants preserved
“the perfume of Rome,” as Cotton says, and afterwards
were gradually assimilated to the surrounding population,
still, however, retaining a traditional hostility to the State
Church.

The English hierarchy, thus cut off from both the
Catholic and Puritan sections of the people, but retaining
all the aristocratic influence that their feudal possessions
gave them, were from the first the clergy of the rich,
not the clergy of the poor. They were gentlemen, learned
men, lords; but not apostles or saints. Their wealthy
leisure, combined with their professional tastes, enabled
them to preserve, what circumstances have led both Ca-
tholics and Puritans to neglect, the artistic and literary
beauty of the liturgical language. When Christianity was
the business of life, and time was no consideration,
prayers might be as difficult as a chorus of Aschylus,
or a sonnet of Dante. But when religion became not so
much the occupation as the qualification of life, when
less time was given to the direct exercises of devotion,
the old enigmas were felt to be too hard. The breviary
services were too long, the psalms too difficult. A new
style of prayer was wanted, arranged in the most logical
order, interrupted by rubrics, to tell us where to elicit
one kind of act, and where another, and with language
most simple and plain-spoken. The Jesuits’saw what was
wanted, and provided it; the Puritans felt that some change
was wanted, and offered their ranting preaching and their
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exlempore prayers as the solution of the difficulty. The
Anglican hierarchy alone,—not pressed for time, notover-
burdened with “acts” and “aspirations” —kept up the old
intellectual interest in the services, and popularised the
psalms and the devotional use of the Old and New Testa-
ments, not perhaps to any great extent, but more widely
than has been done by other hierarchies or sects. Andit
was this literary exclusiveness that made them call those
popularisers of devotion, the Jesuits, “the Puritans of
Popery.”

To turn now from the Anglican clergy to the English
people, who were so profoundly alienated from them,
whose state I shall only touch upon so far as it affected
the mission of Campion. All the Catholic part of the
population had been surprised into the change of religion.
No choice was given to them: they saw the service
changed; but they saw also that no measures were taken
to make them change their faith. They saw, for the
most part, their pastors retaining their benefices, sometimes
indeed displaced to make room for an ignorant ranter;
but then, in turn, they saw this ranter’s mouth stopped,
and himself reduced to a mere reader of pray'ers and
homilies. The people bore this patiently, because it
brought calm after the troubles and persecutions of Mary’s
time, and because they hoped it would in its turn soon
come to an end. In the mean time they might enjoy
the holiday which the collapse of discipline had sent
them, ready to reénter the vineyard, and work, as soon
as they were called. Throughout the country and small
towns, where the strength of the Catholic party was to be
found, the people formed two political classes—the gentry
or nobility, and the commonalty. Both classes still
maintained the feudal feelings; still the chief nobleman
in every shire desired to see all the gentry of his county
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wear his livery, and acknowledge themselves his servants;
while the gentry maintained the same feudal relations
with the husbandmen and cottagers who lived on the
family estate. The power of England had, up to the -
time of Henry VII, been in the hands of these nobles
and gentry, who were not yet conscious that they had lost
it. The overwhelming strength of the earl in his own
county looked like universal power, till the fate of the Earls of
Northumberland and Westmoreland, and of the Duke of Nor-
folk, showed how weak the local centres had become in com-
parison to the combining force of the royal centralisation in
London. But this lesson was not enough. It was still every
where believed that rank was power ; that the queen was able
by a word to restore every thing as it had been; and
that if she would not speak this word, the nobles and
gentry might unite and dethrone her. Failing this, at
least so many of the gentry might declare their adherence
to the old religion as to extort a toleration, if not from
her compassion, at least from her fears, as not knowing
what this persecuted class might do in case of foreign
invasion. In this argument the populace counted for
nothing. It was taken for granted that they would follow
wherever they were led, and they were treated almost as
if they were incapable of intelligent conviction in matters
of faith,

The great fact of the day was the power of the
governor to change the belief of his subjects. By means
of this fact Luther had succeeded in Germany, and Henry
VIIL in England. The Jesuits quickly comprehended the
state of affairs, and by similar means wrought a vast
restoration of religion in Germany and in France. The
same system was to be applied to England; and if
Elizabeth could not be made its instrument, her bastardy
gave a famous opportunity to the Pope to exert the
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deposing power, and to give her crown to a more faithful
child of the Church. Such was the policy of Pius V. and
of Gregory XIII, who sent Campion and Parsons into
England. Such also was Parsons’ private opinion, as may
be seen from Campion’s reply to one of his letters in a
former chapter. But they were not sent to England to
carry out this policy; they were not supposed to know
any thing about it; they were only to convert the
nobility and gentry to the Church, and await the conse-
quences.

The people to whom they were sent had no settled
conviction against the truth of Catholicism ; their inclinations
led them towards it, only their fear or their indolence
prevented their profession of it. Their external show of
Protestantism was rather cowardice and sloth than heresy,
rather a helplessness than a strong passion. It was their
will that had to be strengthened, rather than their mind
to be enlightened. Hence the absence in those days of
any depth of intellectual discussion. The arguments were
addressed to the heart of the people, or to their terror.
Fugienda imprimis controversia, said Father le Fevre to
Father Laynez about the reduction of the first Lutherans.
First their affections must be cured, then their faith; the
way to their head is through their heart. Persuade them
to be moral, and they will soon be Catholics. They are
heretics because they despair of being able to live as
Catholics; strengthen them to do their duty, and they
will naturally come back to the faith they learnt at their
mothers’ knees. The English might be warned that
acquiescence in the State religion was no such security
as they fancied. The queen would die some day, and her
successor would restore all; perhaps the Pope and the
French and Spanish kings would come and dethrone her,
and extirpate the heretics. Even in 1623, the people
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were still “timorous through forecasting the restoration of
Popery;’ and to this day the saying survives among
them,— *the Catholic religion was the first, and shall be
the last”” Thus they were always looking out for a
sign of its return. A flood, or a comet, or a monstrous
birth, sent a thrill through England, and awakened the
expectation of the “golden day” that was to restore the
old religion. No picture of those times is complete that
does not catalogue these prodigies, which had so extra-
ordinary an effect on the belief of the people. On the
day of the election of St. Pius V., Maffei tells us,'® a
comet, like blood, stood over London, and near its tail
a hand issued from a cloud, and brandished a sword.
1580 (the year the Jesuits entered the country) was
distinguished by a profusion of such portents. Father
Parsons, in his life of Campion, recites from Stowe,'®
April 2d, an earthquake in London, which made the
great bell of Westminster toll of itself, and threw down
portions of the Temple Church, and of Christ Church,
Newgate Street, at sermon-time, and slew two persons.
In June great storms of thunder and hail. One Alice
Perin, eighty years of age, brought forth a monster with
a head like a helmet, a face like a man, a mouth like a
mouse, a human body, eight legs, all different, and a tail
half a yard long. Agnes, the wife of Mr. —— (Father
Parsons leaves the name blank; it is scarcely worth while
to refer to Stowe to restore it), gave birth to a monster
that was male and female, with mouth and eyes like a
lion. On May 18th, a vision of a hostile fleet was seen
at sea off Bodmin; a pack of hounds was heard and seen
in the air in Wiltshire; and in Somersetshire three several
companies of sixty men in black appeared in the air,
one after another. At a time when a student of magic
occupied the imperial throne, and when Lord Burghley
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was entreating Kelly, the quack conjurer, not to deprive
his native country of the good gifts God had given him,
it is not to be wondered at if such predictions as may now
be seen in Moore’s Almanack had a vast effect on men’s
minds. The old priests still occasionally warned their flocks
of their evil state, A Lincolnshire boor informed the council
how Parson Britton, minister of Bonnington, preached
that there was no salvation for those who went without con-
fession and penance. “You must confess,” he said, “not to
bad fellows like me; but if you seek for them, there be
honest men in the-.country.” The boor accordingly sought,
and found an honest man, who persuaded him that “there
would be amendment this year (1580) of religion,” and
showed him in a book the cabalistic words, “E shall fall,
and I shall stand instead; and I is not J, and shall not
continue; and there shall be a musing Midsummer, a
murdering Michaelmas, a bloody March. All after merry
shall be.”” One instance is as good as twenty of the
sort of sayings that were current among the people in
reference to the immediate restoration of the old faith.
It was needful to persuade them that it would be so;
they were quite willing that it should be.

Such were the people to whom the Jesuits were sent,
to bid them separate themselves from the communion of
the heretics, and to forbear going to their churches,
whatever the penal consequences might be. They came
to separate what the queen wanted to unite, and accor-
dingly she issued her proclamations, warning the people
against them as enemies of herself, and of Church and
State, who were to be diligently sought for as persons
perilous to the public weal. Yet when they came, they
were found to be men of peace, churchmen without weapons,
teaching the old doctrine, fasting and praying, preaching,
confession and restitution, and offering to dispute about these
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points with the new ministers, whose lives were known to be
far distant from any of these things. How they prospered
with this people, I shall have to tell in the future chapters
of this life.

«*o Title of an Italian gazette, circa 1530. *Particolari
avvisi delle mine della Scarperia.... et di tanti altri horrendi
et spaventosi segni et carri di fuoco comparsi nelle aere con

gente armata di battaglia. Et lordine del fanciullo nato in la
Marema che subito nato parlo et camino” etc. Libri’s catalogue.
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AFTER Hilary Term, 1580, was over, Campion and Parsons

found London emptied of friends and swarming with spies.
Further stay there had become both useless and perilous,
and they determined, with the other priests, to go forth
on their appointed missions into the shires. Each Jesuit
Father was furnished with two horses and a servant, two
suits of apparel for travelling, sixty pounds in money,
books, vestments, and every thing needful for the church
or for the road, by George Gilbert, who also promised
to supply whatever more might be necessary for him.
Gilbert'® was the founder and the soul of the young
men’s club, the origin of which I described in my last
chapter. Not only did their peculiar position force these
young laymen into such an association, but the various
difficulties of the missionary priests made the cosperation
of some such body absolutely necessary. The penal laws
were already very severe, and held out strong induce-
ments to the laymen to betray the missionaries. Pru-
dence, therefore, forbade them to compramise themselves,
or the person whom they visited, before they knew that".
their visits at his house would be safe to themselves and
acceptable to him. It was for this reason that the Jesuits
were ordered to be very careful whom they conversed
with; to prefer the gentleman, because of his greater
influence when converted, his greater power to protect
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them, as well as the greater unlikelihood of his betraying
their secret. But the Jesuits were on no account to have
any personal dealings with the Protestant till his Catholic
friends had sounded his disposition, secured his impar-
tiality and ascertained that the priests might speak with
him without fear of being betrayed.® And all this
required an extensive organisation among the Catholic
gentry.

Further, as the safety of the priests required that they
should know to whom they were going to trust them-
selves, and should be protected and conducted on their
way from house to house, so did the safety of their host
require that he should know whom he was receiving.
Missionaries could not carry about with them the certi-
ficates of their priesthood, still less the proofs of their
honesty. Unknown strangers might be spies or false '
brothers, or fallen priests, as easily as honest men. It
was necessary, then, that missionaries should be conducted
by some well-known and trustworthy person, who could
answer for their identity and their honesty at the houses
where they were introduced. Hence this conductor had
to be a gentleman well known and respected throughout
the country.

The members of the association bound themselves to
perform the two functions of preparing Protestants and
conducting the priests, and besides to procure alms for
the common fund, out of which the priests were supplied.
Their promise entailed upon them great sacrifices; they
determined “to imitate the lives of apostles, and devote
themselves wholly to the salvation of souls and conversion
of heretics.” They promised “to content themselves with
food and clothing and the bare necessaries of their state,
and to bestow all the rest for the good of the Catholic
cause.” And their association was solemnly blessed by



The Association. 223

Gregory XIIL, April 14, 1580." These men soon became
known as “subseminaries;’ “conductors, companions,
and comforters of priests;” “lay brothers;” out of whom
the Jesuits were accused of getting “either all or most
part of their riches,” before turning them into their officers
“and solicitors; ‘“inferior agents,” ‘“lay assistants,” to
“straggle abroad and bring in game,” whose business it
was, “not to argue, but to pry in corners, to get men
to entertain conference of the priest, or inveigle youths
to fly over sea to the seminaries.”'®

The association, as we may imagine, consisted “of
young gentlemen of great zeal and forwardness in reli-
gion;” men of birth and property, without wives or
office, and thus free to devote themselves to the cause.
They entered on their dangerous and difficult path with
“extraordinary joy and alacrity, every man offering him-
self, his person, his ability, his friends, and whatever God
had lent him besides.” Gilbert was the first; others were,
Henry Vaux, Campion’s old pupil; and Vaux’s brother-
in-law, Brooks; Charles Arundel; Charles Basset, great-
grandson of Sir Thomas More; Edward and Francis
Throgmorton; William Brooksby; Richard and William
Griffen; Arthur Creswell; Edward Fitton ; Stephen Brinkly ;
Gervase and Henry Pierrepoint; Nicholas Roscarock;
Anthony Babington; Chideock Titchbourne; Charles Til-
ney; Edward Abingdon; Thomas Salisbury; Jerome
Bellamy; William Tresham; Thomas Fitzherbert; John
Stonor; James Hall; Richard Stanihurst, another of
Campion’s pupils; Godfrey Fuljambe, who afterwards did
very little credit to the society, and many others whom
Parsons will not name for fear of compromising them,
Among them must have been, at one time, Lord Oxford,
Lord Henry Howard, Mr. Southwell, Lord Paget, and
Thomas Pounde. It will be seen by the above list that
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the young men not only belonged to the chief Catholic
families of the land, but that the society also furnished
the principals of many of the real or pretended plots of
the last twenty years of Elizabeth and the first few years
of James I. So difficult must it ever be to keep a secret
organisation long faithful to a purely religious and eccle-
siastical purpose.

Equipped by this society, Parsons and Campion rode
forth; the first accompanied by George Gilbert, the second
by Gervase Pierrepoint. They agreed to meet to take
leave of each other at Hogsdon, at the house of a gentle-
man,-—I think, Sir William Catesby,—whose wife, a Throg-
morton, was a Catholic. He himself was not yet con-
verted; and for this reason the true names of his guests
were not told to him.

Just before the Jesuits left Hogsdon, there came to
them in hot haste Thomas Pounde, who was a prisoner
in the Marshalsea, but who had found means to blind the
gaoler to his temporary absence. He told them that a
meeting of the associates, prisoners and others, had been
held at the goal to discuss the means of counteracting
the rumours which the council was encouraging.

It was believed that the Jesuits had come into England
for political purposes. The story, said Pounde, would grow
during their absence from London, and would gain fresh
strength with every fresh report of the conversions which
they were about to make in the shires; the council would
be exasperated, and if either of the fathers ever fell into
its hands, he would be guilefully put out of the way or
openly slaughtered, and then books would be published
to deface him, according to the usual fashion of the day;
hereby well-meaning people would be deceived, and the
Catholic cause not a little slandered. But much of this,
he went on to declare, would be remedied if each of the
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fathers would write a brief declaration of the true causes
of his coming, and would leave it, properly signed and
sealed, with some sure friends until the day he might
be taken or put to death. And then, if the enemy
should falsely defame him, his friends might publish the
declaration to justify his memory before God and man,
Hence Pounde begged both of them to write their decla-
rations, as if they were writing their last will.

The proposition seemed to proceed from zeal and mature
discretion, and it was accepted by both the fathers.
Parsons’s paper is still preserved among the Mss. at
Stonyhurst. And Campion, says Parsons, being a man of
singular good-nature, and easy to be persuaded to whatever
religion or piety inclined towards, rose from the company,
took a pen, and seated himself at the end of the table,
where in less than half an hour he wrote the declaration
which was soon to be so famous. It was written without
preparation, and in the hurry of a journey; yet it was
so “pithy in substance and style” that it was a triumph
to one party and poison to the other. It was addressed
to the Lords of the Council, before whom he expected
to be examined when he should be apprehended. It
runs thus:

“RiGHT HONOURABLE,—Whereas I have, out of Germany
and Boeme-land, being sent by my superiors, adventured myself
into this noble realm, my dear country, for the glory of God
and benefit of souls, I thought it like enough that, in this busy,
watchful, and suspicious world, I should, either sooner or later,
be interrupted and stopped of my course. Wherefore, providing
for all events, and uncertain what may become of me when
God shall haply deliver my body into durance, I supposed it
needful to put this writing in a readiness, desiring your good
lordships to give it the reading, and to know my cause. This
doing, I trust I shall ease you of some labour, for that which
otherwise you must have sought by practice of wit, I do now

Q
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lay into your hands by plain confession. And to the intent
this whole matter may be conceived in order, and 'so the better
both understood and remembered, I make thereof these nine
points or articles, directly, truly, and resolutely opening my full
enterprise and purpose.

1. I confess that I am, albeit unworthy, a priest of the
" Catholic Church, and, through the great mercies of God, vowed
now these eight years into the religion of the Society of Jesus ;
and thereby have taken upon me a special kind of warfare
under the banner of obedience, and eke resigned all my interestand
possibility of wealth, honour, pleasures, and other worldly felicities.

2. At the voice of our General Provost, which is to me a
warrant from Heaven and an oracle of Christ, I took my voyage
from Prague to Rome, where our said General Father is alway
resident, and from Rome to England, as I might and would
have done joyously into any part of Christendom or Heathenesse,
had I been thereto assigned.

3. My charge is, of free cost to preach the Gospel, to
minister the sacraments, to instruct the simple, to reform sinners,
to confute errors, and, in brief, to cry alarm spiritual against
foul vice and proud ignorance, wherewith many my dear coun-
trymen are abused.

4. I never had mind, and am straitly forbid by our fathers
that sent me, to deal in any respects with matters of state or
policy of this realm, as those things which appertain not to
my vocation, and from which I do gladly estrange and sequester
my thoughts.

5. I ask, to the glory of God, with all humility, and under
your correction, three sorts of indifferent and quiet audience.
The first before your honours; wherein I shall discourse of
religion so far as it toucheth the commonwealth and your
nobilities. The second, whereof I make most account, before
the doctors and masters and chosen men of both universities;
wherein I undertake to avow the faith of our Catholic Church
by proofs invincible, scriptures, councils, fathers, histories, natural
and moral reason. The third, before the lawyers spiritual and
temporal; wherein I will justify the said faith by the common
wisdom of the laws standing yet in force and practice,

6. I would be loth to speak any thing that might sound of
an insolent brag or challenge,!®® especially being now as a
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dead man to this world, and willing to cast my head
under every man’s foot, and to kiss the ground he treads
upon. Yet have I such a courage in advancing the majesty
.of Jesus my King, and such affiance in His gracious favour*
and such assurance in my quarrel, and my evidence so
impregnable, because I know perfectly that none of the
Protestants, nor all the Protestants living, nor any sect of our
adversaries (howsoever they face men down in pulpits, and
overryle us in their kingdom of grammarians and unlearned
ears), can maintain their cause in disputation. I am to sue
most humbly and instantly for the combat with all and every
of them, or with the principal that may be found of them;
protesting that in this trial the better furnished they come, the
better welcome they shall be to me.

7. And because it hath pleased God to enrich the queen my
sovereign lady with noble gifts of nature, learning, and princely
education, I do verily trust, that if her highness would vouch-
safe her royal person and good attention to such a conference
as in the second part of my fifth article I have mentioned and
requested, or to a few sermons which in her or your hearing
I am to utter, such a manifest and fair light, by good method
and plain dealing, may be cast upon those controversies, that
possibly her zeal of truth and love of her people shall incline
her noble grace to disfavour some proceedings hurtful to the
realm, and procure towards us oppressed more equity.

8. Moreover, I doubt not but you, her honourable council,
being of such wisdom and drift in cases most important, when
you shall have heard these questions of religion opened faith-
fully which many times by our adversaries are huddled up and
confounded, will see upon what substantial grounds our Catholic
faith is builded, and how feeble that side is which by sway of
the time prevaileth against us; and so at last, for your own
souls, and for many thousand souls that depend upon your
government, will discountenance error when it is bewrayed, and
hearken to those which spend the best blood in their bodies for
your salvation. Many innocent hands are lifted up unto heaven
for you daily and hourly, by those English students whose
posterity shall not die, which, beyond the seas, gathering virtue
and sufficient knowledge for the purpose, are determined never
to give you over, but either to win you to Heaven or to die
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upon your pikes. And touching our Society, be it known unto
you, that we have made a league—all the Jesuits in the world,
whose succession and multitude must overreach all the practices
of England—cheerfully to carry the cross that you shall lay
upon us, and never to despair your recovery while we have a
man left to enjoy your Tyburn, or to be racked with your
torments, or to be consumed with your prisons. The expense
is reckoned, the enterprise is begun; it is of God, it cannot be
withstood. So the faith was planted, so it must be restored.
9. If these my offers be refused, and my endeavours can
take no place, and I, having run thousands of miles to do you
good, shall be rewarded with rigour,—I have no more to say,
but to recommend your case and mine to Almighty God, the
Searcher of hearts, who send us of His grace, and set us at
accord before the day of payment, to the intent we may at
last be friends in heaven, where all injuries shall be forgotten.”

Campion wrote his triple challenge with more confi-
dence in his cause, and more trust in the good-will of his
opponents, than knowledge of their views. To reconcile
the Catholicism which he came to preach with the designs
of the politicians of the council was a task beyond all
the powers of reason.

Elizabeth, had she been disposed to tolerate Catholics
at all, would only have tolerated them on condition of
their abjuring obedience to the Pope in matters which
pertained to the state or affected the queen. But Cam-
pion could not even deny the validity of the Bull by
which the queen was deprived of her crown, and could
only show that he and the Catholics were for the present
dispensed from attempting to enforce it, and from the
penalties of its non-observance, The question of political
reconciliation never advanced beyond this knot; and till
this was untied, the very terms of his challenge seemed
to absoive his opponents from listening to his arguments
upon the two remaining topics. His challenges to the
politicians and to the lawyers were calculated to thwart
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him in his attempts to get a fair hearing from the divines,
and were at first sight inconsistent with his profession of
not meddling in matters of state. When he came to pen
his seventh article, he had already recognised that the
second part of his fifth article contained the pith of his
challenge, and that the rest was superfluous. But there
‘was no time to remodel it. He wrote it in haste, and
gave a copy to Pounde, keeping the original himself,
He desired that it might not be published till there was
necessity for so doing; but he forgot to seal it, as had
been proposed, and as the more wary Parsons took care
to do. Pounde, therefore, went back to prison and read
it, and was thrown by it into such a dithyrambic state
of mind that, though he had no intention of imparting
it to his friends, still less of giving them, or allowing
them to take, copies of it, he was resolved not to hide
its light altogether under a bushel.

The Marshalsea in Southwark, which was one of the
chief prisons for recusant Catholics, was at that time
infested by two Puritan ministers,—Mr. Tripp and Mr.
Crowley,—who, under the protection of the authorities,
visited the poorer prisoners in their cells, and urged them
to “abide some conference” with them, “ offering, like vain
men, in angles, to the uncharitable vexation of the poor
prisoners,” that disputation which they obstinately refused
to abide in public. Pounde then, bursting with the secret
of Campion’s challenge, which he carried in his bosom,
was inspired by it himself to make a public challenge to
Tripp and Crowley, and to back it up (Sept. 8) with
petitions to the Council and to the Bishop of London, in
which he discovered the universal wish of the Catholics
for public conferences, and challenged a discussion, four
to four, or six to six, on each side, adding, that he knew
two or three who would challenge all the Protestant
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divines together, and give them Beza and all his brethren
in. “Let this petition,” he concluded, “made in the
name of all ;the Catholic fathers of our nation, remain
for a perpetual record and testimony, even to our enemies,
of our indifferency and their insufficiency. Muse not, my
lords, at this challenge, with a counterbuff, as the soldier
saith, for it is made in the further behalf (as it may be
presumed) of a perpetual corporation and succession of
most learned fathers, as any without comparison in the
world; with the aid of another good race besides, which
cannot die, who have all vowed, as charity hath inflamed
them, either to win this realm again to the Catholic faith,
and that without any bloodshed except their own, at
God’s permission, or else to die all upon the pikes of
your sharpest laws, and win heaven, as they hope, for
themselves.,” Much of this, it will be seen, is copied
closely from the eighth article of Campion’s declaration.

Parsons had once before found that Campion could
not be safely intrusted to the custody of the young as-
sociates of the Society,—a set of youths, as Bartoli writes,
“santa invero e degna d’ogni spirituale consolatione, ma
per l'eta e per lo conceputo fervore, pii generosa che
cauta,”’—for they were in a state of excitement similar
to that which animated the first Crusaders. As gallant
and enthusiastic as the conquerors of Jerusalem, they were
quite as unable to understand or to obey the rules of
political wisdom and prudence. Every earthly consider-
ation seemed to them a presumptuous interference of
earth with Heaven. Thus the same zeal which gave
them their energies hurried them forward into the paths
where those energies would be more mischievous than
useful. Instead of letting Heaven dictate their end, and
leaving earthly prudence to preside over their choice of
the earthly means to their heavenly end, they obliterated
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all distinctions, and considered ends and means to lie
alike within the supernatural sphere; and they were con-
vinced that for every fresh danger that threatened them
God had a new miracle in store to deliver them.
Pounde’s reckless enthusiasm in challenging the mi-
nisters, and petitioning the Bishop and Council, had the
effect of convincing the queen’s ministers that a conspi-
racy was on foot. Pounde soon felt the consequences.
The Bishop of London removed him (Sept. 18) from his
companions in the Marshalsea, and sent him, heavily
ironed, to solitary confinement in the then half-ruined
episcopal castle at Bishop’s Stortford. Pounde therefore,
on the eve of his departure, either delivered Campion’s
paper to the keeping of some one even less retentive of
a secret than himself, or else communicated it through
an unwillingness to be checkmated by the Bishop of
London, whose conduct he regarded as a mere dodge to
stop all mention of a public discussion, or from a con-
viction that Campion’s challenge was much more calculated
to embarrass the council than his own had proved to be.
Actuated by one of these motives, Pounde communicated
the paper to his neighbour Tichbourne,™® Tichbourne to
William Horde, and Horde to several others, and espe-
cially to Elizabeth Sanders, a nun, sister to Dr. Sanders,
who was at this time with the Italian expedition in Ireland.
Upon all these people John Watson, the Bishop of Win-
chester, laid hands on the 18th of November or thereabouts,
committed their bodies to the house of correction at
Winchester, confiscated their *“lewd and forbidden books,”
and sent up to the Lords of the Council a copy of the
“seditious supplication, protestation, or challenge,” which,
he added, seemed “very plausible” to the people in his
part of England.!® About the same time, another copy
was discovered and sent up to the council by the Sheriff
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of Wilts. And from this time it became well known all
over England, and many persons got into trouble for
circulating copies of it.!"

Pounde was right in the importance he attached to
public disputation. It soon became one of the chief
weapons of the Jesuits, whose unexampled dexterity in
wielding it is thus described by a Protestant traveller,
Sir Edwin Sandys:'"

“As for the controversies themselves, the main matter of
all other, therein their industry is at this day incomparable;
having so altered the tenures of them, refined the states, sub-
tilised the distinctions, sharpened their own proofs, devised
answers, . . . . . that in affiance of this furniture, and of
their promptness of speech and wit, which by continual exercise
they aspire to perfect, they dare enter into combat even with
the best of their oppugners; and will not doubt but either to
entangle him so in the snares of their own quirks, or at least-
wise so to avoid and put off his blows with the manifold wards
of their multiplied distinctions, that an ordinary auditor shall
never conceive them to be vanquished, and a favourable shall
report them vanquishers. ,

Whereupon they now, to be quit with their adversaries,and
by the very same act to draw away the multitude, cry mainly
in all places for trial by disputations. This Campion the Jesuit
did many years since with us. This, as I passed through
Zurich, did the Cardinal Andrea of Constance and his Jesuits
with their ministers. . . . . Not long before, the same
was done at Geneva; and very lately the Capuchins renewed
the challenge. In which parts I observed this discreet valour
on both sides, that as the Romanists offer to dispute in the
adversaries’ own cities, which they know their magistrates will
never accord, so the ministers, in supply thereof, offer to go
to them to their cities, and that now is as much disliked on
the other part; each side being content that the fire should be
kindled rather in his enemies’ house than in his own.”

The council soon knew of Campion’s departure from
London, and sent pursuivants into most of the shires of
England with authority to apprehend him and Parsons
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wherever they could find them. But the Jesuits were
diligently warned by the Catholics, and easily avoided
their pursuers.

“ They lost their labour” (says Parsons), “and we had three
or four months free to follow our business, in which period,
by the help and direction of the young gentlemen that went
with us, we passed through the most part of the shires of Eng-
land, preaching and administering the sacraments in almost
every gentleman's and nobleman’s house that we passed by,
whether he was Catholic or not, provided he had any Catholics
in his house to hear us.

We entered, for the most part, as acquaintance or kinsfolk
of some person that lived within the house, and when that
failed us, as passengers or friends of some gentleman that
accompanied us; and after ordinary salutations, we had our
lodgings, by procurement of the Catholics, within the house,
in some part retired from the rest, where, putting ourselves in
priests’ apparel and furniture,—which we always carried with
us,—we had secret conference with the Catholics that were
there, or such of them as might conveniently come, whom we ever
caused to be ready for that night late to prepare themselves for
the sacrament of confession; and the next morning, very early,
we had Mass, and the Blessed Sacrament ready for such as
would communicate, and after that an exhortation; and then
we made ourselves ready to depart again. And this was the man-
ner of proceeding when we stayed least; but when there was longer
and more liberal stay, then these exercises were more frequent.”

The government had hitherto contented itself with
issuing proclamations,—a second was published against
harbouring Jesuits on the 3d of July,—and with searching
for the missionaries. But when Pounde’s challenge put .
it upon the false scent of a plot to stir up rebellion by
promulgating the Pope’s “Bulls and messages,” and
especially when this false opinion was corroborated by the
dispersion of Campion’s challenge, very different measures
seemed necessary. When we consider the state of England
and Ireland at the time, these fears do not seem utterly
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unreasonable. The measures which they prompted were
both energetic and comprehensive. They amounted to a
plan for putting all the Catholic gentry of England under
surveillance, and for confining all the most energetic of
them either to prison or to very narrow limits. First,
certain castles in various parts of England were selected
for the custody of the recusants, and a keeper and two
superintendents appointed for each. Wisbeach Castle,
which had been alreédy selected in 1572, on account of
its solitary site, as a place where the chief recusants
should be imprisoned and made *to live at their own
charges,””™ was now made the prison for such of “the
capital doctors and priests” as were found “busier in
matters of state than was meet for the quiet of the
realm.”"™ Sir Nicholas Bacon was appointed keeper; and
Michell and Carleton, the latter a sour Puritan, were to
be the resident superintendents.™ Banbury was appor-
tioned for the recusants of Warwick, Oxford, and Nor-
thampton; Tremingham for those of Norfolk and Suffolk;
Kimbolton for those of Huntingdon, Buckingham, and
Bedford; Portchester for those of Surrey, Hants, and
Sussex ; Devizes for those of Dorset, Wilts, and Somerset;
Melbourne for Stafford, Derby, Leicester, Lincoln, and
Nottingham; Halton, in Cheshire, for Lancashire, Cheshire,
and North Wales; Wigmore, in Montgomeryshire, for
Hereford, Monmouth, Worcester, and South Wales. Those
proposed for the north were, Middleham, Knaresborough,
Durham, and Barnard Castle. The instructions to the
keeper of Wisbeach Castle!™ will serve as a specimen of
the rest. Besides the usual rules of close confinement, a
minister was to be appointed, to have *“his charge of diet
and other necessaries by the contributions of the recu-
sants;” and the keeper was to see “that due exercise of
common prayer be observed every day, and preaching
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twice in the week at least.” At this the prisoners were to be
present, or, if they refused, they were to be fined at the
pleasure of the Bishop of Ely. Each prisoner, moreover,
was to be, “twice in the week at least, conferred with, as
well by the minister as by other learned men sent by
the bishop, or that voluntarily of themselves should come
for so charitable a work.” But the prisoners were to
have no conference with each other but at meal-time, and
then there was to be ‘“‘no speech of any matters in con-
troversy.” Those who conferred with the minister were
to have more liberty than those who did not. But none
were to be allowed to have any books except a Bible,
the works of the Fathers, and books licensed by the minister.

To this place, to this discipline, the government banished
Watson, the Bishop of Lincoln; Feckenham, the Abbot
of Westminster; and other dignitaries,—who up to this
time had been allowed a certain amount of liberty.

“In their old age” (writes a priest from London to Father
Agazzari, rector of the English College at Rome!7%) “they are
sent to Wisbeach Castle, a most unhealthy place, under the
orders of a sour Puritan. It is certain they cannot live long
there. Over and above the miseries of imprisonment, they are
shamefully treated by their keeper. All books but a single
Bible are taken from them, nor are they allowed any papers
of their own writings, or notes. Conceited ministers are let
in upon them without warning, with whom they must argue
without preparation, or endure their insults. The most false
and ridiculous libels upon them are published, and even print-
ed, in’ order to lessen the consideration in which they are held.
Last month!”” an immodest woman was shut up without their
knowledge in one of their chambers, to give a handle for a
false charge of incontinence. No access is allowed, and we
are obliged to use tricks to communicate with them. When
any one wants to give them an alms, he walks in the neigh-
bouring fields the day before, and cries out as if he was looking
for game. At this sign, one of them looks out of window,
and learns by signal that there is something for the prisoners.



236 Edmund Campion.

The next night, when every body is asleep, the sportsman
cautiously creeps up to the wall, and one of the prisoners lets
down a basket from the window whence the sign was given,
and draws up what is put into it. The same plan is generally
adopted for the other prisons; but the variety of places requires
a variety of methods, and the zeal, charity, and bravery of the
Catholics is greatly conspicuous in designing and accomplishing
these dangerous services.”

After the coast had been somewhat cleared by con-
fining the “capital doctors and priests” in Wisbeach, and
the other recusants, already committed, in the other castles,
the council undertook a general raid against all the Ca-
tholics of England. The chief of them were sent for to
London, to answer before the council. Letters were
directed to the Bishops to summon and commit those
who were not summoned to London; but they were told
to be careful not to permit them *to come many together
at a time,” for fear they should know their strength.'™
Those who were summoned to London had first to give
bonds for their appearance, and were then committed, some
as prisoners to their own houses, some to those of their Pro-
testant friends, and others to the castles prepared for them.

Father Parsons quotes a long string of names of
persons committed. The following were the chief of
them, The Earl of Southampton, Lord Herbert, Lord
Compton, Lord Paget, Sir Thomas Fitzherbert, Sir John
Arundell, Sir Alexander Culpeper, Sir John Southworth,
Sir Nicholas Poyntz, Sir Thomas Gerard, Sir George
Peckham, John Talbot of Grafton, William and Richard
Shelly, Ralph Sheldon, Thomas and Francis Throgmorton,
John and Edward Gage, Nicholas Thimbleby, William
and Robert Tirwhit, Richard, Culpeper, John Walker, Mr.
Towneley, Mr. Guilford, Robert Price, Peter Titchbourne,
Erasmus Wolseley, John Gifford, Brian Fowler, Thomas
Cross.”™ Both of these events, the proclamation and the
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persecution, were described by Dr. Allen, who wrote as follows
to the Cardinal Cofomo from Rheims, Sept. 12 (N.S.), 1580:1%

¢“MOST ILLUSTRIOUS AND REVEREND LORD CARDINAL,—Not
long ago I sent your eminence the late proclamation of the
Queen of England against the Catholics of her dominions; not,
indeed, professedly against their religion, but against their
suspected treason and conspiracy with the refugees. In it she
tells her subjects, that the Pope and the King of Spain had
been long and earnestly entreated by her enemies and the
refugees to make war against her; she boasts that she is quite
prepared for it, and that she fears no foreign forces; she com-
mands her subjects to stand fast in their duty and fidelity;and
she says she fears neither rebels within, nor the land or sea
forces made ready without. Moreover, she declares that in future
she means to deal more sharply than her habit or her natureinclines
her with those of her subjects who are guilty of any conspi-
racy with the refugee rebels. Soon after the publication of
this edict, by crier, through the whole realm, she orders that
in each county all the more powerful and notable Catholics
should be apprehended, and committed either to prison or to
the custody of heretics. This was immediately, almost suddenly,
put in execution; at the same time the strictest search was
made for priests, particularly for two lawyers whom we sent
over this summer, and for the Jesuits. But the Catholics take
such pains, and use such care in concealing them, that up to
this time very few have fallen into the enemies’ hands. They
have only taken two priests of Rheims and one of Rome.

The number of gentlemen now in prison is so great that
they are obliged to remove the old prisoners for religion—the
Bishop of Lincoln and several other ecclesiastics—to other strong
places far distant from the city, to make room for the new
prisoners. The same thing had already been done at York.
But many think that the reason of this was, that the priests
kept prisoners in those cities were converting all the chief citizens
and many of the nobility, and persuading them by their life
and example to persevere. Those gentlemen are treated most
severely who are known to have sons in the seminary of Rome
or of Rheims. This persecution is heavier, and extends to more
persons, than any of those before it. For before this they never
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committed any of the nobility; who, however, are not in prison,
but only given into the custody of heretics.

It is supposed that they do all this to prevent any Catholics
joining the enemy, if there is to be any; for they are horribly
afraid of what is to be. And perhaps they have made quite
sure of those whom they have shut up, whatever turns up.
But as for the rest, who escape the present danger by dis-
simulation or other shifts, they are rather provoked and irritated
to make some attempt, when God gives opportunity, not only
to deliver their own souls, but their friends’ also who are so
unhandsomely imprisoned.

And certainly the whole Catholic population, afflicted in soul
and body by this disgraceful tyranny of one woman, beseeches
God with unspeakable yearnings to grant some redemption.
For this we exiles cry out to our most holy Father, the highest
minister of justice upon earth; for this the prisoners groan to
him; for this innumerable afflicted souls, his own sheep, stretch
forth their hands to him. Not that we doubt that the well-
known compassion of the most holy Gregory can do more than
it does; or that he, our only father upon earth, can wish us
better or greater things than he does; but that we may at
least somewhat relieve our most just sorrow for our people by
communicating our calamities to our most holy Lord and loving
Father, and to your kindness. Certainly, all thinking men
prognosticate that this new cruelty will do hurt to our enemies.
Whether they intend to do more than imprison is as yet uncer-
tain; further measures are expected after the meeting of Parlia-
ment, which is supposed to be soon about to take place. Our
religion is only exalted above its condemners by this persecu-
tion, and by the admirable constancy which it calls torth.
And it is made clear to all, that the question now is notabout
religion,—of which our enemies have not a bit,—but about
the stability of the empire, and about worldly prosperity. May the
Lord Jesus long preserve your lordship to be our great defence!

Your Eminence’s most humble servant in the Lord,
WILLIAM ALLEN.
Rheims, 12 Sept. 1580.

P.S.—I have sent you a page of the English Calendar, that
you may see how solemnly the festival of Elizabeth’s birthday
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is kept on the 7th of September, so as totally to eclipse that
of the Blessed Virgin on the 8th, which is omitted. See the
pride of the queen, who is not content with the festival of her
coronation, but must have her birthday kept besides.”

Neither Parsons nor Campion, who were on the spot,
describe this persecution with so much bitterness as Dr.
Allen at Rheims. This we may attribute partly to a
generosity which feels more pain at seeing others suffer
than at suffering; partly to a consciousness, which Allen
could not but have felt, that the persecution was in some
measure to be attributed to himself and the foreign
meddlers who were perpetually interfering in the political
affairs of England, with the object of restoring religion
there. In spite of the laboured attempt of Parsons to
prove the contrary, it is abundantly clear that Allen was
deeply implicated in the plots of the day. The last part
of the foregoing letter would have been treasonable in
the eyes of all lawyers, especially when we connect his
passionate appeal to the Pope with the Papal expedition
against Elizabeth which at the very time had descended
upon the coast of Ireland, and about which the nuncio
at Paris had just sent off this news to Rome: “The Earl
of Desmond, and Dr. Nicholas Sanders, and all the
Catholic army, are still encamped in their old place—a
strong position. They were, at the date of my advice,
waiting for foreign aid, without which they can do little
or nothing. But we heard yesterday by letter and
authentic report that five great ships full of soldiers and
munitions of war—sent, it said, by the Holy See—reached
in safety some port in Ireland a few days ago.”™®

The Jesuits were satisfied with the fruits of this first
expedition. They found the country people more inclined
to be Catholics than the inhabitants of the towns:—“the
infection of ministers bore most rule with artisans and
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merchants:”—but the best part of the nobility and
gentry, who dwelt on their estates, together with their
tenants and dependents, remembered the virtuous life and
just proceeding of those of the ancient religion, especially
when they saw and felt the present contrast. It was a
comfortable thing, says Parsons, to see the universal
inclination of so infinite a people to the Catholic religion;
but an incredible sorrow to witness the rents and breaches,
the wrenches and disjointures, which the preaching of new
doctrines for twenty years had made in the consciences
and belief of that good people, which had lived so many
ages in one faith. The breach between the Protestants
and Puritans was already of many years’ date. But this
year Puritanism had given birth to a new development,
that of the “Family of Love,” which had already gained
several of the queen’s household, and especially of her
guard, and against which she published a proclamation
dated Richmond, October 3, in this year. The peasant
mind had already begun to ferment. In May, Ham-
mond, the plough-wright of Hethersett, had suffered the
loss of his ears for blaspheming the queen and council,
and was afterwards burnt in the castle-ditch at Norwich,
for saying that the New Testament was a fable; that
Christ’s blood is not necessary for salvation; that He
neither rose again nor ascended into heaven; that there
is no Holy Ghost; and that there are no sacraments.
Parsons maintains that this denial of all Christianity was
a logical development of the principle which renounced
the authority of tradition to determine the canon of
Scripture and explain its meaning; rejected all merit in
order to amplify God’s mercy; denied Christ’s descent
into hell, and the assistance of general councils by the
Holy Ghost; and prepared the way for rejecting all the
sacraments by rejecting five of them.
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But where the fermentation did not drive men into
these sloughs, it led them to repair to the Jesuits to be
resolved of their doubts and scruples. For, beside the
open and obstinate heretics, there were many who were
only verging to that state, unable by themselves to solve
the arguments of the minister, but easily kept right by
the priest. Parsons gives several examples. Anne Di-
mocke, a maid of honour to the queen, a great follower
of the court preachers, had learnt from them that there
was no hell, “but only a certain remorse of conscience
for him that did evil, which was to be understood for
hell, and that all the rest were but bugbears to fright
children.” To solve this doubt, she applied to Father
Parsons, under whose instructions she at once became
Catholic, and afterwards left the court and the world,
and, with one of Lord Vaux’s daughters, followed Parsons
to Rouen, where she entered a convent.

Sir Robert Dimocke was another great hearer of ser-
mons, and had been led into such a maze by them, that
he had come to doubt whether there was any God. His
friends therefore procured a secret interview between him
and Father Parsons; and the first point which had to be
discussed between them was the existence of God. Parsons,
during a ride of a few hours, convinced him on this
point; but as Sir Robert was still a Protestant, the father
durst not trust himself with him in any town or house.
However, Dimocke afterwards sent for Campion, who
finished his conversion, and took him into the Church.

These examples Parsons gives to show how those
farthest gone out of order were reduced; how those who
were going were stayed; how doubters were resolved ; how
the cold and negligent were warmed; how those whose
good desires were paralysed by fear were put in heart;

and how those who were good were confirmed.
R
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The venture prospered,—to use the mercantile phrase-
ology they affected in order to conceal their meaning from
the uninitiated ;—though many slighted their wares, and
many defamed them, there were no few buyers and more
admirers. Among the Protestants there was vast talk
about the Jesuits, who were as much befabled as mytho-
logical monsters. There were tales, no more consistent
than dreams, current about their origin, their life, their
rule, morals, doctrine, designs, and actions. Almost all
agreed, however, that they were spies of the Pope, or
agents of treason and sedition.

The general tenor of the conduct of the Catholics who
received the Jesuits gladly may be learned from the
letter to father Agazzari already quoted: “ When a priest
comes to their houses, they first salute him asa stranger
unknown to them, and then they take him to an inner
chamber where an oratory is set up, where all fall on
their knees, and beg his blessing. Then they ask how
long he will remain with them, and pray him to stop as
long as he may. If he says he must go on the morrow,
as he usually does,—for it is dangerous to stay longer,
—they all prepare for confession that evening; the next
morning they hear Mass and receive Holy Communion;
then, after preaching and giving his blessing a second
time, the priest departs, and is conducted on his journey
by one of the young gentlemen.”

The hiding holes had become known, by means of
searchers and false brethren, by the middle of 1581; so
that even thus early the Catholics were compelled, when
there was a night alarm, to betake themselves to woods
and thickets, to ditches and holes. “Sometimes when we
are sitting merrily at table, conversing familiarly on matters
of faith and devotion (for our talk is generally of such
things), there comes a hurried knock at the door, like
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that of a pursuivant; all start up and listen,—like deer
when they hear the huntsmen; we leave our food, and
commend ourselves to God in a brief ejaculation; nor is
word or sound heard till the servants come to say what
the matter is. If it is nothing, we laugh at our fright.”

“No one is to be found in these parts who complains
of the length of services: if a Mass does not last nearly
an hour, many are discontented. If six, eight, or more
Masses are said in the same place, and on the same day
(as often happens when there is a meeting of priests), the
same congregation will assist at all. When they can get
priests, they confess every week. Quarrels are scarce
known amongst them. Disputes are almost always left
to the arbitration of the priest. They do not willingly
intermarry with heretics, nor will they pray with them
nor do they like to have any dealings with them. A
lady was lately told that she should be let out of prison,
if she would once walk through a church; she refused.
She had come into prison with a sound conscience, and
she would depart with it, or die. In Henry's days, the
father of this Elizabeth, the whole kingdom, with all its
Bishops and learned men, abjured their faith at one word
of the tyrant. But now, in his daughter’s days, boys and
women boldly profess the faith before the judge, and
refuse to make the slightest concession even at the
threat of death.”

In October, when Michaelmas term began, Campion
and Parsons returned towards London to meet and confer
once more, and to compare the results of their labours.
The two letters {in which they give an account of their
doings will fitly conclude this chapter.

“The heat of the persecution now raging against Catholics

throughout the whole realm is most fiery, such as has never
been heard of since the conversion of England. Gentle and
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simple, men and women, are being every where haled to prison,
even children are being put into irons; they are despoiled of
their goods, shut out from the light of day, and publicly held
up to the contempt of the people in proclamations, sermons,
and conferences, as traitors and rebels. It is supposed that
the reasons of this great persecution are, first, the ill-success of
the English in Ireland; next, the demonstration made last
summer against England by the Spanish fleet; and lastly, the
coming of the Jesuits into the island, and the great number
of conversions made by them, which has so astonished the
heretics that they know not what to do or say. They are
most troubled about a certain protestation of their faith and
religion, and of the reasons of their coming into England,
which the Jesuits wrote and signed with their names, and placed
in the hands of a friend, for fear that, if they were cast into
prison, the heretics might pretend, as is their usual custom,
that they had recanted. This protestation was communicated
by the man who had charge of it to another, and by him to
a third, and it soon came into the hands of an immense
number, and even of the queen’s councillors.

We hear that one month since more than fifty thousand
names of persons who refused to go to the heretical churches
were reported. Many more, I fancy, have been discovered since.

The heretics, when they throw the Catholics into prison,
only ask them one thing,—to come to their churches, and to
hear sermon and service. It was even lately proposed to cer-
tain noblemen to come, if it were only once a year, to church,
making, if they pleased, a previous protestation that they came
not to approve of their religion or doctrines, but only to show
an outward obedience to the queen; and yet all most con-
stantly refused. A certain noble lady was offered her choice,
either to stay in prison, or simply to walk through the church
without stopping there, or exhibiting any signs of respect; but
she declared that she never would. A boy, of, I believe, twelve
years, who had been cheated by his friends into walking to
church before a bride (as the custom here is), and had been
afterwards blamed by his companions, was perfectly inconsolable
till he found me a few days after, when he threw himself down
at my feet, and confessed his sin. A thousand similar instan-
ces might be given.
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We, although all conversation with us is forbidden by proc-
lamation, are yet most earnestly invited every where; many
take long journeys onmly to speak to us, and put themselves
and their fortunes entirely in our hands. It is therefore abso-
lutely necessary that more of our Society should be sent, if
possible—not fewer than five: one Spaniard, one Italian, and
three Englishmen, who must be very learned men, on account
of the many entangled cases of conscience, which arise from
no one here having ample faculties, and from the difficulty of
consulting the Holy See,—which is treason.

There is immense want of a Bishop to consecrate for us
the holy oils for baptism and extreme unction, for want of
which we are brought to the greatest straits; and unless his
Holiness makes haste to help us in this matter, we shall be
soon at our wits' end.

The adversaries are very mad that by no cruelty can they
move a single Catholic from his resolution, no, not even a
little girl. A young lady of sixteen was questioned by the sham
Bishop of London about the Pope, and answered him with
courage, and even made fun of him in public, and so was
ordered to be carried to the public prison for prostitutes.!?
On the way she cried out that she was sent to that place for
her religion, and not for immodesty.

A certain English gentleman-pirate lately returned with a
booty of more than two millions, taken in the West Indies.
The Spanish ambassador reclaimed the spoil in the king’s name;
but the queen gave the shuffling answer, that the King of
Spain had given harbour to the Pope’s ships on their passage
to Ireland. She asked, moreover, why the Pope, without being
harmed, attacked her kingdom in this way. He answered, that
he rather wondered that the Pope did not attempt to do more
against her, who had treated him so abominably, not only in
refusing him all his ecclesiastical rights, which from the most
ancient times were allowed to the Holy See by the kings of
England, but also by libels, sermons, lewd pictures, and many
other ways, by which his authority was defamed and brought
into contempt. He said more to the same effect, and the
queen was silent then; but afterwards said to a nobleman that
the Pope had written to her that he was prepared to approve
the whole Protestant service, if she would restore him his title
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of supreme head of the Church. But in these parts there is
often talk of this kind of pretended letters.

I keep myself safe here in London by frequent change of
place; I never remain more than two days in one spot, because
of the strict searches made for me. I am quite overwhelmed
with business to which I am obliged to devote the whole day,
from early morning till midnight, after I have said Mass and office,
and preached, sometimes twice in the day. Therefore I hope for
reinforcements, both from our Society and from the Pope’s college.

All Catholics here lift up their hands and thank God and
his Holiness for founding such a college at Rome, beyond all
their hopes; and they beseech his Holiness, by the bowels of
the mercy of our Saviour, to defend the college, and to enlarge
it for the needs of the present time.

Two days ago a priest called Clifton was led in chains
through the streets, and he walked with so cheerful a counten-
ance that the people wondered. When he saw this, he began
to laugh heartily, at which the folks were still more struck, and
asked him why he was the only one to laugh at his own sad
case, for which every body else pitied him. He answered, it
was because he was the gainer in the business. In the be-
ginning of this persecution, there were some people in a certain
county who were frightened, and promised to go to the Pro-
testant church; but their wives stood out against them, and
threatened to leave them if they, for human respect, left off
their obedience to God and the Church. Many like things
bhave taken place among boys, who for this cause have separ-
ated themselves from their parents.”!%3

Campion’s letter describes the passages of his career
since he last wrote from St. Omers. The eventsto which
the first paragraph refers have already been related; but
it will do no harm to repeat them in his own words.
The rest refers to his experience during his first journey
through England.

“Having now passed, by God’s great mercy, five months
in these places, I thought it good to give you intelligence by
my letters of the present state of things here, and what we
may of likelihood look for to come; for I am sure, both for
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the common care of us all, and special love to me, you long to
know what I do, what hope I have, how I proceed. Of other
things that fell before, I wrote from St. Omers; what has
sithence happened, now I will briefly recount unto you. It
fell out, as I construe it, by God’s special providence, that
tarrying for wind four days together, I should at length take
sea the fifth day in the evening, which was the feast of St.
John Baptist, my particular patron, to whom I had often before
commended my cause and journey. So we arrived safely at
Dover the morrow following, very early, my little man and I
together. There we were at the very point to be taken, being
by commandment brought before the mayor of the town, who
conjectured many things,—suspected us to be such as indeed we
were, adversaries of the new heretical faction, favourers of the
old fathers’ faith, that we dissembled our names, had been
abroad for religion, and returned again to spread the same.
One thing specially urged, that I was Dr. Allen; which I denied,
proffering my oath, if need were, for the verifying thereof. At
length he resolveth, and that it so should be, he often repeated,
that, with some to guard me, I should be sent to the council.
Neither can I tell who altered his determination, saving God,
to whom underhand I then humbly prayed, using St. John’s
intercession also, by whose happy help I safely came so far.
Suddenly cometh forth an old man,—God give him grace for
his labour!—¢Well,” quoth he, ‘it is agreed you shall be dis-
missed; fare you well’ And so we to go apace. The which
thing considered, and the like that daily befall unto me, I am
verily persuaded that one day I shall be apprehended, but that
when it shall most pertain to God’s glory, and not before.
Well, I came to London, and my good angel guided me
into the same house that had harboured Father Robert [Parsons]
before, whither young gentlemen came to me on every hand.
They embrace me, reapparel me, furnish me, weapon me, and
convey me out of the city. I ride about some piece of the
country every day. The harvest is wonderful great. On horse-
back I meditate my sermon; when I come to the house, I
polish it. Then I talk with such as come to speak with me,
or hear their confessions. In the morning, after Mass, I preach;
they hear with exceeding greediness, and very often receive
the sacrament, for the ministration whereof we are ever well
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assisted by priests, whom we find in every place, whereby both
the people is well served, and we much eased in our charge.
The priests of our country themselves being most excellent for
virtue and learning, yet have raised so great an opinion of our
Society, that I dare scarcely touch the exceeding reverence all
Catholics do unto us. How much more is it requisite that such
as hereafter are to be sent for supply, whereof we have great
need, be such as may answer all men’s expectation of them!
Specially let them be well trained for the pulpit. I cannot
long escape the hands of the heretics; the enemies have so many
eyes, so many tongues, so many scouts and crafts. I am in
apparel to myself very ridiculous; I often change it, and my
name also. I read letters sometimes myself that in the first
front tell news that Campion is taken, which, noised in every
place where I come, so filleth my ears with the sound thereof,
that fear itself hath taken away all fear. My soul is in mine
own hands ever. Let such as you send for supply premeditate
and make count of this always. Marry, the solaces that are
ever intermingled with the miseries are so great, that they do
not only. countervail the fear of what punishment temporal
soever, but by infinite sweetness make all worldly pains, be they
never so great, seem nothing. A conscience pure, a courage
invincible, zeal incredible, a work so worthy the number innu-
merable, of high degree, of mean calling, of the inferior sort,
of every age and sex.

Here, even amongst the Protestants themselves that are of
milder nature, it is turned into a proverb, that he must be a
Catholic that payeth faithfully what he oweth, insomuch that if
any Catholic do injury, every body expostulateth with him as
for an act unworthy of men of that calling. To be short,
heresy heareth ill of all men; neither is there any condition of
people commonly counted more vile and impure than their
ministers, and we worthily have indignation that fellows so
unlearned, so evil, so derided, so base, should in so desperatea
quarrel overrule such a number of noble wits as our realm hath.
Threatening edicts come forth against us daily ; notwithstanding,
by good heed, and the prayers of good men, and, which is the
chief of all, God's special gift, we have passed safely through
the most part of the island. I find many neglecting their own
security to have only care of my safety.
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A certain matter fell out these days unlooked for. I had
set down in writing by several articles the causes of my coming
in and made certain demands most reasonable. I professed
myself to be a priest of the Society; that I returned to enlarge
the Catholic faith, to teach the Gospel, to minister the sacra-
ments, humbly asking audience of the queen and the nobility
of the realm, and proffering disputations to the adversaries.
One copy of this writing I determined to keep with me, that
if I should fall into the officers’ hands, it might go with me;
another copy I laid in a friend’s hand, that when myself with
the other should be seized, another might thereupon straight
be dispersed. But my said friend kept it not close long, but
divulged it, and it was read greedily; whereat the adversaries
were mad, answering out of the pulpit, that themselves certesse
would not refuse to dispute, but the queen’s pleasure was not
that matters should be called in question being already estab-
lished. In the mean while they tear and sting us with their
venomous tongues, calling us seditious, hypocrites, yea, heretics
too, which is much laughed at. The people hereupon is ours,
and that error of spreading abroad this writing hath much
advanced the cause. If we be commanded, and may have safe
conduct, we will into the court.

But they mean nothing less, for they have filled all the old
prisons with Catholics, and now make new;and, in fine, plainly
affirm that it were better so make a few traitors away than that
so many souls should be lost. Of their martyrs they brag no
more now; for it is now come to pass, that for a few apostates and
cobblers of theirs burnt, we have bishops, lords, knights, the old no-
bility, patterns of learning, piety, and prudence, the flower of the
youth, noble matrons, and of the inferior sort innumerable, either
martyred at once, or by consuming prisonment dying daily. Atthe
very writing hereof, the persecution rages most cruelly, The
house where I am is sad; no other talk but of death, flight,
prison, or spoil of their friends; nevertheless they proceed with
courage. Very many, even at this present, being restored to the
Church, new soldiers give up their names, while the old offer
up gtheir blood; by which holy hosts and oblations God will
be pleased, and we shall no question by Him overcome.

You see now, therefore, reverend father, how much need we
have of your prayers and sacrifices, and other heavenly help,
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to go through with these things. There will never want in
England men that will have care of their own salvation, nor
such as shall advance other men’s; neither shall this Church
here ever fail so long as priests and pastors shall be found for
their sheep, rage man or devil never so much. But the rumour
of present peril causeth me here to make an end. Arise God,
His enemies avoid. Fare you welL—E.C,”!%




CHAPTER IX.

PARSONS reached London in October, 1580, some days
before Campion, for whom he tried to find a convenient
lodging. But the persecution had become so hot, and
Campion especially was so curiously searched for, that it
was thought unsafe for him to come into the city. It
was therefore signified to him on the way that he should
tarry somewhere in the neighbourhood ; and he accordingly
stayed at Wm. Griffith’s house near Uxbridge, fifteen
miles from London, where Parsons and other missionaries
joined him. .

At their first meeting they related to each other their
adventures; they enumerated the shires, towns, and houses
they had visited, the successes they had gained, and the
perils they had escaped. Parsons told how he had gone
into Gloucester, Hereford, and Worcestershire, and so
through into Derbyshire; how he had converted Lord
Compton, Thomas Tresham, William Catesby, and his
uncle Dimock, the champion of England: if he had been
gifted with a prophetic spirit, he might have told how
he had planted at Lapworth Park and other places round
Stratford-on-Avon the seeds of a political Popery that
was destined in some twenty-five years to bring forth the
Gunpowder Plot. Among his converts he may, if I may
thus correct Tieck’s guess, have had to enumerate certain
aldermen of Stratford, John Wheeler and John Shakespeare,
the father of our ever-living poet. Campion, again, had
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to tell of his travels in Berkshire, Oxfordshire, and Nor-
thamptonshire, and the conversions he had made there.
It has been supposed that Campion’s family came originally
from Northamptonshire, where the name frequently occurs
in the early records. But though he was drawn thither
by no family tie, there is enough to explain his sojourn
there by the fact that some of the chief converts that
he and Parsons had gathered in had their estates in the
county. Among these were Sir Thomas Tresham of
Rushton, Sir William Catesby of Ashby Leger, and Lord
Vaux of Harrowden. Parsons found that Campion had
reaped a wonderful harvest, and that the other priests
had gathered plentifully; but they had been chiefly em-
ployed in watering what Campion had sown. They then
laid their plans for their next expedition, and resolved
that Parsons should for the present remain in or near
London, for it seemed that he was not as yet so diligently
sought for as Campion, who, both for this reason and
because his presence was most earnestly desired in divers
places, was sent into the country parts till the tempest
should be somewhat assuaged.

The Catholics of several shires had made suit to have
him among them, especially those of Lancashire and
Norfolk, whom he had been unable to visit on his former
circuit. Lancashire was chosen because it was further
from London, and generally better affected to the Catholic
religion, and because there was more hope to find there
commodity of books to help him to answer the heretics,
if they should provoke him, as it was supposed they
would shortly do, seeing that his challenge was now in
their hands, and known over all England,”™ furnishing
almost the only common topic at ordinary tables and
public meetings. And although no answer had hitherto
been published, it seemed impossible but shortly there
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would be one: wherefore it was resolved that Campion
should depart again out of hand, and, with all the secrecy
he could, put himself within the compass of Lancashire.

Moreover, it was moved to him, that as nothing needing
a reply had yet appeared, he should do well, whenever
he had leisure from preaching and instructing, to write
something in Latin to the Universities, considering the
love they bore him, and the good opinion they had of
his style in times past: to this after some stickling he
agreed, provided the subject was given him. On this
some proposed—*Consolation to Catholics in this time
of persecution;” others—* Encouraging the weak to stand,
and reprehending such as of worldly fear did shrink from
God;” others—* To reprove this manner of the Protestants’
proceedings contrary to their own doctrine and protesta-
tions in time past;” others finally, that he should write
of some points in controversy.

Campion, after meet pause, said that all these pro-
positions were good; yet, if it was left to him, he should
choose an argument that no one had named—De¢ keress
desperaté—*to show that heresy did now despair in
England.” All present laughed at the paradox, and
objected that heresy was then most rampant, triumphant,
and persecuting. “Even for this cause,” he replied,
“seemeth this argument most fit at this time, for that
this manner of their cruel proceeding by terror is the
greatest argument that may be of their desperation; for
if they had any confidence at all in the truth of their
cause, they would never proceed in this manner.” Whether
all the company was ready to accept so broad a principle,
Father Parsons does not inform us.

This notion of *“heresy in despair,” which was to have
been the title of his work, is the key-note of his famous
Ten Reasons. His first theme is the “diffidence” which
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leads men to pervert Scripture, and the “despair” which
made Manichees, Ebionites, Luther and Lutherans alter
or maim the Bible. This beginning of Campion’s book
shows, as Parsons says, that it was his intention to handle
the special point of the despairing of heresy, if he had
not been afterwards drawn to another argument by
Charke’s answer [to his challenge. For it was his fixed
idea that heresy in England was desperate, and that few
or no men of judgment thought in their consciences the
doctrine which was commonly taught and practised to be
true or defensible, its absurdities being so many and man-
ifest: but that some of policy, some for present govern-
ment, others for ease, others for gain, honour, and pre-
ferment, and all commonly for some temporal interest
or other, did stretch out a hand to hold it up for a time
by force and violence. This idea may be found in several
parts of the 7en Reasons, especially in the conclusion.

After disposing of the point of Campion’s writing, the
company proceeded to consult about sending some priests
to the Universities to help and direct such youths as God
might move to affect His religion, and to pass over sea
to the Seminaries. For this purpose they appointed
Mr. Hartley™ and Mr. Arthur Pitts.!™

Next,”® considering that Scotland was nearly connected
with England, whence it had derived its corruption and
ruin; and that the king was then but a child of fifteen,
whom his mother, most unjustly detained prisoner in
England, desired to have instructed in the Catholic faith,
if it might be,—the fathers thought themselves bound to
send some priest into Scotland to see what good might
be done; and they appointed Mr. William Watts, a man
of good parts, and well known in the North of England.
He found matters in better disposition than was expected;
several of the principal nobles were well affected to the
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Catholic religion, and the young king was supposed to
be much inclined to follow the precepts and the counsel
of his mother; moreover, there appeared some probability
of a speedy change in the government, as soon afterwards
came to pass: for, a French nobleman, M. d’Aubigny,
descended from the royal house of the Stuarts, and ca-
tholicly bent in religion, was growing into high favour
with the king and nobles; while Morton, one of the
contrary house of Douglas, and a great heretic, whom
Elizabeth had advanced to the government of the king
and realm, was waxing daily more cruel and hateful to
every one; and it seemed impossible that affairs should
remain much longer in such a state. As indeed they
did not; for Morton was condemned and beheaded in the
spring of 1581, and M. d’Aubigny was created Duke ot
Lennox, and governor of the king. This seemed to open
the door for the Catholic religion to re-enter Scotland,
and several learned men were sent into that kingdom.

All this digression about Scotland is in reality out of
place in the life of Father Campion, whatever connexion
the intrigues here alluded to may have had with his death,
M. Teulet’s collection of documents referring to the Queen
of Scots is full of proof that the Jesuits, and especially
Father Holt, were active in her cause, and earnestly in-
trigued with the disaffected English nobles in her favour.
But this does not seem to have begun before Parsons,
after his return to London in November, obtained the
protection of Mendoza, the Spanish ambassador, and en-
gaged with him in counterplots against the French ad-
vances, and for saving the kingdoms of England and
Scotland from heresy.

Finally, Parsons tells us, he and Campion agreed to
write an account to the General at Rome how matters
had passed with them, in what state they were for the
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present, and what helps they had need of for the time
to come. These were chiefly two—the prayers of all
good men, and a new supply of other Jesuits of the
English mission to come and share their labours—(a request
that was answered by the mission of Fathers Holt and
Heywood). But the persecution and the search beginning
now to be so hot and vehement that it was thought
dangerous for them to stay any longer together, it was
resolved that Campion should presently depart, and write
his letters to the General upon the way. So, after prayer
and some exhortations, mutual confession, and renewal
of their vows according to the custom of their Society,
they parted, and committing each one his fellow to the
grace of Almighty God, with the tenderness of heart
which in such a case and so dangerous a time may be
imagined, when they might hardly hope to see ever the
one the other again, they took their journey, the one
towards Lancashire, and the other to London.

In October, while this conference was being held in
Uxbridge, the Queen’s Council published a new proclama-
tion, the third since the entrance of the Jesuits into
England, for their discovery and apprehension. This
caused so great danger and molestation from constables,
pursuivants, searchers, and other catchpoles, that Cam-
pion found marvellous difficulty to pass the counties and
shires through which he was to go: often he lighted
upon the searchers, though not they upon him, for his
time was not yet come. Seeing himself thus beset, he
was forced to stay more upon the way than he had
purposed, and he took occasion of one of these enforced
times of leisure to give the General an account of his
journey, in the famous letter which I have printed at the
end of the last chapter,

At this point the biographer loses the invaluable aid
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of the Ms. life of Campion by Father Parsons, and has
to rely on Bombinus and Bartoli, two honest writers who
had authentic materials to work from, but whose ideal of
history was of a superficial and theatrical kind, their end
being moral edification rather than the instruction of the
reason by the critical appreciation of facts. There is
also a kind of skeleton of Parsons’ intended continuation
of his biography, which served as a guide to Bombinus;
and there are papers remaining in the Record Office and
the British Museum, which will serve to correct the ne-
cessarily partial statements of the sufferers in this great
conflict,

Parsons then, having sent Campion towards the north,
retired to London, where he found the persecution re-
doubled " in vigour. A fourth proclamation came out
against the Jesuits in November; for the Council imagined
that all the priests had returned to London, and therefore
directed the most minute search to be made in all Ca-
tholic houses for them. For this cause Parsons, and
probably other priests likewise, were forced to seek lodging
elsewhere. Parsons found his sometimes in Bridewell,
sometimes in the suburbs, and sometimes even in one of
the Queen’s palaces. And from this time the Catholics
found their most secure asylums in the houses of pur-
suivants, or other civil and ecclesiastical officers whom
they had in their pay. It was at this time also that
Parsons procured the assistance of Bernadine de Mendoza,
the Spanish ambassador, who took him under his special
protection, and would walk with him as one of his own
men, while the Queen’s officers were watching his house.
By him Parsons suffered himself to be altogether detached
from the French interest, which was suspected, on account
of Castelnau’s friendly dealing with the Protestants. And
Parsons, now completely “espaniolated,” discussed with

S
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Mendoza the means of saving England and Scotland from
heresy or the dominion of heretics.

In London Parsons incurred the greatest danger, and
some of his chief friends were captured; among these I
must especially mention Ralph Sherwin, who it will be
remembered accompanied the Jesuits from Rome. Parsons
and he had not met since they had parted at Rheims,
yet he would do nothing without consulting Father Robert.
His great anxiety to practise obedience would have driven
him into a religious order, if it had not been for a still
greater desire to sacrifice himself in the work of the
English mission. “He met me,” writes Parsons, “the
night that Bosgrave followed me home from Hogsdon;
we passed the night together in spiritual conference,
wherein he told me of his desire to die. The next day
he came to tell me what danger we were in, and then
went away to preach; for we had agreed that he should
stay in London for the arrival of a certain gentleman
who had asked for him, and in the mean time should
occupy himself with preaching; and it was while preaching
in Mr. Roscarock’s house that he was captured. I think
he was the first of our confraternity to be taken, though
he was not the first priest caught since our arrival, for
Bosgrave and Hart were already in prison.” Sherwin
was committed to the Marshalsea, where he dealt with
some members of the Family of Love, and, like Campion,
gave a general challenge to heretics to dispute with him.
The gage was taken up by George Cary, the Queen’s
cousin, and once the intended husband of Mary Stuart,
who ordered certain questions to be put to him; but
Cary afterwards shrunk from argument, and sent Sherwin
to the Tower, where I find by the registers that he entered
December 4, 1580, together with Thomas Cottam, Robert
Johnson, and Luke Kirby, priests, and Henry Orton,
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layman.'® These captures show that the persecution was
increasing in severity. To add to Parson’s perplexity,
Adam Saquier, the son-in-law of Aylmer, Bishop of London,
whose protection Gilbert had purchased for him, declared
himself unable to carry out his agreement because of the
quarrels in which it involved him with the bishop, and
the danger to which it exposed him from the Council.
It was at this time that young Pascal, Sherwin’s pupil,
and the gentleman whose servant Campion feigned to be
at Geneva, fellaway. He was apprehended, and committed
to the Marshalsea, while Sherwin was still there. His
old master kept him firm; but when he lost Sherwin, he
was tripped up by his over-confidence. On his removal
to the Tower, December 19 or 29, his resolution was
almost gone. His intimacy with the Pope had spoiled
him; for Gregory XIII. had maintained him for some
years at Rome, and had admitted him to familiar inter-
course. He was more courtier than confessor: and on
January 15, 1581, he was brought handcuffed before the
magistrates in Guildhall, where Sir Owen Hopton, the
lieutenant of the Tower, was sitting; and when Hopton
asked the jailers with some anger how they dared to
treat with such indignity a gentleman who was coming
by his own freewill to do his duty as a good subject,
Pascal was half overcome; but when Hopton asked him
to come and sit by his side—first, by parenthesis, per-
forming the insignificant act of signing a scrap of parch-
ment—Pascal not only signed it, but repeated the oath
of supremacy in a loud voice, and then skipped gaily up
to the seat offered him by Hopton's side. He looked
round smiling and well pleased with himself, and saw that
all the spectators and the magistrates were smiling too,
and were besides shrugging their shoulders in contempt
for the silly frightened hare. The shrugs soon found
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tongue, and he became the butt of many a jest, and,
after the rising of the court, of still rougher usage, He
fled from London, and buried himself in some corner of
Kent. Sherwin mourned over him. He used to say to
him, “O John, John, little knowest thou what thou shalt
do before thou comest to it.” He was ill received by
his new friends, and became exceedingly wretched. Parsons
wrote to him, but he excused himself from answering the
letter; and so he slips out of our narrative,

During this period Parsons busied himself in carrying -
out a recommendation on which Campion had laid great
stress at Uxbridge—the establishment of a press for
printing answers to the works which would be sure to
swarm against them. He found his chief allies amongst
the old Marian priests, of whom he names Chambers,
Blackwell, Maurice, Tirwhit, Jury, Norris, and Birkett.
By their assistance, and the help of the landlord’s son,
he procured from one Brooks,” the owner of a large
and very fair house called Greenstreet (I suppose the
mansion so called at East Ham in Essex: see, however,
my “bibliography” book, p. 135. It was Mr. Watfarers’
house; Mr. Thomas More had his study there), which
Parsons tells us was about five miles from London, per-
mission for certain gentlemen to lodge there; thither he
conveyed the necessary materials, chiefly by the assistance
of his young friend Mr. Stephen Brinkley. There he had
to encounter the parson and churchwardens, who urged
on the new comers their duty of going to church. Soon
he was frightened by the idea that he had furnished a
clue to the discovery of his press by an incautious pur-
chase of paper. Ever and anon he was told that he would
certainly be caught, that Campion was already taken,
and that some of his confraternity were being apprehended
daily in London; and in reality John Hart, Christopher
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Thompson, James Bosgrave, and Thomas Briscoe, were
apprehended and committed to the Tower on Christmas-
eve. One day, a servant of Brinkley’s was caught and
racked; and although, as it turned out, no confession
could be extracted from him, yet, at the news Parsons’
and Gilbert fled; but having no place to betake them-
selves to, they returned next day, having first sent
Parsons’ man Alfield to see that the road was clear, He
did not return; and so their anxieties were redoubled,
the more so as the man’s father was a minister, and
Parsons more than once had noticed the way in which
fidelity and faithlessness ran in families. So they once
more fled; but the next day Alfield returned, and was
never afterwards thoroughly trusted by his master.

The first book that issued from this press was pro-
bably some book of devotions or of encouragement to
persecuted Catholics. After it was printed, Brinkley took
away the press, and came with a gay face to Parsons,
thinking to pass a merry night with him. But Parsons
had a new cause for anxiety. On his return to London
he found a book of William Charke!®—a Puritan minister,
the first preacher to Lincoln’s Inn, whose relation and
namesake Ezekiel, afterwards made himself notorious by
intruding into his father-in-law Hooker’s study after his
death, and burning his manuscripts—and another pamphlet
written by another minister, Meredith Hanmer, in confu-
tation of Campion’s Brag and Challenge® These two
books gave Parsons a twofold difficulty; they contained
some most pestilent accusations against him and Campion,
and he saw no way of refuting them. Brinkley offered
to bring the press back if he would write an answer;
but he had no place to put the press in, and no books
to refer to., Moreover he went in continual fear of his
man Alfield, who wanted to go to Gloucester to see his



262 Edmund Campion.

father.® At last Francis Browne offered his house, his
books, together with board and service. So Parsons sent
away his own man, and set himself to write the Censure
of Charke and Hanmer in three parts. But here again
he incurred great trouble and risk in publishing the book,
in consequence of the trap laid for Gilbert, whose bailiff
had been ordered by the Council to come up to London
to pay him his monies. Parsons would not allow Gilbert
to go in person to receive them, but sent Browne and
Charles Basset to Mr. Barnes’ house in Tuttlefield, or
rather to the house of one Higgins, an attorney. While
they were there, George Cary came and seized both the
money and the men. Nevertheless, the Censure appeared;
and the quickness of its repartee made the government
doubly angry. Parsons thinks that the proclamation ot
January 10, 1581, ordering all young men to return from
the seminaries, and denouncing all receivers and favourers
of priests and Jesuits, was a kind of reply to his Censure.

It may be worth while to give a few sketches from
this book. Parsons considered Charke to be more ven-
omous than Hanmer, who replied “more quietly, plainly,
and good-fellow-like, excepting a foul lie or two,” making
liberal offer of disputation, though he was never likely to
be one of the disputers. He had taken occasion to vent
a commonplace book of anti-Popish citations, about
anything rather than the matters in controversy, and had
made a book answering little purpose but to increase the
demand for Campion’s challenge, though they had labour
enough before in writing out copies for all who wanted them,

Charke dealt more subtly; he misrepresented the
challenge, drew everything to disloyalty and rebellion,
flattered the higher powers, wearied the reader with
eternal repetitions of “Pope” and *Popery,” exceeding
in invention of railing speech, undertaking all manner of
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lies without blushing, and venturing upon any assertion
whatever, provided only it was fit to discredit the Jesuits.
Parsons thus addresses him on his treatment of Campion:
“Whatever he says or does you will have it taken in
evil part: if he speak humbly, he dissembleth: if he yield
commendation, he flattereth: if he show confidence in his
cause, he vaunteth: if he offer trial, he meaneth not
performance: if he protest his meaning, he must not be
credited: if he desire audience, he must not be admitted:
whatever he urges for himself or his cause must avail
nothing. William Charke will have him condemned for
unlearned, proud, wicked, and traitorous to the state.”
Parsons found it more convenient to turn off Charke’s
insinuations with a jest than to answer them. Thus,
when Campion is said to have come over “in hopes of
a golden day”’—a phrase which in those days was inter-
preted to mean the death or dethronement of Elizabeth,
and the restoration of religion—Parsons replies that the
word ‘golden’ will not serve to express any of Campion’s
hopes, whom all the gold in England cannot gild, and
who despises gold as much as Charke gapes for it.

After this, Parsons printed another book, containing
his account of John Nichols, who professed to be a
Pope’s scholar, and had given the English government
information of what was done in Rome, Rheims, and the
other seminaries, wherein truth was so much mixed with
inventions that Parsons had no very difficult task to
discredit him. I shall have to mention this man again
in the next chapter.

I have followed Parsons’ lead in his outline of his
intended life of Campion, though he has led me wide of
my way. I must now return to Campion’s doings after
parting from Parsons at Uxbridge, in order to go to
Lancashire. Finding himself more than ever beset, he
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was obliged to tarry a long while on the way. In fact
I lose sight of him till about Christmas-tide, when Gervase
Pierrepoint took him to the house of his brother, Henry
Pierrepoint of Holme Pierrepoint and Thoresby, Notting-
hamshire, the ancestor of the earls of Kingston: there
he remained till the Tuesday after Twelfth-day, when he
and his guide left, and spent the following day in Der-
byshire, at the house of Henry Sacheverell; thence he
and his guide went to Mr. Langford’s, where they spent
the Thursday and Friday; thence to Lady Foljambe’s,
of Walton, Derbyshire; and thence to Mr. Powdrell’s'®
where they were joined by George Gilbert. From this
place they went to Mr. Ayers’ or Amias’, of the Stipte, on
the Monday week after Twelfth-day, where Pierrepoint
resigned his office of conductor into the hands of Mr.
Tempest, who led Campion into Yorkshire.'® This way-
bill was drawn up by Burghley after Campion’s capture,
and it was given out that Campion had confessed it all.
After Tempest took Pierrepoint’s place, however, Burghley
is at fault, and is obliged to note that “Campion con-
fesseth he went northwards with Tempest, and that they
kept company together about nine days, and will confess
no place of their being but at inns.” However, the Lord
Treasurer managed to light upon one gentleman, John
Rookby of Yeafford, who confessed that Campion was
at his house on Saturday, January 28. Lord Burghley
notices as Campion’s chief favourers in Yorkshire, Dr.
Vavasour, a physician, whom I find in prison at Hull
in August, 1580;¥ Mrs. Bulmer; Sir William Bapthorpe
of Osgodby, knight, who had in the previous August
given bond in 200/ to Sandys the archbishop and the
other commissioners, that he and his family would duti-
fully repair to church, and *“apprehend all rogueing
popish priests, and other like evil popish subjects, and
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bring their bodies before the commissioners;” Mr. Grim-
ston;'® Mr. Hawkeworth; and Mr. Askulph Cleesby,—at
whose houses Campion was to be found between the 28th
of January and Mid-lent, 1581. At that time Tempest
seems to have resigned his charge of conductor to the
hands of Mr. Smyth, who took him to his brother-in-law's
house, Mr. William Harrington of Mount St. John, about
the Tuesday in the third week of Lent, where they stayed
about twelve days, during which time Campion was occu-
pied in writing his book De Heresi Desperata, which
afterwards appeared as his Decem Rationes, a form which
better enabled him to meet the charge of overweening
pride which Charke and Hanmer had made against him,
because he had challenged to dispute single-handed with
all the learning of a whole realm; a charge which
had become so general, that every pulpit was ringing
with his impudence, and with the frauds and sedition of
the Jesuits. Hence he was forced to show that his trust
was not in his own power, but solely in the strength of
his cause, which he exhibited in ten reasons, relying on
which, gquibus fretus, he offered to dispute with any or
all of the ministers of the Established Church. Here, at
Mount St. John, his conduct made such an impression
on William, one of his host’s six sons, that three years
afterwards he fled over sea to Rheims, and from thence
came back a priest to be hanged in England. Here
Campion obtained a fresh conductor, a Yorkshireman,
Mr. More, living near Sheffield, who had once been his
pupil, and who now, with his wife, travelled with him to
protect him, and to introduce him to the houses of the
Catholic gentlemen in Lancashire. Very likely he travelled
as their servant, as he had in another journey dressed
himself as Pascal’'s man. By them he was led to visit
the Worthingtons, the Talbots, the Southworths, the
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Heskeths, Mrs. Allen the widow of the Cardinal’s brother,
the Houghtons, the Westbys, and the Rigmaidens—at
whose houses he spent the time between Easter and
Whitsuntide (April 16), bestowing himself chiefly, accor-
ding to Burghley, at Mr. Talbot’s and Mr. Southworth’s,
but according to Parsons at Worthington’s and Mrs. Allen’s,
where he was fully occupied in preaching to the crowds
that pressed to have conference with him. Even up to
my time (1660), says Father Henry More,’® Campion’s
memory was popular in the North, where they still
recollected his sermons on the Hail Mary, on the Ten
Lepers, on the King who went a journey, on the Last
Judgment, and others, which people were so greedy of
hearing that very many persons of quality spent whole
nights in neighbouring barns, so that they might be early
at the place next day. They were drawn not so much
by his admirable eloquence and accent, as by his fire,
and by a certain hidden force which they considered
could only flow from the Holy Spirit. He preached
daily, except when he sometimes withdrew himself to
write his book, and perhaps to avoid the pursuivants, who
were always on his track. At Worthington’s house he
was saved from apprehension by a maid-servant, who in
affected anger pushed him into a pond, and thus effectually
disguised him. As the Abbé Dubois once disguised the
Regent Orleans at a low masquerade by kicking him; a
process which made the Regent angrily exclaim, * Abbé,
tu me déguises trop.”

It is not to be supposed that the excitement caused
by the Jesuits’ preaching escaped the notice of the govern-
ment. It induced them to use greater severity to the
Catholics in prison, and to search with greater strictness
for those not yet apprehended. The first case of torture
that we know of being applied to them was on December
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10oth, 1580, when Luke Kirby and Thomas Cottam were
put into the scavenger’s daughter at the Tower.*® The
Council had previously drawn up a paper of questions to
be administered to them. Why did the Pope send them?
To whom were they specially directed to repair? What
hopes had they of an invasion of Ireland? Why had the
Bishop of St. Asaph, Dr. Morton, and others, come from
Rome to Paris? Who had relieved them? Had the Queen
of Scots given them anything? Whom had they reconciled?
Whom had they heard of as being reconciled? What
communications had they held with Campion? Where
was he? Whose names are in the catalogues of the Pope’s
principal favourers? What communication have they had
with the Bishop of Ross? or with Dr. Sanders in Ireland?
and who are the Irishmen most noted as favourers of the
rebellion there? According to Cottam’s own account,™®
Hammond and the other commissioners did not confine
themselves to these questions, but wanted to know what
sins he had confessed, and what penance had been enjoined
him. After this Sherwin and Johnson were racked,
December 15; Sherwin again the next day; and Hart,
who was brought to the Tower December 19 or 29, was
with Orton racked December 31. Christopher Thomson,
an old priest, January 3, 1581, and Nicholas Roscarock,
at whose house Sherwin had been taken saying Mass, was
racked January 14.

The government, both ecclesiastic and civil, were by
this time convinced that the penal laws against Catholics,
bloody as they already were, were not yet sufficiently so
to exterminate the Catholic religion. It was felt that
severity must be increased; and, as commonly happens,
the first impulse towards a more systematic persecution
came from the ecclesiastical side. On the 14th of Janu-
ary, 1581, the Bishop of Chester, the state of whose diocese
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prognosticated to him the success that Campion was to
achieve there a few months later, wrote to the Council,
urging them to bring in a Bill making traitors and felons
without benefit of clergy of *“all such vagrant priests as
walk about in disguised apparel seducing her Majesty’s
subjects, &c., by assembling of unlawful conventicles,” and
of their receivers, felons, “with some clergy.” Also to
enforce preachers to reside on their benefices; to make all
work unlawful before eleven o’clock on the “Sabbath-
day;” to forbid the holding of fairs and markets on
Sundays; and to enact some general law to reduce all
subjects to conformity. He adds: “In this cathedral church
of Chester, neither the dean nor any prebendary hath
been resident or kept any hospitality of many years.
Neither is any parson or vicar of any parish church within
the city a preacher.”®® Other bishops begged to have
the high commission in their dioceses. Thus the Bishop
of Coventry writes to Burghley in April, 1581, about the
hard state of Shropshire:®™ “being one of the best and
conformablest parts of my diocese,” where, however, “of
one hundred almost presented for recusancy, they could
get but one only to be bound, the rest refusing most
obstinately to come before them.” What must it be then,
he asks Burghley, in the other shires of the diocese, when
it is thus in the best of them?

The Catholics presaged that something severe awaited
them. After the Proclamation of January 10, for the recal
of students and the banishment of priests, the persecution
waxed still stronger, and Parsons felt that something must
be done.® He therefore sent a priest to John Bodin—who
was at this time acting as agent for the Duke of Anjou
to treat of his marriage with the Queen—to persuade him
to advise her Majesty to treat the Catholics with more
mildness; but the author of the Commonwealthk was too
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good a politigue to mix himself up with such irrelevant
matters, A meeting of gentlemen was therefore held one
Sunday after Communion in the house of Francis Throg-
morton—the same who was executed in 1584 for a con-
spiracy to deliver Mary Stuart—to consider whether a
pacification could not be purchased. Affairs had proceeded
to such a pitch, the pursuivants had become so intolerable,
that the people began to talk of paying the Quéen so
much a head to be let alone. But there was no one to
propose it to her. The Spanish ambassador would have
created a prejudice against them instead of helping them;
the French ambassador was mistrusted; Bodin refused
to meddle. Another section of Catholics thought it was
time to reconsider the question about attending the churches,
and to make out a probable case to allow them to save
their goods and their liberties, if not their faith too, by
an occasional and merely formal attendance at the Anglican
service. Dr. Alban Langdale wrote, and Mr. Clitheroe
circulated, an anonymous tract®® to prove that attendance
at the Protestant church was in itself no sin, and therefore
might be lawfully submitted to for the purpose of avoiding
a persecution so intolerable at present, and threatening
to grow so much more so. The English Catholics were
not unwilling to believe a grave doctor, whose opinion
so happily saved them from a sea of troubles; and it
would probably have greatly strengthened the statistics
of the Church, if they been left in their blissful ignorance.
But Parsons, however ready he might be to engage in
plots against the Queen, was a Catholic uncompromising
and rigid. He could go a long way with the advocates
of equivocation in civil cases, but he could not allow an
equivocation in act or word, when the faith, or the honour
of religion, seemed at stake. Elizabeth and her ministers
declared that the attendance at church was a mere political
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act, and by no means forced the conscience; but he could
not accept the distinction (though his society afterwards
adopted a similar one with happy consequences in China)
between a religious act and a political or social ceremony,
like burning incense to one’s ancestors. Besides, had not
a committee of the Council of Trent decided the matter?
Cost what it might, the Catholics must be induced to act
on the principles of Tertullian and St. Cyprian, and the
Catholic fathers.

Parsons therefore thought it his duty to write a re-
futation of Dr. Langdale’s tract, the real authorship of
which he did not know at the time: for after Blackwell
and he had been driven from Dr. Young’s library, where
they first went to consult authorities, by the pursuivants,
who searched the place just after they had left it, they
betook themselves to the library of Dr. Langdale himself,
where by the marks left in the books they discovered
the writer. Sheldon, Lord Paget,* and others had already
acted on the new and indulgent view. But, says Parsons,
after the publication of the book, this evil was puta stop
to—cessavit malum.

In the midst of these discussions among Catholics, the
Legislature intervened with its heavy hand. The Bishop
of Chester’s recommendations were carried out to the
full. The existing Parliament had been elected shortly
after the suppression of the rebellion of the North; had
held its first session in 1572, its second in 1575; and
was now for the third time convoked for the express
purpose of finding a remedy for the poison of the Je-
suits.®® On Wednesday, January 25, Sir Walter Mildmay
rose to move the new bill. His speech was an essay,
which he learned by rote, and repeated several times in
the Star-Chamber at the trials of recusants, till his hearers
must have known it almost as well as himself. It began
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with an elaborate eulogium of Elizabeth as the refuge of
persecuted Protestants, for which cause the Pope raged
against her, and procured through his confederates all
means of annoyance to her; such as the rebellion of
1569, the maintenance of the fugitive rebels, the Bull, the
invasion of Fitzmorris, the rebellion of Desmond, and
the late invasion of strangers at Smerwick. The Queen
had baffled these attempts in a way that redounded to
her honour; the first, *“without effusion of blood;” the
last, by “pulling the Spaniards out by the ears, and
cutting them in pieces.” She had no fear; but she had
all cause for caution; for, in spite of the freedom of the
pulpit, such had been the secret practices of the Pope
‘and his secret ministers, that the obstinate and stiff-
necked Papist was so far from being reformed, that he
had gotten stomach to go backward, and show his dis-
obedience in arrogant words (such as Campion’s challenge)
and contemptuous deeds. For Mildmay had not got
beyond the childish political theory, that ideas do not
propagate themselves through their own natural fermen-
tation, but only by the mechanical means of a secret propa-
ganda. Opinions, he thinks, are not convictions, but partly
conspiracies, partly the results of a magical or mesmeric
influence. To encourage these Papists, he said, the Pope
comforted their hollow hearts with absolutions, dispen-
sations, reconciliations, and the like, and had lately sent
over “a sort of hypocrites, naming themselves Jesuits, a
rabble of vagrant friars, whose principal errand was to
creep into the houses of men of behaviour and reputation,
to corrupt the realm with false doctrine, and under that
pretence to stir up sedition.”

These practices had achieved a lamentable success,
and the Pope’s authority had made such impression, as
not only those who from the beginning had refused to
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obey, but very many of those who for years had been
conformable, had, since the Council of Trent, the Bull,
and the secret reconciliations, and swarming over of priests
and Jesuits, utterly refused to be of the Church of England,
or to resort to its preaching and prayers.

Now Elizabeth had been all clemency and mildness
in comparison with Mary and the Continental govern-
ments. But this course had done no good; but had bred
an arrogant and contemptuous spirit, exhibited in receiving
the Pope’s absolutions, in harbouring even in their houses
the lewd runagates, the Jesuits, and in training their
children under Popish schoolmasters at home, or in se-
minaries abroad.

Therefore stricter and severer laws had become neces-
sary to constrain them to yield at least open obedience
to the Queen in religious matters, and not to live as
they listed: so that if they would needs submit them-
selves to the benediction of the Pope, they might feel
how little his curses hurt the Queen, and how little his
blessing could save them from the punishment she could
lay upon them; also how dangerous it would be for the
laity to deal with the Pope, and for the priests to enter
the realm to draw away from the Queen that obedience
which, by the laws of God and man, is due to her.*®

Mr. Norton seconded the motion, and proposed refer-
ring the matter to a committee, which he named. The
House was ready to go further than even the Court de-
sired, and the bill, which, as the Speaker said, was for the
glory of God, the safety of the Queen, and the prosperity
of the people (for all which ends preaching was the ordinary
means,) received the royal assent on the 18th of March.

The act “to retain the Queen’s majesty’s subjects in
due obedience” made it treason to absolve any Englishman,
to convert him to Popery, to move him thereto, or to do
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any overt act tending that way. And it made it treason
to be so absolved or converted. Another clause made it
misprision of treason to aid or maintain any persons so
offending, or to conceal any such offence, without divulging
it within twenty days to the magistrate. By another, the
saying of Mass was forbidden under penalty of 200 marks
and one year’s imprisonment; and the hearing Mass under
a similar penalty of 100 marks and one year. And lastly,
a system of fines was devised, which for half a century
became one of the great items in the budget of the
Chancellor of the Exchequer; although in fact the receipts
of the Exchequer were but a trifle compared with the waste
and losses inflicted on the Catholics, and with the vast
sums which found their way into the hands of courtiers
and parasites, favourites to whom recusants were given
to farm, and pursuivants and informers, who made Catholics
pay for their forbearance. Any person above sixteen years
of age who did not come to church for one month was
fined 20/, and so on for twelve months, when he was
apprehended, and bound in 200/ to good behaviour. This
enactment made any arrangement such as that proposed at
Francis Throgmorton’s house henceforth impossible. There
could be no talk of paying the Queen for a license to
practise their religion, when she got all the money that
could be screwed out of them on the ground of their not
practising hers.

One clause imposed a monthly fine of 10/ upon every
person keeping a schoolmaster who did not regularly
attend church. This, coupled with the proclamation of
January 10, which recalled all students from foreign semi-
naries, was intended to make Catholic education henceforth
an impossibility for Englishmen.

If this legislation had been tempered with every kind
of constitutional consideration, and had been administered

T
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only by responsible agents of the government, who would
have kept within the letter of the law, still the persecution
legalised by it would have been almost intolerable; butin
reality it was capriciously administered, and gradually fell
into the hands of a class of people who traded on the
lives and lands of the Catholics; bloodsuckers, as William
Harrington called them.?® Under the weak favouritism of
James 1. the evil increased, till in 1605 it had reached
such a pitch that one of the Anglican bishops seems
to have considered even the Gunpowder Plot to have
been a natural, if not a justifiable, attempt to cut short
the intolerable evil. The Papists had borne with it in
Elizabeth’s latter days, in hopes, after the old woman’s
death, to find some mitigation; and in those days the
administration of the law had been moderated, the perse-
cutors being uncertain what might succeed after the Queen’s
removal. But after the settlement of James, with no hope
of better days, and expecting daily the utmost rigour in
the execution of the law, the Catholics became desperate.
A lady was hanged for harbouring a priest, and a citizen
for being reconciled to the Church. Under the penal
code “they could not subsist; what was usually sold in
shops and openly bought, this the pursuivant would take
away from them as being popish and superstitious. One
knight did affirm that in one term he gave twenty nobles
in reward to the doorkeeper of the attorney-general;
another, that his third part which remained unto him of
his estate did hardly serve for his expense in law to defend
him from other oppressions; besides, their children to be
taken from home to be brought up in another religion.
So they did every way conclude that their estate was
desperate—they were debarred in any course of life to
help themselves; they could not practise law; they could
not be citizens, they could have no office; they could not
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breed up their sons; none did desire to match with them;
they had neither fit marriages for their daughters, nor
nunneries to put them into . . ... The spiritual court
did not cease to molest them, to excommunicate them,
then to imprison them; and thereby they were entirely
disenabled to sue for their own.”

During the debates on this bill I find the first attempt
on the part of the Protestants to define the different
characters of the two Jesuits. Parsons was the “lurking
wolf,” Campion “the wandering vagrant.” There was
more truth in this colouring than in the subsequent
notion which Camden promulgated, that Parsons was a
violent and a fierce-natured man, while Campion was of
a sweet disposition and good breeding; the one seditious,
turbulent, and confident; the other modest in all things
except his challenge. Campion, it seems to me, was the
quick-tempered man, open, free, generous, hot, enthusiastic,
yet withal modest, gentle, and fair; Parsons more slow,
subtle, cool, calculating, and capable of exhibiting either
violence or modesty as the occasion seemed to demand.
If Campion had the wisdom, Parsons had the prudence.
One knew how to move, the other to guide; one, if I
may use offensive terms without ,offence, had the gifts
which make an agitator, the other those that make a
conspirator., The rule of the Jesuits, as I have shown
above,! linked together characters thus dissimilar, in
order that united they might act with more force and
more completeness. And this would have been the case
if their functions had been all in common; but though
the men were linked together, they had separate work to
perform. As their instructions directed them to use the
lay-members of the confraternity to prepare the prelimi-
naries of conversion, and then themselves to finish the
work, so in this work of finishing there were different
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grades; for it is one thing to be a thorough Catholic,
and it is something beyond to take part in the Pope's
intentions and desires, and to devote oneself to their
furtherance and fulfilment. The instructions sufficient to
make a man a Catholic are not sufficient to make him
an ultramontane. Campion thought that all was done
when he had reconciled his convert to the Catholic Church,
had taught him the faith, and made him partaker of the
sacraments. Parsons looked farther; he desired and laboured
for the conversion of England, and he thought that nothing
could effect this but the overthrow of Elizabeth; therefore
his aim was the organisation of a party on which he
could rely when the Pope gave the signal for the attack.
But there was no reason for him to blab of this design.
The seed sown would, he thought, grow all the stronger
for not being prematurely forced. It thus happened that
there was not always perfect community between the
Jesuit missionaries; a polarity began to declare itself, as
it afterwards did in the Society at large, sending off those
like Campion to fight under the banner of St. Francis
Xavier against heathenism, while it retained those like
Parsons in Europe to direct the consciences of princes,
and to influence the councils of states.

And the second pair of Jesuit missionaries were no
less contrasted with each other than the first. Fathers
Heywood and Holt had been asked for by name in the
letters written from Uxbridge to the General of the Order.
Parsons could not have known Heywood; but Campion
had met him at Munich on his way to Rome.®® Jasper
Heywood, the epigrammatist, had entered the Society in
1562, and had been employed in Germany, far from the centre
of ecclesiastical politics, and in a country where the co-exis-
tence of hostile confessions was, in the midst of violence,
laying the foundation of mutual toleration and forbearance.



Fathers Heywood and Holt. 277

Like Campion in this, in other respects he was unlike him.

He was now nearly forty-seven years old, elderly for
his years and gouty; with his youthful fire he had lost
his strength, and he was unable to fast, or even to abstain—a
grave offence in the eyes of some of the more rigid and
precise of the English Catholics. But he was, like Campion,
a learned man, a doctor in theology, one deeply versed in
theoretical controversy, and an excellent Hebraist. There
was some difficulty in obtaining his servicé, for he was a
great favourite with the Duke of Bavaria; but a letter of
Gregory XIIIL, dated May 27, 1581, overcame the Duke's
unwillingness, and he was sent on the mission.*® He
was a wonderfully laborious man, and in the judgment
of Gabriel Allen, the Cardinal’s brother, he was, next
to Campion, the most successful of all the missionaries.
He himself wrote to Allen—Stupeo hic in captura pis-
cium, quia homo peccator sum. He received into the Church
Philip Earl of Arundel and Henry Earl of Northumberland.
His relaxation of the fasting, and introduction of the Roman
custom into England, greatly offended the old-fashioned
party, and this, together with his gout, and perhaps his
disinclination to meddle in matters of state, determined
the General to recal him. He had got out of England
safely, and was in sight of Dieppe, when his ship was
driven back, and he sent prisoner to the Tower, where
he was treated much as Campion had been before him,
the Catholics outside being persuaded that he was about
to make a recantation.” William Holt, his companion,
was a Lancashire man, educated at Oxford till 1575,
when he passed over to Douai, and there studied theology
and was ordained, after which he went to Rome and
became a Jesuit in November, 1578. Parsons had known
him for two years, and when, in September, 1580, the
Queen of Scots caused it to be notified to him that she
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would be glad to have some Jesuit sent to instruct her
son, the young king, in the faith, Holt was at once sug-
gested to Parsons’ mind as the proper person for suchan
undertaking; which he carried out, much to Parsons’ satis-
faction. How he sped belongs to another history ; I will only
say that the means he used to insure success explain,
and go some short way to justify, the measures enacted
by the Parliament of 1581 against Papists. The next
couple who were sent into Scotland consisted, in the same
way, of one spiritual man, Hay, and one manager,
Creighton ; the same polarity, the same division of labour,
the same partition of the dove and the serpent into two
distinct personalities, may be seen in all these pairs. The
secret history of the times, the despatches of ambassadors,
the letters of politicians, the memoirs of diplomatists, are
full of the names of Parsons, Holt, and Creighton; but
nothing is to be found there that adds to our knowledge
of Campion, Heywood, or Hay. I can find no evidence
that Campion had anything to do with the great plan
which unfolds itself in the diplomatic correspondence of
1581, and which was directed to the restoration of Mary
to her Scotch throne, and of Scotland to the Catholic
religion, as the preliminaries to the conquest of England
by the King of Spain. I cannot say that this plan orig-
inated with Parsons; I do not find that he had any
relations with Mendoza before the end of 1580;" at
which time the Archbishop of Glasgow was already in
correspondence with the General of the Jesuits, and the
General, the Pope, Philip, and Aubigny, had settled the
plan which Mendoza seems to have communicated to
Parsons in the winter of 1580. It is clear that Campion
was not considered a proper person to act in this part;
and though he was in England after the general chapter
of the Jesuits in the spring of 1581, Holt and Creighton
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were sent over, not to supersede him, but to perform
work which was not considered suitable for him. What_
this work was we may gather from Tassis, Philip’s am-
bassador to the French court, who in a letter dated May
18, 1582, relates to his master the doings of Creighton
and Holt.** Holt, he says, had found that the Catholics
were quite ready to rise after Mary had once got a firm
footing in Scotland. The border counties, especially
Westmoreland, were full of Catholics, and if the Pope
would name a person of distinction (meaning Allen) to
the see of Durham, he might raise the whole population.
When Tassis asked Holt what proof he had of this, and
whether the principal persons had made a confederation
together and had given pledges, as usual, he answered that
he knew it, because many of them had told him so when
he was treating with them on their consciences (fodo esto
se sabia, por lo que muchos dellos se havian declarado
tratando de sus conciencias con ellos). M. Teulet infers
from these words that Holt spoke of things revealed to
him under the seal of confession. Tassis’ words, though
they will bear, yet do not warrant, such a translation.
Philip, however, was in no hurry. He ordered Tassis
not to let Holt come to Spain, and wrote to Mendoza
in England that the best policy for the present was “to
gain souls by way of teaching, and thus to fortify the
Catholic party for its time and occasion, without precipi-
tating matters through impatience.”

Philip therefore was quite of the same mind with
Cecil and Walsingham. They all thought that every Ca-
tholic as such was ready to start up a soldier when the
golden day of his hopes should dawn. But Campion did
not allow himself thus to forecast the future; the present
was enough for him. If he could bring back men to
their duties, reconcile them to the Church, make them
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once more partakers of the sacraments, all was done.
He did not ask for security or outward prosperity, hardly
for toleration; he thought the blood of matyrs the seed
of the Church, and persecution the confession of inability
to put down truth by argument. Persecution and martyrdom
were in his eyes the security for the future. Not so
thought Parsons and his political friends. With equal
zeal for the restoration of religion, they thought Campion’s
field of labour to be necessary indeed, but of an inferior
order. It was, they considered, the chief duty of the
ecclesiastical ruler so to influence and settle the distri-
bution of temporal power as to assure the future liberty
and progress of the Church. Campion and his fellows
might so influence the minds and feelings of the English
people as to work a complete revival of Catholicism among
them. But there was no security for its life while Elizabeth
remained on the throne, with Cecil and Leicester in her
council-chamber, who had once, and might again, change
a Catholic into a Protestant nation. So beside the purely
religious work of ecclesiastical restoration, religious men
carried on another work of pure conspiracy and intrigue,
for the purpose of strengthening the restored ecclesiastical
state with a new and congenial civil government. Na-
turally enough this temporal action soon became more
obvious than the purely spiritual action, whose characteristic
it is not to strive or cry, but like leaven, gradually and
noiselessly to change the mass on whichitacts. Intrigue,
on the other hand, however secret, depends ultimately on
open and mechanical means for its success, and thus
must in time proclaim itself on the housetops. Thus it
was with the Catholic religion in England. Men could
not see its action on the souls of the people. But they
could see and measure the amount of revolutionary and
unpatriotic feeling which it seemed to bring with it.
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And when, with ever increasing ill luck, Parsons and his
school continued their plots, the English Catholics, wearied
out with the sufferings which he had multiplied for them,
began at last to fall away; as if they felt that the aim
of the Pope, the Jesuits, and the Spaniards, was not to
have them believe a salutary doctrine, and to make them
partakers of life-giving sacraments, but to make them
traitors to their Queen and country, and to induce them
to take up arms in favour of a foreign pretender.

Elizabeth always professed to be willing to tolerate
Catholics, if they would refrain from the developments
which I have indicated. We should at this day make
allowances for her difficulties. Converts, however purely
spiritual the motives of their conversion might be, would
usually not be contented with being mere Catholics, or
with accepting the system reduced to its simple elements;
they would always incline to adopt it such as it was in
the teaching of its most advanced doctors, and in those
days they would have been led to denounce Elizabeth
as a usurper of the Pope’s rights in England and Ireland;
just as we see the same kind of men in the present day
denouncing the kingdom of Italy on similar grounds. If
it had been possible for any one to convince Elizabeth
that his Catholicism was such as Bossuet’s was to be,
and only such, the Queen ought, on her own profession,
to have tolerated such a person, as she did in fact grant
toleration to Sir Richard Shelley in 1582. But when
both sides, both Philip and Cecil, were equally convinced
that every fresh convert, however peaceful now, was a
future soldier of the king of Spain against Elizabeth, tol-
eration was scarcely possible, '




CHAPTER X.

CaMPION finished his book about Easter, 1581, and sent
it to London for Parsons’ approval. When Parsons saw
that the title was not that which had been settled at
Uxbridge, and that the margin swarmed with references,
which for lack of books he was not able to verify, while
he knew that the enemy would closely scan every one
of them, he wrote to Campion to ask whether he was
quite sure of all his authorities? Campion replied that
he had quoted nothing at second hand, nothing but what
he had gathered in his own reading. Parsons thereupon
ordered the book to be printed; but Campion, to make
surety more sure, begged that the quotations might once
more be examined. This task Parsons committed to one
of the young men of the sodality, Thomas Fitzherbert,
then newly married, but, after the death of his wife, a
priest, a Jesuit, and finally rector of the English College
in Rome®® Fitzherbert was unsuspected and was free to
study in all the London libraries, where he carefully
verified Campion’s allegations.

Parsons, however, still desired that Campion should
see to the printing of his own book, and therefore ordered
him to return to London, without visiting the houses of
the Catholics by the way, but staying only at inns, in
order to avoid suspicion. But to print was not so easy
as it had been: though the works printed at Mr. Brookes’
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bore the name “Doway” on their title-page, yet experts
like Norton, to whom the government committed the
examination of them, reported *“The print is done in
England.” Brinkley, undaunted, once more offered to
provide the press, and Maurice to procure the other
requisites. While these things were being got ready,
Campion, who had now joined Parsons, was constantly em-
ployed in preaching either in London or in the neighbour-
hood. One place which he and Parsons frequently visited was
Uxenden Hall, near Harrow-on-the-Hill, the property of
William Bellamy, who, with his wife and family, were
converts of the two fathers. Campion at this time lodged
sometimes at Mrs. Brideman’s in Westminster, sometimes
at Mr. Barnes’ in Tothill-street, sometimes at Lady Ba-
bington’s in the White Friars.®® The road from these
places to Harrow would generally lead him by Tyburn,
a spot now marked by a stone which is erected at a
place where “Tyburn-gate” once closed the great western
road out of London, a few yards beyond the present
Marble Arch. Just outside of this, probably within the
garden of the house at the corner of the Edgeware Road,
stood the famous gallows, three posts in a triangle, con-
nected at the top by three cross bars, where the weekly
batch of murderers, thieves, coiners, vagrants, traitors,
or priests, were led out to suffer. It had been put up
new for the execution of Dr. Story, whose blood had
consecrated it. Campion would always walk between its
posts with his hat off, and with a profound bow, in
honour both of the Cross which it figured and of the
martyrs who had already suffered there for their faith,
and, as he told Parsons, because it was one day to be
the place of his conflict.

Here Parsons, who wrote his notes from memory,
makes one of those mistakes so common in all autobio-
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graphical sketches where the author does not control his
memory by the use of documents. We have seen that
Campion did not quit Lancashire till after Whitsunday,
that is, as Easter in 1581 fell on March 26, not till after
May 15. He could not therefore have been with Parsons
in London and the neighbourhood till the middle of May.
Yet Parsons refers the following story to this period, and
has thereby led Bombinus and his followers into a tale
more telling than true. “While we were together in a
house in a wood, one night Hartley said to me casually
that he had been at Oxford, and had heard that Roland
Jinks’ servant, who had just before been employed by
me at my house in London to bind some books, had
gone over, and had given evidence against his master.
I at once saw the danger; and the first thing in the morning
I sent to London, and found that Wilkes, the secretary
of the' Queen’s guards, had that very night searched my
chamber and carried off all he found there, and had
apprehended Briant in a neighbouring house.” Now
Briant was transferred to the Tower on the 25th of March
from the Marshalsea, into which prison he had been thrust
upon his apprehension. It is clear then that Campion
was in Lancashire at the time, and that this event had
no connection whatever with the printing of his book, or
his flight from Oxfordshire, or by consequence with his
capture. Briant was afterwards connected with Campion;
but at this point their histories have no relation. He
was, says Parsons, “my disciple and my pupil at Oxford,
and ever inclined to virtue; afterwards a priest at Rheims,
of the greatest zeal. Just before he came into England,
he wrote to Father Richard Gibbon to ask whether he
might visit his mother. He reconciled my father, and
while he was in England he never willingly left my side.”
When it was found how close a companion of Parsons
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had been taken, and how narrowly Parsons himself had
escaped, it is scarcely to be wondered at that the eagerness
of the catchpoles to get at their great prize carried them
still deeper into cruelty than they had hitherto stepped.
In the Marshalsea they tried what hunger and thirst
could extract out of Briant. This means failing, they
sent him where he could be tortured more scientifically,
and the torments he suffered in the Tower were duly
entered in the diary of Edward Rishton, his fellow-prisoner:
“March 27, Alexander Briant, a priest, was brought from
another prison, where he had almost perished with thirst,
and loaded with the heaviest shackles. Then needles
were thrust under his nails, with the hope of forcing
him to disclose the place in which he had seen Father
Parsons; but he resolutely refused to reveal it. April 6,
the same Briant was cast into the Pit; and, eight days
later, was led forth to the rack, on which he was im-
mediately stretched with the greatest cruelty. The next
day again, he was twice subjected to the same torture;
yet from his own lips, only a little before his martyrdom,
I afterwards heard the declaration, that, when his body
was extended to the utmost, and his tormentors were
ferociously endeavouring to increase the intensity of his
suffering, he was actually insensible of pain.”?®
According to the established practice of Elizabeth’s
government, when this cruelty was afterwards complained
of, Norton, one of the commisioners, was called to account
for it.®! The following is an extract of a letter he wrote
to Walsingham, who had sent him Parsons’ defence of
his censure on Charke and Hanmer, published in Rouen
in 1582:— %I find in the whole book only one place
touching myself, fol. ult. pa. 2. ‘One (meaning Briant)
whom Mr. Norton, the rack-master (if he be not misre-
ported), vaunted in the court to have pulled one good
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foot longer than ever God made him, and yet in the
middes of all he seemed to care nothing, and therefore,
out of doubt, said he, he had a devil within him.” Surely
I never said in that form, but thus. When speech was
of the courage of Campion and some other, I said truly
that there appeared more courage of a man’s heart in
Briant than in Campion, and therefore I lamented that
the devil had possessed poor unlearned Briant in so
naughty a cause; for being threatened by those that had
commission (to the intent he might be moved to tell
truth without torment), that if he would not for his duty
to God and the Queen tell truth, he should be made a
foot longer than God made him, he was therewith nothing
moved. And being for his apparent obstinacy in matters
that he well knew racked more than any of the rest, yet
he stood still with express refusal that he would not tell
truth. When he setteth out a miracle that Briant was
preserved from feeling of pain, it is most untrue; for no
man of them all, after his torture, made so grievous
complaining and showed so open sign of pain as he.”
Norton, it will be seen, carefully avoids denying what
Briant asserted—namely, that he felt no pain whilst he
was being racked; he simply asserts that afzer the torture
Briant exhibited great signs of pain. Which he himself
also confessed in his own letter to Parsons, where he
tells not only of his freedom from pain while on the
rack, but of the agonies he suffered afterwards. Naturally
enough these things were the subject of conversation
when Campion joined Parsons in London: “We talked
nearly a whole night,” says Parsons, *on what we should
do if we fell into their hands, which really happened to
him shortly after.”

The great secret which Hammond and Norton wished
to rack out of Briant, was where Parsons printed his
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books. Now, whatever confidence Parsons might have in
Briant’s resolution, it was clearly the part of prudence
to count on the possibility of a moment of weakness or
unguardedness, when the secret might be wormed out by
some artfully contrived question. This was one reason
for the wish to remove the press from Brookes’ house.
Another reason was, that Brookes, the father, began to
be anxious about his property. He had been led to
suppose that his tenants were a family of gentlemen;
Brinkley had dressed up his seven workmen in fine
clothes, and given them horses, to make the story appear
more likely. But the signs of labour did not altogether
escape the notice of the landlord, who was unwilling that
his house should be used for illegal purposes. In this
state of things, one of the workmen, who had been sent
to London to make some necessary purchases, was captured
and tortured; and though nothing could be got out of
him, yet the warning .was not lost upon Campion and
Parsons, who forthwith transferred the press to a lodge
in Dame Cecilia Stonor’s park, near Henley; a place both
secret, as being surrounded with woods, and easily access-
ible, for the Thames at that period was a better highway
than any road. Here the Decem Rationes was printed
without accident, and from hence it was in due time
dispersed among the Academicians of Oxford.**

A letter from some English priest to Father Agazzari,
the rector of the English College, dated in July this year,
gives the following account of the Catholic publications
of the period. “There has been this year quite a battle
of books, and the heretics have not been able to publish
anything without its being immediately controverted.
Charke and Hanmer, Calvinist ministers, first wrote against
Campion, making a strange hash of the life of Ignatius
Loyola in particular; but within ten days there appeared
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in print a short review by an unknown author,®® which
convicted them of so many lies that both they and their
followers were heartily ashamed of themselves: in this
book the ministers were for the second and third time
challenged to a disputation; and when they showed great
offence at this, Campion wrote his luminous little Latin
book to the Universities, wherein he gave the reason of
that demand.®

“The Queen published some outrageous proclamations
against all Jesuits, priests, scholars of seminaries, and
against the colleges themselves. But Dr. William Allen,
who may most justly be called the father of this vineyard,
wrote an apology for them with such prudence, mode-
ration, and weight of argument, that the heretics them-
selves, ready enough to be offended, praised his book
highly, while the Catholics gained no little increase by it.
About the same time, one Fulke, a minister, had attacked
a book written many years before by Allen on Purgatory,—
but his brag was speedily extinguished by Richard Bris-
tow,™ the prefect of studies in the seminary at Rheims.

“In these days the Parliament met, and it was said
that the Catholics were to be condemned for contumacy
if they refused to assist at the Protestant service®® There
was therefore dispersed in the Parliament itself an English
pamphlet printed in England, which gave very many and
solid reasons for this refusal, which the adversaries cannot
controvert, unless, like atheists, they think that all con-
siderations of conscience in Catholics are to be totally
despised.

“I have already written about the apostasy and
relapse of John Nichols, who at first was a Calvinist
minister, and then a pretended scholar of your college.
This man has divers times preached in the town of
London to the imprisoned priests, who were dragged
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to the church to hear him™ in the presence of a
great concourse of courtiers, who came to grace the
comedy. It can scarce be believed what praises are
lavished on this gull. He is the most learned Jesuit of
them all, the Pope’s scholar, the Cardinals’ preacher, a
theologian, philosopher, Grecian, Hebraist, Chaldaist,—a
perfect master of all languages and every science. He
has printed his renunciation of the faith, in which he
tells enormous lies about Rome, the Pope, your college,
the Jesuits, the scholars, and all orders of monks and
priests. The book was received and distributed by the
heretics with mighty triumph; but almost within a month
there came out another book, ‘Nichols detected,” proving
clearly that he was neither Jesuit nor priest, theologian
nor philosopher; that he had never preached before Pope
or Cardinals, except when he abjured the heresy of Calvin
before the Inquisitors; that he knew nothing of any
learned language or science, but was merely a relapsed
minister, an ignorant grammarian, a vagabond tramp,
and an egregious liar; withal, occasion was taken to ex-
plain so many things about Roman matters, about the
works of charity there, about the munificence of Popes
and Cardinals, and the piety of the monks, that the
heretics are no little vexed at themselves for having
forced us to publish an explanation, whereby their fraud
is discovered, and which makes many begin to mistrust
them, and to look with favour upon us.

“So much for the books, which are as difficult and
dangerous to publish as to print. The way is, all of
them are taken to London before any is published, and
then they are distributed by hundreds or fifties to the
priests, so that they may be published all together in all
parts of the realm. And the next day, when the pur-

suivants usually begin to search the Catholics’ houses, it
19)
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is too late; for during the night the young gentlemen
have introduced copies into the houses, shops, and man-
sions of the heretics, and even into the court, and the
stalls in the streets, so that the Catholics alone cannot
be accused of possessing them.”

Nichols here mentioned was a Welshman, and scholar
first of White-hall, now Jesus College, Oxford, and then of
Brazenose College: afterwards he returned to Wales, and
became tutor to a gentleman’s sons; he was ordained to
a curacy in Somersetshire, 1579; whence he removed to
London, thence to Antwerp, so to Rheims, and thence
to the English college in Rome, whence he was sent back
towards Rheims in 1581, but returned to England, and
was apprehended in Islington, and sent to the Tower,
where he made a public recantation, was received into
Sir Owen Hopton’s family, and published at least three
books—his Pilgrimage, his Recantation, his Oration and
Sermon made at Rome, with his answer to an infamous
libel. He was at first in such credit that the Privy Council,
by a letter to Archbishop Grindal, dated May 19, 1581,
ordered that the English bishops should contribute among
them 50/ a year for his maintenance;® but the bishops
soon found cause to grow tired of their liberality; he
came to be in want, grew into great contempt, and was
turned out of doors by Hopton. After this, in 1582, he
went once more to France, some said with intention to
turn Turk, and was apprehended at Rouen, when he made
another recantation, and wrote most humble letters to
Dr. Allen, confessing his frauds and lies, and beseeching
his protection.®® He was a weak man, terrified by the
mention of the rack, and consenting to any remedy sug-
gested to his fear. He declared that what he wrote, he
wrote partly from memory, partly from Hopton's dic-
tation, who made him say whatever he chose. He pub-
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lished many things dangerously compromising the loyalty
of the priests; as that in their common talk at Rome
and Rheims they [were perpetually wishing harm to the
Queen. He declares, however, that he designedly absented
himself from London when Campion and his companions
were tried, lest he should be compelled to perjure himself
by swearing to the truth of what he had written. I do
not know whether his appeal to Allen delivered him
from his durance at Rouen, or whether he perished in
prison there.

I can best carry on this narrative by printing two
letters, one of Parsons to the Pope, and another of Dr.
Allen to Agazzari, the rector of the English college in
Rome.

L

Robert Parsons o the Pope, June 24, 1581.13°

BEATISSIME PATER,—Although I hope your Holiness knows
our affairs by the other letters I have sent to you, yet as I
have found a convenient messenger, to whom I must needs
give some kind of letter, I wished to add some brief notice of
our state. To-day the French ambassadors have left London
without having done their business, as is generally supposed,
for the marriage is no longer talked about. We are daily
expecting a fresh storm of persecution; for two days ago the
Council sent an order to all parts of the realm, to make search
for the Catholic recusants, as they call them, according to the
form of a statute made in the last session, which condemns
every one above the age of sixteen years to pay twenty pounds
for every month they refuse to come to the Protestant church.
And although there are very few Catholics who are rich enough
to pay, and the rest must therefore expect to be perpetually
imprisoned, yet they are full of joy, and not at all anxious
about this matter, as they hope that their case will be the same
as that of the Israelites, and that the aggravation of their op-
pression will be the hopes of a more speedy redemption. Against
us they publish the most threatening proclamations, books,



202 Edmund Campion.

sermons, ballads, libels, lies, and plays. But the people receive
us with the greatest eagerness, comfort us, and protect us.
The number of the faithful is wonderfully increased, and of
our shrewdest foes we have softened many, some we have
converted. The contest is sharp. God give us humility, patience,
and fortitude! Whatever priest or layman they lay hold of,
whom they suspect to know anything about us, they torture
on the rack to make him betray us; and quite lately they
tormented one most atrociously, but could get nothing out of
him. Meanwhile we live safely enough in their very sight; we
talk, preach, write, and do everything else to resist them,
expecting every kind of torment when we are taken—yet in
the mean time, through God's goodness, we sleep soundly.
We earnestly desire .supplies of new men, and that soon, for
fear we should be taken before they can take our place. So
much concerning religious affairs.

It now remains for me to tell your Holiness somewhat about
the bearer of this letter, who, to tell the truth, is the chief
cause of my writing. He is a young gentleman, named George
Gilbert, who has afforded the rarest spectacle to all England.
He was a man of great wealth, a great favourite at court, and
devoted all his property to the defence of the Catholic religion.
When we first entered the island, while others were in fear
and doubt, he alone took us in, comforted us, clothed us, fed
us, helped us with money, horses, servants; then took us about
the island at his own expense; he journeyed with us, gave
us books and other necessaries, bought a press for us, sold
some of his lands, and gave us a large sum of the money
for all purposes whereby the Catholic religion might be pro-
moted; nor was this all; he bestowed continual alms on
all the prisoners for religion, whereby he soon became so
hateful to the heretics (especially as he had once been one
of them) that they searched for him everywhere, and threat-
ened to put him to a cruel death if they could catch him.
Now, although he cared little for this, yet since I saw that he
could work no longer, nor stay in England without plain peril
of his life, and that we had more trouble and anxiety in
protecting him than ourselves, I at last persuaded him to leave
all things, and cross over the sea, to keep himself for happier
times. Now, therefore, I most humbly entreat your Holiness,
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_ or rather all we priests entreat you (because this one man was
a most munificent patron to us all), that your Holiness will
regard himi and console him for that consolation which he has
given us, and whereby he has upheld the common cause. For
if we have done any good, a great part of it is to be attribu-
ted to this youth. So, if he finds an equal charity on that
side, it will be a great edification for all, and no little encour-
agement to his companions to imitate his example. May the
most mercifui Jesus preserve your Holiness long, as all the
Catholics here pray day and night, who think themselves so
bound by the immense kindness you have shown, that they
never cease talking of your Holiness, and to pray for your
long life in this world, and your salvation and eternal happi-
ness in the next. London, June 24, 1581.

Your Holiness’ most unworthy son,
RoBerRT PARSONs, S.J.

II.

Letter of Dr. William Allen, Rector of the English College
in France, to Father Alphonsus Agazszari, Rector of the
English College at Rome 23!

We have heard from England, by a letter of F. Robert
Parsons, S.J., that the persecution still rages with the same
fury, the Catholics being haled away to prison and otherwise
vexed, and the Fathers of the Society being most diligently
looked for; but they are still, by God’s singular providence, at
liberty. One of them in the same chamber with Father Robert
was not long ago seized and searched; but the father was
absent at the time, But a Mr. Briant, who was a scholar of
our college at Rheims, was not only taken, but twice most
cruelly tortured on the rack to make him tell where ‘“that
Jesuit” was. But so far from confessing anything of the sort,
he laughed at the torturers; and though nearly killed with the
pain, he said, “Is this all you can do? If the rack is no
more than this, you may bring an hundred more for this matter.”

The day after, John Nichols, the apostate, met F. Tirrel,
a scholar of your college, in the street, and as soon as he
saw him, cried out “Traitor!” and so took him; but he is not
committed to the Tower, but to another prison called the
Gatehouse, where he and F. Rishton, another pupil of your
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college, live happily. The Catholics were never more cour-
ageous, or more ready to suffer.

Two days afterwards, a certain Mr. Ireson was taken with
ten copies of our apology; thus the book came to the know-
ledge of the Lords of the Council. He is once again confined
to his old home, the Fleet Prison, from whence he had by
favour been delivered.

The heretic John Nichols boasts that he made a long oration
at Rome before the Cardinals (nothing can be more false),
which he has just published in his second book, and has at
the same time promised to publish the former turned into
Latin, with an appendix of his travels, in which he will explain
at length the horrible murders and adulteries of the Catholics,
and the immoral life of the Jesuits and students. He now
preaches publicly in London, but people are already universally
tired of him; and I imagine that he will soon be tripped up,
especially when the abjuration of heresies that he made at
Rome in the Inquisition comes to England; for I have receiv-
ed the authentic copy of it which you sent, containing his
whole recantation, and have sent it to F. Robert in England.

Father Robert wants three or four thousand or more of the
Testaments, for many persons desire to have them. He says that
he earnestly hopes and expects more fellow-labourers of your
order: he says also that everything is going on well there, and
that our Apology is vastly approved.

I enclose a letter for the Holy Father, and another for our
Protector, which you must see delivered to them. Therein I
thank his Holiness for his many favours of this year, namely,
for the foundation of the English College at Rome, for our
college here provided for fifteen years, for his late extraordinary
subsidy of 500 golden crowns, for assigning so good a Protector
to each college, and particularly for not listening to the detractors
of the colleges and missions, who, to excuse their own idleness
and cowardice, assert' that all these attempts on our country
are in vain; and I show that it is sufficiently evident that these
missions, and the endeavours of the Fathers and seminaries are
of extraordinary utility; and finally I assert and boldly pronounce,
from the opinion, sense, and experience of all good men, that
the Fathers and priests have gained more souls this one year
in their own country than they could possibly have gained in
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the whole world else in the very longest lifetime. I write also
that the dangers are not so great as to make it expedient to
relinquish this duty, seeing that of the fifty priests (at least)
who have this year been sent from the two colleges, not more
than ten have fallen into the enemies’ hands, and up to this
time the Fathers are altogether free, and labouring fruitfully.
Lastly, we show that our books are thus moderately worded,
and nothing brought forward in anger, but rather directed by
pity, because of the vast utility that accrues to every class of per-
sons by reading them. So much for the letter to the Pope. But
to our Protector I merely write to beg him to turn his ears
from certain idle and envious men, who say that the work of
the Fathers and seminaries in our country is useless; moreover,
I beseech him for Christ’s sake not to forbid my sending five
or six young men to that college next autumn, because ours
has become so numerous, that we cannot anyhow feed them,
although his Holiness has given us an extraordinary gift of
five hundred golden crowns. So much for my letter to him.
Note that I am afraid to send any against his express injunction,
lest we may seem to have no moderation, and to abuse the
Pope’s liberality too much. At this very time we are obliged
to send for 20 youths (for the most part gentlemen) from Douay
to our college here at Rheims, who otherwise would have to
return to England, to the manifest damage of soul and body,
since, on account of this proclamation, they can get no money
from England. Moreover, within the last fortnight more than
twenty young men have come to me (poor me) from England,
and where shall we get bread that these may eat,that each one
of them may have only a little, lest they faint in this exile?
May our Lord God bless and multiply our food!

This week I have heard that the Fathers in England are
not only well, but so occupied in the vineyard that they could
not write to me. Father Campion is said to have published a
Latin book of advice to the two Universities, but as yet it has
not come to our hands. See, Father, whether or no they push
the work forward. I have some time ago sent them the letter
of the F. Gereral. May the Lord Jesus send many such labourers
into His vineyard! At least thirty priests have entered England
since Easter, not one of whom was hindered on landing, or
has since been tgken, blessed be God. This year I hope will
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be every way a happy one for us. We sow in tears, butI trust
in the Lord that we shall carry our sheaves with joy, through
God, and this Pope Gregory, our true father.

I have with me at present the generous companion, and
benefactor of the priests in England, Mr. George Gilbert, who
on their account has suffered the confiscation of almost all his
goods and estates, and whom the heretics have personally
persecuted more than the rest, knowing that the Fathers of the
Society were kept and sustained by him. He has come hither
into France by the advice of F. Robert and others, in order
to keep himself for that time. God willing, he will go to Rome
in the autumn, and will dispose of himself according to the
advice of the Father General and yourself. He tells me that
more Fathers are very much wanted, if it were only to assist
Father Robert, who, he says, has an incredible burden to bear.
He wrote those two beautiful little books himself, one of which
we have hitherto supposed to be Campion’s work; he preaches
continually, he resolves cases of conscience for innumerable
persons. The Catholics in the midst of persecutions have less
scrupulous consciences than anywhere else that I know of,and
have such an opinion of the Father that they will not acquiesce
in the judgment of any common priest, unless it is confirmed
by Father Robert. He has seven men continually at work at
a press outside of London (where the noise of the machine is
less likely to betray it). He is continually appealed to by
gentlemen, and by some of the council, for necessary advice;
so this Mr. Gilbert tells me, who has been his inseparable com-
panion for this whole year, and who at his departure left Father
Robert seven horses for the necessary journeys and affairs of
the Fathers and priests, and a large sum of money to procure
needful things, paper, types, ink, and the like; for great things
can only be done at great expense, and for the success of such
works we must have men who are not only despisers of money,
but rich into the bargain. Father Campion is no less indus-
trious in his own province, and it is supposed that there are
twenty thousand more Catholics this year than last. Nor
has God in this age anywhere given to the preachers of
the word more power or success. Blessed be His name for
ever.

Our Apology, as I hear, is read both by adversaries and
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friends, and the chief of the French mission has given it to the
Queen to read. Christ Jesus, &c. Rheims, June 23, 1581.

Your reverence’s brother for eternity as I hope, both
in earth and heaven,
WILLIAM ALLEN,

It may be well to add to this account of Gilbert a
few particulars of him that may be gathered from the
information of one John Taylor, a friend of his servant,
Roger Yardley.™ Gilbert is described as a man “of
reasonable tall stature, broad-shouldered, with a big leg,
bending somewhat in the knees, fair-complexioned, rea-
sonable well coloured, little hair on his face, and short
if he have any, thick somewhat of speech, and about
twenty-four years of age.” He had been a very earnest
Protestant up to the age of seventeen; his haunts in
London were Mr. Townsend's in Barbican, Mr. Roper’s
in Shire Lane, Cooke’s (a saddler in Fleet Street), Sir
Thomas (Gilbert) Gerard’s (the Master of the Rolls), Mr.
Allington’s, Mr. Norris’ (sometime of the Inns of Court),
and the two Roscarocks’. “In the country he resorteth
to his tenants’ houses in Bucks, for thereabouts his mother,
Grace Gilbert, a widow, dwelleth; also about Nottingham
town to Sir Gervase Clifton’s. His most familiar friend
is one Mr. Pierrepoint, lying in Notts. Also Mr. Peter
Basset, who lies much at Mr. Roper’s (he was great-
grandson of Sir Thomas More, and therefore Roper’s
cousin), Mr. Robert Gifford of Staffordshire, one Brinkley,
and divers others.”” About Midsummer, 1580, Gilbert
was taken before the Bishop of London by Norris the
pursuivant, but discharged on Norris declaring him an
honest gentleman ;*® Norris might well say so, for Gilbert
paid him liberally, and hired his house to be a kind of
sanctuary for hunted recusants. Townsend of the Bar-
bican was probably either Isaac Townsend, or his brother
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Robert Townsend of Ludlow, both brothers of Gilbert’s
mother, Robert had been Gilbert’s guardian till he came
to the age of 18, when “he delivered him his lands and
his free marriage, before which time Townsend kept him
as a scholar at his own house, and after at the Univer-
sity.” Gilbert, however, now scarcely ever visited his
uncle, and never stayed more than three days together.

As soon as his rents came in, they were usually dis-
tributed in charity.® His labours for souls were such,
that he made as many conversions as any priest: a
friend of his declared that the names of the wavering
whom he had confirmed, the lapsed whom he had res-
tored, the cold whom he had warmed (chiefly youths of
his own age and condition), would fill a volume. . . He
eluded his pursuers by a continual change of dress; going
now as a gentleman, now as a serving-man. His sole
anxiety was for Parsons; for himself he never feared.
Most of his goods were confiscated. When he was sent
to France, he had to conceal himself in a cave till the
ship came in sight. He crossed over at the end of May,
1581, (rather, Midsummer, the date of Parsons’ letter, of
which he was the bearer), leaving Parsons seven horses,
and a large sum of money. He visited Allen at Rheims,
and gave him 800 crowns. Thence he went to the
English college at Rome, and presented himself to Claudius
Acquaviva, who would not immediately receive him into
the Society, nor yet allow him to put on the ecclesiastical
habit in the college, as the Pope and Cardinals wished
to employ him on English affairs. He it was that had
the pictures of the English martyrs painted in the English
college.

In 1583, as he was about to start for France on a
commission of the Pope, he was seized with a fever, which
killed him on the seventh day. In his agony he held in
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his hands the Cross that Alexander Briant had carved
in the Tower, and began to talk to Campion as if he
were present, lamenting that he had not been dragged
with him on his hurdle to Tyburn. Just before he died,
he was allowed to make his vows as a Jesuit. He expired
at the fourth hour of the night, October 6, 1583.

The printers in Lady Stonor’s lodge by great industry
managed to have Campion’s book finished, and a certain
number of copies bound, in time for the commencement
at Oxford on the 27th of June, the Tuesday next before
the Feast of St. Peter and Paul, when those who were
present found the benches of St. Mary’s church strewed
with copies, upwards of four hundred of which were
distributed, partly in this way, partly in special gifts to
different persons, by Hartley. The audience was more
employed in reading the new book than in listening to
the responsions of the students; and it was the reading,
not the speaking, which so strangely moved them. Some
were furious, some amused, some frightened, some per-
plexed; but all agreed that the essay was a model of
eloquence, elegance, and good taste.

Oxford had already caused some anxiety to the govern-
ment. Lord Chancellor Bromley, and the Earl of Lei-
cester, Chancellor of the University, wrote to their loving
friends the students of Christ Church, June 12, 1581,
that they had been of late undutiful to the dean and
sub-dean, slack in resorting to prayers and religious
exercises, and so disorderly and insolent as to impair the
service of God, the increase of learning, and the hus-
bandry of the house. And, after Campion’s capture, the
Privy Council™ ordered a letter to be written to the
Vice-Chancellor and Heads of Houses to inform them
that three Masters of Arts had been found in his com-
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pany, that most of the seminary priests which at that
moment disturbed the Church had been heretofore scholars
of that University; and that one Jacob, a musician and
companion of Campion, had been tolerated there many
years without going to church or receiving the sacrament.
The Vice-Chancellor was therefore directed to search
diligently through all the colleges after all persons sus-
pected in religion, to certify their names to the Council,
and in the mean time to use the best means he could
to reduce them to conformity.

The young Oxonians did not bear easily the Elizabethan
drill, and felt that if their liberty must be crushed, they
would fain have it crushed by something more venerable
than the mushroom authority of the ministers of the
Queen. They were as tinder, and Campion’s book was
just the sort of spark to set them in a blaze. He had
written, he says, not published, a challenge to dispu-
tation; this had been taken *“atrociously,” as if he
were the most conceited man in the world. It was
answered; but how? Not in the simple way—“We
accept your challenge; the Queen allows it; come,” but
with cries of *“Jesuit, sedition, arrogance, traitor.” He
sees then that the only platform he will be allowed is
the gallows: hence he gives the heads of his intended
argument; a syllabus, as it were, of the lectures he was
not allowed to deliver, to show that it was not his own
strength, but the inherent strength of his cause, and the
native lustre of truth, that gave him courage to stand
one against all. In a cause like this he may be killed,
he cannot be conquered.

After this preface, he expounds ten reasons, or topics
of argument, on any of which he is ready to prove the
falsity of Protestantism, and the truth of the Catholic
religion. The first topic is the Scriptures. All the old
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heretics, he says, in sheer despair ot making the Bible
speak their language, mutilated it. The Lutherans, Cal-
vinists, and Anglicans have done the same with those parts
of it which gave too clear a witness against them. The
second topic is the method by which Protestants elude the
force of the texts which make plainly against them. The
third, the nature of the Church, whose authority Protes-
tants confess in words, and then escape by a definition;
for their invisible Church is equally inaudible, and is
incapable of bearing testimony to the truth. The follow-
ing terse piece of catechism is a characteristic part of
this topic: “Dic mihi, subscribis Ecclesiz, qua seculis
anteactis viguit? Omnino. Obeamus ergo terras et tem-
pora.—Cui? Cecetui fidelium.—Quorum? Nomina nesci-
unter, sed constat plurimos extitisse.—Constat? quibus
constat? Deo.—Quis dicit? Nos qui divinitus edocti
sumus.—Fabule! Qui credam?—Si arderes fide, tam
scires hoc, quam te vivere.”

The fourth topic is the general councils. The English
Church reveres four Councils, and if so, she must admit
their doctrines, the supremacy of the See of Peter, the
sacrifice of the altar, the intercession and invocation of
saints, the celibacy of the clergy: and if the first four
Councils are admitted, he engages to prove, on the same
reasoning, that the Council of Trent must be admitted
too. The fifth topic is “the Fathers.” Those who turn
aside from the ancient way are obliged to renounce the
Fathers; and while the Fathers are read in England, it
will be vain to proscribe Harding, or Sanders, or Allen,
or Stapleton, or Bristow. He mentions Jewel’s famous
challenge at Paul’s Cross, the alacrity with which it was
accepted by the English doctors at Louvain, and the
immediate prohibition of their replies being imported into
England. He mentions Lawrence Humphrey, who praises



302 Edmund Campion.

Jewel in all else, but owns that he was inconsiderate in
making this challenge. He also recites a reply that Tobie
Mathew once gave to him at Oxford, and which I have
already related (p. 23). A Protestant, he says, professing
to reverence the Fathers, is like a man holding a wolf
by the ears, and therefore not much to be dreaded as
an opponent. The sixth topic he calls “firmamenta
patrum,” or the consent of the Fathers in their inter-
pretation of Scripture. “Quas afferunt, afferemus: quas
conferunt, conferemus: quod inferunt, inferemus. Placet?
—exscrea. Dic sodes. Minime vero, inquis, nisi recte
exponant.—Quid est hoc ipsum, reczef Arbitratu tuo.
Nihilne pudet labyrinthi?”’

The seventh topic is the history of the Church, which
exhibits for so many centuries the progress, the vicissi-
tudes, and the contests of the Catholic Church, not of
the Protestant sect. This is its positive side; the other
is negative. It is owned that the Roman Church was
once holy, Catholic, and so on. History ought to show
how and when this once pure faith and practice were
altered. But history, “the messenger of antiquity, the
life of memory,” makes mention of Catholics, none of
the doctrines or doings of Protestants.

The eighth topic he names “Paradoxes.” It is a
collection of the most offensive sayings of Zuinglius,
Luther, and Calvin. The texts are well known. God is
the author of sin. The /komoousion is rejected. Christ
felt the pains of the damned, and despaired. Man has
utterly lost the image of God; sin is the very substance
of the soul; all sins are equal. Grace is not within us,
but only in God's favour outside us. Justice is nothing
inherent, but a mere relation. The sacraments are of
no avail. Si nolet uxor, veniat ancilla. All good works
are mortal sins in God’s sight. The Decalogte is nothing
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to Christians. “I,” says Campion, “am nobody in com-
parison to some who are disputing on these points. But
even I dare undertake to dispute with any one against
such unreasonable positions.”

The ninth topic is the utter weakness of the Protes-
tant arguments. Their skiamachia, or fighting with sha-
dows, as when they argue against celibacy with the text
“marriage is honourable.” Their logomachy, taking words
for things, as when they say, “you cannot find ‘Mass’
or ‘Purgatory’ in the Bible.” Their confusion of meanings,
as when they say, “wherefore priests when John says
we are all priests?’—they may as well ask, “why kings,
when we are all kings?”’ Their arguing in circles—What
are the notes of a Church? The word of God and pure
sacraments.—Have you them? Who doubts? I deny
it.—Consult the word of God. I have already done so,
and am still more unfriendly to you than before.—Yet
it is plain. Prove it.—Because we do not budge an inch
from the Bible.

In the tenth topic he crowds together a whole litany
of commonplaces. He begins with heaven—Who are the
Saints? He surveys hell—Who are the damned, and
why? and he answers with all Dante’s positiveness. Then
he returns to earth. The succession of the Apostolic See;
the successions of all the Bishoprics scattered over the
world. Then he turns to the kings of the Christian
world, and after quoting Isaiah, Queens skall be thy nursing
motkers, he cries out, *Listen, Elizabeth, mighty queen.
The prophet in speaking to thee, is teaching thee thy duty.
I tell thee, one heaven cannot receive Calvin and these
thy ancestors; join thyself therefore to them, be worthy
of thy name, of thy genius, of thy learning, of thy fame,
of thy fortune. Thus only do I conspire, thus only will
I conspire *against thee, whatever becomes of me, who
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am so often threatened with the gallows as a conspirator
against thy life. Hail, thou good Cross! The day shall
come, Elizabeth, the day that will show thee clearly who
loved thee best, the Society of Jesus, or the brood of
Luther.” I have no doubt that Campion wrote these
words in perfect good faith; but Parsons may have laughed
in his sleeve when he gave them his smprimatur. There
was this sa/vo, however. The Jesuits wished to save
Elizabeth’s soul at the expense of her fortunes; her
friends wished to secure her fortunes and leave her soul
to shift for itself. After this he cites the Christian na-
tions, the Universities, manners, ceremonials of coronations,
and the like, vestments, painted windows, the gates of
towns, the signs of citizens’ houses, the lives of our
grandfathers, and almost everything that has any historical
association at all, to prove that Catholicism is the Chris-
tianity of history and fact.

In conclusion, he tells the University men that his
aim in this trifling present, contextum operis in itinere
subsecives, has been to purge himself of the suspicion of
arrogance, to show the grounds of his confidence, and
to give them a taste of what he should say if his chal-
lenge to a conference were accepted. He gives a very
intelligible hint that his readers know on which side truth
lies, but are kept from confessing it by gold, glory, and
pleasure. And he dates his pamphlet Cosmopolis, 1581.

It would not be difficult to criticise this production;
the scheme of Catholic apology is by no means perfect,
nor is its method either philosophical or logical. It is
the work rather of a preacher and a rhetorician, than of
a theologian. There is a kind of formality in the six
first topics, which take the Scriptures as a whole, then
the texts as the actual teaching of the Scriptures; the
Church as a whole, then the Councils, as it were the
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texts, the formal propositions enunciated by the Church;
then the Fathers as a body of theologians, and then
their firmamenta or consentive teaching. The eighth
and ninth also are good topics; but the weakness with
which history is treated in the seventh, and the clumsy
way in which the residues of all the others are collected
together in the tenth topic must strike all readers.
Nevertheless it was a book that succeeded. One may
suspect the partisan prejudices of the Catholics when they
cried out to one another in the words of the greatest
scholar of the day, Muretus, “/Zibellum aureum, vere digito
Dei scriptum;” but it is impossible to misinterpret the
anxious letters which the Anglican authorities wrote to
one another on the subject, the orders of the Council
that the book should be answered, the terms of unmeasured
abuse in which it was answered, the monstrous iniquity of
the few disputations which its author was allowed to hold
upon it, and the anxiety of the Bishops to have even
these conferences stopped; the tortures and death that
were inflicted on the writer; and lastly, the voluminous
mass of literature (if I may call it so) to which this little
volume gave birth. The spark may have been a little
one, but it kindled a great fire. And the style of the
book was such as to captivate the lover of learning of
those days.

While the book was being printed, Campion and
Parsons generally remained in the neighbourhood of
Stonor Park. Campion occasionally made excursions to
the houses of Mr. Price, or Ap-rice, of Huntingdon; Mr.
William Griffith, of Uxbridge; Mr. Edwin East, of Bledlow,
Bucks; Lady Babington, at Twyford, Bucks, where he
seems to have spent St. John’s day, the anniversary of
his coming to England; Mr. Dormer’s, at Wynge, Bucks;
and Mrs. Pollard’s. During the fortnight that elapsed

X
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between the publication of his book and his capture
he wrote a letter to Claudius Acquaviva, the General
of the Order, which has never been published, but of
which Sacchini and Bartoli give a few scraps.®* It was
dated July 9, 1581. “Lamenting his former letters which
had miscarried, in which he related at considerable length
the things that had happened to him; and the miserable
condition of the times, which did not allow him to ad-
venture in a letter to speak of some particulars that were
most worth knowing, he added: ‘Our adversaries were
never more monstrously cruel than now. The cause of
Christ never in better condition, or in more security.
For we are pressed with no other arguments than those
whose premisses are the rack, starvation, cursing; this
has already broken down the dignity of our enemies,
and turned the eyes and ears of the whole realm towards
the Catholics. Nothing else was lacking to this cause
than that to our books written with ink should succeed
those others which are daily being published, written in
blood.’ "=



CHAPTER XI

CAMPION had now been labouring a year in England, and
his time was almost come. Many a spy was abroad who
hoped to catch him, many a false brother was ready to
betray him, and the traitor who was to set him in his
enemies’ hands was already at work. There was a certain
George Eliot, who had formerly been steward to Mr.
Roper, of Orpington in Kent, and latterly had been in
the service of the Dowager Lady Petre, the widow of
Sir William, and mother of Sir John Petre, of Ingate-
stone, Essex. Eliot was a Catholic; but either through
lust of gain, or in order, as Campion’s Catholic biographers
assert, to free himself by court favour from a charge of
murder which was to be preferred against him, and which
he afterwards confessed to be true, he obtained access
to the Earl of Leicester, and communicated to him all
he knew, and much that he invented, about Catholics.
He wrote several letters to the earl; two of which, seem-
ingly written from prison, were thought to contain
information worth laying before the Council. They were
accordingly sent to Burghley, and are now bound up in
a volume of his papers in the Lansdowne Library of the
British Museum (vol. 33). The first paper contains a
list of priests, followed by a list of the chief Catholics of
Yorkshire, Derbyshire, Staftordshire, Lincolnshire, Berks,
Oxon, London, Kent, and Essex; then follows detailed
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information about Sir John Petre and his mother, and
about a plot to assassinate the Queen, which he said was
communicated to him by Payne, a priest in the house of
his old master, Thomas Roper. The plot is described
in this letter nearly in the words of Eliot's subsequent
deposition at Campion’s trial, which will be given in its
place. The informer goes on to enumerate the persons
who were named by Payne as presumed accomplices in
this plot: Mr. Talbot, and his man Robert Eliot; Robert
Eliot, servant to Lady Paulet; Robert Tunster, servant
to Sir John Petre; and Philip Lowe, servant to the old
Lady Petre.

In the other letter George Eliot informs Leicester of
the merely political conformity of Sir John Petre, who
was a “schismatic Catholic,” attending the Protestant
church, but refusing the Communion. Of the ‘resolute
character of Robert Tunster; of the threats of vengeance
used by Ludovic Greville, who had married Sir John
Petre’s sister, against Leicester; of the high favour which
the Queen of Scots bore to Mr. Rolleston; of the like-
lihood of getting some information about Campion and
Parsons from Mr. Francis Browne, or Mr. Charles Basset,
or from Humphrey Eyton® servant to Mr. Thomas
Roper; of the books published by Parsons and Campion;
and of two bookbinders in St. Paul’s Churchyard, named
Gawood and Holden, whom Eliot supposes to have bound
the said books. Then he tells how Thompson, one of
Roper’s priests, took these books to his house, and how
Payne, his other priest, had said Mass on Sunday, July 2nd,
at Mr. William Moore’s house at Haddon, Oxfordshire,
at which Mass Eliot himself was present. This shows
that he was at that time going about the country as a
fervent Catholic, making his observations in order that
he might afterwards reap the reward of a spy. Perhaps
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he was following Payne; for the same persons who tell
us of Eliot’s murders, tell us that he had a personal
quarrel with Payne about some gentlewoman of Mr. Roper’s
household, with whom he had eloped to London, in
hopes that the priest would marry him to her, and on
this being refused, had resolved on revenge.

The circumstances of the fortnight or three weeks that
passed between the dispersion of the Decem Rationes at
Oxford and Campion’s capture are involved in the double
obscurity of erroneous information. Parsons had an ex-
cellent memory; but when, in after years, he related to
Bombinus the events of this year of adventures and escapes,
he made many transpositions and confusions. Among
others, he allowed Bombinus to connect the sudden flight
from Stonor Park with the search that Wilkes made in
Parsons’ chamber upon the information of a binder in the
service of Roland Jinks, and the apprehension of Briant
in a neighbouring house; this, as we have before seen,
had already happened some three months previously.
If any printer or bookbinder gave information in July, it
was probably one of those whose names Eliot gave to
Leicester, upon the apprehension of whom Parsons would
naturally fear for the safety of his press at Stonor Lodge.
The fear, however, was vain. For it was not till after
Campion’s capture that this press came to the knowledge
of the Council. However, Parsons judged it prudent that
they should part;® and so on Tuesday the 11th of July,
after the usual mutual confession and renewal of vows,
he appointed Campion to proceed to Norfolk, first, how-
ever, returning to Lancashire, where he had left the
greater part of his books and papers in the care of Mr.
Houghton. Parsons, however, ordered him to make no
stay there, and especially to avoid lodging at gentlemen’s
houses during his journey. After all was settled, they
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waited till daylight, when they mounted their horses,
Campion and Ralph Emerson riding north, Parsons and
his man riding towards London. They exchanged hats,—
as, on leaving Prague, Campion and Campanus the rector
had exchanged habits,—and bade one another what each
felt to be the last farewell.

But it was not so, They had not been long parted
before Parsons heard Campion galloping after him, to
ask his permission to visit the house of Mr. Yate, at
Lyford. Mr. Yate was at the time a prisoner for religion
in London, but he had written to Campion to beseech
him to visit his family. Campion had more than once
refused; but now, as he had almost to pass the door, he
thought that he could find no excuse. And the moated
grange at Lyford was an attractive place for a Catholic
priest. Mrs, Yate had under her protection eight Brigit-
tine nuns, who had migrated into Belgium at the be-
ginning of Elizabeth’s reign, but had been compelled by
the tumults in the Low Countries to return, and were
committed by the Queen to the custody of various per-
sons, where they suffered many miseries, till some gentle-
men, in pity for them, begged the Queen to transfer their
custody to them.**® Mr. Yate had for several years lodged
eight of them in his house, and his widowed mother had
joined their community. It was natural that these women
should desire to see and hear Father Campion; but it
was scarcely necessary, as there were two priests, Mr.
Ford and Mr. Collington, always in the house to supply
their spiritual needs. “Nevertheless,” says Bombinus,
“so fired are women’s imaginations,” they must needs
confess to Campion, receive his absolution and advice,
and take the Communion from his hands. Campion
himself, besides his natural courtesy, seems to have had
a special liking to the kind of spiritual conference which
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he might expect at Lyford; and his importunity at last
overcame the prudence of Parsons, who at first would
by no means consent. The house was notorious; there
would be great concourse thither when Campion was
understood to be there; and this would be perilous for
himself, and fatal to his expedition into Norfolk. “I
know,” said he, “your easy temper; you are too soft to
refuse anything that is required of you. If you once get
in there, you will never get away.” Campion said he
would stay exactly as long as Parsons ordered him.
Parsons asked him what security he could give for that.
Campion offered Ralph Emerson as his bail; on which
Parsons made Ralph Campion’s superior on the journey,
and told Campion to obey him. Then, in the hearing
of both, he told them not to tarry at Lyford more than
one day, or one night and morning; and bade Ralph to
take care that this command was executed. They then
once more separated. Campion was happy: he had his
way about the nuns, and he had received a delightful
humiliation in being put under the obedience of a lay-
brother. At Lyford he found everything as he could
wish;—the nuns in such fervour, that he could scarcely
get them off their knees: but he told them how short a
time he had to stay with them, and they understood
there was no time to be lost; the night was spent in con-
fessions and conferences; with the earliest dawn Campion
said Mass and preached; and after dinner, in obedience
to Parsons’ orders, he and Ralph took horse and rode
away. This was on Wednesday, July 12.

It happened that in the afternoon of the same day a
large party of Catholics visited Lyford to see the nuns.
Nothing could exceed their mortification when they found
what a treasure they had so barely missed. It was
useless to tell them that Campion had gone in obedience
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to the strict injunctions of his superior. They must
needs send after him. And as Mr. Collington had ridden
on with Campion, Mr. Ford, the other chaplain, nothing
loth, took horse and rode after him, and in the evening
overtook him at an inn not far from Oxford, where he
found him with a number of students and masters of the
University round him,—for it was quite out of Campion’s
power or even will to keep himself concealed. Here
Ford whispered his message to Collington; and so on,
till the whole company knew his errand. They had
already tried to make Campion preach, but he had refused
to perform any public act of religion at so dangerous a
time and place; and they saw that if they could prevail
on him to return to Lyford, they should have him all
to themselves. Ford therefore began the assault; attracted
by his passionate tones and gestures, the rest of the
party came up one by one; they all chimed in with him,
and begged Campion not to resist the prayers of so godly
a company. Campion, seeing that everybody was against
him, declared that he was simply acting under obedience.
Then there came a new assault. Commands are not to
be taken at the letter; Parsons never thought such a
company would be gathered, or he would never have
forbidden his preaching to them. Campion had devoted
a day to a few nuns, and he could never refuse another
to so many persons, all thirsting for the waters of life.
It was now Thursday; on Friday he might ride back to
Lyford, remain there on Saturday and Sunday morning,
and then he might go. Campion, the gentlest of men,
was moved almost to tears; he would do nothing con-
trary to obedience; but then, after all, he was in Ralph
Emerson’s hands. Such an excuse was too ridiculous; so
he had to explain that Ralph was made his superior for
this expedition, and that he would do whatever Ralph

omemGoOgle
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ordered him. This turned the tide; the assault was now
against Ralph. The “little man” was at first quite fierce
in his refusals; but when they came to reasons, he was
soon overwhelmed. He found that he could spare Campion
a deal of trouble and even danger if he left him at Lyford,
while he fetched his books from Mr. Houghton’s. From
Lyford Campion could easily ride to a Catholic gentle-
man’s house on the borders of Norfolk after dinner on
Sunday, and there stay for Ralph and the books. So
said, so done. Campion was ordered back to Lyford;
and Ralph rode on towards Lancashire.

Eliot, on the other hand, who had been at Haddon in
Oxfordshire on the 4th of July, had been in trouble at
London, where he explained to the Earl of Leicester,
first, the knowledge that he had of Catholics and their
hiding-places, and his willingness to devote it all to the
Queen’s service, and next, the danger in which he stood
because of the impending charge of murder. Bombinus
will have it that Walsingham was the minister to whom
he went. But Eliot’s extant letters are addressed to Lei-
cester, and the earliest account of Campion’s capture, that,
namely, translated from the French by James Laing,
doctor of the Sorbonne, and published as an appendix to
his life of Beza in 1585, calls the man totius regni fere
maximus princeps, almost the greatest lord in the realm,
which clearly means Leicester. The motives of his having
recourse to Leicester may be understood from the ob-
jections which Payne on his trial brought against the
insufficiency of Eliot to be witness.*! He declared him
guilty of oppression of the poor, even unto death; of a
rape and other notorious lewdness; of breach of contract,
and cozening of Lady Petre; of often changing his religion;
of malice against himself; adding, that he was also attached
of murder, and was a notorious dissembler. Bombinus
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also and Bartoli make out that Eliot first of all betrayed
Payne on the 13th of July, and then pretending bodily
fear of the Catholics, obtained a guard, and was sent
out of London to look for other priests, before the news
of his treason could be bruited abroad.** But this is
unlikely; for the Council-book contains directions dated
July 27, 1581, after the capture of Campion, for a letter
to be written to Thomas Roper, Esq., requiring him to
send up Thompson and Payne, his servants,—the two
priests whom he entertained as his stewards.*® Thompson
was sent up, and committed to the Marshalsea on the
3oth of July; but Payne could not then be found; he was,
however, taken before the 14th of August, when the
Council ordered him to be put to the torture in the
Tower. (See below, c. xii.) However this may be, it is
certain that Eliot was in Oxfordshire during the week
that Campion spent at Lyford. Perhaps Eliot, as well
as the students and masters of Oxford, had heard of his
being in the neighbourhood; and as it appears by his
letter to Leicester that Moore’s house at Oxford, and
Yate’s at Lyford, were the only two Catholic houses that
he knew in Oxfordshire and Berkshire, it was natural
that he should search first one and then the other for
his victim. I suppose that it was for this reason he
heard Mass at Haddon on Sunday, July 2, and again on
Tuesday, July 4; and then denounced the priests who
officiated, Thompson and Godsalve, to Leicester. It was
with this dangerous man in the neighbourhood, furnished
with full powers, with letters to all sheriffs and constables,
and with an experienced pursuivant to attend him (and
to watch him), that Campion went back into the trap
from which he had just escaped.

Of course he was received with exceeding joy, and for
two days he, the nuns, and the Catholics of the neigh-
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bourhood were in Paradise. On Sunday the 16th of July
more than sixty Catholics and Oxford students were
assembled to hear him preach. Just as Campion was
preparing to say Mass, Eliot came to the house, with his

attendant pursuivant. A fortnight before, he had gained
~ admission to a Mass at Mr. Moore’s, and now he wanted
to do the same here. The cook of the house was an
old fellow-servant of his at Mr. Roper’s, who knew him
to be a Catholic, and knew also that both Roper and
the old Lady Petre had always trusted him. So Eliot
called the cook out of the house on to the drawbridge,
and then talked with him, as one weary in body, but.
more thirsty in soul for the consolation of Mass; and he
knew that in such a house there must be a Mass on
Sundays. The cook owned there was, but was unable
to admit any stranger without Mrs. Yate's leave. This,
with much ado, he at last obtained;** and as he was
letting Eliot into the house he whispered to him that he
was a lucky man, for he would not only hear Mass, but
also hear Father Campion preach. Nothing could be
more delicious to Eliot. He only wanted a minute to
send away the heretic who had come with him to the
house, and then he would go in with his friend the cook.
So he sent off his pursuivant to a magistrate in the
neighbourhood, to order him in the Queen’s name to
come to Lyford with a posse comitatus of an hundred
men for the purpose of apprehending Campion, against
whom he had a warrant. Then with all devotion he let
himself be conducted to the chapel. There he heard
Campion’s Mass, and the sermon which he preached upon
the Gospel of the day—it was the ninth Sunday after
Pentecost: * When Jesus drew near to Jerusalem, He wept
over it.” The text was apt in its application to England ;
England, once the most faithful of nations, now so changed
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as to be the subject of the most bitter tears of the Church.
“Jerusalem, thou that killest the prophets;”’ every part
of the passage conspired with the circumstances of the
day and his own presentiments to raise the eloquence of
the preacher to its highest pitch, and his audience declared
that they had never heard or imagined such preaching. 1t
was the song of the swan. "Eliot had with him the warrant for
Campion’s apprehension; and as he had been instructed, if
possible, to take him fagrante delicto, in his vestments, he
more than once thought of exhibiting the warrant then and
there, but, like a prudent man, forbore to do so. After
the sermon came dinner; after which Campion, as he had
settled with Emerson, was to ride off towards Norfolk.
Eliot, pressed to stay, refused, and excited some suspicion
by his abrupt departure; but not enough to make Mrs. Yate
do more than place a watchman on one of the turrets to
give notice of the approach of danger. Dinner was not
over before the watchman had to announce that the place
was beleaguered with armed men. The company broke
up in confusion. Campion was the first to speak. There
was nothing to be done. He was the man they sought;
if he departed, perchance he might find means to escape,
and if not, at least his capture might satisfy the pursui-
vants, and deliver the rest of the house from endless
vexation and danger. But they forced him to stay. The
walls of the house were pierced in every direction, they
told him, with galleries and hiding-holes; he would have
a much better chance stowed away in one of these.
There was no time to deliberate. Ford and Collington
hurried him away to a chamber excavated in the wall
above the gateway, where there was a narrow bed, on
which they stowed themselves, lying side by side, with
their hands crossed over their breasts, or lifted up in
prayer; and there, after mutual confession and absolution,
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they lay all that afternoon, expecting every minute that
the wall would be broken in by the maces of the
searchers.

When they were thus bestowed, the men-at-arms had
already surrounded the house, and set a guard at every
outlet. A chosen number, led by Eliot—Judas Eliot, as he
was thenceforth called by Catholics and Protestants—
demanded admission into the house. They entered; he
led them into every chamber, sought with them in every
corner, turned everything topsy-turvy; but no priest could
he find. The searchers, all Berkshire men and quiet
neighbours, who had no taste for this kind of work, were
sulky; the whole afternoon had been spent; the walls
had been sounded, the men were tired. They laughed at
Eliot as a gull, and determined to give over their search.
Before leaving, the magistrate went to Mrs. Yate to ask
her pardon for the vexation and trouble he had been
obliged to cause her; he had only obeyed the Queen’s
warrant that had been brought to him by a strutting
turkey-cock, who took upon him more than he was entitled
to assume. Mrs. Yate was too glad to be rid of her
importunate guests, and probably showed too much satis-
faction at their departure.

When they were once outside the house the men
were free to tell Eliot what they thought of him for
having spoiled their Sunday’s holiday, and their credit
both with their neighbour Yate and with the rest of the
county, who would laugh at them for their fool’s errand.
Eliot was roused; the fault was not his, but theirs; he
would report to the Council their remissness in the
search, and the marked favour they had shown to the
notorious Papists. They had not broken the walls or
searched the hiding-holes. Did they fancy to catch Cam-
pion under a bed, or that they would find him in com-
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pany with the rest of the family? The magistrate replied
that he had no warrant to break down or destroy. “But
I have,” said Eliot, as he drew out the warrant from his
bosom, and proceeded to read it. One of the men, sus-
pecting he was reading not from the paper, but from his
invention, went behind and looked over his shoulder; he
soon detected Eliot’s fraud; and Eliot ordered him to be
apprehended as a comforter of the Jesuits. The man was
apprehended, and this decided act frightened the rest, and
made them more readily submit to Eliot’s order for a
renewal of the search. The priests had already crept
out of their hiding-place, and the whole house was in a
fervour of congratulation and thanksgiving, when the
magistrate returned with his men. Mrs. Yate sent for
him; she asked what this inconstancy in counsel could
portend, but the destruction of a poor sick woman. It
was a manly part, she said, for men to play. She would
bear it, for it would be a glory for her, but what a lasting
shame for him! Then she burst into tears. The ma-
gistrate begged Mrs. Yate not to blame him for Eliot’s
unkindness; he must obey the Queen’s warrant, though a
madman had been charged to execute it; he would, how-
ever, try to moderate what he could not prevent, and
he therefore allowed Mrs. Yate to choose a chamber
where she might sleep in peace, which he promised should
not be disturbed by any of his men. It was now evening,
and Mrs. Yate had her bed made up in the part of the
house where the priests were hidden. She was conducted
there with all honour, while the rest of the house was
examined, the walls sounded, and broken in where they
seemed hollow. The search was continued till late at
night, when she ordered the men to be well entertained.
The long excitement, the work, the despair of success,
the food, and especially the beer, soon had their effect,
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and the sheriff’s men all composed themselves to sleep.
When Mrs. Yate was assured that all were asleep, she
caused the priests once more to be called from their
hiding-place, and with a gushing importunity which seemed
quite incredible to Bartoli, she insisted on Father Campion
preaching one more sermon to her community. Her
servants found it vain to resist. Campion was brought
to her bedside, and had to preach then and there. She
knew, she said, she should never hear him again. Excited
by his eloquence, the audience forgot the prudence that
beseemed the garrison of a beleaguered place, and as the
congregation broke up, first one of the priests fell down,
then others tumbled over him. The noise awoke the
sentinels that had been placed at Mrs. Yate’s door.
They gave the alarm; the Jesuits had been in the room;
they were almost seen; they were but just missed. Mrs.
Yate’s bedroom was forthwith searched, all the walls
sounded, every closet explored: but again all was to no
purpose; the congregation had glided away through the
secret passages, and had left no trace of their path.
And now day had broke, and an afternoon and night
spent in fruitless destruction had reduced not only the
sheriff’s men, but Eliot himself to despair; once more
then the soldiers began to depart, not without reproaches
and jeers against the madman who had led them into
such a labyrinth. When Eliot first came, Mrs. Yate had
directed one of her servants to attend upon him, osten-
sibly to serve him, really to give the household every
possible warning of what he was about to do next.
Eliot had vented upon this man all the ill-humour of his
disappointment, and he was now descending the stairs by
his side. Suddenly he clapped his hand on the wall over
the stairs, and exclaimed, “ We have not broken through
here.” The man, who knew that it was precisely there



320 Edmund Campion.

that the priests were hidden, turned deadly pale, and
stammered out that he should have thought enough walls
had been broken up already. Eliot marked his confusion,
and immediately asked for a smith’s hammer; he smashed
in the wall, and there, in a little close cell, on a narrow
bed, were the three priests lying side by side, their faces
and hands raised towards heaven; they had confessed
their sins to one another, and had received for their
penance to say once fiat voluntas tua, and to invoke
St. John Baptist three times. For St. John had once
before saved Campion from a similar danger. *“Such,”
adds Bombinus, *“is the true account of this capture,
written from Parsons’ notes and oral instructions, who
in turn had received the account from the man whom
Mrs. Yate had directed to wait upon Eliot.”

With Campion and the two priests were taken John
Cotton, William Hildesley of Benham, Berks, Humphrey
and James Keynes, Philip Lowe, Edward Yate, and John
James, gentlemen; and William Webley and John Mans-
field, yeomen. None of the sayings or doings of Campion
at this time is recorded; only Yepes tells us that he
spoke so quietly, and looked so cheerfully, that he disarmed
the malice of his captors. Humphrey Forster of Alder-
maston, the sheriff of Berkshire (anno 22 Eliz.), was
absent when Eliot summoned the posse comitatus of
Abingdon to assist him. If he had been there, the pro-
ceedings would not have been so violent as they were.
When the news reached him he hurried to Lyford; he
had no mind to be jailor to a man whose eloquence he
had admired in the schools at Oxford, and the fame of
whose sanctity had given him a secret inclination towards
his religion. When he arrived at Lyford he sent a mes-
senger to London, to know the will of the Council in the
matter. In the mean time Campion was treated as an
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old friend rather than as a prisoner, except that he could
not have his liberty. He had the place of honour in the
house and at the table; and, indeed, his own winning
ways had conciliated his keepers quite as much as the
orders and example of the sheriff. For three days they
had to wait at Lyford for the answer of the Council.
On the fourth the sheriff received a letter ordering him
to send his prisoners under a strong guard to London.
It was a sad parting for the women at Lyford, and a
proud day for Eliot, who rode at the head of the com-
pany, and was not much daunted by the nickname Eliot
Iscariot or Judas Eliot, which the people pretty freely
used to him. Let those laugh that win. The company
made three halts in its passage to London; one at
Abingdon, where, amongst others, divers scholars of
Oxford came to see the famous champion; of which being
told by Mr. Lydcote, he said he was very glad, as him-
self being once of that University; and asked whether
they would hear a sermon: then, at dinner, Eliot said to
him, “Mr. Campion, you look cheerfully upon everybody
but me; I know you are angry with me for this work.”
“God forgive thee, Eliot,” said he, *“for so judging of
me; I forgive thee; and in token thereof, I drink to thee;
yea, and if thou wilt repent and come to confession, I
will absolve thee; but large penance thou must have.”
The next halt was at Henley; here William Filby, a
priest, as he was incautiously attempting to speak to
Campion, was apprehended, and added to the company
of prisoners.*® A few nights before, he had dreamed
that his body was ripped open and his bowels taken out;
the terror whereof caused him to cry out so loudly that
the whole house was raised. At Henley also Campion
saw Parsons’ servant, and saluted him cheerfully, with
such signs as he could without betraying him to the
Y
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guard. Parsons, who was staying about a quarter of a
mile from Henley, was not permitted by his friends to
go and see Campion, and therefore sent his man to
observe how he bore himself, and was no little comforted
by the report.

The third halt was at Colebrook, some ten miles from
London, where they were stayed by letters of the Council,
which bade them to remain there the rest of the day
(Friday, July 21), so as to make a public entry into
London on Saturday, market-day, when the streets would
be thronged with people. The crowds collected to see
Campion and his companions at Colebrook gave him a
foretaste of what he had to expect the next day in
London. Only at Colebrook a great number of Catholic
and other gentlemen sought to speak with him; and
Campion made a curious exhibition of versatility and
histrionic ability in keeping the sentinels off their guard
by his amusing talk, while he conversed by signs with
the gentlemen who pressed around him, or gave his
conversation with his keeper such a turn, as to make it
serve the double purpose of amusing the one and instruct-
ing the others. At this place the instructions of the
Council caused the treatment of the prisoners to be
thoroughly altered. The sheriff of Berkshire had used
them like gentlemen; the cue now was to render them
ridiculous; they were to have their elbows tied behind
them, their hands in front, and their legs under their
horses’ bellies. Campion, who had to ride first in this
mock triumph, was to be further decorated in the way
that perjurers were marked in those days, with a paper
stuck into his hat, with his title written, CAMPION THE
SEDITIOUS JESUIT. They were to be thus paraded through
the whole length of the city on Saturday, July 22, espe-
cially through the places where, by reason of the markets
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of that day, the greatest concourse of the common people
was. These commands were executed to the letter; all
London beheld the spectacle, the mob gazing with delight ;
but the wiser sort lamenting to see the land fallen to
such barbarism as to abuse in this manner a gentleman
famous throughout Europe for his scholarship and his
innocency of life, and this before any trial, or any proof
against him; his case being prejudged, and he punished
as if already condemned.?* When the calvalcade reached
the cross in Cheapside (the lower images of which had
been defaced during the night of June 21 by Puritans,
about whom a reward of forty crowns failed to procure
information), Campion made a low reverence to the cross,
which still remained on the top, and crossed himself as
well as he could with his tied hands on the breast.
Some of the mob laughed or hissed at him, some won-
dered; but they made no attempt to rescue him, as they
had rescued the Puritan brewer Butcher, a few weeks
before (June 28), when he was being flogged at the cart’s-
tail through the same streets, for having raised a sedition
in Smithfield. At last they reached the Tower; and
before they were delivered over to the custody of Sir
Owen Hopton, the governor, Campion turned to the
guards who had brought him, thanking them for their
courtesy, forgiving them for Christ’s sake any wrong he
had received at their hands, and declaring that he felt
much more sorrow for their blindness and the peril of
their souls than for all his own griefs and incommodities,
and praying God to enlighten them. And then the
gloomy gates of the Tower closed behind him.



CHAPTER XIL

Now that we have brought Campion to the Tower, it is
time to see what his captors thought of doing with him.
The English government and nation were thoroughly, and
rightly, convinced of two facts. First, that there was a
very dangerous combination of foreign Catholic powers
for the invasion of England; and secondly, that the in-
vaders counted upon finding an ally in every English
Catholic. The system of espionage, which Walsingham
had organised with marvellous skill—a skill which far
surpassed the attempts of the Spaniards in the same
line—had kept the Council well informed not only of the
general outline of the scheme, which included, first the
conquest of Ireland, whence, not without the connivance
of the young King of Scots, who was at this time cur-
rently and credible reported to be secretly a Catholic,
Scotland might be secured.® It included next, after
Scotland was safe, a descent from the north upon England ;
while a Spanish fleet from the south, the Prince of Parma
with the Spanish army from the Low Countries on the
east, and a Spanish, Italian, and Irish diversion on the
west, might crush the power of Elizabeth, and usher in
the golden day that the Catholics whispered about., The
danger of this combination taking effect had culminated
in 1580, when the death of the cardinal king of Portugal
opened a more tempting field to Philip’s ambition, and
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made him turn aside the forces which were intended
against England, to secure the prize which lay nearer
his door, and more immediately answered the ends of
his ambition. Cobham, the ambassador at Paris, had, as
early as April 8, 1580, duly informed the Queen of the
disappointment of the English Catholic refugees, who, he
says, wrote from Rome, “That God trieth his people
many ways . . . and now, last of all, through the death
of the old king of Portugal, whereon the Portugals do
continue in their resistance against the Catholicking. . . .
When this plot was first laid the young king was yet
living; and after him succeeded a most godly man. . . .
A league was procured with them of Barbary, and an
amity with the Turk” (by means of which the Order of
Malta, set free from its engagements in the Mediterranean,
was able to destine its whole forces to the “sacred ex-
pedition” of Ireland) “to the intent there should be no
impediment. . . . Notwithstanding, the death of the late
cardinal king is now the only let of so godly an enter-
prise;”*® which was to destroy Elizabeth, “the usurper
of authority, the puddle of lasciviousness, the very Anti-
christ, and the wicked council and minions.”®® Dr. Allen
treats this combination as a mere invention of the English
politicians; but no man who has read the state papers
of the time can doubt that it was then universally be-
lieved that the Catholic army maintained by the Pope,
the King of Spain, the Grand Duke of Florence, and
other princes, was intended for Ireland, Scotland, or
England. It was believed in England; warnings were
poured in from Italy, Spain, and France. Mariners re-
turning from the Mediterranean or from Spain gave
information of vast preparations, all appointed for England;
intercepted letters from Catholics conspired in the same
tale. Agents in Spain and Italy ascertained that Ireland
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was claimed by the Pope as his own, and had been
surrendered to the King of Spain; one information even
went so far as to assert that the Pope had given England
to him, upon -pain of his curse if he did not enforce his
pretensions; and had promised him aid in taking Ireland
as well. A nuncio was sent over to Ireland with the
papal troops.*® The English government was convinced
of its danger and was really frightened. And its fears
were not chimerical. Statesmen who knew the circum-
stances of the case were nearly unanimous in attributing
the salvation of Elizabeth’s government to the death of
the old king of Portugal.

Just before Cobham sent this intercepted letter to
Walsingham,*** he had told him: “They write directly
from sundry parts, how the Catholic army is prepared
for the realms of her Majesty, if the affairs of Portugal
do not let him” (the Catholic king). *“And to theintent
she may not be succoured, they have at Rome excom-
municated her; Cardinal Alexandrine, nephew to Papa
Pius Quintus, hath caused many copies of the excom-
munication to be printed, to disperse them among the
ambassadors and others of Rome. In their discourses
out of Italy they write, that King Philip was moved to
procure this excommunication and to gather these forces
upon the suspicion of the confederacy he supposeth the
Queen is entered into with Monsieur (the Duke of Anjou)
for the taking of the protection of the Low Countries. .
And as the chief potentates are confederated together, so
almost now in all the provinces of France there are par-
ticular Catholic leagues and brotherhoods, which they
say is somewhat offered to be framed in England, and
to that intent there be divers hallowed small crosses and
medals which are to be worn secretly, whereof I send
you two couples for patterns.®!
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“The Abbot of Brisenio, a Neapolitan, which was
nuncio in Pijus Quintus’ time in Florence, and is now
King Philip’s agent at Rome, hath been an earnest solicitor
to the Pope for the excommunication against the Queen. ...

“I do send herewith a copy of Pope Pius’ bulla re-
newed against her highness, and an indulgence procured
by Don Bernadine to infect her highness’ subjects.”**
And he further reports the saying of some chief Car-
dinals, that as Gregory the Great founded the Church in
England, so Gregory XIII. should restore it.

It was probably on this information that Burghley in
his Execution of Fustice declared that the excommuni-
cation of the Queen had “at sundry times proceeded in
a thundering sort,” and was so eager to credit John
Nichols’ information that, about Midsummer, 1579, “ they
renewed the bulls of excommunication granted by the
Pope Gregory, under the colour and name of Pius Quintus
published; that five hundred copies were printed at
Rome . . . and published (as he heard at Rome) in the
English Seminary at Rheims, and put fast to pillars in
the city, and scattered throughout all Italy, Spain, and
part of Germany.”®® Nichols’ information is usually worth
very little, as he confessed that he asserted whatever
Hopton prompted, moved by his fears of the rack;***
but still in his Palinodia he declares “the younger students
related to me that the bull of Pius V., was renewed by
Gregory XIII., and that it was published at Rheims, and
posted on the doors and posts of the city. I wrote on
their report; whether it is true or not, I know no more
than a child, for I was not at Rheims at the time.” So
that, as far as this goes, Nichols must be held to corro-
borate Cobham. Further, the secular priests in the con-
troversy with Blackwell and Parsons after 1600 affirmed
over and over again that the bull had been republished
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both in 1580 and in 1588 by Sixtus V. (Watson’s
Quodlibets, 258.)

Other circumstances which must have forbidden English
statesmen to consider the bull as dormant were the
expeditions into Ireland, from that which had started
under the command of Stukeley, to that which came to
so miserable an end at St. Mary Wick in Kerry under
the lead of Dr. Nicholas Sanders and General San-Giuseppe,
with Colonel Cornelio, a Roman and majordomo of the
Pope, at the hands of Arthur Lord Grey. Informations
in abundance came to the Council which proved this ex-
pedition to have been contrived by the Roman court.
It had been known from its very beginnings. Cobham
wrote to Walsingham, April 15, 1580, that the French
king had sent Villeroy to him to communicate the con-
tents of a letter sent by the French ambassador out of
Spain, March 25, 1580, which informed him of a mes-
senger from Ireland ‘“despatched by the rebels with a
request to have aid, which messenger was directed to the
Pope’s nuncio; whereon the said nuncio did forthwith
intreat the Spanish king to have some soldiers sent thither
on the Pope’s charge. Order was thereon given that
seven hundred soldiers should be presently embarked in
Galicia to pass with good munition and provision towards
Ireland.”® Two months later Cobham wrote to the Queen,
that “they of Rome had bent their counsels against her
estates . . . favouring her fugitives and assisting the Irish
rebels.” The Italians, he says, would not assist Philip
with money and forces, except they thought the Catholic
army would be bestowed more to their liking, and farther
from their coasts than Portugal. He told also how France
was temporising, and how Scotland was being won to
the Catholic side through D’ Aubigny.*® Again, September
18, he had more information on the same subject to
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impart; and the year after, though the first attempt had
ended disastrously, he writes of preparations for a new
enterprise, and of intercepted Spanish letters which stated
that Cardinal Riario had offered to Philip 600,000 crowns
in ready money, to continue and maintain the enterprise
pretended in Ireland and England.® The English govern-
ment were also acquainted with the fact that on May 13,
1580, the Pope granted to James Fitzgerald and all who
joined him the same plenary indulgence as was granted
to those who fought against the Turks for the recovery
of the Holy Land; perhaps they did not know how the
Archbishop of Glasgow had suggested to the General of
the Jesuits that the Irish expedition should be committed
to the Knights of Malta, how the Pope had entirely
approved of the idea, and ordered it to be called the
“Holy War;” how the Grand Master refused the expe-
dition for that year, but promised that his knights should
undertake it the next; and, if Cradock’s evidence at
Campion’s trial is to be believed, offered the command to
Sir Richard Shelley, the prior of England, then seventy-
three years of age, who, however, absolutely refused to
lead any expedition against his own country.®

The English government, thus aware of the con-
federacy of Pope and Spanish king, of the continued
vitality of the excommunication, and of the Irish cru-
sade, was naturally exceedingly jealous of the seminaries
and colleges, which were all erected in countries which
belonged to the Spanish faction. The College at Rome
was directly under the Pope and the Jesuits; that
at Rheims was under the protection of the Duke of
Guise; that at Douay under the protection of Philip him-
self® Burghley declares that the missionaries *“with
titles of seminaries for some of the meaner sort, and of
Jesuits for the stagers and ranker sort,” “laboured se-
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cretly to persuade the people to allow of the Pope’s
foresaid bulls,” who, once persuaded in their consciences,
were forthwith secret traitors, and only wanted oppor-
tunity to be so openly. There is no manner of doubt
that the heads of the seminaries, Allen at Rheims, and
Agazzari at Rome, wished it to be so. But it was on
this very point that so many dissensions arose in those
colleges. The great majority of students wished to be
martyrs, not for a political plot, but for religion; they
wished to be Christ’s ministers, not Philip’s soldiers.
And they repudiated honestly and heartily all designs of
political meddling. I have already related the acts of
the conclave of priests which met in London in July,
1581, when Campion and Parsons, in their own names
and in those of all the priests who had come with them,
solemnly declared that their coming was only apostolical,
“to treat matters of religion in truth and simplicity, and
to attend to the gaining of souls, without any pretence
or knowledge of matters of state.” When news of this
reached Dr. Allen, he seems to have been much discon-
certed at it. For William Parry wrote to Burghley from
Paris, July 30, 1580, “Doctor Allen, mistrusting as
should seem, the good speed of the clergy, arrived in
England, and finding some of the best begin to stagger,
contrary to their promises made to the Pope, sendeth
his letters daily abroad, excusing himself to be no dealer
in matters of state, but wholly occupied in the government
of the seminary. The Scotch ambassador received letters
from him to that effect; he told me there could be no
better fruits looked for from so weak a company, whose
ill consents at Rome had shaken their credits, and made
every man weary of them.”®® The politicians who had
sent them over for their own purposes were naturally
disappointed when the priests renounced all political action.
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The Queen and her Council knew well that the mis-
sionaries were for the most part honest in their repu-
diation of interference in matters of state. Camden, whose
Annals are said to have been read over by the Queen
herself®® and allowed by her, declared that she did not
believe in the treason of the greater part of those con-
demned with Campion, but that they were merely tools
of their superiors, to whom they had vowed obedience.

It was, however, almost an avowed principle of the
Tudors that if the real culprit could not be caught or
could not be punished, punishment must be inflicted on
the first substitute that could be found. Achan’s wife
and children must be burnt for Achan’s sacrilege. It is
a venerable principle, and one that Henry VIII. carried
out with inconceivable meanness; he was the sot, who
when he began to understand that he was being scorned
abroad, would go home and beat his wife. When Em-
peror, King of France, or Pope, treated him as the ox
and the ass that his looks honestly confessed him to be,
he would revenge himself on his subjects, hanging a few
of his favourites, or repudiating his wife, and beheading
her if he dared. Elizabeth refined on her father’s example,
and turned it into a principle of conduct. After each
crime she committed, she willingly allowed the tools by
whom she committed it to bear its punishment. So she
pretended to disgrace Lord Grey for cutting the throats
of all his Spanish prisoners in 1580;* so she had Da-
vison tried for the execution of Mary of Scotland; so
Dr. Parry, after being for some years a spy, was at last
hanged for a traitor. It was a principle of her govern-
ment to transform tools into traitors, and to reward them
for their suppleness with the gallows. For every offence
she gave or received she made some one suffer. And as
she could not catch Sanders, or Allen, or the Pope she
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was willing to hang Campion instead of them, though
she did not believe that he was in the secret of their
designs against her.

This nefarious way of aping and abusing one of the
most incommunicable prerogatives of God—that of vica-
rious punishment—was in the sixteenth century not quite
so great a sign of wickedness as it would be now; like
witch- or heretic-burning, it could plead that great excuse,
custom, in its favour—custom so often the salt of the
earth, but often also

“The queen of slaves,
The hoodwinked angel of the blind and dead.”

There can be little doubt that as the English government
seized Campion and all the priests it could catch to make
them answer for the rebellion in Ireland, so the Pope,
when he heard of it, found excuses in the ill custom of
wagering upon the next cardinal, or in the want of proper
passports, to make a general razzia on the English in
Rome.® Cobham wrote to Walsingham, Oct. 9, 1581—
“The Pope hath given severe order that all Englishmen
which shall come to Rome on bargains to return, are to
be apprehended, imprisoned, and executed as felons. .
The execution of this tyrannical order was offered to the
English College there, but they refusing it, the Inquisition
hath taken the matter in hand.”*® This is partly con-
firmed by a letter of a Catholic agent in Italy, Anthony
Standen, who writes through Father Darbyshire to Man-
nering, March 23, 1582—* No Englishman cometh to Rome
without good testimony that is not cooped up . . . . there
is no more coming for wager men” (who seem to be
the same as Cobham calls the men who go “on bargains
to return”). . ... “all our countrymen are in a maze
there, and each looketh hourly to be caught and impri-
soned.”™ These were chiefly merchants, as we learn by ‘

© oo
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a letter of Lorenzo Guicciardini to Arthur Throgmorton
from Florence, July 12, 1582—*“Quelli poveri mercanti
Inglesi e altri che son prigoni a Roma non escono di
carcere, ¢ Dio sa qual sara la lor fine, a poi si vede che
il Papa ha indurato il suo cuore, [e] la Inquisizione di
Roma @& troppo appassionata e interessata.””*® How far
all this was reprisal, justifiable by the political ethics of
the period, and how far it was revenge, or the cruelty
of terror, it would not be easy to determine without too
long an inquiry.

Neither was the whole Council united in one plan of
policy with regard to the punishment of Catholic mission-
aries. There were some who, in spite of their Machia-
vellian use of means, were earnestly religious in their
end, and either from conviction or from policy, were deter-
mined to establish “the religion,” cost what it might.
Such a man was Walsingham; such, too, was Burghley.
Leicester was now for his own political ends with this
party, but he does not seem quite to have forgotten his
former relations with the Catholics—of which we read
obscurely in “Leicester’s Commonwealth,” and of which
the Earl of Westmoreland, when he was out of credit
and a fugitive in France, used to make no secret.*®
“They all might curse Leicester,” he said; “for he, being
one of the chiefest of their conspiracy (in 1569), craved
pardon, and disclosed all their pretence,” so that the two
Earls of Northumberland and Westmoreland were left in the
lurch. For which, and for other treasons, Westmoreland
hoped one day to meet him in the field, and to “lend
him a lance in his breast for his labour.” But now,
besides coveting the temporalities of the English bishops,
Leicester was secretly jealous of Anjou, whom he sup-
ported openly, and so was a hot Puritan in his policy.
Nevertheless, he had an eye to the future as well as to
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the past; he forecasted the possible toleration of Catholics
if the marriage took place; he was careful to watch the
changes of his mistress’ will; and he was more or less
influenced by Sir Philip Sidney and others, who, hating
the Spanish faction, were not at all disposed to force all
Catholics into it by an indiscriminate persecution. Burghley
and Walsingham made no such distinction ; with Bacon
they might nominally divide the priests into the two catego-
ries, and call the Marian priests priests of superstition,and the
Seminarians priests of sedition; but the distinction was me-
chanical and geographical, not substantial and real. Really
they held with Philip I that all English Catholics were, if not
open traitors, at least persons who held in solution the prin-
ciples which necessarily effervesce into open treason when
the acid of priestly exhortation is poured into them.
Hence, while carefully avoiding the open and avowed
persecution for religion which had made Mary’s reign so
odious, and had rendered the Protestant reaction possible,
they were determined to make a distinction without a
difference, and under the name of treason to repress
Catholicism as effectually as Mary's government had re-
pressed Protestantism under the name of heresy. Eliza-
beth herself was, as usual, irresolute and many-minded.
She had to profess to the French court the tolerant
principles which France has the honour of having first
reduced to form. She had at the same time to guard
against a Puritan excitement, on account of her intended
marriage with a Catholic prince. The first consideration
would lead her to lenient dealing with Campion and
his companions; the second would lead her to treat him
as barbarously as she had treated Stubbs, or even to
sacrifice him to the bloodthirsty bishops and preachers
who demanded his death.

As for the nation itself, though perhaps the majority



The Council. 335

of Englishmen would still have gladly been Catholics, if
they could have been so securely and without changing
their politics, yet the circumstances of the time were such
as to give the Puritans the place of power. Our fathers
witnessed a similar combination when the disaffection of
Ireland, and its threatened invasion by Napoleon, enabled
the “Clapham sect,” which was favoured by the preju-
dices of the king and the influence of Mr. Percival, to
attain a position disproportioned to its merits. There
were among the people plenty who would justify any
severity against conspirators with the Pope or the Spaniard,
and who were not indisposed to connive even at injustice
when its object was to terrify so dangerous a party.
Public opinion was quite as much divided as the Council-
chamber was about the doom that ought to be pronounced
on Campion.

But though there was this divergence on the ultimate
punishment which should be inflicted on Campion, there
could be no doubt that it was the Council’s part to dis-
credit him with both Catholics and Protestants; to make
it appear that his big brag had nothing but wind for
foundation; that he was a coward, hardly secure in his
own religion, and therefore untrustworthy as a pillar of
others; a man so inconsiderate and uncharitable that he
would not scruple to purchase his own ease by telling
everything he knew about the Catholics who had received
him into their houses, and by making them suffer instead
of himself. Again, they considered that it would not be
good to let his challenge remain unanswered. They
therefore charged Aylmer, bishop; of London, with the
task of replying to his book, while another set of divines
were to afford him the opportunity of controversy which
he had requested, but surrounded with such difficulties as
to make it either ‘nugatory, or unfavourable to the Ca-
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tholic side. This was therefore the first care of the
Council. And from henceforth there are two lives of
Campion; one his real life in the Tower, the other the
false published life, which represented him as his adver-
saries wished him to be thought.

As for his real life, he was from the first committed
a close prisoner, and therefore his friends outside could
learn nothing of him except what the authorities chose
to publish, or what could be known by corrupting the
officers.*® The rules for the close prisoners still remain
on record: all their windows were blocked up, and light
and air conveyed to them by a “slope tunnel,” slanting
upwards so that nothing might be seen but the sky,
glazed or latticed at the top so that nothing might be
thrown in or out; closed also at the bottom with a
casement made fast and not to open, save, if need were,
one diamond pane with its leaden quarrel. And these
openings were to be daily examined, to see whether any
glass was broken or board removed, and especially whether
any of the pieces of lead with which the glass was tied
were taken away to write with. No one was allowed to
pass by the Tower wharf without cause, and watchmen
were on the look-out to observe whether any of the
passengers made any stay, or cast his eyes up to the
prison windows. The like watch was also kept over
passengers by Tower-hill. The lieutenant himself was
always to be present when a keeper held communications
with a close prisoner, and the key of his cell was always
to be in the lieutenant’s own custody. Any servant kept
by such a prisoner was subject to the same regulation
as his master. Everything sent to him was to be searched,
his clothes examined, pies opened, bread cut across, and
bottles decanted. The strictest rules were made about
admitting strangers, and every keeper and servant in the
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place was bound by oath to carry no message. This
system of secrecy was, however, tempered with bribery.
Much of the lieutenant’s income was derived from the
prisoners in his custody, and those who paid liberally
were treated with some consideration; neither was it
possible always to make the watch so strict as to keep
the keepers and servants to the letter of the regulations,
and bribery, or pity, or favour, would often modify a
state which in its strictness would have been intolerable.

And the lieutenant had in his hands terrors as well
as palliatives. It is peculiar to the Tower, says Edward
Rishton in his journal, that each prisoner is confined in
a separate cell, where under the eye of his own keeper
he is continually immured, excluded from the sight and
conversation of his fellow-captives, and cut off from every
means of communication with others, either by letters or
messengers. It is from this cell that he is led forth to
the various scenes of his sufferings—to the punishments
which the caprice of his persecutors is permitted to inflict
on him, to his examinations, and to the rack where his
confessions. are extorted. There are seven means of
torture in the Tower. The pit is a subterraneous cave,
twenty feet deep, entirely without light. Little-ease is
a cell where the prisoner cannot stand or lie at length.
The rack is a wooden frame, with rollers at each end,
to which the prisoner’s ankles and wrists are attached by
cords, gradually tightened by turning the rollers, till the
bones are ready to start from their sockets. The scaven-
ger’s daughter is a broad hoop of iron, opening by a
hinge; the hoop being applied to the prisoner’s spine,
the two ends are put, one between his legs the other
over his head, and forced together till they can be fas-
tened. The iron gauntlets after being put on the hands

are contracted by screws, by which the wrists are com-
z
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pressed; sometimes the prisoner is suspended by them
from two distant points of a beam. The sixth and
seventh tortures are manacles for the hands, and fetters
for the feet.*

Sir Owen Hopton, seeing Campion brought with such
derision to his custody, thought he could do nothing
more acceptable to his masters than to thrust his prisoner
into the narrow dungeon of Little-ease.”® Here Campion
remained till the fourth day (July 25), when he was in
great secrecy and under a strong guard put on board a
boat, and rowed to the house of the Earl of Leicester;
here he was received by Leicester, the Earl of Bedford,
and two secretaries of state, with all honour and courtesy.
They told him they had sent for him to know the plain
truth, why he and Parsons had come into England, an